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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA

The consolidated financial statements includedis annual report have been prepared in accordaitbenternational Financial Reporting Stand:
(IFRS), issued by the International Accounting Stadd Board (IASB), imeais.

We have translated some of tteal amounts contained in this annual report into ddlars. The rate used to translate such amouamsspect of tr
year ended December 31, 2011 was R$1.876 to US$AH06h was the commercial rate for the purchase.8f dollars in effect on December 31, 201:
reported by the Central Bank. The U.S. dollar edaivainformation presented in this annual repogrisvided solely for the convenience of investard
should not be construed as implying that teal amounts represent, or could have been or couldoheerted into, U.S. dollars at the above ratee
“Exchange Rates” for more detailed information relgay the Brazilian foreign exchange system and histbdata on the exchange rate of thal agains
the into U.S. dollars.

In this annual report, we use the terms “the Regjistrto refer to Gol Linhas Aéreas Inteligentes .Sakd “Gol”, “Company”, “we,” “us” and “ourto
refer to the Registrant and its consolidated subsal together, except where the context requitlesrwise. The term VRG refers to VRG Linhas Aé
S.A., a wholly owned subsidiary of the RegistraReferences to “preferred shares” and “ADSs” refendavoting preferred shares of the Registrant
American depositary shares representing thoserpedfehares, respectively, except where the contexiires otherwise.

The operating results of Webjet Linhas Aéreas SoA Webjet, are consolidated in our financial stetats as from October 3, 2011. Séerh 5

Operating and Financial Review and Prospects ©perating Results — Webjet Acquisitiodll information in this annual report reflects thequisition o
Webijet, which is still subject to CADE’s approvahless otherwise indicated.

The phrase “Brazilian government” refers to the falgovernment of the Federative Republic of Braaild the term “Central Bank'efers to th
Banco Central do Brasil, or the Central Bank. The t8razil” refers to the Federative Republic of BraZithe terms “U.S. dollar” and “U.S. dollarghc
the symbol “US$" refer to the legal currency of theited States. The termseal” and “reais’ and the symbol “R$'tefer to the legal currency of Braz
“IFRS” refers to the international financial reportingmgtards issued by the International Accounting SteaeiBoard, or IASB. We make statements ir
annual report about our competitive position andkeiashare in, and the market size of, the Braz#iad international airline industry. We have mtusst
statements on the basis of statistics and othernirdtion from third party sources, governmentainages or industry or general publications that \wkeve
are reliable. Although we have no reason to beligwy of this information or these reports are é¢na&te in any material respect, we have not velritie
competitive position, market share and market sizemarket growth data provided by third partiedgrindustry or general publications. All industmc
market data contained in this annual report isdagpen the latest publicly available informationofishe date of this annual report.

Certain figures included in this annual report hbgen rounded. Accordingly, figures shown as tdtaksertain tables may not be an arithmetic su
the figures that precede them.

This annual report contains terms relating to dpgggperformance in the airline industry that aedikd as follows:

e “Revenue passengers” represents the total numhmyafg passengers flown on all flight segments.

e “Revenue passenger kilometers” represents the nsnolb&ilometers flown by revenue passengers.

e “Available seat kilometers” represents the aircsafiting capacity multiplied by the number of kikters the seats are flown.

e “Load factor’represents the percentage of aircraft seating dgghat is actually utilized (calculated by diundj revenue passenger kilometer:
available seat kilometers).
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“Breakeven load factor” is the passenger load fatttatr will result in passenger revenues being efjuaperating expenses.

“Aircraft utilization” represents the average numbgblock hours operated per day per aircraftffiertotal aircraft fleet.
“Block hours” refers to the elapsed time betweemiarraft’'s leaving an airport gate and arrivingatairport gate.
“Yield per passenger kilometer” represents the ayemamount one passenger pays to fly one kilometer.
“Passenger revenue per available seat kilometprésents passenger revenue divided by availabidisemeters.
“Operating revenue per available seat kilometeptesents operating revenues divided by availaldelsiemeters.
“Average stage length” represents the average nuafidé@lometers flown per flight leg.

“Operating expense per available seat kilometgtasents operating expenses divided by availaktekdemeters.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report includes forward-looking statatagprincipally under the captions “Risk Factof§perating and Financial Review and Prospect:
and “Business Overview.” We have based these farlemking statements largely on our current beliefgectations and projections about future e\
and financial trends affecting our business. Mangortant factors, in addition to those discusskséwehere in this annual report, could cause ourad
results to differ substantially from those anti¢gghin our forward-looking statements, includingyang other things:

general economic, political and business conditinrBrazil and in other South American and Caribbeankets we serve;
the effects of global financial markets and ecorwoanises;

management’s expectations and estimates concesninfgiture financial performance and financing pland programs;
our level of fixed obligations;

our capital expenditure plans;

our ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms

inflation and fluctuations in the exchange rat¢hefreal;

existing and future governmental regulations, idirig air traffic capacity controls;

increases in fuel costs, maintenance costs andainsgé premiums;

changes in market prices, customer demand andrenefes and competitive conditions;

cyclical and seasonal fluctuations in our operatasylts;

defects or mechanical problems with our aircraft;
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e our ability to successfully implement our strategy;
o developments in the Brazilian civil aviation infragtture, including air traffic control, airspacedaairport infrastructure, and

e therisk factors discussed under “Risk Factors.”

” ou ” o, ” o ”ou ”ou

The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “aim,” “estimag,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect” ahsimilar words are intended to identify forward
looking statements. Forwatdeking statements include information concerning possible or assumed future results of operatibasiness strategi
financing plans, competitive position, industry momment, potential growth opportunities, and théeas of future regulation and the effects
competition. Forwardeoking statements speak only as of the date thene wnade, and we undertake no obligation to upglaldicly or to revise ar
forwarddooking statements after we distribute this anmeglort because of new information, future eventthier factors. In light of the risks &
uncertainties described above, the forwlmaking events and circumstances discussed inatinisial report might not occur and are not guaransédéuture
performance.

PART I
ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISORS
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE
Not applicable.
ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION
A. Selected Financial Data
We present in this section the following summangaficial data:

. Summary financial information derived from our &edi consolidated financial statements included iheas of and for the years en
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009; and

e  Summary financial information derived from our aedi consolidated financial statements not inclutlecein as of and for the year en
December 31, 2008 and 2007.

The following tables present summary historical smidated financial and operating data for us facheof the periods indicated. Solely for
convenience of the readeeal amounts as of and for the year ended Decemb&031, have been translated into U.S. dollars attinemercial market ra
in effect on December 31, 2011 as reported by thdr@leBank of R$1.8760 US$1.00.
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Summary Financial Information

Year Ended December 31,
2007 200¢ 200¢ 201( 2011 2011

(in thousands

Income Statement Data

Operating revenue

Passenge R$4,566,69 R$5,890,10 R$5,306,53 R$6,277,65 R$6,713,02¢ US$3,578,75!
Cargo and othe 374,293 516,089 718,852 701,790 826,279 440,494
Total operating revenues 4,940,98. 6,406,19: 6,025,38. 6,979,44 7,539,30¢ 4,019,24¢
Operating expense
Salaries (799,344 (983,783 (1,100,953 (1,252,402 (1,560,436 (831,878
Aircraft fuel (1,898,84C (2,630,834 (1,813,104 (2,287,410 (3,060,665 (1,631,658
Aircraft rent (525,785 (645,089 (650,683 (555,662 (505,058 (269,249
Sales and marketir (367,866 (588,735 (364,551 (367,757 (402,568 (214,611
Landing fees (273,655 (338,370 (312,637 (331,882 (395,249 (210,710
Aircraft and traffic servicing (348,732 (422,177 (381,721 (430,521 (484,642 (258,365
Maintenance, materials and rep (339,281 (388,030 (417,212 (422,950 (434,181 (231,464
Depreciation and amortizatic (62,548 (125,127 (142,853 (281,604 (395,807 (211,007
Other operating expens (315,068 (372,696 (428,376 (351,464 (633,634 (337,794
Gain on bargain purche - - - - 88,428 47,141
Total operating expense: (4,931,119 (6,494,841 (5,612,090 (6,281,652 (7,783,812 (4,149,596
Income (loss) from operations before income (exg) 9,86¢ (88,648 413,29:. 697,79! (244,504 (130,346
Interest expens (182,618 (269,278 (288,112 (297,256 (414,430 (220,935
Financial income (expense), r 373,636 (837,116) 630,956 (14,043) (341,484) (182,047)
Income (loss) before income taxes and social doution 200,88: (1,195,042 756,13t 386,49t (1,000,418 (533,328
Income taxe: (33,595) (44,305) 134,696 (172,299) 248,880 132,679
Net income (loss 167,28t (1,239,347 890,83: 214,19 (751,538 (400,649
Basic earnings (loss) per shéte 0.84: (6.160 3.91¢ 0.79¢ (2.78; (1.48
Diluted earnings (loss) per shaf& 0.84: (6.160 3.91¢ 0.79¢ (2.78 (1.48
Weighted average number of outstanding sharedatiae to
basic earnings (loss) per share (in thouséi"?ds) 198,60 201,19: 227,47. 268,56¢ 270,37t 270,37t
Weighted average number of outstanding sharedatiae to
diluted earnings (loss) per share (in thousa(ﬁbls) 198,65 201,19: 227,58: 268,95« 270,37t 270,37t
Basic earnings per ADS) 0.84: (6.160 3.91¢ 0,79¢ (2.78 (1.48
Diluted earnings per ADY 0.84: (6.160 3.91¢ 0,79¢ (2.78 (1.48
Dividends declared per share (net of withheld ineclm()(l) 1.2¢ 0.1¢ 0.7¢ 0.1¢ - -

Dividends declared per ADS (net of withheld incotave) @ 1.2¢ 0.1¢ 0.7¢ 0.1¢ - -
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As of December 31

2007 2008 2009 201( 2011 2011

Balance Sheet Dat: (in thousands’
Cash and cash equivalel R$573,12 R$169,33  R$1,382,40 R$1,95585 R$1,230,28  US$655,87
Shor-term investment 820,34 245 58! 40,44 22,606 1,009,06i 537,94(
Trade receivablé® 903,06 344,92 519,30 303,054 354,13 188,79:
Deposit: 641,16 731,37 855,56 715,377 630,59 336,17t
Total asset 7,486,41 7,131,86! 8,720,12! 9,063,847  10,655,14 5,680,31:
Shor-term deb 891,54 967,45: 591,69! 346,008 1,552,441 827,61!
Shareholde! equity 2,392,44; 1,071,60: 2,609,981 2,929,169 2,205,91 1,175,98

Year Ended December 3.

2007 200¢ 200¢ 201C 2011 2011
Other Financial Data: (in thousands except percentage
Operating margif? 0.02% (1.4)% 6.9% 10.00% (3.2)% (3.2)%
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi R$(141,488)  R$151,700  R$457,259  R$723,897 R$(602,520) US$H(321,207)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi (190,339) 40,650 5,422 (279,459) (469,168) (250,116)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 617,484 (611,301) 769,238 139,900 354,547 189,011
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Summary Operational Data

(@)

(©)
(©)
®)

(6)

@)

Year Ended December 3

2007 200¢ 200¢ 20147 20119
Operating Data(®):
Revenue passengers (in thousands) 23,68¢ 25,66+ 28,41( 32,91t 36,22(
Revenue passenger kilometers (in millions) 22,67( 25,30¢ 25,66¢ 30,64¢ 34,41¢
Available seat kilometers (in millions) 34,34¢ 41,10° 40,35¢ 45,937 50,127
Load-factor 66.0% 61.6% 63.6% 66.7% 68.7%
Break-even load-factor 65.9% 62.5% 59.2% 60.0% 70.9%
Aircraft utilization (block hours per day) 13.¢ 12.1 11.€ 12.¢ 13.C
Average fare 19¢ 262 191 191 18¢
Yield per passenger kilometer (cents) 20.1 23.2 20.7 20.t 19.t
Passenger revenue per available seat kilometetsfcen 13.7 14.7 13.1 13.7 13.2
Operating revenue per available seat kilometert§en 14.4 15.€ 14.¢ 15.2 15.C
Operating expense per available seat kilometertgyren 14.4 15.€ 13.¢ 13.7 15.5
Operating expense less fuel expense per availabtskgometer
(cents 8.¢ 9.4 9.4 8.7 9.4
Departures 237,28 268,54( 273.60: 295,16( 314,19(
Departures per day 65C 73€ 75C 811 861
Destinations served 66 58 58 58 63
Average stage length (kilometers) 96C 93¢ 89C 907 90¢
Average number of operating aircraft during period 88.€ 106.2 108.7 112.2 133.¢
Full-time equivalent employees at period end 15,72: 15,91; 17.96:¢ 18,77¢ 20,52¢
Fuel liters consumed (in thousands) 1,177,300 1,364,71! 1,291,41: 1,465,29! 1,591,91
Percentage of sales through website during péfiod 90.0% 92.4% 92.4% 88.1% 88.4%
Percentage of sales through website and call centérg period 98.9% 99.2% 98.7% 95.1% 94.5%
(1) Our preferred shares are not entitled tofawd dividend preferences, but are instead edtittereceive dividends per share in the same anmfutividends per share paid to holder

our common shares. Consequently, our earnings ffesshare are computed by dividing income bywbghted average number of all classes of shanssamaling during the year.

Trade and other receivables related to retdds from credit card administrators, travel agendnstallment sales from the Voe Fécil prograargo agencies and others. Tt
receivables are stated at cost less allowanceatofdstful receivables, which approximates their Y@tlue given their short term nature.

Operating margin represents operating incflo®s) before financial results divided by opergtiavenues.
Considering sales through our website and (Application programming interfagesystems.

In October 2010, ANAC changed its calculatiethod for monthly traffic information and republkes! information for periods since January 2009.ofkrating data for 2009 and 2!
reflects the new methodology, whereas information2007 and 2008 was calculated pursuant to themglthodology and may not be fully comparable. Adowy to ANAC, the
changes were designed to align data with the caseefopted by the International Civil Aviation Orgaation (ICAO). The change was necessary becausél Beazjoined the ICAC¥
statistical program and supplies the lattedatabase with several industry data. Changeseinmtithodology refer to the calculation of ASK (seapply) and the classification
domestic legs in international flights, which amwnconsidered to be part of the domestic marketABNhas stated that it will republish information 2008 at a later date.

Information regarding revenue passengersyadir utilization, average fare, departures, depes per day, average stage length, average muofib@perating aircraft, fuel lite
consumed, percentage of sales through websiteencdgage of sales through website and call cemtlrde data for Webjet as of and including Octobe2011.

ANAC has published revised available seatrkéters and revenue passenger kilometers data @& &8d 2010. All operating data for 2009 and 2(gflects the new DCA manu
whereas information for 2007 and 2008 was calcdlptgsuant to the manual and may not be fully coatge.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Exchange Rates

Brazil's foreign exchange system allows the purclasksale of currency and the international trarnsffeeaisby any person or legal entity, regard
of amount, subject to certain regulatory procedures

The Brazilian currency has during the last decadger@enced frequent and substantial variationselation to the U.S. dollar and other fore
currencies. Most recently, thheal was R$1.566 per US$1.00 in August 2008. Primadya result of the crisis in the global financiarkets, theeal
depreciated 31.9% against the U.S. dollar and esh&%$2.337 per US$1.00, at year end 2008. In 2662810, theeal appreciated against the U.S. dc
and reached R$1.666 per US$1.00 at year end 201ihgDR011 thereal depreciated and on December 31, 2011, the exchatgevas R$1.876el
US$1.00.

The Central Bank has intervened occasionally to corimtsability in foreign exchange rates. We canprdict whether the Central Bank or
Brazilian government will continue to allow threal to float freely or will intervene in the exchangate market through a currency band syste
otherwise.

The following tables present the selling rate, exped irmeaisto the U.S. dollar (R$/US$), for the periods indécht

Period-End Average for Period Low High
(reais per U.S. dollar}
Year
2007 1.771 1.94¢ 1.73¢ 2.15¢
2008 2.331 1.83¢ 1.55¢ 2.50(
2009 1.741 1.99¢ 1.70z 2.42:
2010 1.66¢€ 1.75¢ 1.65¢ 1.881
2011 1.87¢ 1.67¢ 1.53¢ 1.90:
2012 (through March 201 1.822 1.77( 1.70zZ 1.86¢
Month-End Average for Month (@) Low High
(reais per U.S. dollar}
Month
October 201: 1.68¢ 1.76: 1.68¢ 1.88(
November 201: 1.811 1.79( 1.727 1.89¢
December 201 1.87¢ 1.83i 1.78: 1.87¢
January 2012 1.73¢ 1.79( 1.73¢ 1.86¢
February 201: 1.70¢ 1.71¢ 1.70zZ 1.73¢
March 201. 1.82: 1.79¢ 1.71¢ 1.83:

Source: Central Bank
(1) Represents the average of the exchange ratie dast day of each month during the period.

(2) Average of the lowest and highest rates imtioath.
B. Capitalization and Indebtedness
Not applicable.
C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds
Not applicable.
D. Risk Factors
An investment in the ADSs or our preferred shameslves a high degree of risk. You should cargftdinsider the risks described below before me
an investment decision. Our busine$imancial condition and results of operations ablde materially and adversely affected by any efé¢hrisks. Tt

trading price of the ADSs could decline due to ahthese risks or other factorgnd you may lose all or part of your investmeTite risks described bels
are those that we currently believe may materiaffga us.
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Risks Relating to Brazil

The Brazilian government has exercisednd continues to exercisesignificant influence over the Brazilian economyThis involvement as well a
Brazilian political and economic conditior, could adversely affect our business and the tragljprice of our ADSs and our preferred shares.

The Brazilian government frequently has intervemethe Brazilian economy and occasionally makes fagmit changes in policy and regulations.
Brazilian governmeng actions to control inflation and other policieslaegulations have often involved, among othersuess, increases in interest re
changes in tax policies, price controls, curreneyaduations, capital controls and limits on impor@ur business, financial condition and result
operations may be adversely affected by changpslicy or regulations at the federal, state or roigail levels involving or affecting factors such as

e interest rates;

e currency fluctuations;

e inflation;

e liquidity of capital and lending markets;

e tax policies;

e exchange rates and exchange controls and restsatio remittances abroad, such as those that wiefly limposed in 1989 and early 1990; and
e  other political, social and economic developmentsriaffecting Brazil.

Developments and the perception of risk in othematries, including the United States and emerging marketuodries, may adversely affect tl
market price of Brazilian securitiesincluding the ADSs and our preferred shares.

The market value of securities of Brazilian issusraffected by economic and market conditions meotcountries, including the United States,
European Union and emerging market countries. odigfn economic conditions in those countries mafediignificantly from economic conditions
Brazil, investors reactions to developments in other countries naae an adverse effect on the market value of gsuof Brazilian issuers. Crises in
United States, the European Union or emerging nhaxkentries may diminish investor interest in séms of Brazilian issuers, including ours. Thisulz
adversely affect the trading price of the ADSs or preferred shares, and could also make it mdfiewt for us to access the capital markets amarfice
our operations in the future on acceptable ternat atl.

Government efforts to combat inflation may hindére growth of the Brazilian economy and could harm obusiness.

Brazil has in the past experienced extremely higesraf inflation and has therefore followed mongtawolicies that have resulted in one of the hic
real interest rates in the world. Between 2004 201, the base interest rate (SELIC) in Brazil valietiveen 19.25% p.a. and 8.75% p.a. Inflation &g
Brazilian governmeng measures to fight it, principally through the CainBank, have had and may have significant effentshe Brazilian economy a
our business. Tight monetary policies with higheiast rates may restrict Bragilgrowth and the availability of credit. Conversefyore lenier
government and Central Bank policies and interest datreases may trigger increases in inflation, aodsequently, growth volatility and the neec
sudden and significant interest rate increasessiwtould negatively affect our business. In additwve may not be able to adjust the fares we ehau
customers to offset the effects of inflation on oast structure.
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Risks Relating to Us and the Brazilian Airline Indugry
Substantial fluctuations in fuel costs or the unawability of fuel would harm our business.

Historically, international and local fuel priceave been subject to wide price fluctuations basedeampolitical issues and supply and demand.
costs, which at times in 2007 and 2008 were abfiéstlly high levels, constitute a significant gort of our total operating expenses, accounting38B%
of our operating expenses for the year ended Deee81h 2011. Fuel availability is also subjecp&siods of market surplus and shortage and is tafficoy
demand for both home heating oil and gasolinethénevent of an international or local fuel supgtyrtage, our fuel prices may increase. Althouglente
into hedging arrangements to reduce our exposufgetgrice fluctuations and have historically pes®n the majority of fuel price increases by dtitjg
our fare structure, the price and future availgpitf fuel cannot be predicted with any degreeastainty. Our hedging activities or the extenbaf ability
to adjust our fares may not be sufficient to protecfrom fuel price increases.

Substantially all of our fuel is supplied by oneisze, Petrobras Distribuidora S.A. If Petrobrastiitisidora is unable or unwilling to continue tapgly
fuel to us at the times and in the quantities watrequire, our business and results of operatiangdd be adversely affected.

Events resulting from prolonged instability in thiéddle East or other oiproducing regions or the suspension of productipary significant produce
may result in substantial price increases, advexshange rates, or the unavailability of adequapplées and adversely affect our profitability.dddition
the same effect may be caused by natural disasteother large unexpected disrupting events inoregiwith significant consumption of other ene
sources. No assurances can be given about treffigsl iprices, and average fuel prices for the 2kl year or for future years may be significgritighe|
than current prices.

The airline industry is particularly sensitive toh@nges in economic conditions and continued negateconomic conditions would likely continue
negatively impact our results of operations and ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms.

Our operations and the airline industry in genaralparticularly sensitive to changes in econorai@itions. Unfavorable general economic conditj
such as higher unemployment rates, a constrairestit anarket and increased business operating comtsreduce spending for both leisure and bus
travel. Unfavorable economic conditions can afepact our ability to raise fares to counteractéased fuel, labor, and other costs. Any of thasof:
may negatively impact our results of operations.

Unfavorable economic conditions, a significant dexin demand for air travel, or continued instiépibf the credit and capital markets could alssutt
in pressure on our debt costs, operating resuttfinancial condition and would affect our growtidainvestment plans. These factors could alsotivedy
affect our ability to obtain financing on acceptatdrms and our liquidity generally.

Exchange rate instability may materially and advelgaffect our financial condition and results of agations and the market price of the ADSs ¢
our preferred shares.

The Brazilian currency has during the last decadger@enced frequent and substantial variationselation to the U.S. dollar and other fore
currencies. Most recently, theal was valued as high as R$1.566 per US$1.00 in A®R@8. Primarily as a result of the crisis in tiebal financia
markets, theeal depreciated 31.9% against the U.S. dollar andhesh®$2.337 per US$1.00, at year end 2008. In 20@92010, theeal appreciate
against the U.S. dollar and reached R$1.666 per 108$4t year end 2010. Driven principally by the dh@an financial crisis, during 2011 theal
depreciated and on December 31, 2011, the exchatgeas R$1.87f®er US$1.00.

Depreciation of theeal against the U.S. dollar could create inflationgrgssures in Brazil and cause increases in intexg=dt, which could negative
affect the growth of the Brazilian economy as a whahd harm our financial condition and results pérations, may curtail access to foreign finai
markets and may prompt government interventioruding recessionary governmental policies. Deptarieof thereal against the U.S. dollar can also
in the context of an economic slowdown, lead tael@sed consumer spending, deflationary pressucesednced growth of the economy as a whole. O
other hand, appreciation of tineal relative to theU.S. dollar and other foreign currencies could lea@ deterioration of the Brazilian foreign exche
current accounts, as well as dampen export-drivewtty. Depending on the circumstances, eitheratgation or appreciation of threal could materiall
and adversely affect our business, financial caomlind results of operations.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Substantially all of our passenger revenue andocargenue and temporary investments are denomiiratedis, and a significant part of our operal
expenses, such as fuel, aircraft and engine maintenservices, aircraft rent payments and airaraftrance, are denominated in, or linked to, UdBack.
We maintain U.S. dolladenominated deposits and maintenance reserve tiepasdier the terms of some of our aircraft opegadases. For the year en
December 31, 2011, 51.8%f our operating expenses were either denominatedrilinked to the U.S. dollar. In addition, therghase price
the Boeing 737 Next Generation aircraft for which haal 91 firm purchase orders outstanding as of mbee 31, 2011, the 10 purchase rights and tl
Boeing 737 Next Generation aircraft for which wereuatly have purchase options are denominated in daffars. At the end of 2011, 70% of
indebtedness was denominated in U.S. dollars. éMnilthe past we have generally adjusted our fare®sponse to, and to alleviate the effec
depreciation of theeal and increases in the price of jet fuel (which isgul in U.S. dollars) and have entered into hedgmgngements to protect us age
the shortterm effects of such developments, there can bassarance we will be able to continue to do scaddition, there is no effective hedg
alternative for medium- and long-term depreciatainthe real. To the extent we are unable to adjust our faresffectively hedge against any s
developments, this may lead to a material decrgasear profit margins or to material operating lessaused by increases in U.S. dallanominated cos
increases in interest expense or exchange lossestmtged fixed obligations and indebtedness demated in foreign currency. We had total U.S. della
denominated future operating lease payment ohtigatof R$2,269,5nillion and R$3,511.6énillion regarding other U.S. dollatenominated liabilities al
indebtedness at December 31, 2011. We may indstantial additional amounts of U.S. doldenominated operating lease or financial obligatianc
U.S. dollar-denominated indebtedness and be sulojéael cost increases linked to the U.S. dollar.

Depreciation of theeal also reduces the U.S. dollar value of distributiand dividends on the ADSs and the U.S. dollaivadgnt of the market pri
of our preferred shares and, as a result, the ADSs.

Changes to the Brazilian civil aviation regulatorydmework may adversely affect our business and resaftoperations.

Brazilian aviation authorities monitor and influenttee developments in Brazl'airline market. For example, the National Civili#dion Agenc!
(Agéncia Nacional de Aviagdo Ciyilbor ANAC, addressed overcapacity by establishingt<riteria that must be met before new routeadditional fligh
frequencies were awarded. ANAC has more recentlyngsiimum turnaround times. The policies of the ABIAnd other aviation supervisory author
may negatively affect our operations.

The Brazilian congress is currently discussing aftdpdl that would replace the current Brazilian Aeautical Code Qodigo Brasileiro d
Aeronautici). In general, this draft bill deals with matteetated to civil aviation, including airport conséms, consumer protection, limitation of airlines
civil liability, compulsory insurance, fines ancetincrease of limits to foreign ownership in votistpck of Brazilian airlines from 20% to 49%. Thiafl
bill is still under discussion in the House of Reganetatives and, if approved, must be submittechfroval to the Federal Senate, before being se
presidential approval. If the Brazilian civil aviati framework changes in the future, or ANAC impletseincreased restrictions, our growth plans,
business and results of operations could be adyaffected. If the limits to foreign ownership @m influence on Brazilian airlines are increased, @uren
or new competitors may increase their financiaérggth and may have a competitive advantage ovewhish would negatively affect our business
results of operations.

In August 2011 the Brazilian government privatizeé hew Natal airport, which will have its constiantcompleted and further operation by
winners of the privatization auction. In Februa§12, the Brazilian government privatized the GuargjhBrasilia and Campinas international airp
which will be operated by the winners of the prization auction for periods of 20 to 30 years, atiter airports are expected to be privatized inniba
future. Although such measures may serve as a fEt@ositive catalyst to accelerate investmentsinport infrastructure, we are unable to forede
effects of any such measures, especially regardpegational efficiencies and costs, as well asoairpnd other fees, on our business and resu
operations. See “Item 4. Information on the Compamy Business Overview - Regulation of the BrazilianilGiviation Market — Airport Infrastructure.”
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Changes to the Brazilian civil aviation regulatorarfrework may change the competitive dynamics of industry and may adversely affect
operations, see “~We operate in a highly competitindustry.”

Changes to Brazilian rules regarding slots distribati, fare restrictions and fees associated with cawliation may adversely affect our business .
results of operations.

Current rules regarding slots distribution at CongmnAirport, which favors us, require that 80% ofvreots are assigned to airlines already oper
in that airport. New proposed rules, which are urpslic hearing, may reduce that percentage.dfehs a change in the rule regarding slots redigion
we could be negatively affected by higher compatitn this airport from new competitors.

In 2010 ANAC approved the deregulation of internadicairfares for flights departing from Brazil teet).S. and Europe, gradually removing the |
minimum fares.In addition, in 2010 the National Civil Aviation Catih(Conselho de Aviacdo Ciyilor CONAC, approved the continuity of bilate
agreements providing for open skies policies witteo South American countries and a new open gabsy with the United States. In March, 2011 Bt
also signed an open skies agreement with Europe.afheements with the United States and Europexrected to be in operation by 2015 and 2
respectively. These regulations increase competitidthe market and may negatively affect our rissofl operation.

Until 2010, landing and navigation fees charge®iazilian airports were similar in all airports inmdent of whether they were busy or not. In 2
the Brazilian government increased landing and radiig fees at the busiest airports as compareeéds® busy airports and at peak hours. As a r
secondary hubs and gfeak flights may benefit in light of the differemscia fees for the airlines that choose to operathése airports or times. Change
landing, navigation or other fees have in the pastmay continue to increase our CASK, lower ouciefficy and profitability and may provide other el
players with a cost or operational advantage.

Technical and operational problems in the Braziliaaivil aviation infrastructure, including air traffic control systems airspace and airpo
infrastructure may have a material adverse effect our business our results of operations and our strategy.

We are dependent on improvements in the coordimatiml development of Brazilian airspace control @ngbrt infrastructure, which, mainly due to
large growth in civil aviation in Brazil in recenégrs, require substantial improvements and govarhimeestments. This is further emphasized bynibex
for additional infrastructure investments in thetext of the Soccer Confederations Cup (2013) andd\@up (2014) and the Summer Olympics (201
Brazil. Infraero has announced a list of investméntaajor Brazilian airports of approximately R$7illiin to be implemented between 2011 and 2014.

If the measures taken and investments made by #mli&n government and regulatory authorities dbpmove sufficient or effective, air traffic conty
airspace management and sector coordinaitated difficulties might reoccur or worsen, whiefight have a material adverse effect on our bssineu
results of operations and our growth strategy.

Slots at Congonhas Airport in S&o Paulo, the mopbimant airport for our operations, are fully w#d. The SantoBumont airport in Rio de Janeirc
highly utilized airport with halfiourly shuttle flights between S&o Paulo and Ridateeiro, has certain slot restrictions. SevetaoBrazilian airports, ft
example the Brasilia, Campinas, Salvador, Confins $&m Paulo (Guarulhos) international airports, hiiwited the number of slots per day due
infrastructural limitations at these airports. Atgndition that would prevent or delay our accessitports or routes that are vital to our strafegyou
inability to maintain our existing slots, and obta@dditional slots, could materially adversely effeur operations. In addition, we cannot assboe¢ an
investments will be made by the Brazilian governmerihe Brazilian aviation infrastructure to permitapacity increase at busy airports and consely
additional concessions for new slots to airlines.
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We operate in a highly competitive industry.

We face intense competition on domestic routes aziBfrom existing scheduled airlines and chartdings and potential new entrants in our mar
In addition to competition among scheduled airlcempanies and charter operators, the Braziliannairindustry faces competition from groi
transportation alternatives, such as interstatesu$Ve may also face competition from internati@idines as they introduce and expand flightsmeetr
Brazil, other South American and Caribbean destinatio

Our existing competitors or potential new entrants the markets in which we operate may be finahcistronger than us. They have in the pas!
may again undercut our fares, increase capacity@n routes in an effort to increase their matedre or attempt to conduct low-fare or loast airline
operations of their own, emulating our strategy.ahy such event, we cannot assure you that oaf &#\fares or passenger traffic would not be askig
affected and would not have an adverse impact obasiness and results of operations or that ompetitive advantage would not be reduced.

Further consolidation in the Brazilian and global aline industry framework may adversely affect our business and tesof operations

As a result of the competitive environment thereyrbe further consolidation in the Brazilian and giblirline industry, whether by means
acquisitions, joint ventures, partnerships or sggiat alliances. We cannot predict the effectsuathier consolidation on the industry. To the exteatact a
consolidators, we may not be able to successfutgrate the business and operations of compaoigsrad, governmental approvals may be delayeds
of integration and fleet renovation may be gre#itan anticipated and synergies may not meet oueaafions, our costs may increase and our opesd
efficiency may be reduced, all of which would néggly affect our business and results of operatamd may distract our management.

In the event we do not act as a consolidator ounpaditors may increase their scale, diversity andnfcial strength and may have a compel
advantage over us, which would negatively affeat lmusiness and results of operations. Consolidatiadhe airline industry and changes in internati
alliances will continue to affect the competitiantiscape in the industry and may result in the d&tion of airlines and alliances with increased ficial
resources, more extensive global networks and esHoast structures.

We have significant recurring aircraft lease costand we will incur significantly more fixed costs thaould hinder our ability to meet our strateg
goals

We have significant costs, relating primarily tades for our aircraft and engines. As of DecerBtheR011, we had commitments of R$15,780 mi
to purchase additional Boeing 7800 Next Generation aircraft, based on aircraftdigces, although the actual price payable byaugte aircraft will b
lower due to supplier discounts. As of December281l1, we had R$4,655.7 million in short- and léegn indebtedness, excluding our perpetual bor
the amount of R$335.&illion. We expect that we will incur additionaikéd obligations and debt as we take delivery & tlew aircraft and oth
equipment to implement our strategy.

Having significant fixed payment obligations could:

e limit our ability to obtain additional financing support expansion plans and for working capital @tier purposes;

e divert substantial cash flow from our operationseovice our fixed obligations under aircraft opieigaleases and aircraft purchase commitments;

o if interest rates increase, require us to incunificantly more lease or interest expense thanwveeatly do; and

e limit our ability to plan for or react to changesdur business and the airline industry and to ggmeonomic conditions.
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Our ability to make scheduled payments on our figbligations, including indebtedness we will incwill depend on our operating performance
cash flow, which will in turn depend on prevailiegonomic and political conditions and financialmgetitive, regulatory, business and other factorany
of which are beyond our control. In addition, atility to raise our fares to compensate for amaase in our fixed costs may be adversely affelsyedny
imposition of fare control mechanisms by the Braumiltivil aviation authorities.

Agreements on a common approach between export cragéncies of the United States and the European Wnan offering export credits fc
commercial aircraft are likely to increase our airaft financing costs.

In 2010, the Export-Import Bank of the United Stat#&x-Im Bank”) agreed on a common approach withdp@an exportredit agencies on offeri
export credits for commercial aircraft. Among atlikings, the new Sector Understanding on Expordi@reor Civil Aircraft (the “ASU”) sets fortl
minimum guarantee premium rates applicable to @&ir¢o be delivered on or after January 1, 2013yrater firm contracts entered into after Decemldg
2010 and also changes the maximum amount that mdindnced. While subject to modification, the espre fees paid by us on applicable aircraf
likely to increase. The amount of any such increasledepend upon the credit risk assigned to usthmy participating exporgencies pursuant to -
protocols of the ASU. In addition, we will no logigbe able to finance the amortization paymentafs guaranteed by Hx Bank with SOAR loa
facilities. These developments are likely to inseaur financing costs and may negatively affectresults of operation and our credit rating, whiabuld
further negatively affect our financing costs.

We may have to use our cash resources to finang®dion of our firm purchase order aircraft. We nyanot have sufficient cash resources to do so.

We currently finance our aircraft principally thigiuoperating leases. As a result of our 91 firnrcpase orders for Boeing 7800 Next Generatic
aircraft outstanding as of December 31, 2011, weeeixto own a larger portion of our fleet as wslicantinue to lease aircraft through principallgddern
operating leases. The firm purchase orders repressignificant financial commitment for us. Wavk in recent years financed and intend to con
financing our new Boeing 737-800 NG aircraft witit@mmitment we received from the Ex Bank providing guarantees covering 85% of theregat
purchase price for the firm purchase order aircréifthile we expect that the guaranty from the ExBank will help us in obtaining lowest financing fc
the purchase of the firm purchase order aircradtyway be required to use our own cash resourcébdaemaining 15% of the aggregate purchase foi
the firm purchase order aircraft. As of DecemberZI11, we had R$2,348billion of cash, cash equivalents, shmtm investments in overnight depo
and deposit certificates of highly-rated Braziliaanks and marketable securities, mainly Brazilianegoment bonds and short- and Iaegn restricte
cash. If the value or liquidity of these investisewere to decrease, or we do not have sufficiasih cesources, we may be required to modify oaradi
acquisition plans or to incur higher than antiaggghfinancing costs, which would have an adverseagnpn the execution of our strategy and busined
could have an adverse impact on our results.

We rely on one supplier for our aircraft and engise

One of the key elements of our current businesdegly is to save costs by operating a standardizechft fleet. After extensive research and asia
we chose the Boeing 737-700/800 Next Generatiomadirand CFM 56/B engines from CFM International. We expect to icwd to rely on Boeing al
CFM International into the foreseeable future. ither Boeing or CFM International were unable to perf its contractual obligations, we would hav
find another supplier for a similar type of air¢raf engines.

If we had to lease or purchase aircraft from anmosheplier, we could lose the benefits we deriwerfrour current fleet composition. We cannot as
you that any replacement aircraft would have thraesaperating advantages as the Boeing 74B¥800 Next Generation aircraft or that we coelaske ¢
purchase engines that would be as reliable anciaifias the CFM engines. We may also incur subiatdaransition costs, including costs associatéith
retraining our employees, replacing our manualsaapting our facilities, to the extent that suobkts would not be covered by the alternate supp(an
operations could also be disrupted by the failurimability of Boeing or CFM International to provideifficient parts or related support services timaly
basis.

Our business would also be significantly harmeal dfesign defect or mechanical problem with the Bp&iB7700/800 Next Generation aircraft or
CFM engines used on our aircraft were discoveragsing our aircraft tde grounded while any such defect or problem isgpedrrected, assuming it co
be corrected at all. The use of our aircraft cdaddsuspended or restricted by the ANAC in the ewéany actual or perceived mechanical, designtiog!
problems while the ANAC conducts an investigati@ur business would also be significantly harmethéf public avoids flying on our aircraft due tc
adverse perception of the Boeing 7813/800 Next Generation aircraft or the CFM enginesause of safety concerns or other problems, whetial o
perceived, or in the event of an accident involMatgeing 737-700/800 Next Generation aircraft or@éM engines.
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When Boeing or CFM release new aircraft or engineseptace the Boeing 737M0/800 Next Generation aircraft or the CFM enginssd on ot
aircraft the market value of our aircraft and eegimay decrease, which would negatively affectvéliae of our assets and could result in us recg
impairment charges. In addition, if other manufeetsi release new aircraft that is more appealintpeomarket or customers, we may be forced to tk
from our oneaircraft fleet policy, thereby losing the benefifsoperating only one type of aircraft, which coaldo reduce the market value of aircraft
would adversely affect our operational costs asdlte of operation.

We rely heavily on automated systems to operateluginess and any failure of these systems could harm oursimess.

We depend on automated systems to operate ourdsssiimcluding our computerized airline ticket sadgstem, our telecommunication systems
scheduling system and our website. Our websitetiakdt sales system must be able to accommodaighavolume of traffic and deliver important fli¢
information. Substantial or repeated website eficdales, scheduling or telecommunication systenhsrés could reduce the attractiveness of ourices
and could cause our customers to purchase tick@tsdnother airline. Any disruption in these sgstecould result in the loss of important data, éase ot
expenses and generally harm our business.

We rely on maintaining a high daily aircraft utiliation rate to increase our revenues and reduce oosts.

One of the key elements of our business strategy msaintain a high daily aircraft utilization ratéligh daily aircraft utilization allows us to genate
more revenue from our aircraft and dilute our fixabts, and is achieved in part by operating witttlgturnaround times at airports so we can fly €
hours on average in a day. Our rate of aircrafzation could be adversely affected by a numHtedifferent factors that are beyond our controtlirding
among others, air traffic and airport congestiavease weather conditions and delays by thady service providers relating to matters sucfualng ant
ground handling.

Temporary or permanent shortages of skilled labor,mismanagement of our scheduling systems, couftupt our business.

Our business depends significantly upon the aviithabf skilled labor, including hiring, trainingnd retaining qualified pilots, qaitots and other ke
employees. We may not be able to compete for skilbor with airlines in other growing markets,dmmestically and may be unable to hire or retaiots
and other key crew members. Training a pilot rezgimany years of extensive flight hours, includingignificant amount of hours in flight simulatolfsour
pilots or key crew members leave our company, wg n@ be able to find suitable replacements, loging investment in training and increasing
probability of disruptions in our business causgdliortages of skilled labor.

In addition, restrictions on flight hours for ouigts and crew members or mismanagement of ourdsdimg systems in light of our high daily airci
utilization rate may cause temporary shortageskifed labor and could disrupt our business, hamum eputation and adversely affect our resuli
operation.

Our flights are subject to seasonality and this miagrease volatility and affect our results of ogsion.

Revenues and profits from our flights reach theghbst levels during the Brazilian summer and wintgcation periods, in January and J
respectively, and during the last two weeks of Dawer, during the holiday season. Therefore the dinsl fourth quarters of each year are the mosvael
in terms of passengers transported. In light of dgh proportion of fixed costs, this seasonalégpds to cause variations in our operational incthomm
quarter to quarter and may increase volatility affelct our results of operation.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Certain of our debt agreements contain financial @nants and any default under such debt agreements/rhave a material adverse effect on
financial condition and cash flow:

Certain of our existing debt agreements contairriotisins and covenants and require the maintenanatisfaction of specified financial ratios
tests. Our ability to meet these financial ratiod ¢ests can be affected by events beyond ouraceamid we cannot assure that we will meet thosts,
especially given the lower yield environment in @hithe industry currently operates. Failure to naredatisfy any of these covenants, financial st
financial tests could result in an event of defaulter these and other agreements, as a resutissfeefault provisions. If we are unable to comply watin
debt covenants, we could be forced to seek waiWgescannot guarantee that we will be successfabiaining any waivers or renewing existing waiv
As of December 31, 2011, we were not in compliamitke certain financial covenants under our debeagun the amount of R$1,088.4 million and our
loan. In March 2012, the Company received waiversutigh June 2012 from the debenture holders (Bamcadil and Bradesco). If we are unable to re
these and/or receive other waivers, a large podfoour debt could be subject to acceleration. I&/hie believe such eventuality to be remote, shi
come to pass, we may need to renegotiate, resteuoturefinance our indebtedness, seek additiomaitye capital or sell assets, which may materiaihy
adversely affect us.

Our reputation financial results and the market price of our AD$®d preferred shares could be harmed by eventsafwdur control

Accidents or incidents involving our aircraft coutt/olve significant claims by injured passengerd athers, as well as significant costs relatetth¢
repair or replacement of a damaged aircraft anfitgorary or permanent loss from service. Weengaired by ANAC and lessors of our aircraft unden
operating lease agreements to carry liability iaeae. Although we believe we currently maintaability insurance in amounts and of the type gehe
consistent with industry practice, the amount afhsgoverage may not be adequate and we may bedftocbear substantial losses in the event «
accident. Substantial claims resulting from aridestt in excess of our related insurance coveragddivharm our business and financial results. doge
any aircraft accident or incident involving ouraaaft, even if fully insured, or an accident origent involving Boeing 737 Next Generation aircraftthe
aircraft of any major airline could cause negaiblic perceptions about us or the air transpostesy, which would harm our business and resu
operations as well as the market price of our AB&$ preferred shares.

We may also be affected by other events that affagel behavior, such as the potential of epidsroicacts of terrorism. These events are out t
control and may affect us even if occurring in neaskwhere we do not operate and/or in connectidim ether airlines. For example, in the second tguan
2009 an outbreak of the HIN1 virus had an advergmdt on global air travel and on our operationanid from Argentina. In addition, in the past d
have been concerns about outbreaks or potentibtaalts of other diseases, such as avian flu aner&écute Respiratory Syndrome, or SARS, whict
an adverse impact on global air travel. Any outkref a disease that affects travel behavior cbalte a material adverse impact on us and the tygufine
of shares of companies in the worldwide airlineuistdy, including our ADRs and preferred shares. b@aks of disease could also result in quarantf
our personnel or an inability to access facilibe®ur aircraft, which could adversely affect opecations.

Natural disasters may affect and disrupt our operat For example, in 2011, a volcanic eruptioi€hile had a prolonged adverse effect on air tr
halting flights in, Argentina, Chile, Uruguay andetBouthern part of Brazil for several days. As alltesur operations to and from these regions
temporarily disrupted, including certain aircraimg grounded in the affected regions. Any natdisdster that affects air travel in the regiong/irich we
operate could have a material adverse impact obuginess and results of operation.

Our ability to use tax loss carryforwards to offsetture taxable income is subject to limitation.

As of December 31, 2011, we had reported approeip@®$2.1 billion of tax loss carryforward and negatbasis of social contribution mainly a
result of the acquisition of VRG in 2007 and WelijeR011 and accumulated losses. Under Braziliadaias we may only use our tax loss carryforwal
offset taxes payable up to 30% of the taxable pfofieach year. Thus, despite having balancedasx tarryforward we may have to pay higher taxea
we reach the compensation limits for any given ylat we are entitled to use under Brazilian taxslaw
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Our controlling shareholder has the ability to diog our business and affairs and its interests cowlanflict with yours.

Our controlling shareholder has the power to, amathgr things, elect a majority of our directorsl atetermine the outcome of any action requ
shareholder approval, including transactions wéllated parties, corporate reorganizations, dispasit and the timing and payment of any futured#wvds
subject to minimum dividend payment requirementpased under Law No. 6,404 of December 15, 197&na@anded, or the Brazilian corporation I
Although you are entitled to taglong rights in connection with a change of contfabur company and you will have specific protest in connection wi
transactions between our controlling shareholderratated parties, our controlling shareholder haye an interest in pursuing acquisitions, disjmss
financings or similar transactions that could cbflvith your interests as a holder of the ADS®uwr preferred shares.

Risks Relating to the ADSs and Our Preferred Shares

The relative volatility and illiquidity of the Brafian securities markets, and securities issued bfiges in particular, may substantially limit yot
ability to sell the preferred shares underlying t#Ss at the price and time you desire.

Investing in securities that trade in emerging retgksuch as Brazil, often involves greater risk tingesting in securities of issuers in the Unigdtes
and such investments are generally considered tmdye speculative in nature. The Brazilian se@sitnarket is substantially smaller, less liquidye
concentrated and can be more volatile than majurgies markets in the United States. Accordinglghough you are entitled to withdraw the predfe
shares underlying the ADSs from the depositaryngttane, your ability to sell the preferred shaweslerlying the ADSs at a price and time at which
wish to do so may be substantially limited. Thisralso significantly greater concentration in Brazilian securities market than in major securitregket:
in the United States. The ten largest companieteims of market capitalization represented 53.1%he aggregate market capitalization of
BM&FBOVESPA S.A. Bolsa de Valores, Mercadorias & FogI(“BM&FBOVESPA”) as of December 31, 2011. The top ten stocks mgef tradini
volume accounted for 49.7%, 49.7% and 53.6% dfledres traded on the BM&FBOVESPA in 2009, 2010 arid 2fespectively.

In addition, the trading price of shares of comparin the worldwide airline industry are relativelylatile and investorgerception of the market val
of these shares, including our ADSs and preferhades, may also be negatively impacted with aduilioolatility and decreases in the price of our3s
and preferred shares.

Holders of the ADSs and our preferred shares may rexteive any dividends.

According to our bylaws, we must pay our shareholders at least 258ti0&nnual net income as dividends, as determindddjusted under Brazili
corporation law. This adjusted income may be adipéd, used to absorb losses or otherwise apptegdrias allowed under the Brazilian corporationaae
may not be available to be paid as dividends. Vdg not pay dividends to our shareholders in antiqudar fiscal year if our board of directors detémes
that such distributions would be inadvisable inwif our financial condition.

If you surrender your ADSs and withdraw preferred sley you risk losing the ability to remit foreign currecy abroad and certain Brazilian te
advantages.

As an ADS holder, you benefit from the electrordceign capital registration obtained by the custadbr our preferred shares underlying the AD¢
Brazil, which permits the custodian to convert darids and other distributions with respect to tredgured shares into ndrazilian currency and remit t
proceeds abroad. If you surrender your ADSs aritidraw preferred shares, you will be entitled tatoaie to rely on the custodianklectronic foreig
capital registration for only five business dayanirthe date of withdrawal. Thereafter, upon tlepdsition of or distributions relating to the preéal share
you will not be able to remit abroad non-Brazilianrency unless you obtain your own electronic fgmeiapital registration.

If you attempt to obtain your own electronic foreigapital registration, you may incur expensesuffies delays in the application process, which d
delay your ability to receive dividends or disttloms relating to our preferred shares or the retfryour capital in a timely manner. The depoyita
electronic foreign capital registration may alscalleersely affected by future legislative changes.
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Holders of ADSs may be unable to exercise preemptigits with respect to our preferred shares.

We may not be able to offer our preferred shared.® holders of ADSs pursuant to preemptive rigitemted to holders of our preferred share
connection with any future issuance of our prefitsleares unless a registration statement unde3dberities Act is effective with respect to suchferrec
shares and preemptive rights, or an exemption ftanregistration requirements of the Securitiesif\evailable. We are not obligated to file a stgitior
statement relating to preemptive rights with respeour preferred shares, and we cannot assur¢hgduve will file any such registration statemelitsuct
a registration statement is not filed and an ex@ngtom registration does not exist, Citibank, N.As depositary, will attempt to sell the preenmtights
and you will be entitled to receive the proceedsswth sale. However, these preemptive rights e¥pire if the depositary does not sell them,
U.S. holders of ADSs will not realize any valuenfrthe granting of such preemptive rights.

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
A. History and Development of the Company
General

The Registrant was formed on March 12, 2004 sscéedade por acdea stock corporation duly incorporated under sl of Brazil with unlimite
duration. The Registrant’'s material assets cordighe shares of VRG, three offshore finance sulsil, cash and cash equivalents and gbart-
investments. The Registrant owns all of VRG’s shaeasept for shares held by members of VR®bards of directors for eligibility purposes. r
principal executive offices are located at Praca @utante Linneu Gomes, S/N, Portaria 3, Jardim AetopCEP: 046220, Sdo Paulo, SP, Brazil, :
our general telephone number is +55 11 2128-400@ telephone number of our investor relations depent is +55 11 2128700. Our website addres
www.voegol.com.br. Investor information can berfdwon our website www.voegol.com.br/ir. Informaticontained on our website is not incorporate
reference in, and shall not be considered a pathisfannual report.

Capital Expenditures
For a description of our capital expenditures,tsgew “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review andspects—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”
B. Business Overview

We are one of the largest low-cost low-fare aidiirethe world, according to IATA, in terms of pasgers transported in 2011, and the largestdosv-
low-fare airline in Latin America providing frequieservice on routes connecting all of Brazithajor cities and from Brazil to major cities inuBo Americ:
and selected tourist destinations in the Caribb®éth our young and standardized operating fleet28 GOL Boeing 73700/800 and 24 Webjet Boei
737-300 aircraft, we serve the most comprehensttwark of any airline in the Brazilian air passengansportation market.

Since the beginning of our operations in 2001, aftordable, reliable and simple service and ouugoon markets that were either underserved ¢
not have a lowefare alternative have led to a strong awarenessupforand and a rapid increase in our market she/e. were the first company
successfully introduce lowest carrier industry practices and technologiekatin America. We have a diversified revenue bagth customers rangil
from business passengers to leisure passengeedinigathroughout Brazil, other South American andililsan destinations. Our strategy is to increle
size of the market by attracting new passengergetisas to diversify our revenue portfolio throughr consolidated flight network, a modern aircfdet,
targeted marketing and our loyalty progr&miles (one of the largest loyalty programs in Latin Ainarwith more than 8.2 million members and moren
180 partners), a variety of attractive ancillansinesses such as our air cargo serviGlgg), and through a variety of payment mechanismsgdesi tc
make the purchase of our tickets easier for custenmelower income classes. Passenger transmortegivenues represented 89% and ancillary rev
(cargo and other) represented 11% of our net teeeof R$7,539.3 billion in 2011.
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As of March 31, 2012, we offered approximately 9#ly flights to 63 destinations connecting the miosportant cities in Brazil as well as k
destinations in Argentina, Barbados, Bolivia, Chilerdguay, Uruguay, Venezuela and the Caribbean regianof March 31, 2011, Webjet offel
approximately 1,000 weekly flights to 16 Braziliaties. We strategically focus on the Brazilian amdith American markets, and will continue to car
evaluate opportunities to continue growing by iasiag the frequency of flights to our existing higgmand markets and adding new routes in these ts
(for example, in the Caribbean region), all of whigtm be reached with our Boeing 737 Next Generdh@) aircraft.

Our Competitive Strengths

We Have a Strong Market Position Based on Slotsha Most Important Airports in Brazil. Since the VRG acquisition, we have been the canii
the most flights connecting the busiest airport8iazil: Congonhas and Guarulhos (Sdo Paulo), Sahtiosont and Galedo (Rio de Janeiro), Jusc
Kubitschek (Brasilia), Confins (Belo Horizonte) SaleadBahia), Porto Alegre (Rio Grande do Sul), RecBerfambuco) and Curitiba (Parand). Rc
between these airports are among the most prdditaloites in our markets, with strong yields achiewestly from business travelers.

We Keep Our Operating Costs LovDur operating expense per available seat kilom@a&SK) exfuel for the year ended December 31, 2011
R$9.4cents. We believe that our CASK for the year erldedember 31, 2011, adjusted for the average nuofliélometers flown per flight, or adjusted
stage length, was over the year the lowest in tmeedtic market and among Latin American lowst carriers, based upon our analysis of dateatelll fron
publicly available information. Our business moddbased on innovation and best practices addptidprove our operating efficiency, including:

e  Operation of a young and standardized fleat. December 31, 2011, our operating fleet of 123L&oeing 737700/800 aircraft and 24 Wek
Boeing 737-300 was one of Latin America’s largesd goungest fleets, with an average age of 7.0 &h@ ylears, respectively. We plan
continue keeping our operating fleet exclusivelynpoised of Boeing 737-800 and 7300 NG aircraft. Having a standardized fleet red
inventory costs, as it requires fewer spare partd, reduces the need to train our pilots to opefiffierent types of aircraft. It also simplifiesir
maintenance and operations processes.

e  State of the art maintenanc®e carry out heavy maintenance on our Boeing 73Fadtrinternally at our IOSA (IATA Operational SafeAudit)
certified Aircraft Maintenance Center at the Tanoréteves International Airport located in Confinsthie State of Minas Gerais. With our sys
of phased maintenance for our Boeing NG 737-700 #3800 aircraft fleet, we are able to perform mainteeawork every day witho
sacrificing aircraft revenue time, and schedulespnéive maintenance with more regularity and arotivedutilization of our aircraft, which furtr
dilutes fixed costs.

We Have a Strong Liquidity and Cash PositioWe believe that a strong liquidity and cash posii® key to our success. Our strong balance
increases our capacity to establish partnershggmtiate with suppliers and to mitigate impactfirncial markets volatility on our results, toestgthen ot
financial resilience and to ensure the executionwfgrowth strategy. We have a strong cash pos({tomposed by cash and cash equivalents, cume
non-current restricted cash and short term investshevhich as of December 31, 2011 represented@bflour last twelve monthgiperating revenues. \
are also committed to not having any significanaficial debt (excluding finance leases) comingwlitiein any threeyear horizon. In this view we belie
that a stronger cash position, combined with owarating cash flow generation will further improver @perating flexibility in order to allow us topialy
respond to market changes.

We Stimulate Demand for Our ServicalVe believe that through our differentiated serviaescreate demand for air travel services. Wetifjeand
stimulate demand among both business and leiswsepgers for air travel that is safe, convenientple and a reasonably priced alternative to tiarii
air, bus and car travel. By combining low fareshwsimple and reliable service, we have successfaifyroved our brand awareness, product qu
punctuality and regularity as well as strengthenastomer loyalty and are attracting new groupsiofravelers in our markets. We estimate thai
average, approximately 5% to 10% of the customermsuo flights are either first-time flyers or havet flown for more than a year.
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We Have Strong Brand RecognitionWe believe that the Gol brand has become synonymthsinnovation and value in the airline industr@ui
customers identify Gol as being safe, accessibndly, fair, intelligent and reliable and distirigh Gol in Brazils domestic airline industry on the basi
its modern and simplified approach to air travelVees. OurSmiles andGollog brands and our website provide valuable custoemsgnition in variot
businesses and create a tool for brand diverdificdor us. Our Varig brand is widely known in tBeazilian and Latin American markets in which
operate.

We Have One of the Largest Loyalty Programs in lafAmerica Since the VRG acquisition, we have a loyalty prog(&mile3, which is available 1
all our passengers and which we consider a strelagianship tool. Th&miles loyalty program serves as a source of revenuadpas it enables us to :
miles directly to corporate clients for marketingrposes or utilize them for dmanded credit cards. It supports partnershipk wmiore than 180 partne
including hotel chains, car rental companies, testats, insurance companies, publishers and schaodlglso forms the basis for partnerships withesol
Brazil and South America’s largest banks and crehitl companies. ThHamilesloyalty program had over 8rillion members at December 31, 2011.

We Are One of the Largest-Eommerce Companies in BrazilOur effective use of technology helps us to keapcosts low and our operations hig
scalable and efficient. We seek to keep our dhistion channels streamlined and convenient so aldw our customers to interact with us via theeinet.
In 2011, we booked 88.5% of our ticket sales throagcombination of our website and application progming interface, or API, systems, 6.0% thrc
our call center and 5.5% through Global Distribnt®ystem, or GDS. In addition, our customers catklin online and through wednabled cell phone
As a result of our emphasis on low-cost distributiiannels, in 2011 we were one of the largesimmerce companies in Brazil and Latin America,
R$7.0billion in net ticket sales through the interneprm than any other airline and publicly-helé@nmerce company in Brazil. Our platform also
strong traffic statistics, with more than five nah visitors per month. We enjoy significant ceatiings associated with automated ticket sales;hwaiisc
makes the selection of travel options more converig our customers.

We Have High Corporate Governance Standards and RroWanagement.Our corporate governance practices go beyond thfosest issuers in ti
transportation industry and emerging markets issu#e have four independent board members, ingjuttie chairman of our board of directors. We
also have one board member who wil be nominateBddta Air Lines Inc., or Delta, pursuant to our tparship agreement. Our top managers have
experience in many sectors of the Brazilian econamgiuding air and ground transportation, telecomioations and home appliances and cons
products. This experience has helped us to deublpnost effective elements of our leest model and we expect will help us to furthengieate th
Brazilian middle class and to generate ancillanenees.

Our Strategies

Our strategy is to capitalize on our competitiveaatdages while further strengthening our financélilience, based on four main strategic pill
increase passenger revenue, expand ancillary resefurther reduce costs and improve our finanesilience. In order to implement our strategies
intend to:

Capitalize on Our Strong Market Position in Brazil ahLatin America We intend to capitalize on our strong marketitpms with our widespree
brand recognition, the greatest number of routeshaghest frequencies between the most importapods in Brazil, our consolidated flight networkd
our Smiles loyalty program, to increase penetration acrossegyments of travelers. We will focus on Brazil@perations and selected South Amer
destinations that are, or we expect to becomejtabdé and fit into our flight network. In additipwe believe that the airline industry may expesé
further consolidation in the future and therefoegtperships and alliances are key success factorthis environment we intend to play a leadintg ranc
strengthen our position as a long-term player.

Improve Operating Efficiency and Financial ResilienceContinuing to reduce our operating expense per aailseat kilometer is key to increa
profitability. We aim to maintain our position ase of the lowest cost airlines in the world. Wend to further reduce the average age of ourdfiiglient
fleet, while optimizing the size of our fleet toseme high utilization rates. In 2011, our aircnatitization rate was 13.8lock-hours per day, compared
12.9 block-hours per day in 2010 and 11.6 blockebi@er day in 2009.
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We seek to reduce our operating expense per alasaht kilometer by using our aircraft efficienttypncentrating on minimizing our turnaround tii
at airports and maintaining a high number of déights per aircraft. We will continue to utilize¢hnological innovations wherever possible to redme
distribution costs and improve our operating effiy. We expect to benefit from economies of sealé reduce our average cost per available
kilometer as we add aircraft to an establishededficdient operating infrastructure.

We have a strong balance sheet and we seek taagounsly set financial targets in order to furtimapiove our financial resilience to support our gttt
strategy. We currently seek to maintain a casltippnsquivalent to more than 25% of our net revantecorded in the trailing twelveenth period, and
extend our financial commitments, avoiding sigrfic debt maturities in a three-year range.

Expand Our Customer Baseln planning the growth of our business, we wilhtinue to select our routes and build the frequeaf our service bas
on the extent and type of demand in the areas we §eBrazil, South America, and the Caribbean. akecommitted to providing air travel to a widege
of travelers. We will continue to popularize a@mvel, making lowfare flights more accessible to a larger portiorthaf population, including all types
business travelers, through the following measures

e  Stimulating Demand.Our widely available service is designed to popméair travel and stimulate demand, particularlynf fareeonsciou
leisure travelers and small-to nste business travelers who might otherwise usarative forms of transportation or not travel At 8he
Brazilian middle class has grown significantly iretlast few years, from 66 million in 2003 to 103limh in December 2011, according
Fundacéao Getulio Varga®r FGV, and the Brazilian Geographical and Siatibtnstitute (nstituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatistjcar IBGE.

e  Expanding our networkWe will continue to carefully evaluate opportigs to meet demand for leisure travel by offerimgre seats at lower fal
for advance purchases, expanding flight frequermmesxisting routes and adding additional rout@s$ ¢ontribute to our network and for which
perceive a market demand primarily in Brazil. In iidd, by offering flights to selected South Amenic and Caribbean destinations \
connections integrated in our network, we will ¢eeapportunities for incremental traffic, feedingr metwork and increasing our overall load fa
and supporting our strategy of expanding our netvamid stimulating demand for our services.

e  Overhubbing We estimate that between 40% and 45% of ourepaess are connecting to other flights operatedsgnd, as a result, we n
expand our network by creating new direct flightsvieen two given cities, avoiding the need to cohtteough a third city. This may also helg
to increase our flights and the number of passengertransport despite current limitations on alatilability in Brazil's busiest airports.

e Increasing market penetrationin March 2011, we launched three small and low paghts of sale under théoe Golbrand in main bus a
subways terminals (ltaquera, Sé and Luz) allowingt@mers to not only buy tickets, but also to cleaagd cancel their reservations and ol
information, with full customer support. In 2011ewpened 3 more stores under the Voe GOL branddnPaulo and launched 4 more kiosk
main bus and subway terminals across Brazil: Tat(@@é Paulo), Central do Brasil (Rio de Janeiro),d@stdMercado (Porto Alegre) and Piec
(Salvador).

Expand our partnerships We believe we have the best platform to expamdcastomer base in the markets in which we opéhaiteigh partnershir
We intend to strengthen our existing partnerships build new ones with large international airlinesthe form of codeshare arrangements to furt
increase our international feeder network, loadofacand profitability. We also seek to evaluatengships with financial institutions, retail chaitores
car rental and insurance companies. We believetllese agreements will generate passenger antiagnecevenues by feeding our route network
strengthening th&miles loyalty program. In December 2010, we entered an&irategic MRO (maintenance, repair and opergtipagnership agreeme
with Delta Air Lines, Inc., or Delta, to be perfoech by Delta TechOps, the maintenance division dfaD®elta TechOps will provide certain eng
overhaul, aircraft maintenance and maintenanceuttimg services and will also assist us with oupe$ to secure FAA (Federal Aviation Administrat)
certification for our maintenance center. We wibist Delta with certain line maintenance service®elta aircraft with extended ground time in BlaBy
the end of 2011 we had 71 interline agreements/acwte-share agreements. We have atdge agreements with: Delta Airlines, Iberia, KLAI, France
Qatar Airways, Copa Airlines and American Airlines.
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Further Innovate, Establish and Increase Our AncillariRevenue BusinesseOur ancillary revenues are derived fr@bollog, ticket change fee
excess baggage charges and other incidental seritle expect further growth in these businessaghawill provide us with additional revenue at |
incremental cost by:

e  Focusing on express delivery servicEsroughGollog, our cargo transportation service, we make efiiciese of extra capacity in our aircraft
carrying cargo. With a comprehensive service pbotfexpress delivery accounted for approximatédy2of our cargo revenue in 2011.

e  Continuously innovating and introducing new businsgeethe Brazilian marketWe have a strong track record of innovation ancbéhiction o
new business practices in Brazil. For example, imeR009, we introduced the sale of beverages apdl o board (buy on board) in Bra
generating ancillary revenue without increasing @ast structure or fare price, and we were the diitine in Brazil to allow passengers to chack-
entirely by mobile phone and the first to permieckin on domestic flights via iPhone for passengerthauit checked baggage, simplify
customers’ traveling.

Routes and Schedules

Our operating model is a highly integrated, mudtihub route network that is different from the pdorpoint model used by other logest carrier
worldwide. The high level of integration of flightat selected airports permits us to offer frequeanh-stop flights at low fares between Brazithos
important economic centers and ample interconnestibrough our network linking city pairs throughcembination of two or more flights with lit
connecting or stopver time. Our network also allows us to increageload factors on our strongest city pair roltgsising the airports in those cities
connect our customers to their final destinationkis strategy increases our load factor by aftrgatustomers traveling to secondary markets wiefeptc
pay lower fares even if this means making one arenstops before reaching their final destinatiBetween 40.0% and 45.0% of our passengers conr
fly through one or more destinations before reagliireir final travel destination. Our operatingdeballows us to build our flight routes to add tifestions
to cities that would not, individually, be econoally viable to serve in the traditional pointoint model, but that are feasible to serve whewpki adde:
as additional points on our multiple-stop routewmek. We do this by offering low-fare, off-peakjmmum stay or night (red-eye) flights to lowtaffic
destinations, which can be the first or last stopsur routes, allowing us to increase our airanéifization and generate additional revenues. Bgring
international flights to South American and Caribbéastinations, and with stops integrated in otwagk, we create opportunities for incrementalfica
feeding our network and increasing our overall |dactor and our competitive advantage and suppprtinr strategy of expanding our network
stimulating demand for our services.

We have been increasing the number of flights thtanough the major Brazilian airports and prudeatiyling more routes to Caribbean destinat
which we expect to give us additional growth oppnities in the Brazilian and international markétsaddition, we consider expanding to potential
destinations in Latin America in regions with medidensity, represented by airports with a poputetibup to 1 million within a 200 km radius.

As of March 2012, we offered over 900 daily flights63 destinationsonnecting the most important cities in Brazil sdlwas the main destinations
Argentina, Barbados, Bolivia, Chile, Paraguay, Urugignezuela and the Caribbean Region.

Services
Passenger Transportati

We recognize that we must offer excellent servioesur corporate and leisure customers. We pajcp&ar attention to the details that help to méda
a pleasant, complication-free flying experienceluding:

e ticketless travel;

e convenient on-line sales, check-in, seat assignarehflight change and cancellation services;
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e high frequency of flights between Brazil's most immt airports;

e low cancellation and high on time performance rafesur flights;

e online flight status service;

o web-enabled cell phone ticket sales and check-in;

e self check-in at kiosks at designated airports;

e designated female lavatories;

o friendly and efficient in-flight service;

e modern aircraft interiors;

e quick turnaround times at airport gates;

e free or discounted shuttle services between asgmorti drop-off zones on certain routes;
e buy on board services on certain flights;

¢ mobile check-in and boarding pass (100% paperlesslng); and

e iPhone application for check-in, electronic boagdass an@milesaccount management.
o in-flight entertainment (GOL no ar) through passasgpersonal communications devices.

We seek to achieve punctual operations, which &qgrimary importance to our customers. Accordingotir internal data, which are corrected
delays out of our control and pre-advised changdgght schedules, our average punctuality rate2fil 1 was 87.2%, as compared to 88.9% in 2010.

We experience greater passenger demand duringuthmar and winter vacation periods, in January anyg, Jespectively, and during the last 1
weeks of December, during the holidays season.

Generally, the revenues from and profitability af dights reach their highest levels during thaukry (summer) and July (winter) vacation perioaid
in the final two weeks of December during the Chmiss holiday season. The week during which the @nBarnival celebrations take place in Braz
generally accompanied by a decrease in load fact®igen our high proportion of fixed costs, thé&asonality is likely to cause our results of operes tc
vary from quarter to quarter.

Smiles Loyalty Program.

We have a loyalty progranstnile3, which we consider as a strong relationship sow which is available to all our passengers. Wenihto increas
the Smiles penetration through creating marketing initiatia@sl additional benefits to our customerg( double miles promotions and the launch of sé
miles redemption options, allowing our customersige part of their miles to complete the paymeamntjdasing and establishing partnerships with afét
credit cards or using services and products aneaestablishments. There are four tiers in $nmiles program Diamond Gold, Silver and Blug) anc
qualification for a particular tier is based on thdes flown. TheSmiles program serves as a source of revenue for us siweccan sell miles directly
corporate clients for marketing purposes or utilizem for cobranded credit cards. It maintains partnershiph Wbtel chains, car rental compan
restaurants, insurance companies, publishers drabkscand also maintains a partnership with somratil and South America’largest banks and cre
card companies. We expect that, through theseqrattips, our customers could use their miles aotated under th&miles program to fly to internation
destinations in North America, Europe and Asia2010, we implemented the technological platforimgishe Oracle Siebel system which allows us tk
the loyalty programs of the companies with whichheee partnerships and also optimizing control désnssued. Th&miles program had over 8illion
members and more than 1g8rtners at the end of 2011.
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Ancillary Revenues and Gollog Cargo Transporte

Ancillary revenues includes revenues from our Gplervices as well as baggage excess and tickagehees, buy on board and travel insur
revenues are an increasingly important part ofrewenues. The further development and growth ofGmllog services is part of our strategy.

We are constantly evaluating opportunities to gateeadditional ancillary revenues such as salgsawgl insurance, marketing activities and ¢
services which may help us to better capitaliz¢henarge number of passengers on our flights l@dhigh volumes of customers using our website.

We plan to integrate te@milesandGollog platforms into our air travel portal to further pide convenience and simplicity to our customers.

We make efficient use of extra capacity in the mgtwld of our aircraft by carrying cargo, throughr @argo transport service — Gollog. Goll®g’
success is the result of the unique service we offehe market: the Electronic Air Waybill thaarc be completed via the Internet. The Gollog sy
provides online access to air waybills and allowstamers to track their shipment from any compuwtiéh Internet access. Our 63 destinations throuf
Brazil, South America and the Caribbean provide actesnultiple locations in the region. With oumpeaity of approximately 900 daily flights, operd
by 123 Boeing 737400/800 aircraft, in addition to a fleet of 269 igs, we can guarantee quick and reliable delivétgckages are shipped in the fre
hold of our passenger aircraft.

Our express delivery products — Gollog VOO CERTO,|&pEXPRESS, Gollog DEZ HORAS and Gollog DO@vere developed to meet the grow
demand for door-tatoor deliveries, defined deadlines and additioqional services. We intend to intensify our effart the express delivery services
further strengthening our logistics capability, nigiby expanding our ground distribution networlddarther intensifying our commercial efforts.
Aircraft Fleet

On December 31, 2011 we had an operational fle4 dfoperational aircraft and a total fleet of 150.

The following table sets forth the composition of dieet at the dates indicated:

At December 31

Operating Fleet Seats? 201¢ 2011
B737-30¢" 141 - 24
B737-700 NG 144 4C 42
B737-800 NG 177 15 2C
B737-800 NG ShorField Performanc 187 5E 61
B767-300/20( 21¢ 4

Sub Total - 114 147
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At December 31

Non-Operating Fleet Seaté) 201( 2011

B737-306" 141 ° ]
B737-700 NC 144 2 -
B737-800 NC 177 4 -
B767-300/206 21¢ 2 3
Sub Total - 11 3
Total - 125 150

(1) All B737-300 aircraft result from the acquisitiof Webjet. Two of these aircraft were undergaimgtine maintenance on December 31, 2011.
(2) Two B767-300/200 aircraft were in the final pees of being transferred to Delta Airlines andialti67 aircraft is sub-leased to a U.S. airline.

In 2011, we announced the delivery of the first N&eneration 73B00 equipped with the new Sky Interior standardline with our strategy 1
combining the renovation of our fleet with discid growth in our seat supply, we concluded thieviohg initiatives in 2011: We received nine ailft
based on lease contracts (six finance lease ctsad three operating lease contracts), excluttiagaddition of Webje$ fleet. In the same period,
returned eight aircraft: (i) four Boeing 737-300caft (grounded and in the final stages of rettsrohDecember 31, 2011) ; (ii) three Boeing B8~
aircraft; and (iii) one Boeing 737-700.

As of December 31, 2011, of our total 150 aircr@f: were under operating leases, 45 were undendinéeases and 6 were owned by us. Webje
leased aircraft are scheduled to be returned bet2@&2 and 2013.

The average age of our operating fleet of 123 BoéBi;700/800 aircraft for GOL and 24 Boeing 7310 for Webjet as of December 31, 2011, wa
years and 18.9ears, respectively. The average daily utilizatiate of our operating fleet in 2011 was 13.0 blbolars (12.9 block hours in 2010).

Each Boeing 737 aircraft in our fleet is poweredtlwg CFM International Model CFM 56-7B22 engines or t@BM International Model CFM 56-
7B24 engines. All Boeing 737-800 NG Shéield Performance are equipped with an upgradestimiug in each engine, which allows it to opesge CFN
56-7B27/B3 engine with 27.000 Ibs.

The following table sets forth our year-end pragelcoperating fleet through 2016:

Operating Fleet Plar 201Z 2012 201< 201¢ 201¢€

B737-700 NG 38 32 35 32 3C
B737-800 NG * 89 103 113 113 124
Total 127 13t 14¢ 14¢ 154

* Includes SFP aircraft (Short Field Performance)

We will revise this fleet plan according to our egmations for the growth potential in the marketsvhich we operate.

The Boeing 737-700 Next Generation and Boeing 737M€% Generation aircraft currently comprising dleet are fuelefficient and very reliable
They suit our cost efficient operations well foe ttollowing reasons:

e they have comparatively standardized maintenangines;
e they require just one type of standardized traifiangour crews;
o they use an average of 7% less fuel than othenadtimf comparable size, according to Boeing; and

e they have one of the lowest operating costs irr tass.
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In addition to being cost-efficient, the Boeing 7873/800 Next Generation aircraft are equipped aithanced technology that promotes flight stab
providing a more comfortable flying experience éorr customers. We use a single type of aircrafiréserve the simplicity of our operations. Assutt
the introduction of any new aircraft type to owet will only be done if, after careful consideoati we determine that such a steih reduce our operatir
costs. Most of our leased Boeing 737-800 Next Gaiwer aircraft are equipped with blended wingletd all Boeing 73800 Next Generation aircraft frc
our purchase order will be equipped with winglethich reduce our fuel and maintenance costs. &uereence with the new winglets has shown oper
fuel consumption reductions from 3% to 5%. In &ddij the winglets improve airplane performancentutakeoff and landing on short runways. The 1
Boeing 737-800 NG aircraft will be delivered withostifield performance (SFP) with technical modificasaat we expect to significantly improve fli
performance, the ability to operate non-stop fgieduce noise during take-off and to enable dly twith our Boeing 737800 Next Generation aircraft
the airport of Santos Dumont in Rio de Janeiro ngportant link to the most important routes in Brazil

At the end of 2011, we leased 99 of our 150 aiterafler operating lease agreements that have aageveemaining term of 42 months. We believe
leasing our aircraft fleet under operating leasewiges us with flexibility to adjust our fleet siz We make monthly rental payments, some of whre
based on floating rates. We but are not requioechdke termination payments at the end of our feasnder our operating lease agreements, we ¢
have purchase options and for some of our leageagmts we are required to maintain maintenaneeveeslieposits and to return the aircraft and enigi
the agreed condition at the end of the lease téFithe to the aircraft remains with the lessor. Wfe responsible for the maintenance, servicirgyramce
repair and overhaul of the aircraft during the terfrthe lease. As of December 31, 2011, our opeydtases had terms of up to 149 months from ¢te d
delivery of the relevant aircraft.

At the end of 2011, we had 45 aircraft acquiredeunalr firm purchase order with Boeing under finafese arrangements that had an av
remaining term of 105 months.

Sales and Distribution

Our customers can purchase tickets directly fronthusugh a number of different channels, such asa@bsite including our Booking Web Servi
(BWS), our call center, at airport ticket countensl,@o a lesser extent, GDS.

Our low cost low fare business model utilizes wigbticket sales as its main distribution channgleemlly in the local market. For the year er
December 31, 2011, 88.5% of our passenger revennether directly to the customer or through treaggnts, were booked via the Internet, making &
of the worldwide industry leaders in this area.tHa same period, 6.0% of our passenger revenuesheeked through call centers, airport sales @a
and our BWS and 5.5% of our total sales were maaeidfh the GDS, respectively.

Our customers can purchase tickets indirectly thinowavel agents, who are a widelged travel service resource in Brazil and South rikiagEurope
North America and other regions. For the year dridecember 31, 2011, travel agents provide us mibhe than 10,0 distribution outlets throughao
these regions.

GDSs allows us access to a large number of toypigifessionals who are able to sell our ticketsust@mers throughout the globe, and enables
enter into interline agreements with other airlit@effer more flights and connection options t@ passengers and add incremental internationaépgs
traffic, especially to our international network.

On October 21, 2009 we became an issuer of carddrfiversal Air Travel Plan, or UATP, a paymentwetk owned and operated by several for
airlines. UATP allows us access to a payment nétwadth lower costs than those offered by creditdsaand other means of payment. In addition,
UATP card issuer we are able to maintain a claslationship with our corporate customers.

Partnerships and Alliances
General
Our strong market positioning enables us to sufghssegotiate a number of arranged partnershifib supplementary major carriers worldwi

mostly in the form of code share agreements aradliné agreements. Strategically, the additioredsgnger inflows generated from those partnersiiip
to improve revenues at low incremental costs.
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At December 31, 2011, we had code share agreeméht®\merican Airlines, Delta, Iberia, Air Franci€LM, Copa Airlines and Qatar Airways. T
code share agreement with American Airlines exgmesugust 2012. We have a frequent flyer tie esw ourSmiles program and the code share part
enabling travelers to accrue and redeem miles leetwarSmilesand each of the partners (however, the partnerstigsot integrated among themselv
In addition, passengers are able to connect withoperated flights within Brazil, marketed as a catiare partner flight. We intend to enter into &r
agreements with other long haul airlines servingtemding to serve Brazil.

At December 31, 2011 we had interline agreements Wi airlines, including Korean Airlines, Emirataslines, Avianca, Continental Airlines, Jaf
Airlines, TAP Air Portugal, and others. An intewi agreement is a commercial agreement betweevidndl airlines to handle passengers travelin
itineraries that require multiple airlines and alli's customers to utilize a single ticket, anabeck their baggage through to the customers diestination
Interline agreements differ from code sharing age®s in that code sharing agreements usually teferumbering a flight with the airling’cods
(abbreviation) even though the flight is operatgdabother airline. This provides for better maikgtand customer recognition of the links betweea
airlines.

In February 2011, we entered into a strategic MR@irftenance, repair and operations) partnershipeaggat with Delta TechOps, the mainten:
division of Delta, which will provide overhaul séce for approximately 50 percent of our CFM B&ngines, maintenance for parts and componendsir
fleet of Boeing 737NG aircraft and also, consultBeyvices related to maintenance workflow plannimgterials and facility optimization and tool
support. Delta TechOps will also assist us withefforts to secure the FAA (Federal Aviation Adnsination) Certification. In addition, we will assiBelte
with certain line maintenance services for Deltarait with extended ground time in Brazil.

An important element of our business strategy isdter to the corporate client. To further devetap business relationship with our corpo
customers, we have entered into partnerships withl lshains, rental car service and insurance gessito offer our corporate customers the convesier
the combination of transportation and accommodatioangements.

Delta Investment and Commercial Agreements

On December 7, 2011 our controlling shareholder@elth entered into an investment agreement pnogitbr the sale of 8,300,455 preferred shar
the form of ADSs owned by our controlling shareleoldo Delta at a price per share equivalent to RER2or the Delta Investment. Our controll
shareholder used the entire net proceeds fromaleec$ preferred shares to Delta to subscribe & nommon and preferred shares in a rights off
issued by us at the same price per share paid bg. Dée capital increase is still subjected torapgl by our board of directors.

Our controlling shareholder further agreed to ekeddelta representative to our board of directardoag as Delta holds at least 50% of the A
acquired in the investment, among other conditiedta agreed, for a period of 12 months, not tbtke acquired ADSs (lockup) and not to acquirg
further Gol shares, including in the form of ADSgafdstill), without our consent.

In the context of the Delta Investment, we enténtéd a longterm commercial agreement with Delta that inclugadlusivity provisions designed
strengthen the operational cooperation and syretgtwveen the two companies, including:

e anincrease in the scope of the cetlare agreement (flight sharing), subject to thevemt approvals, allowing Delta to use its codenfiore GOI
flights in Brazil, the Caribbean and South Amerigad &OL to add its code to Delgaflights between Brazil and the United States, faoich the
U.S. to other destinations, thereby increasinghtimaber of flight options for clients of both aidisiand expanding our geographical reach;

e the optimization of connecting services in ordeiirtcrease the attractiveness of the companies ggintices, facilitating flight connections ¢
cargo and passenger movement among the nearlye$fi@ations in over 70 countries served by GOL Rafta;
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e theincrease in passenger comfort by aligning sesvand benefits for members of both$imeiles and SkyMiles mileage programs;

e joint commercial and promotional activities, enaming both airlinessales forces to cooperate in Brazil, the UnitedeStand, eventually, in ott
countries;

o the exploration of synergies in passenger servioaftenance, VIP lounges and logistical support;
e the transfer of the lease of the two remaining Bg&i&7 aircraft in our fleet and their spare pastBelta.
Pricing

Brazilian airlines are permitted to establish thaim domestic fares without previous government aygr Airlines are free to offer price discount:
follow other promotion activities. Airlines muatlsmit, 30 days after the end of each month, acfiletaining fares sold and quantity of passengarsdol
fare amount, for all markets. This file lists regufares and excludes all contracted, corporatepsivate fares. The objective is to monitor therage
market prices. The procedure same applies forrnatemal fares. The only difference is that alkefasold for interline itineraries are also excluétedh the
file sent to ANAC.

Yield Management

Yield management involves the use of historicahdatd statistical forecasting models to produceM@adge about our markets and guidance on he
compete to maximize our operating revenues. Miedthagement forms the backbone of our revenue gerestrategy and is strongly linked to our rc
and schedule planning and our sales and distributiethods. Our yield management practices enable teact quickly in response to market changes
example, our yield management systems are instiaienhelping us to identify the flight times angutes for which we offer promotions. By offer
lower fares for seats that our yield managemeritatels would otherwise remain unsold, we captuditiadal revenue and also stimulate customer deman

Maintenance

According to ANAC regulation, we are directly respilite for the execution and control of all mainteca services performed on our aircraft.
maintenance performed on our aircraft can be divioido two general categories: line and heavy tea@nce. Line maintenance consists of rot
scheduled maintenance checks on our aircraft, divodupreflight, daily and overnight checks and any diagiossand routine repairs. All of our i
maintenance is performed by our own highly expeeeintechnicians at our line maintenance servicessoughout Brazil and South America. We be
that our practice of performing daily preventativeintenance helps to maintain a high aircraft aation rate and reduces maintenance costs. |
maintenance consists of more complex inspectiomk senvicing of the aircraft that cannot be accostgd overnight. Heavy maintenance check
performed following a pre-scheduled agenda of mayarhauls defined by the aircraftmanufacturer, based on the number of hours ayiddlflown by th:
aircraft. Our continued high aircraft utilizatioate will result in shorter periods of time betwdaavy maintenance checks for our aircraft in carspa tc
carriers with lower aircraft utilization rates. #&udition, engine maintenance services are renderdifferent MRO (Maintenance, Repair and Operaf
facilities. We do not believe that our high aiftnatilization rate will necessarily result in tineed to make more frequent repairs to our aircgafen the
durability of the aircraft type in our fleet. Oaircraft are covered by warranties that have ama@esterm of three to five years. The warrantieshs
aircraft we received in 2011 under our firm purehasder with Boeing will start expiring in 2015.

We internalized heavy maintenance on our Boeing &i8faft in our Aircraft Maintenance Center at thantredo Neves International Airport
Confins, in the State of Minas Gerais. We useftidity for airframe heavy checks, line maintenanaircraft painting and aircraft interior refutiisent.
We have three hangars in our Aircraft Maintenancet€ewith a capacity to perform maintenance on dig€raft per year, and we have room to build r
hangars in the future if needed.

With our system of phased maintenance for our Boblegt Generation 737-700 and 78@0 aircraft fleet, we are able to perform mainterawort
every day without sacrificing aircraft revenue tigued to schedule preventive maintenance with megelarity and around the utilization of our airt)
which helps to maintain high levels bfock hours per day and reduces costs. We arebtiee few airlines in the world that takes fullvadtage of th
Boeing 737 Next Generation phased maintenance ppitgs supported by extensive investments we madkuiman resources, material, tools
equipment.
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We have also entered into a strategic MRO (maintaepair and operations) partnership agreemaht®élta TechOps, the maintenance divisic
Delta, in order to provide overhaul service for mpmately 50 percent of our CFM 56engines, maintenance for parts and componentaiofieet o
Boeing 737 NG aircraft and also, consulting serviedgted to maintenance workflow planning, materaid facility optimization and tooling support.la
TechOps will also assist us with our efforts toused=AA (Federal Aviation Administration) Certifiéan. In addition, we will assist Delta with certdine
maintenance services for Delta aircraft with exahdround time in Brazil.

We have been certified by the ANAC under the Brazih&ronautical Certification Regulations to perforeatly maintenance services for third part
We expect to utilize this certification, a potehaurce for ancillary revenues, now that the awmsion of an additional maintenance facility haset
completed.

Fuel and Hedge

Our fuel costs totaled R$3,060.7 million in 201 Tpressenting 39.3% of our operating expenses foy#ae. In 2011, we purchased substantially ¢
our fuel from Petrobras Distribuidora S.A., a resaibsidiary of Petrobras, principally under amiptane contract under which the supplier supplies #inc
also fills our aircraft tanks. In 2011, fuel pscender our contracts were set every 30 days and were composed of a varialledixed component. T
variable component is defined by the refinery aalfofvs international crude oil price fluctuationadathereal/lU.S. dollar exchange rate. The fi
component is a spread charged by the suppliersandually a fixed cost per liter during the ternttod contract. We currently operate a tankeriroggan
under which we fill the fuel tanks of our aircraft regions where fuel prices are lower. We alsovigle our pilots with training in fuel managem
techniques, such as carefully selecting flightwadiés to optimize fuel efficiency.

Fuel costs are extremely volatile, as they areestittp many global economic and geopolitical factbiat we can neither control nor accurately pte
Because international prices for jet fuel are demameid in U.S. dollars, our fuel costs, though plyabreais, are subject not only to price fluctuations
also to exchange rate fluctuations. We maintdireahedging program, based upon policies whiclngefolume, price targets and instruments, undech
we enter into fuel and currency hedging agreemwitts various counterparties providing for price f@tion in connection with the purchase of fuelur
hedging positions cover shdgrm periods, and are adjusted weekly or more &ptiy as conditions require. Our hedging practiaes executed by o
internal risk management committee and overseethéyisk policies committee of our board of diresto The risk policies committee of our boart
directors meets quarterly or more often, if cali@ai its main responsibilities are to assess tieetefeness of our hedging policies, recommend aimemt:
when and where appropriate and establish its viegarding fuel price trends. We use risk managenmsiruments that have a high correlation witr
underlying assets so as to reduce our exposure.régigre that all of our risk management instruradoe liquid so as to allow us to make pos
adjustments and have prices that are widely disdlosWe also avoid concentration of credit and pebdisk. We have not otherwise entered
arrangements to guarantee our supply of fuel andameot provide assurance that our hedging proggauifficient to protect us against significantrease
in the price of fuel.

As of December 31, 2011, we had hedged 34% on g@doa our projected fuel requirements for 2012. &l&® have an interest hedge program ar
had hedge 58% of our anticipated aircraft finamesés to be contracted in 2012 and 2013. Thé&akgle is based on call options, swap and collaracis
and the financial financing hedges are based amdfi@r swap contracts.

The following chart summarizes our fuel consumpton costs for the periods indicated:



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Year Ended December 3:

201( 2011
Liters consumed (in thousan 1,465,29! 1,591,917
Total cost (in thousanc R$ 2,287,41 R$3,060,665
Average price per lite R$1.5¢ R$1.92
% change in price per litt 11.5% 23.2%
Percent of operating expens 36.4% 39.3%

We continuously invest in initiatives to reducelfuoensumption. Between 2008 and 2011 we reducedueliconsumption per flight hour from 2.91
2.80. For example, we started using Aircraft Commatidons Addressing and Reporting System, or ACARZ0I0. ACARS is a system that permits real
time digital transmission, via satellite, of imgamt flight data between aircraft and our basdewég routes and flight times to be automaticalfydatec
We had installed ACARS in 44 aircraft by the end @12 We decided to increase ACARS coverage and dteat€CD (Digital Communications Cent
within the Operational Control area, which startguerating in May 2011. The Center is responsible fmmnitoring aircraft in real time, as well
streamlining operations and managing various fligguia. We also started using GPS Landing Systedamouary 2010 and we expect to have the s)
implemented in all our fleet by the end of 2014isTsystem reduces fuel consumption during takexodf landing, increases precision and safety.

Safety and Security

Our most important priority is the safety of ouspangers and employees. We maintain our airerafrict accordance with manufacturer specifica
and all applicable safety regulations, and perfooatine line maintenance every day. Our pilotsehextensive experience, with flight captains haviragye
than 10,000 hours of career flight time, and wedcmh ongoing courses, extensive flight simulati@ining and seminars addressing the latest develop
in safety and security issues. We closely follb standards established by the Air Accident PrismeriProgram of the ANAC and we have installed
Flight Operations Quality Assurance System, whicximizes proactive prevention of incidents throtigh systematic analysis of the flight data recc
system. All of our aircraft are also equipped wifaintenance Operations Quality Assurance, a tesktboting program that monitors performance
aircraft engine trends. The Brazilian civil aviatimarket follows the highest recognized safetydsaats in the world. We are also an active memb#re
Flight Safety Foundation, a foundation for the exue of information about flight safety. In Jufd®2, we created the office of Safety Officer wi
reports directly to our board of directors and wehogin goal is to oversee flight safety and redo#ctly to our highest management level.

Environmental Sustainability

In 2010, we prepared, for the first time, an AnnBastainability Report based on Global Reportingdtiite (GRI) guidelines, an international stanc
for reporting economic, social and environmentafggenance. By adopting these parameters, we aréoreing our accountability with various stakehok
through added transparency and credibility.

We also constantly invest in becoming more envirentally sustainable and have recently implemeriteddllowing actions:

e  Expansion of our Aircraft Maintenance Center at Tlamcredo Neves International Airport located in Qusifin the State of Minas Gerais:
have reduced costs by decreasing the necessityiod four aircraft overseas to be serviced. We alsat all of the effluents generated in
facilities and are committed to the reuse of wafEne Maintenance Center was designed to comply evithronmental responsibility requireme
and all of the conditions imposed by the environtaklicenses and current legislation.

e  We were the first Brazilian airline selected to jtlre Sustainable Aviation Fuel Users Group (SAFUAB)jnternational aviation biofuel resec
group, and we participate in biofuel feasibilitgte



TABLE OF CONTENTS

e We have a partnership agreement with the Fuel anldo@z5ervices Division of GE Aviation, which enwdes the creation of studies and sys!
to reduce fossil fuel consumption and green hoasesgissions.

Insurance

We maintain passenger liability insurance in an amh@onsistent with industry practice and we inqureaircraft against losses and damages orakhn
risks” basis. We are required by the ANAC to maintain iasae coverage for general liability against téstacts or acts of war with a minimum amour
US$800 million. We have obtained all insuranceerage required by the terms of our leasing agreeméfe believe our insurance coverage is cons
with airline industry standards in Brazil and is agpiate to protect us from material loss in lightthe activities we conduct. No assurance cagiben
however, that the amount of insurance we carrylvélsufficient to protect us from material loss.

Competition
Domestir

Airlines in Brazil compete primarily on the basisrofites, fare levels, frequency of flights, capadirport operating rights and presence, religboif
services, brand recognition, frequent flyer proggand customer service.

Our main competitor in Brazil is TAM Linhas AéreadAS or TAM, which is a fullservice scheduled carrier offering flights on doticesoutes an
international routes. We also face domestic coitipetfrom other domestic scheduled carriers, regiairlines and charter airlines, which mainly &
regional networks.

As the growth in the Brazilian airline sector evalygie may face increased competition from our pryjnempetitors and charter airlines as we
other entrants into the market that reduce theasfto attract new passengers in some of our ngarket

The following table sets forth the historical markbkares on domestic routes, based on revenuengasdélometers, of the significant airlines in Bt
for each of the periods indicated:

Domestic Market Shard?)— Scheduled Airlines 2007 200¢ 200¢ 201¢ 2011

GOL 43.0% 42.4% 41.9% 37.1% 34.6%
Webjef? 1.1% 3.6% 4.4% 5.0% 5.9%
TAM 48.8% 50.4% 45.4% 44.1% 41.0%
Azul - 0.0% 3.8% 7.6% 9.6%
Others 7.1% 3.6% 4.4% 6.3% 9.0%

Source: Advanced Comparative Data (Dados Comparativos Avars)&D07—2011

1) In October 2010, ANAC changed its clltion method for monthly traffic information andpublished information for periods since Janua2@®\l operating data for 2009 and 2!
reflects the new methodology, whereas informatmm2007 and 2008 was calculated pursuant to thenelthodology and may not be fully comparable. Adioay to ANAC, the changes we
designed to align data with the concepts adopteth®yCAO. The change was necessary because Brazjbimed the ICAQ’s statistical program and suppties latters database with seve
industry data. Changes in the methodology refehéoctlculation of ASK (seat supply) and the classifon of domestic legs in international flightghich are now considered to be part of
domestic market. ANAC has stated that it will repstbinformation for 2008 at a later date.

2) On October 3, 2011, we acquired Webjet

Until 2010, landing and navigation fees charge®iazilian airports were similar in all airports inmdent of whether they were busy or not. In 2
the Brazilian government increased landing and radiig fees at the busiest airports as comparedds® busy airports and at peak hours. As a r
secondary hubs and off-peak flights may benefigint of the differences in fees for the airlineatchoose to operate in these airports or times.

Domestically, we also face competition from grourahsportation alternatives, primarily interstates lkompanies. Given the absence of meani
passenger rail services in Brazil, travel by bus thaditionally been the only low-cost option fomtpdistance travel for a significant portion of Bfez
population. We believe that our logost business model has given us flexibility itisgtour fares to stimulate demand for air travabag passengers w
in the past have traveled long distances primdnyhybus. In particular, the highly competitive fange have offered for travel on our night flighaghich
have often been comparable to bus fares for the shstinations, have had the effect of providingalicompetition for interstate bus companies @se¢
routes.
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Internationa

As we expand our international services in SoutheAca and the Caribbean, our pool of competitor$ indrease and we will face competition fr
Brazilian and South American airlines that are alyeastablished in the international market and fgaaticipate in strategic alliances and code sh
arrangements. In addition, n@&razilian airlines may decide to enter or incredssrtschedules in the market for routes betweeniBaazl other Soul
American and Caribbean countries.

Industry Overview

Since air transportation has historically beenrafible only to the higher income segment of Brazibpulation, resulting in a comparatively low [k
of air travel, we believe that the low-cost, Iéare business model has the potential to signifigancrease the use of air transportation in Braaitcording
to ICAO, Brazil is the third largest domestic aviatimarket in the world and, according to the ANAGréthwere 79.0 million domestic enplanements
9.0 million international enplanements on Brazile@ariers in Brazil in 2011, out of a total populatiof approximately 195 million, according to IBGH
contrast, according to the U.S. Department of Tpartation, the United States had 640 million dofisesnhplanements and 9@illion internationa
enplanements in 2011, out of a total populatioapgroximately 308.7 million, based on the late§.l¢ensus estimates.

The business travel segment is the largest compaf@razilian air transportation demand and the tposfitable in the market. According to comp
data, business travel represented around 65% dtsthetal demand for domestic air travel in 20d/hjch we believe is significantly higher than thesimes
travel portion of domestic air travel in the glolaaiation sector. According to data collected fritte ANAC, flights between Rio de Janeiro and Sadd
accounted for 6.2% of all domestic passengers ID20rhe ten busiest routes accounted for 22.2%llafomestic air passengers in 2010, while the
busiest airports accounted for 68.3% and 72.6%l aiomestic passenger traffic through INFRAERO aitpdan terms of arrivals and departures in 200¢
2010, respectively.

In light of economic growth, the domestic markes sagnificantly increased in the last years fromm@ilion in 2003 to more than 105 million in 20
according to FGV and IBGE, due to increased passenglemes and both the soccer confederations anddwaup scheduled for 2013 and 2C
respectively, in Brazil and the summer Olympics scited for 2016 in Rio de Janeiro, the Brazilian aitjrfrastructure will need substantial improvengent

In 2009 the CONAC proposed to the Brazilian Governnzenhange to the regulatory limit of foreign owigpsin Brazilian airline companies frc
20% to 49% or higher. This proposal may be accepyethe Brazilian Government and become a drdftibiling 2012.

In August 2011 the Brazilian government privatize@ new Natal airport, which will have its constiantcompleted and further operation by
winners of the privatization auction. In Februafi2 the Brazilian government privatized the Guars)tBrasilia and Campinas international airports, fa
will be operated by the winners of the privatizatauction for periods of 20 to 30 years, and otiigorts are expected to be privatized in the fhaare
See “~Regulation of the Brazilian Civil Aviation Matkdirport Infrastructure” below.

Brazilian Civil Aviation Market Evolution

Since 1970, Brazil has for the most part had stgfievth in revenue passenger kilometers. From 1872D09 domestic revenue passenger kilom
grew at a compound annual rate of 8.9%. In the pasyears, the domestic market generally experinear-overyear growth in revenue passer
kilometers except in times of significant economicpolitical distress, such as the petroleum ciiisithe 1970s, the Brazilian sovereign debt crigishie
early 1980s and the economic and political distie®razil in the early 1990s.
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From 2000 to 2011, the compound annual growth iraiedustry passenger traffic, in terms of domesticenue passenger kilometers, was 1C
versus a compound annual growth rate in availatalastry domestic capacity, in terms of availabket §dometers, of 8.5% . Domestic industry loadtéas
calculated as revenue passenger kilometers diigeavailable seat kilometers, have averaged 64.Vét the same period. The table below show
figures of domestic industry passenger traffic andilable capacity for the periods indicated:

200¢€ 2007 200¢ 200¢ 201( 2011
(in millions, except percentage:
Available Seat Kilometer 55,60¢ 64,59° 72,84 86,47: 102,64 115,92¢
Available Seat Kilometers Grow 10.8% 16.2% 12.8% 18.7% 18.9% 12.9%
Revenue Passenger Kilomet 39,80: 44,44¢ 47,83¢ 56,864 70,30¢ 81,35¢
Revenue Passenger Kilometers Gro 12.3% 11.7% 7.4% 18.9% 23.6% 15.7%
Load Facto 71.6% 68.8% 65.5% 65.8% 68.8% 70.2%

Source: ANAC, Dados Comparativos Avancados.

Note: In October 2010, ANAC changed its calculatimethod for monthly traffic information and reputied information for periods since January 2009.0pérating data for 2009 and 2(
reflects the new methodology, whereas informatmm2007 and 2008 was calculated pursuant to thenelthodology and may not be fully comparable. Adioay to ANAC, the changes we
designed to align data with the concepts adoptetheyCAO. The change was necessary because Brazjbimed the ICAQ'’s statistical program and supptfes latters database with seve

industry data. Changes in the methodology refehéocalculation of ASK (seat supply) and the classifon of domestic legs in international flightghich are now considered to be part of
domestic market. ANAC has stated that it will repstbinformation for 2008 at a later date.

In 2010 Brazil was the third largest market in doticavenue passenger kilometers and accordingNA@, in 2011, the Brazilian aviation indus
showed the strongest market growth in the world.

Regulation of the Brazilian Civil Aviation Market

The Brazilian Aviation Authorities and Regulationedview

Air transportation services are considered a pul#ivice and are subject to extensive regulatishraanitoring by the CONAC and the ANAC. .
transportation services are also regulated by tleilBan Federal Constitution and the Brazilian Aergil Code. The Brazilian civil air transportat

system is controlled by several authorities. THeAR is responsible for the regulation of the airinthe DECEA is responsible for airspace control
INFRAERO is responsible for airport administration.
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The following chart illustrates the main regulattigdies, their responsibilities and reporting limgthin the Brazilian governmental structure.

President of
Brazil
Matiomal Civil Aviation
| Couneil (CONAC)
MMinistry of Defense Crvl Aviation Secretary
(S54AC)
Aeronautics
High Command
Airspace Control Brazilian Awrports National Civil Mational Commission of
Dept. Infrastucture Board Aviation Agency Airport Authorities
(DECEA) (INFRAERD) (ANAC) (CONAERO)

Ailrspace Control Alrports Adnunistration Airline Regulation Anrline Admimistration

In March 2011, the Civil Aviation Secretargécretaria de Aviacdo Ciyjlor SAC, was created to supervise civil aviatiorBrazil. The Civil Aviatior
Secretary oversees the ANAC and INFRAERO and repamstly to the Brazilian President. SAC is also remible for implementation of the airp
infrastructure concession plan and the developmwiestrategic planning for civil aviation.

In August 2011, the National Commission of AirpomitAorities Comissdo Nacional de Autoridades Aeroportugdrias CONAERO, was created a
commission of SAC to coordinate the different eesitand public agencies related to airports. Tiisngission shall have a normative role in the seéor
efficiency and security in airports operations.

CONAERO is composed by representatives of the foligwéntities: (i) SAC, which chairs the commissiai); Department of Administration of tl
Presidency; (iii) Agriculture, Livestock and SupggdiMinistry; (iv) Defense Ministry; (v) Finance Matry; (vi) Justice Ministry; (vii) Planning, Budgeic
Administration Ministry; (viii) Health Ministry; ad (ix) ANAC.

The ANAC is currently responsible for guiding, plémm stimulating and supporting the activities efbfic and private civil aviation companies
Brazil, and also regulates flying operations getgrid economic issues affecting air transportatieciuding matters relating to air safety, cectfiion an:
fithess, insurance, consumer protection and cotgepractices.

The Department of Air Space Contra@lgpartamento de Controle do Espaco Ag¢rem DECEA, reports indirectly to the Brazilian Msier of Defens
which is responsible for planning, administratimgl @ontrolling activities related to airspace, aataical telecommunications and technology. Timitude:
approving and overseeing the implementation of mgent as well as of navigation, meteorological ambar systems. The DECEA also controls
supervises the Brazilian Airspace Control System.

INFRAERO, a stateontrolled corporation reporting to the Civil Aviatti Secretary, is in charge of managing, operatmbcntrolling federal airpor
including control towers and airport safety openasi. See “Airport Infrastructure” below.

The CONAC is an advisory body of the President of Bz its upper level advisory board is composkthe Minister of Defense, the Minister
Foreign Affairs, the Minister of Treasury, the Mitér of Developmentndustry and International Trade, the Minister @ufism, the Minister Chief of tl
Civil Cabinet, the Minister of Planning, Budget andidgement, the Minister of Justice, the MinistefTodinsportation and the Commandant of the
Force. The CONAC has the authority to establistonaticivil aviation policies that may be adopted anforced by the High Command of Aeronautics
by the ANAC. The CONAC establishes guidelines retptio the proper representation of Brazil in convargi treaties and other actions relate
international air transportation, airport infrastiure, the granting of supplemental funds to beldeethe benefit of airlines and airports basedswategic
economic or tourismelated aspects, the coordination of civil aviatiair safety, the granting of air routes and cosicess, as well as permission for
provision of commercial air transportation services
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The Brazilian Aeronautical Code provides for the nrailes and regulations relating to airport infrasture and operation, flight safety and protec
airline certification, lease structuring, burdenidgposal, registration and licensing of aircrafew training; concessions, inspection and comfalirlines
public and private air carrier services; civil ligly of airlines; and penalties in case of infremgents.

In February 2009, the Federal Government approlvedéw Civil Aviation National PolicyRolitica Nacional de Aviagéo Ciyjlor PNAC. Althoug
the PNAC does not establish any immediate meadueentains the main guidelines for the nationall @viation system. It encourages the Ministr
Defense, CONAC and ANAC to issue regulations on giatmatters such as safety, competition, environeleand consumersssues, as well as
inspect, review and valuate the activities of akk@ating companies.

The Brazilian government recognized and ratified] amust comply with, the Warsaw Convention of 192@ €hicago Convention of 1944, and
Geneva Convention of 1948, the three leading intemmal conventions relating to worldwide commerdaaltransportation activities.

Route Right

Domestic routes For the granting of new routes and changesitieg ones, the ANAC evaluates the actual capadithe airport infrastructure whe
such route is or would be operated. In additionte frequencies are granted subject to the conditiat they are operated on a frequent basis. aittige’s
route frequency rights may be terminated if théredr(a) fails to begin operation of a given rofdea period exceeding 15 days, thils to maintain at lea
75% of flights provided for in its air transportati scheduleHorario de Transporte Aérg¢por HOTRAN, for any 9@ay period or (c) suspends its opere
for a period exceeding 30 days. The ANAC approv¥alew routes or changes to existing routes is ginetime course of an administrative procedure
requires no changes to existing concession agréemen

Once routes are granted, they must be immediagdlgcted in the HOTRAN, which is the official schéglweport of all routes that an airline
operate. The HOTRAN provides not only for the reubteit also the times of arrival at and departuwenfcertain airports, none of which may be cha
without the prior consent of the ANAC. AccordingBaazilian laws and regulations, an airline canmdit 8ssign or transfer its routes to anotherratli

International routes In general, requests for new international reube changes to existing routes, must be fileddmh interested Brazilian airline t
has been previously qualified by the ANAC to provid&rnational services, with the SRI (InternatioRallations Superintendence of the ANAC), wt
based on the provisions of the applicable bilatergteement and general policies of the Braziliarataon authorities, will submit a ndoinding
recommendation to the ANAC president, who will dectth approval of the request. International raoigets for all countries, as well as the correspog
transit rights, derive from bilateral air transpagreements negotiated between Brazil and foreigergments. Under such agreements, each gover
grants to the other the right to designate one orenof its domestic airlines to operate schedukadlise between certain destinations in each cou
Airlines are only entitled to apply for new intetizaal routes when they are made available undesettagreements. For the granting of new route
changes to existing ones, the ANAC has the authtwrigpprove Brazilian airlines to operate new rgugebject to the airline having filed studies gatitory
to the ANAC demonstrating the technical and finaneiability of such routes and fulfilling certaironditions in respect of the concession for suctiem
Any airline’s international route frequency rights may be taated if the airline fails to maintain at least 80%4lights provided for in its air transportati
schedule HOTRAN for any 180-day period or suspetsdgperation for a period exceeding 180 days.
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In 2010 ANAC approved the deregulation of internadicairfares for flights departing from Brazil teet).S. and Europe, gradually removing the |
minimum fares.In addition, in 2010 the National Civil Aviation Catih(Conselho de Aviacdo Ciyilor CONAC, approved the continuity of bilate
agreements providing for open skies policies witteo South American countries and a new open gabsy with the United States. In March, 2011 Bt
also signed an open skies agreement with Europe.afheements with the United States and Europexrected to be in operation by 2015 and 2
respectively.

Slots Policy

Domestic Under Brazilian law, a domestic slot is a conimessf the ANAC, which is reflected in the airlimreHOTRAN. Each HOTRAN represe
the authorization for an airline to depart from amdve at specific airports within a predetermiriedeframe. Such period of time is known as aingor!
slot” and provides that an airline can operate at theifspairport at the times established in the HOTRARN airline must request an additional slot f
the ANAC with a minimum of two months’ prior notice.

Congonhas airport in the city of S&o Paulo is a dioated airport, where slots must be allocatednt@idine company before it starts its operat
there. Although it is difficult to obtain a slat iCongonhas airport, on March 8, 2010 ANAC reallat&82 Congonhasslots that were idle. When 1
capacity at the airport increases and more slaterbe available, 20% of those slots must be digeibto new entrants who will have a preferencééir
assignment. The remaining slots will be allocatethe other airline companies, including us. Baatosbumont airport in Rio de Janeiro, a highly utili:
airport with halfhourly shuttle flights between Sao Paulo and RioJdeeiro, is also a coordinated airport with certglot restrictions. Several otl
Brazilian airports, for example the Brasilia Interoaal Airport and S&o Paulo International AirpartGuarulhos have limited the number of slots pe
due to infrastructural limitations at these airport

ANAC has imposed schedule restrictions to severakiBaa airports from which we operate. Operatimggtrictions, including the prohibition
international flights’ operations and the prohititiof civil aircraft’s operation after 11:00 p.m. and before 6:00 aaxere imposed for Congonhas Airp
one of the busiest Brazilian airports and the mgtortant airport for our operations. No assuratare be given that these or other government mes
will not have a material adverse effect on our bess and results of operations.

CONAC has taken measures to minimize the recent imahand operational problems in the Sdo Pauloodisp redistributing air traffic from tl
Congonhas airport to the airports of Guarulhos aas mmentioned its intention to adjust tariffs foe thse of busy airport hubs to encourage fu
redistribution of air traffic.

In the last quarter of 2008, the ANAC proposed a negulation for the allocation of slots to domestidines. This regulation governs the manne
allocation of slots, by organizing rotations amahg concessionaires, determining the proceduresefpstration, qualification, judgment and homoliga
of a request for slot concessions in coordinatedodis. Additionally, such regulation also estsiis the rules permitting transfers of slots bet
concessionaires. ANAC's resolution has not yehlreéeased.

Also, in 2008, the ANAC enacted a regulation prawigthat the minimum ground time for aircraft betwdgnding and takeff must be 40 minutes
the International Airport of Sao Paulo in Guarulhite international airport of Rio de Janeiro Galaéd at the Brasilia airports, and 30 minutes abtak
Brazilian airports. This regulation negatively atfsd our ability to increase aircraft utilizatiop iminimizing turnaround times between flights.

Current rules regarding slots distribution at Conganhirport, which favors us, require that 80% ofvrstots be assigned to airlines already operati
that airport. New proposed rules, which are unddatip hearing, may reduce that percentage.

Airport Infrastructure

INFRAERO, a stateontrolled corporation, is in charge of managingerating and controlling federal airports, incluglicontrol towers and airpt
safety operations.
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Smaller, regional airports may belong to statemonicipalities within Brazil and, in such cases, aften managed by local governmental entities
most important Brazilian airports, INFRAERO perfornadety and security activities, including passerg@il baggage screening, cargo security mee
and airport security.

The use of areas within federal airports, suchawars and chedk- counters, is subject to a concession by INFRAERQhere is more than o
applicant for the use of a specific airport ar&dERAERO may conduct a public bidding process forgtamting of the concession.

We have renewable concessions with terms varyiomg fone to five years from INFRAERO to use and opeaditef our facilities at each of the ma
airports that we serve. Our concession agreenfentsur terminals’ passenger service facilities,iahhinclude checkn counters and ticket office
operations support area and baggage service gftioagin provisions for periodic adjustments & iase rates and the extension of the concegsion t

Of the 66 Brazilian airports managed by INFRAERO, apjmately 13 airports are receiving infrastructimgestments and upgrades. The air
upgrade plan does not require contributions orstments by the Brazilian airlines and is not exmb¢tebe accompanied by increases in landing fe
passenger taxes on air travel.

Until 2010, landing and navigation fees charge®iazilian airports were similar in all airports inmdent of whether they were busy or not. In 2
the Brazilian government increased landing and radidg fees at the busiest airports as comparess®bdusy airports and at peak hours.

In August 2011 the Brazilian government privatize@ new Natal airport, which will have its constiantcompleted and further operation by
winners of the privatization auction. In Februafi2 the Brazilian government privatized the Guars)tBrasilia and Campinas international airports, fa
will be operated by the winners of the privatizataction for periods of 20 to 30 years, and o#ligrorts are expected to be privatized in the fitur

The airports auctioned were:

Cumbica Viracopos Juscelino Kubitschel
(Guarulhos) (Campinas) (Brasilia)

City Sao Paul Sao Paul Brasilic

Gran R$ 16.2 billior R$ 3.8 billior R$ 4.5 billior

Concession ter 20 Year: 30 Year: 25 Year:

Minimum Investmer R$ 4.7 billior R$ 8.7 billior R$ 4.7 billior

Additional fee 10% of Annual Gross Revenue - R$ 5% of Annual Gross Revenue - R$ 649 2% of Annual Gross Revenue - R$107
1.770 million during the concess Million during the concessic million during the concessit

Estimated investment for the World R$ 1.38 billion R$ 873.1 million R$ 626.5 million

Cur

Mandatory improvements for the Wo  Construction of: Construction of: Construction of:

Cup - hew terminal with capacity for at least 7 - new terminal with capacity for at least - new terminal with capacity for at least
million additional passengers per year 5.5 million additional passengers per year2 million additional passengers per year
- apron area for 32 aircraft - apron area for 35 aircraft - apron area for 24 aircraft
- 2,200 parking spaces - 4,500 parking spaces - 2,400 parking spaces
Expansion of the runway for aircraft Expansion of the runway for aircraft Expansion of the runway for aircraft
maneuve maneuve maneuve

Source: Civil Aviation SecretaryBécretaria de Aviagao Ciyibr SAC.
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These airports represented approximately 30% af Brazilian passengers transported in 2011, inopdiomestic and international traffic, accordin
ANAC.

Concession for Air Transportation Services

According to the Brazilian Federal Constitution, tBeazilian government is responsible for public sessi related to airspace as well as ai
infrastructure, and may provide these servicecthyrer through third parties under concessionawthorizations. According to the Brazilian Aeroricai
Code and regulations issued by the CONAC, the apjitédr a concession to operate regular air trariafion services is subject to a license grantethk
ANAC to operate an airline and to explore regulatrainsportation services. The applicant is reglilsy the ANAC to have met certain economic, finak;
technical, operational and administrative requinetsién order to be granted such license. Additigna concession applicant must be an entity ipooatet
in Brazil, duly registered with the Brazilian Aerotiaal Registry Registro Aeronautico Brasileijpor RAB, must have a valid airline operating ceréife
(Certificado de Homologacao de Empresa de Transpdéreg, or CHETA, and must also comply with certain ovahgp restrictions. See “Restriction
to the Ownership of Shares Issued by Concessionairdis Transportation Services.The ANAC has the authority to revoke a concessioffiditure by the
airline to comply with the terms of the Brazilianr@aautical Code, the complementary laws and reguigatand the terms of the concession agreement.

Our concession was granted on January 2, 2001é¥idph Command of Aeronautics of the Ministry of Bxe$e. The concession agreement c:
terminated if, among other things, we fail to mgstcified service levels, cease operations or deblankruptcy.

The Brazilian Aeronautical Code and the regulati@ssied by the CONAC and ANAC do not expressly provatepiublic bidding processes ¢
currently it is not necessary to conduct publicdirid processes prior to granting of concessiongheroperation of air transportation services. Buthe
intense growth of the civil aviation sector, thider may be changed by the government, in ordetléevanore competition or to achieve other polit
purposes.

Import of Aircraft into Braz

The import of civil or commercial aircraft into Biiais subject to prior certification of the airctdfy ANAC. Import authorizations usually follow 1
general procedures for import of goods into Bratier which the importer must request the registnadf the aircraft with the RAB.

Registration of Aircra

The registration of aircraft in Brazil is governegl the Brazilian Aeronautical Code, under which neraift is allowed to fly in Brazilian airspace,
land in or take off from Brazilian territory, withbiaving been properly registered. In order tordgistered and continue to be registered in Braz
aircraft must have a certificate of registratiopr(ificado de matriculpand a certificate of airworthinesseftificado de aeronavegabilidagéboth of whicl
are issued by the RAB after technical inspectiorhefaircraft by the ANAC. A certificate of regisimat attributes Brazilian nationality to the aircrafid i
evidence of its enrollment with the competent aeratuthority. A certificate of airworthiness isrgerally valid for six years from the date of thRAC's
inspection and authorizes the aircraft to fly in Blian airspace, subject to continuing compliandgthwertain technical requirements and conditioie
registration of any aircraft may be cancelled isifound that the aircraft is not in compliancahathe requirements for registration and, in patéc, if the
aircraft has failed to comply with any applicabégety requirements specified by the ANAC or the BraziAeronautical Code.

All information relating to the contractual statolsan aircraft, including purchase and sale agreésn®perating leases and mortgages, must be
with the RAB in order to provide the public with apdated record of any amendments made to the dicaafficate of registration.

Restrictions on the Ownership of Shares Issued byg&asionaires of Air Transportation Servi

According to the Brazilian Aeronautical Code, in arde be eligible for a concession for operationrefular services, the entity operating
concession must have at least 80% of its votingksteld directly or indirectly brazilian citizens and must have certain managemesitions entrusted
Brazilian citizens. The Brazilian Aeronautical Codgoamposes certain restrictions on the transfezagfital stock of concessionaires of air transpioi
services, such as VRG, including the following:
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e the voting shares have to be nominative and noimyshares cannot be converted into voting shares;

e prior approval of the Brazilian aviation authoritisgequired for any transfer of shares, regarddésle nationality of the investor, which restitt
the change of the company’s corporate control, eatise assignee to hold more than 10% of the coyhpaapital stock or represents more
2% of the company’s capital stock;

e the airline must file with the ANAC, in the first mth of each semester, a detailed shareholder ictrtdutling a list of shareholders, as well as ¢
of all share transfers effected in the precedimgester; and

e based on its review of the airline’s shareholderrghthe ANAC has the authority to subject any ferttransfer of shares to its prior approval.

The Registrant holds substantially all of the shafééRG, which are public concessionaires of ainsgortation services in Brazil. Under the Braz
Aeronautical Code, the restrictions on the transfeishares described above apply only to compartias iold concessions to provide regular
transportation services. Therefore, the restmstido not apply to the Registrant.

Environmental Regulatic

Brazilian airlines are subject to various federédtesand municipal laws and regulations relatinghi protection of the environment, including
disposal of materials and chemical substances mochfa noise. These laws and regulations arereefbby various governmental authorities. The no
compliance with such laws and regulations may sltfee violator to administrative and criminal stmas, in addition to the obligation to repair orfay
damages caused to the environment and third parisdar as civil liabilities are concerned, Bréil environmental laws adopt the strict and joibility
regime. In this regard we may be liable for vimas by third parties hired to dispose of our wabtereover, pursuant to Brazilian environmental lams
regulations, the piercing of the corporate veilaoEompany may occur in order to ensure enough dinahnesources to the recovery of damages c:
against the environment.

We adopted several Environmental Management Sy§EMS) procedures with our suppliers and use tecahraadits to enforce compliance.
exercise caution, and may reject goods and servyioas companies that do not meet our environmeptatection parameters unless confirmatio
compliance is received.

We are monitoring and analyzing the developmergamting amendments to Kyoto protocol and emissiegslations in the United States and Eu
and may in the future be obliged to acquire caryedits for the operation of our business. Nodkgjion on this matter has yet been enacted in Brazi

Pending Legislatio

The Brazilian congress is currently discussing aftdpdl that would replace the current Brazilian Aeautical Code Qodigo Brasileiro d
Aeronautici). In general, this draft bill deals with matteetated to civil aviation, including airport coneéms, consumer protection, limitation of airlines
civil liability, compulsory insurance, fines andetincrease of limits to foreign ownership in votisigpck of Brazilian airlines from 20% to 49% or higt
This draft bill is still under discussion in the tl® of Representatives and, if approved, must beitiel for approval to the Federal Senate, befeiac
sent for presidential approval. If the Brazilianicawviation framework changes in the future, or ABAmplements increased restrictions, our growth g
and our business and results of operations couédibersely affected.

Aircraft Financing by Export Credit Agenc

Ex-Im Bank has recently agreed on a common appraé&bhEuropean exportredit agencies on offering export credits for cagneral aircraft. Amon
other things, the new ASU sets forth minimum gutgarpremiunrates applicable to aircraft delivered on or afi@nuary 1, 2011, or under firm contr:
entered into after April 30, 2007. While subjezntodification, the exposure fees paid by Gol opliapble aircraft are likely to increase. The antoofrany
such increase will depend upon the credit riskgaesl to us by the participating expagencies pursuant to the protocols of the ASUaddition, we wil
no longer be able to finance the amortization paymef loans guaranteed by HExr-Bank with SOAR loan facilities for the new airdrabntracted fror
2012.
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Aircraft Repossessi

The Cape Town treaty is an international treatgrided to standardize transactions involving movaitperty. The treaty creates internatit
standards for registration of ownership, securitgriests (liens), leases and conditional salesactst and various legal remedies for default fiarficing
agreements, including repossession and the eff@atrtcular stateshankruptcy laws. As of February 2012, the conventiad been ratified by 50 countr
including Brazil.

C. Organizational Structure

The Registrant is a holding company, which ownsatliyeor indirectly shares of five subsidiaries: VR#@hich also owns Webjet, and three offsl
finance subsidiaries Gol Finance Cayman and GAC witich owns Sky Finance Il. VRG is the Registramperating subsidiary, under which we con
our business. Gol Finance, GAC Inc. and Sky Findhaee off-shore companies established for the psepof facilitating crosborder general and aircr
financing transactions.

D. Property, Plant and Equipment

Our primary corporate offices are located in twaldings in Sdo Paulo. Our commercial, operatidgashnology, finance and administrative sta
based primarily at our headquarters. We have gsimes to use other airport buildings and handamsughout Brazil, including a part of a hange
Congonhas airport where we perform aircraft mainteaa As of December 31, 2011, we have 45 Boeing t&&sified as finance lease aircraft an
Boeing 737-300s owned by Webjet. We own a staté@itt Aircraft Maintenance Center in Confins, in that8tof Minas Gerais. The certification of
aircraft maintenance center authorizes maintenaaogces for Boeing 737-300s and Boeing Next GermeratB7700 and 800s. We have three hangz
our Aircraft Maintenance Center, with a capacityp&form maintenance on 120 aircraft per year, aachawve room to build more hangars in the fut.
needed. With our system of phased maintenanceufoBoeing NG 737-700 and 78D0 aircraft fleet, we are able to perform maintemawork every de
without sacrificing aircraft revenue time, and sblle preventive maintenance with more regularitgt around the utilization of our aircraft, which tiue
dilutes fixed costs. We use the new facility fiframe heavy checks, line maintenance, aircrafttpay and aircraft interior refurbishment. Sesc
“ltem 4—Business Overview—Aircraft” and note 14 tar dinancial statements as of and for the year émcember 31, 2011.

ITEM 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments
None
ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

You should read this discussion in conjunction waitli consolidated financial statements and the edlabotes and the other financial informa
included elsewhere in this annual report.

A. Operating Results
Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from transporigagsengers on our aircraft. In 2011, 89% of ouenaes were derived from passenger fares, ai
remaining 11% of our revenues were derived fromillang revenues principally from our cargo businesdich utilizes available cargo space on

passenger flights. Nearly all of our passengeemae and cargo revenue is denominateck@is Passenger revenue, including revenue fromSonite:
loyalty program, is recognized either when trantgiam is provided or when the ticket expires unkise
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Cargo revenue is recognized when transportatioroigied. Other ancillary revenue consists prinyaofl ticket change fees, excess baggage charges,
interest on installment sales and other incidesgatices. Passenger revenues are based uponpagitgaload factor and yield. Our capacity is swad it
terms of available seat kilometers, which represtdr@ number of seats we make available on owatirultiplied by the number of kilometers the tsear«
flown. Load factor, or the percentage of our cityabat is actually used by paying customers,akwated by dividing revenue passenger kilomelby
available seat kilometers. Yield is the averagewmthat one passenger pays to fly one kilometer.

The following table demonstrates our main operagiegormance indicators in 2010 and 2011:

Year Ended December 3:

201Qy) 2011
Operating Data:

Loac-factor 66.7% 68.7%
Breal-even loa-factor 60.0% 70.9%
Aircraft utilization (block hours per da 12.¢ 13.C
Yield per passenger kilometer (ce! 20.t 19.t
Passenger revenue per available seat kilometets] 13.7 13.4
Operating revenue per available seat kilometen${ 15.2 15.C
Number of departure 295,160 314,190
Operating aircraft at period € 114 127

(1) 2010 operating data were recalculated in atsoore with the current DCA Manual.

Our revenues are net of certain taxes, includiatgstalue added taxelsnposto sobre Circulacdo de Mercadorias e ServicpdCMS; federal soci
contribution taxes, includinBrograma de Integracéo Socjar PIS; and th€ontribuicdo Social para o Financiamento da Seguiliel&ocial or COFINS.
ICMS does not apply to passenger revenues. Thageeate of ICMS on cargo revenues varies by stata #% to 12%. As a general rule, PIS
COFINS are imposed at rates of 1.65% and 7.6%, c&sply, of total revenues.

We generate most of our revenue from ticket sddesugh our website, and we are one of the largesdti@ading esommerce companies in Brazil
terms of net sales through the Internet.

The ANAC and the aviation authorities of the otheurttries in which we operate may influence ourigbib generate revenues. In Brazil, the AN
approves the concession of slots, entry of new eamgs, launch of new routes, increases in routpuérecies and lease or acquisition of new aircraft
ability to grow and to increase our revenues iseddpnt on the receipt of approvals for new routeseased frequencies and additional aircraft ftbe
ANAC.

Operating Expenses

We seek to lower our operating expenses by operatistandardized fleet with a singlass of service, having one of the newest flaetbé industry
utilizing our aircraft efficiently, using and enaaging low<ost ticket sales and distribution processes. Taim momponents of operating expenses inc
those related to aircraft fuel, aircraft rent, efc maintenance, sales and marketing, and salasiages and benefits provided to employees, inag
provisions for our profit sharing plan.

Our aircraft fuel expenses are higher than thoskwicost airlines in the United States and Europe kmxdlue Brazilian infrastructure to prodt
transport and store fuel is expensive and undetdeed, especially in the north and northeast regfrthe country. In addition, taxes applicabl¢h® sal
of jet fuel are high and are passed along to ugt acraft fuel expenses are variable and fluetuzstsed on global oil prices. Since global oitgsiar
U.S. dollar-based, our aircraft fuel costs are disked to fluctuations in the exchange rate of thal versus the U.S. dollar. In 2011, fuel expe
represented 39.3% of our total operating experaespmpared to 36.4% in 2010. In 2008, the pricéd/est Texas Intermediate crude oil, a benchi
widely used for crude oil prices that is measuretarrels and quoted in U.S. dollars, varied sigaiftly, reaching an atime high of US$145 in Marc
2008 and decreasing to US$44.60 per barrel atrttie£2008. At year end 2009 the price per bamad US$79.36 and increased to US$91.40 at thefi
2010. At year end 2011 the price per barrel was988B. We currently enter into shoerm arrangements to hedge against increases priods an
foreign exchange fluctuations.
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Our aircraft rent expenses are in U.S. dollarsznck increased in line with the expansion of owgrafons. We use shdgrm arrangements to het
against exchange rate exposure related to our leagment obligations. In addition, leases for 2lowor aircraft are subject to floatimgte paymet
obligations that are based on fluctuations in imaéional interest rates. We currently have hedgiolgcies in place to manage our interest rate supo

Our maintenance, material and repair expensesstafdight (line) and scheduled heavy (structuraiintenance of our aircraft. Line maintenance
repair expenses are charged to operating expersseswared. Structural maintenance for aircradiskd under finance leases is capitalized and arac
over the life of the maintenance cycle. Once tl@ntenance is performed, accrual does not commagai® until the maintenance status is reduced t
the return condition. Since the average age obperating fleet was 7.0 years for 123 GOL Boeing-780/800 and 18.0 years for 24 Webjet Boeing 73
300 at December 31, 2011 and most of the partsuoraiccraft are under mulgiear warranties, our aircraft have required a lewel of maintenance a
therefore we have incurred low maintenance expenSes aircraft are covered by warranties that revaverage term of three to five years. The witigs
on the aircraft we received in 2010 under our fpurchase order with Boeing will start expiring in120 Thus, with regard to the accounting for aiit
maintenance and repair costs, our current andrpsslis of operations may not be indicative of fattesults. Our Aircraft Maintenance Center in Qas!
in the State of Minas Gerais is certificated fog thaintenance services for Boeing 737-300s and Bdénxg Generation 73700 and 800s. We currer
use the new facility for airframe heavy checkse Imaintenance, aircraft painting and aircraft ioterefurbishment. We believe that we have an athgs
compared to industry peers in maintenance, maseaiatl repairs expenses due to the use of Boeind\@é8¥ Generation aircraft that allows for phe
maintenance as described in this annual reportdaado the internalization of our maintenance. Wkeve that this advantage will remain in thaifat

Our sales and marketing expenses include commisgiaid to travel agents, fees paid for our own third-party reservation systems and agents,
paid to credit card companies and advertising. dsiribution costs are lower than those of othidinas in Brazil on a per available seat kilomébessit
because a higher proportion of our customers psectiakets from us directly through our websitdéasd of through traditional distribution channalsct
as ticket offices, and we have comparatively fesaes made through higher cost global distribusigstems. We generated 88.5% of our consolidates
through our website and API systems in the yeae@ridecember 31, 2011 and 88.1% in 2010, includmermet sales through travel agents. For
reasons, we believe that we have an advantage cedhpa industry peers in sales and marketing exg®easd expect this advantage will remain ir
future.

Salaries, wages and benefits paid to our employwasde annual cost of living adjustments and Bivis made for our profit sharing plan. We t
no seniorityrelated increases in these costs due to our ssfargture. We believe that we have an advantagwwaced to industry peers in salaries, w.
and benefits expenses due to generally lower ledsts in Brazil as compared to other countries. baleve that these advantages will continue totex
the future.

Aircraft and traffic servicing expenses include wrd handling and the cost of airport facilitiesth€ operating expenses consist of genera
administrative expenses, purchased services, eguiprantals, passenger refreshments, communioztits, supplies and professional fees.

Webjet Acquisition

On October 3, 2011, we acquired Webjet for an aeuprice of R$43,4 milliomnd assumed a net debt of R$214 millidfebjet’s operations we
consolidated into our financial statements as f@atober 3, 2011. Webjet's operating expense pailable seat kilometer (CASK) dxel for the yee
ended December 31, 2010 was R$7.3 cents which expisethe lowest CASK efuel in the Brazilian domestic aviation industry. éisDecember 31, 201
Webijet had a total fleet of 24 Boeing 737-300 withaaerage age of 18 years, of which 18 aircrafeveased and 6 are owned by Webjet. Webjetise
aircraft are scheduled to be returned between 20822013. The acquisition is still subject to regily approval. For more information about the Vel
acquisition, see note 12 to our consolidated fir@rstatements.
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Brazilian Economic Environment

As a company with most of its operations curremilyBrazil, we are affected by general economic coor in the country. While our growth sit
2001 has been primarily driven by our expansioa iew markets and increased flight frequencieshawe also been affected by macroeconomic cond
in Brazil. Our growth outpaced that of our primagmpetitors because of strong demand for our Idawer service. In 2011, we grew 14.1% in termr
revenue passenger kilometers in the domestic mame@tconsidering both international and domestickatal2.3%. The relatively lower consolids
growth rate compared to the domestic market istduierce domestic competition during the firstthal 2011, which stimulated the Brazilian aviai
industry. We believe the rate of growth in Bragilportant in determining our future growth capaeind our results of operations.

Our results of operations are materially affectgdcbrrency fluctuations. The vast majority of oawenues are denominatedramis (with a smal
portion of our revenues from our international lilig being denominated in other currencies), bugaificant part of our operating expenses are €
payable in or affected by the U.S. dollar, sucloasaircraft operating lease payments, related t@aémce reserves and deposits, and jet fuel exgpe
Based on a statistical analysis of our first seveary of operations, we believe that our revenusighly correlated with theeal/U.S. dollar exchange r¢
and jet fuel prices becauseal fluctuations and increases in jet fuel pricesgererally incorporated into the fare structure8i&zilian airlines. In 201
51.8% of our operating expenses (including airdizt) are denominated in, or linked to, U.S. dalland therefore vary with threal/U.S. dollar exchang
rate. We believe that our foreign exchange antiifadging programs protect us against short-teringsin thereal/U.S. dollar exchange rate and jet-
prices. Overall, we believe that the combinatibowr revenue stream, with its correlation to moeeis in theeal/U.S. dollar exchange rate, and sherr
hedges on the U.S. dollar-linked portion of our enges, will mitigate the adverse effect on our ateg expenses of abrupt movements in ribal/
U.S. dollar exchange rate.

Inflation has also had, and may continue to haffects on our financial condition and results obrgtions. In 2011, 79.4% of our operating expe
(excluding aircraft fuel) were denominatedr@ais and the suppliers and service providers of teegpense items generally attempt to increase thieegptc
reflect Brazilian inflation.

The following table shows data for real GDP grovittfiation, interest rates, the U.S. dollar exctengte and crude oil prices for and as of the pe
indicated.

December 31

200¢ 201( 2011
Real growth in gross domestic prod (0.2)% 7.5% 2.7%
Inflation (IGP-M)) 1.7)% 11.30% 5.1%
Inflation (IPCA)? 4.3% 5.9% 6.5%
CDI raté® 9.9% 9.7% 11.6%
LIBOR raté® 0.25% 0.30% 0.58%
Depreciation (appreciation) of tlreal vs. U.S. dolla (25.5)% (4.3)% 12.6%
Perioc-end exchange re—US$1.00 R$1.741: R$1.666: R$1.875!
Average exchange rate—US$1®0 R$1.9946 R$1.7593 R$1.6746
Perioc-end West Texas intermediate crude (per bz US$79.3 US$91.41 U$98.8:
Perioc-end Increase (decrease) in West Texas intermeatiade (per barre (77.9)% 15.2% 8.1%
West Texas Intermediate crude (average per baurgigiperiod US$62.0! US$79.6. US$95.1.
Average Increase (decrease) in West Texas Inteateediude (per barr (37.8)% 28.2% 19.5%

Sources: Fundacdo Getulio Vargas, the Central BadkBloomberg
(1) Inflation (IGP-M) is the general market prioelex measured by the Fundacéo Getulio Vargas.
(2) Inflation (IPCA) is a broad consumer priceérdneasured by the Instituto Brasileiro de Geogmfisstatistica.
(3) The CDl rate is average of inter-bank overhigkes in Brazil (accumulated for period-end moatimualized).
(4) Three-month U.S. dollar LIBOR rate as of th&t late of the period. The LIBOR rate is the Lonuhoer-bank offer rate.
(5) Represents the average of the exchange natite dast day of each month during the period.
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Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated financial steets in conformity with IFRS requires our managenienadopt accounting policies and m
estimates and judgments to develop amounts repioriaal consolidated financial statements and eelaiotes. We strive to maintain a process to vethe
application of our accounting policies and to eatduthe appropriateness of the estimates thaegtéred to prepare our consolidated financial siatgs.
We believe that our estimates and judgments asonadle; however, actual results and the timingeobgnition of such amounts could differ from tt
estimates. In addition, estimates routinely regjailjustment based on changing circumstances arrédhipt of new or better information.

Critical accounting policies and estimates are thtbs¢ are reflective of significant judgments amtertainties, and potentially result in materi
different outcomes under different assumptions emiditions. For a discussion of these and otheowtting policies, see Note 2 to our consolid
financial statements.

Property, Plant and EquipmentProperty, plant and equipment, including rotgidets, are recorded at cost and are depreciatestitnated residu
values over their estimated useful lives usingstnaightliine method. Each component of property, plant @emuipment that has a cost that is significa
relation to the overall cost of the item is depaé®il separately. Aircraft and engine spares aagdjuin the introduction or expansion of a fleetwadl as
rotable spares purchased separately, are carriiéxkdsassets and generally depreciated in liné thiée fleet to which they relate. Rielivery deposits ref
to prepayments made based on the agreements eimttredth Boeing Company for the purchase of BoeiB@-800 Next Generation aircraft and inclu
interest and finance charges incurred during theufeeture of aircraft and the leasehold improvemment

Under IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipmentéajor engine overhauls including replacement spaneslabor costs, are treated as a separate
component with the cost capitalized and depreciateet the period to the next major overhaul. Athey replacement spares and costs relatil
maintenance of fleet assets are charged to theneaatement on consumption or as incurred. Istt@ests incurred and exchange variation on déli
fund progress payments on assets under construitidading preeelivery deposits to acquire new aircraft, are diged and included as part of the co:
the assets through the earlier of the date of cetimpl or aircraft delivery. Exchange differences eapitalized to the extent that they are regaeded:
adjustment to interest costs.

In estimating the lives and expected residual \&lofeits aircraft, the Company primarily has religagbn actual experience with the same or sit
aircraft types and recommendations from Boeing,niamufacturer of the Comparmyaircraft. Aircraft estimated useful lives areséé on the number
“cycles” flown (one-takesff and landing). The Company has made a convermsiarycles into years based on both its historaad anticipated futu
utilization of the aircraft. Subsequent revisidosthese estimates, which can be significant, céélccaused by changes to the Compamgaintenanc
program, changes in utilization of the aircraftt@@t cycles during a given period of time), goveemtal regulations related to aging aircraft, anangfing
market prices of new and used aircraft of the sam&milar types. The Company evaluates its esémand assumptions each reporting period and,
warranted, adjusts these estimates and assumptiimsse adjustments are accounted for on a pragpduasis through depreciation and amortiz:
expense, as required by IFRS.

We evaluate annually whether there is an indicati@at our property, plant and equipment may be irega Factors that would indicate poter
impairment may include, but are not limited to,nsfigant decreases in the market value of the lireg asset(s), a significant change in the ltagel
asset’s physical condition, and operating or cdstv fosses associated with the use of the llreg assets. As of 31 December 2010 and 200
impairment on property, plant and equipment assatsrecognized. As of 31 December 2011, we recegram amount of R$50.7 million of impairmen
fixed assets. See note 14 to our financial stat&riealuded elsewhere herein.

Lease accountingAircraft lease agreements are accounted as eiffegating or capital leases (finance leases). Whemisks and benefits of the le
are transferred to us, as lessee, the lease sfiddsas capital lease. Capital leases are acedwag an acquisition obtained through a finanawith the
aircraft recorded as a fixed asset and a correspgnidbility recorded as a debt. Capital leasesracorded based on the lesser of the fair valube
aircraft or the present value of the minimum lepagments, discounted at an implicit interest rateen it is clearly identified in the lease agreetner
market interest rate. The aircraft is deprecidtedugh the lesser of its useful life or the letexen. Interest expense is recognized through fleetive
interest rate methotbased on the implicit interest rate of the ledsease agreements that do not transfer de riskbamefits to us are classified as oper
leases. Operating lease payments are accoungerkeat and the lease expense is recognized wharréad through the straight line method.
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Salefease back transactions that result in a subseqpenating lease have different accounting treatsn@epending on the fair value of the asset
price and the cost of the sale. If the fair vabfiche asset is less than its carrying amounhefasset, the difference is recognized as a tosgdiately.
When the sale gives rise to a gain it is recognigedio the fair value, the excess is deferred andrized throughout the term of the lease. Whensthl
results in a loss and the carrying amount is neatgr than fair value, the loss is deferred if cengated by future lease payments. If the carrgimgunt i:
greater than fair value it is written down to fa@lue, and if there is still a loss it is deferiedompensated by future lease payments.

Lease accounting is critical for us because itireguan extensive analysis of the lease agreenrentsler to classify and measure the transactiomsii
financial statements and significantly impacts fa@ncial position and results of operations. Clenip the terms of our outstanding lease agreenaew
the terms of future lease agreements may impaadbeunting for the lease transactions and ourdiutoancial position and results of operations.

Goodwill and Intangible AssetdVe have allocated goodwill and intangible asseth widefinite lives acquired through business carations for th
purposes of impairment testing to a single ogsherating unit, the operating subsidiary VRG. Gubds tested for impairment annually by compariting
carrying amount to the recoverable amount of treh-@@nerating unit level that has been measuratiebasis of its value-inse, by applying cash flc
projections in the functional currency based onGQoepany’s approved business plan covering a fiae-period followed by the lonterm growth rate «
3.5%. The prdax discount rate applied to the cash flow progawtiis 17.68%. Considerable judgment is necessayaiuate the impact of operating
macroeconomic changes to estimate future cash fiowlsto measure the recoverable amount. Assungptipthe Compang’ impairment evaluations ¢
consistent with internal projections and operafif@ns. Airport operating rights were acquired agt jof the acquisition of VRG were capitalized at
value at that date and are not amortized. Thag®sriare considered to have indefinite useful lidase to several factors and considerations, inof
requirements for necessary permits to operate nvilltazil and limited slot availability in the mosthportant airports in terms of traffic volume. V
tradenames were acquired as part of the VRG adguigihd were capitalized at fair value at that d&the tradenames are considered to have an iite
useful life (and are not amortized) due to seviealors and considerations, including the brandramess and market position, customer recognitial
loyalty and the continued use of the VARIG tradengam€he carrying values of the airport operatimgts and tradenames are reviewed for impairme
each reporting date and are subject to impairnesting when events or changes in circumstancesatalthat carrying values may not be recover:
Costs related to the purchase or development of stampoftware that is separable from an item aitegl hardware is capitalized separately and aneo
over a period not exceeding five years on a sttdigh basis. The carrying value of these intangibitereviewed for impairment if events or changt
circumstances indicate the carrying value may rotdzoverable. The Company assesses at each balawedate whether intangibles with indefi
useful lives are impaired using discounted casiv fimalyses, which considers the creditworthinesh@efissuer of the security, as further descrilpedate
15 to our financial statements. As of December2B1,1, 2010 and 2009 no impairment on goodwill atheiointangible assets was recognized.

Business CombinatioWe have accounted for business combinations ukm@cquisition method. The cost of an acquisitiomeasured as the sun
the consideration transferred, based on the fairevan the acquisition date. Costs directly attabie to the acquisition are accounted for as exgensbel
incurred. The assets acquired and liabilities assumere measured at fair value, classified anccatéal according to the contractual terms, ecor
circumstances and relevant conditions on the aitigmsdate. Goodwill is measured as the excessoofideration transferred in relation to net a:
acquired at fair value. If the consideration is éovthan the fair value of net assets acquireddifierence should be recognized as a gain in tbenm
statement. After initial recognition, goodwill issmsured at cost less any accumulated impairmesgdo©n October 3, 2011, we acquired the totatalagd
Webjet, through our subsidiary VRG, for an adjugtede of R$43.4 million. This acquisition was acctathby the acquisition method in accordance
IFRS 3R and the gain on bargain purchase of R$88kbmilvas recorded in our income statement for tharyended December 31, 2011 under «
operating revenues (expenses), not taxable agétdted to a permanent difference, according ¢oBhazilian transition tax regimé&égime Tributario ¢
Transicdo — RT)L We expect to finalize the valuation of certagsets, including intangible assets and liabiliteeswell as the effect of deferred taxes
October 2, 2012. The gain on bargain purchase gtmtkiby the acquisition of Webjet is related to teeognition of the value of intangible assets
recorded on Webjet'financial statements, represented by rights efiushe Guarulhos and Santos Dumont airports, twaie the busiest airports in Bra
and which value is a consequence of the significlethand growth anticipated in the next few yeard aar expectation for recovery of opera
profitability in these airports.
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Derivative Financial Instruments The Company accounts for derivative financialtrimeents in accordance with IAS 39. In executihg tisk
management program, management uses a varietyaofcial instruments, to protect against sharp obsimgmarket prices and to mitigate the volatitit
its expenditures related to these prices. The Cagngaes not hold or issue derivative financialrnmstents for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially repozed at fair value and subsequently the chandeaitinvalue is recorded in profit or loss, unlebe
derivative meets the strict criteria for cash floedge accounting.

For hedge accounting purposes, according to IASH&9hedge instrument is classified as a: (i) ¢mst hedge when it protects against the expost
fluctuations in cash flow that are attributableatparticular risk associated with an asset orlitghiecognized regarding an operation that is hidikely to
occur or to an exchange rate risk for an unreceghitm commitment, and (i) fair value hedge wtieprotects from the results of a change in thevalue
of a recognized liability, or a part thereof, thatild be attributed to exchange risk.

At the beginning of a hedge transaction, the Computasjgnates and formally documents the item covbyetthe hedge, as well as the objective o
hedge and the risk policy strategy. Documentaitimiudes identification of the hedge instrumeng item or transaction to be protected, the natfitbe
risk to be hedged and how the entity will deterntime effectiveness of the hedge instrument in tffeg exposure to variations in the fair value lof iten
covered or the cash flows attributable to the dskered. The purpose is that such hedge instranveiitbe effective in offsetting the changes iir fealue
or cash flows and they are constantly appraisedetermine if they really have been effective thitoug the entire period for which they have t
designated.

Amounts classified in equity are transferred tofipiar loss each period in which the hedged tratisa@ffects profit or loss. If the hedged itenthis
cost of a non-financial asset, the amounts claskifi equity are transferred to the initial cargyamount of the non-financial asset.

If the forecast transaction or the firm commitmennho longer expected to occur, amounts previotedpgnized in equity are transferred to prof
loss. If the hedging instrument expires, is teatéd or exercised without replacement or rollowerif its designation as a hedge is revoked, ans
previously recognized in equity are recognizedrfipor loss.

We measure quarterly the effectiveness of the haugeuments in offsetting changes in prices. aive financial instruments are effective if tl
offset between 80% and 125% of the changes in pfitiee item for which the hedge has been contdacfny gain or loss resulting from changes infdie
value of the derivative financial instruments dgrthe quarter in which they are not qualified fedge accounting, as well as the ineffective portibthe
instruments designated for hedge accounting amgnéred as other finance income (expenses).

Aircraft maintenance and repair cost®ur aircraft lease agreements specifically giexthat we, as lessee, are responsible for mamteraf the least
aircraft and engines, and we must meet specifiédaie and engine return conditions upon leaseratiph. Under certain of our existing lease agreets
we pay maintenance deposits to aircraft and enigissors that are to be applied to future maintemawents. These deposits are calculated base
performance measure, such as flight hours or cyales$ are available for reimbursement to us uperctmpletion of the maintenance of the leasedair
If there are sufficient funds on deposit to reindeuns for our maintenance costs, such funds arenegt to us. The maintenance deposits paid unat
lease agreements do not transfer either the olgdig& maintain the aircraft or the cost risk asst@el with the maintenance activities to the aftdessor.
In addition, we maintain the right to select anyd¥party maintenance provider or to perform suetviees inhouse. Therefore, we record these amout
a deposit on our balance sheet and recognize maimte expense when the underlying maintenancerisrped, in accordance with our maintene
accounting policy. Certain of our lease agreempruside that excess deposits at the end of the teas are not refundable to us. Such excess caddi
if the amounts ultimately expended for the mainteeaevents were less than the amounts on depasit.excess amounts held by the lessor or retaiy
the lessor upon the expiration of the lease, whiehnot expected to be significant, would be retzeghas additional aircraft rental expense atithe it is
no longer probable that such amounts will be usedrfaintenance for which they were deposited. dineunt of aircraft and engine maintenance deg
expected to be utilized in the next twelve monghelassified in current assets.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

During the quarter ended June 30, 2011 we charfgedlassification of maintenance deposits from mumetary to monetary asset, as since
transactions involving these assets occurred suiiety through receipts of funds, according toagatiations conducted with the lessors. These ddion:
were recognized as exchange variation expense.

In addition, we have agreements with some lessarspiace the deposits by letters of credit, enghlis to use these funds in other expendituretimg
to our lease agreements.

At the inception of the leases, our initial estiggabf the maintenance expenses are equal to cc@s® of the amounts required to be depositeds
demonstrates it is probable the amounts will bkzeatl for the maintenance for which they are todeposited and the likelihood of an impairment @
balance is remote. There has been no impairmemirafhaintenance deposits.

A summary of activity in the Aircraft and Engine Mgenance Deposits is as follows:

201( 2011
(in thousands ofreais)

Beginning of yea 446,53 456,66¢
Addition of Webje's deposit: - 59,67¢
Amounts paid ir 206,15: 118,06
Reimbursement of expense incur (191,500 (220,280
Replacement by letters of cre (4,515 (45,854
Exchange variation - (10,130)
End of year 456,66t 358,14«

Our fleet plan contemplates the replacement of sopegating leases with finance lease agreemenlisieinvith our plan to further standardize our t
with Boeing Next Generation 737-700 and 737-800raftc Due to the performance advantages of Boeiexf Ieneration 737-700 and 78@0 aircraft, w
believe these aircraft should sustain attractiveketavaluations over the next years. We thereifttend to increase the number of finance leasedight of
this trend, our maintenance deposit accounts shdetdease in the near term, subject to signifigaotential variations, including the actual cos
maintenance, the timing of the maintenance, aircsafles and potential new maintenance requirements

Revenue RecognitioPassenger revenue is recognized either wherptetation is provided or when the unused ticketiresp Tickets sold but not y
used are recorded as advance ticket sales thasexyps primarily deferred revenue for tickets $oiduture travel dates. We recognize a portiomaianc
ticket sales as revenue based on historical ditng to the percentage of tickets sold and netiywrior to the expiration date (“breakagéhe balance «
deferred revenue is then reviewed on a monthlyshizased on actual tickets that have expired andtdj when necessary.

Mileage Program.Since the acquisition of VRG, the Company operatéequent flyer program, 8miles Program”)that provides travel and ott
awards to members based on accumulated mileagéscrékhe obligations assumed under Bmiles Program were valued at the acquisition da
estimated fair value that represents the estimaiieeé the Company would pay to a third party to assthe obligation for miles expected to be redet
under theSmiles Program. The fair value of mileage credits, netsifmated nomse of miles (breakage) is determined by the weijjaverage according
(i) the average amount charged per seat by VRGtines that participate in the loyalty program dieil by the average amount of miles required tceis

ticket using miles and (ii) the average sale pateniles sold to airlines that participate in tlogdlty programSmiles This fair value is updated every
months.
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Share-Based PaymentThe Company measures the fair value of eqgétyled transactions with employees at the grata dsing the Black&Schol
valuation model. The resulting amount, as adjuiedbrfeitures is charged to income over the @eiin which the options vest. At each balance tstieg
before vesting, the cumulative expense is calcdjatspresenting the extent to which the vestingopehas expired and managemertiest estimate of t
number of equity instruments that will ultimatelgst. The change in cumulative expense since #andqus balance sheet date is recognized in therie
statement prospectively over the remaining vestirgpd of the instrument.

Provisions Provisions are recognized when the Company lpaissent obligation (legal or constructive) as alltesf a past event, it is probable tha
outflow of resources embodying economic benefith g required to settle the obligation and a @#aestimate can be made of the amount o
obligation. Where the Company expects some or falk provision to be reimbursed, for example underirssurance contract, the reimburseme
recognized as a separate asset when the reimbursamartually certain. The expense relating tty grovision is presented in profit or loss netaof
reimbursement. If the effect of the time valuerafney is material, provisions are discounted usailgrrent praéax rate that reflects, where appropriate
risks specific to the liability. Where discountifggused, the increase in the provision due tgp#ssage of time is recognized as a finance cost.

Aircraft and engines return provision: in aircrafperating leases, we are contractually requiredetarn the equipment in a predefined leve
operational capability, as a result we recognipeoaision based on the aircraft return costs afostit in the agreement. The aircrafteturn provisions co:
are estimated based on expenditures incurred ¢naftireconfiguration (interior and exterior), liee and technical certification, painting, and pitests
according to the return agreement. Engine retuovipions are estimated based on an evaluation anignom contractual conditions that the equipn
should be returned to the lessor, considering niytthe historical costs incurred, but also theipouent conditions at the time of the evaluation.

Onerous contracts provision: present obligatiorssilting from onerous contracts are recognized apdsured as provisions. An onerous contre
entered into when unavoidable costs to meet thigatldns assumed under the contract exceed theostorbenefits that are expected to be received
the contract term. The provision for onerous cansraefers to losses on operating lease agreeroénts-ofservice aircraft. The provision correspond
the net amount between the present value of thalliments of the respective leases and the expeeteshue from the use of such aircraft through atpmn
or subleases, where applicable. The assumptiomsarseestimates and the settlement of these tdmsacnay result in amounts significantly differdram
those recorded.

Insurance provision: we maintain insurance covemragenounts we consider adequate to cover potesiéimhs, in light of the nature of business, ar
accordance with contractual and regulatory requeérgm

Others provisions: are substantially related toslait¢ and are provisioned for losses considereldgime in our judgment, related to labor, civil aag
matters. Tax lawsuits are presented under tax atidigs.

Deferred taxes Deferred taxes are calculated based on taxdptsmporary differences arising on differencesvben tax bases and carrying amo
for financial reporting purposes of our assets |atiilities.

Even though unused tax losses and temporary diffesehave no expiration date in Brazil, deferredasssets are recorded when there is evidenc
future taxable profit will be available to use suelx credits. We record our deferred tax assesedan projections for future taxable profits, v
considers a number of assumptions for revenue asetefor operating costs such as jet fuel priessihg expenses and etc. Our business plan iec
annually in order to revaluate the amounts to berded as deferred tax assets.

Deferred taxes is a critical accounting policy €@ because it requires a number of assumptiongsapased on our best estimate of our projec
related to future taxable profit. In addition, base the preparation of our business plan is subjea variety of market conditions, the resultsoof
operations may vary significantly from our projects and as such, the amounts recorded as defaradgsets may be impacted significantly in ther&utu
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Results of Operations
Year 2011 Compared to Year 2010

In 2011, our revenue passenger kilometers (RPKeasmd by 12.3% as compared to 2010, mainly dueetintorporation of Webjetd’ fleet an
route network in the last quarter of 2011, increlaead factors in light of reduced fares as a tesuithe fierce competition generated by the sutitl
increase in supply (ASK) in the Brazilian airlinalirstry especially during the first half of 2011 dahe growth of demand among the emerging Bra:
middle class in 2011.

Demand in Brazil, as measured in revenue passeiigareters (RPK) increased by 15.7% in 2011 whenpamed to 2010. International dem.
in revenue passenger kilometers increased by 1bW$6the same period. The total increase in demahith slowed during the second half of 201
compared to the first half of 2011, was mainly ttg(i) reduction in domestic yields; (ii) the stger macroeconomic scenario in Brazil and Latin Aoa
(iif) the average depreciation of the U.S. dollgaiast theeal, which allowed us to increase international mageformance; and (iv) the growth of dem
among the emerging Brazilian middle class.

In 2011, we maintained our conservative approachditing capacity (in ASK). The supply on our tatalite network increased by only 9.1%
compared to 2010, leading to a 4.8% decline inyéelds when comparing these same periods. On tier band, our total demand increased by 12.39
times greater than our supply growth. As a resudt,recorded a load factor of 68.7% in our totalmek, 1.9 percentage points higher than 2010
increased our fleet utilization from 12.9 block h&/day in 2010 to 13.0 block hours/day in 2011.

Our results of operations, especially in the sedmifiof 2011, were negatively impacted by: (i)leg fuel expenses due to the increase of glok
prices; (ii) the depreciation of the end of periedl against the U.S. dollar, which negatively affected operating expenses, our financial expensesS:
dollar-denominated debt and the amount of U.Sadalenominated debt as expressetkais (iii) reduced yields due to competition during thrst half o
2011; (iv) additional expenses in 2011, especiafiiated to return of 3 Boeing 767 and (v) theéase of landing fees due to the impact of new tanédnc
navigation fees methodology established by Infragithe leading airports under its concession du2ill.

The results of operations of Webjet, which we aalin the last quarter of 2011, and is still sabje regulatory approval, are consolidated ir
results of operations for the year ended Decembg2@®11, as from October 3, 2011. See note 12 ofimancial statement.
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We present in the following table information redjag our results of operations in IFRS in 2011 a@#i(®2

Year Ended

December 3:

201C¢

2011

Income Statement Data:
Operating revenues:

(in thousands ofreais)

Passenge 6,277,657 6,713,029
Cargo and othe 701,790 826,279
Total operating revenus 6,979,447 7,539,308
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and bene (1,252,402) (1,560,436)
Aircraft fuel (2,287,410) (3,060,665)
Aircraft rent (555,662) (505,058)
Sales and marketir (367,757) (402,568)
Landing fees (331,882) (395,249)
Aircraft and traffic servicing (430,521) (484,642)
Maintenance, materials and rep: (422,950) (434,181)
Depreciation and amortizatic (281,604) (395,807)
Other operating expens (351,464) (633,634)
Gain on bargain purcha - 88,428
Total operating expens (6,281,652) (7,783,812)
Income (loss) from operations before financial meo(expens: 697,795 (244,504)
Interest expens (297,256) (414,430)
Financial income (expense), (14,043) (341,484)
Income (loss) before income taxes and social dmuticr 386,496 (1,000,418)
Income taxe: (172,299) 248,880
Net loss (income 214,197 (751,538)

Operating Revenue

Oerating revenue increased by 8.0%, from R$6,979lHomin the year ended December 31, 2010 to R¥.53million in the year end

December 31, 2011:

Year Ended December 3:

Operating Revenut 201C 2011 Chg.%
(in thousands ofreais)
Operating Revent 6,979,447 7,539,308 8.0%
Passeng: 6,277,657 6,713,029 6.9%
Cargo and other 701,790 826,279 17.7%

Passenger operating revenues increased by 6.9%R&6277.7 million in 2010 to R$6,713.0 million in120 This variation was due to the

percentage point increase in our load factor, piytoffset by a 4.8% decline in yields.

Ancillary revenue, composed by cargo and othermees, increased by 17.7% from R$701.8 million in®R@1R$826.3 m

illion in 2011, account

for 11.0% of our net revenue in the year ended Bes 31, 2011, primarily due to: (i) a 18.0% inG®an cargo revenue, accounting for approxim.

4.0% of total net revenue (versus approximatel$a3is 2010); (ii) an increase of up to 35% in sttew and ticket change fees,
volume when comparing the two periods; and (ii).8% growth in revenue from tt&miles mileage program. The ancillary re
offset by the decrease in volume of charter fligitacipally performed with Boeing 767 aircraft.

On a unit basis (RASK), the 8.0% increase in opegatiet revenues was offset by a 9.1% increaseailatle seat kil
revenue per available seat kilometer decreasedd$s from R$15.2 cents in 2010 to R$15.0 cents in 2011

fueled by higher pass
venue growth pagially

ometers, and, as a re
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Operating Expenses

Operating expenses increased 23.9% from R$6,281i@mmin 2010 to R$7,783.8 million in 2011, due 1@ a 33.8% increase in aircraft fi
expenses; (i) a 24.6% growth in salaries expen@ésincreased variable costs due to higher openal volume (airport fees, hotels, handling, wft
cleaning, landing fees, navigational assistanceatiner expenses); (iv) expenses associated withetben of three Boeing 767 aircraft; (v) the newdimc
and navigation fee methodology established by émfraat the leading airports under its concessiotingu2011; (vi) expenses from the internatic
restrictions brought about as a result of the Pugetholcanic eruption in Chile; (vii) additional expes associated with system improvements
developments and the optimization of the route ngtvand a provision for an insurance reimbursemantt (viii) higher depreciation and amortiza
expenses as further explained below. The increasepartially offset by R$88.4 million from the gdiargain purchase on the acquisition of Webjet
more details, see Note 12 to our financial statémirtiuded elsewhere herein). The following tadd¢s forth our total operating expenses for théogd

indicated:

Year Ended December 3:

Operating Expenses (in thousands creais) 201C 2011 Chg.%

Salarie (1,252,402) (1,560,436) 24.6%
Aircraft fuel (2,287,410) (3,060,665) 33.8%
Aircraft ren (555,662) (505,058) -9.1%
Sales and marketil (367,757) (402,568) 9.5%
Landing fee (331,882) (395,249) 19.1%
Aircraft and traffic servicin (430,521) (484,642) 12.6%
Maintenance, materials and rep (422,950) (434,181) 2.7%
Depreciation and amortizati (281,604) (395,807) 40.6%
Other operating expens (351,464) (633,634) 80.3%
Gain on bargain purche - 88,428 100%
Total operating expense (6,281,652 (7,783,812 23.9%

On a per unit basis, our operating expense pefailaiseat kilometer (CASK) increased by 13.6% fiR$13.7 cents in 2010 to R$15.5 cent
2011, mainly due to higher CASK from fuel, personfemding fees, depreciation and amortization aheéroexpenses. The increase in CASK was pat

offset by the 9.1% growth in supply (ASK).

The following tables set forth certain of our ofigrg expenses per available seat kilometer as @ptage of total operating expenses, each f
period indicated.

Year Ended December 3

Operating Expenses per Available Seat Kilometer Breadown (%) 201C 2011 Chg bps

Fue 36.4% 39.3% 2.9%
Personne 19.9% 20.0% 0.1%
Ren 8.8% 6.5% -2.4%
Maintenanc 6.7% 5.6% -1.2%

Othel 28.1% 28.6% 0.5%
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Year Ended December 3

Operating Expenses per Available Seat Kilometer (igents ofreais) 201 2011 Chg %
Salaries, (2.73) (3.11) 14.2%
Aircraft fuel (4.98) (6.11) 22.6%
Aircraft rent (1.21) (1.01) (16.7)%
Sales and marketing (0.80) (0.80) 0.3%
Landing fees (0.72) (0.79) 9.1%
Aircraft and traffic servicin (0.93) (0.97) 3.8%
Maintenance, materials and rep (0.92) (0.87) (5.9)%
Depreciation and amortization (0.61) (0.79) 28.8%
Other operating expenses (0.77) (1.09) 41.1%
Operating Expenses per available seat kilometer (CAS (13.67 (15.53 13.6%
CASK excluding fuel expense (8.70; (9.42; 8.4%

Aircraft fuel expenses increased by 33.8% from R&242 million in 2010 to R$3,060.7 million in 201&rgely due to: (i) a 19.5% increase in
average international WTI oil price; and (ii) th&® growth in fuel consumption as a result of tBe6% increase in the number of hours flown. Inaze
fuel expenses were partially offset by the avera@@bo period depreciation of the U.S. dollar agaihsetreal. In peravailable seat kilometers terms, airc
fuel costs increased by 22.6%, due to the samemesdmit partially diluted by the increase in ASK.

Salaries increased by 24.6%, from R$1,252.4 miliioR010 to R$1,560.4 million in 2011, due to:tfi impact of a 8.75% pay raise for our 2
payroll; (i) the increase in flight crew bonusése to the 10.6% increase in the numbers of hdowenf (iii) training expenses due to the hiring
approximately 400 cgilots during 2011; (iv) the impact of a 6.5% payse for our 2012 payroll accounting in Decembet12@nd (v) 9.3% workforc
increase due to the Webjet acquisition in Octol¥r12 In per available sekttometer terms, salaries, wages and benefits asg@ by 14.2%, due to -
same reasons but partially diluted by the incréagesK.

Aircraft rent decreased by 9.1% from R$555.6 millior2010 to R$505.1 million in 2011, due to: (i) Hegver number of aircraft under operat
leases (an average of 86 in 2011 versus an avefag® in 2010); (ii) the return of three Boeing g6¥hich had a higher leasing cost; and (ii) therays
4.8% period depreciation of the U.S. dollar agaihsteal. The expense was partially offset by the incorfionaof 14 Boeing 73B00 from Webjet in ot
fleet since October 3, 2011. In per available &datneter terms, aircraft rent decreased by 16.@6& to the same reasons emphasized by the indre
ASK.

Sales and marketing expenses increased by 9.5%R&867.8 million in 2010 to R$402.6 million in 201dye to the higher expenses with s
incentives in light of the increase in sales volupertially offset by the elimination of ticket satommissions for travel agents as of February 2B pe
available seat-kilometer terms, sales and marketipgnses decreased 0.3%, due to the same reagqastially diluted by the increase in ASK.

Landing fees increased by 19.1% from R$331.9 mililm2010 to R$395.2 million in 2011, due to: (i) thherease in landings fees expenses d
the impact of new landing and navigation methodplegtablished by Infraero at the leading airpontdau its concession during 2011; and (ii) the ¢
increase in the number of landings. The landing f2@ense was partially offset by the 4.8% perigpreciation of the average U.S. dollar againstétae
with an impact on international landing fees. &m-pvailable sedtiiometer terms, these fees increased by 9.1%taltlee same reasons but partially dilt
by the increase in ASK.

Aircraft and traffic servicing expenses increasgd B.6% from R$430.5 million in 2010 to R$484.6 ioiflin 2011, mainly due to: (i) the incre.
in handling expenses due to higher passenger volintiease of 6.4% in number of departures) andntipact of pay raises on the cost of these seryv{i§
additional IT expenses due to investments in teldgical improvements such as remote check-in aachéwSmiles system; and (iii) additional consulti
services. In per available sdadlemeter terms, these costs increased by 3.8%drsame period, due to the same reasons but yadilated by the increa:
in ASK.
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Maintenance, materials and repairs increased B 2:@m R$423.0 million in 2010 to R$434.2 million 2011, due to expenses related with
return of three Boeing 767s, partially offset by Hverage 4.8% period depreciation of the U.Sadaljjainst theeal, given that most of these expense:
in foreign currency and the expenses related tofldet renewal in 2010, not incurred in 2011. Iir peailable seaktilometer terms, the maintenan
materials and repairs decreased by 5.9%, due teathe reasons but magnified by the increase in ASK.

Depreciation and amortization expenses increasetDtBf6 from R$281.6 million in 2010 to R$395.8 miflim 2011, mainly due to: (i) the higl
average number of aircraft under finance leasesayanage of 42 in 2011 versus an average of 3®iD) and (ii) an increase in the depreciatio
estimated reconfiguration costs for aircraft andramease in contractually established costs aatutiwith improvements in major engine overhaulgé
available seat-kilometer terms, depreciation andréimation increased by 28.8%, due to the sameresasut partially diluted by the increase in ASK.

Other operating expenses (mainly crew travel ambramodation, direct passenger expenses and garataddministrative expenses) incre:
80.3% from R$351.4 million in 2010 to R$633,634 roifliin 2011 due to: (i) a contractual penalty ofragpmately R$25 million from the early return
three Boeing 767s; (ii) increase of approximately ®32million in variable expenses directly linked gassenger volume (crew travel, accommode
meals, transportation and direct passenger expedsesto the 6.4% growth in the number of landingg; expenses of R$5.0 million due to flic
cancellations and delays, mainly due to the regiris on international flights in the Southern corgion for most of June due to volcanic ash fron
eruption in Chile; (iv) expense of R$10.0 million fniothe termination of an agreement with a bagdagedling provider in order to obtain commer
benefits and future savings from the new provithesides other penalties related to contracts tetioim during 2011; (v) additional expenses of R$
million associated with system improvements ancetigwments and the optimization of the route netwantll a provision for an insurance reimbursen
(vi) increase in expenses from the redemption ¢ésrfor use in international partner airlines; (Ri$51.5 million for impairment of the fleet andasp part
from GOL and Webjes fleet; (viii) revision of the criteria used toloalate contributions for PIS and COFINS in the lqsarter of 2011, which genera
an expense of R$24.0 million; and (ix) provisionR$26.0 million for the anticipated return of 14 Bagin37300 aircraft from Webjet. The results \
partially offset by R$88.0 million of bargain purdeagain in Webjet's acquisition. In per availatBatkilometer terms, other operating expenses incre
by 41.1%, due to the same reasons but partiallyetilby the increase in ASK.

Net Financial Result

Our net financial expense increased by 142.8% fR#811.3 million in 2010 to R$755.9 million in 201drparily as a result of the negative img
of R$476.4 million due to an 18.8% depreciation ha# teal against the dollar in the third quarter as compdeoethe second quarter on the Company
financial result, given that most of our debt isidiminated in foreign currency.

Year Ended December 3

Financial Result (in thousands oreais) 201(C 2011 Chg. %
Interest on short- and long-term debt (297,256) (414,430) 39,4%
Exchange rate changes, net 46,549 (398,897) 956.9%
Derivative net Resul (117,022) (52,425) -55.2%
Investments func 103,906 147,508 42.0%
Other financial expens (47,476) (37,670) -20.7%
Net financial results (311,299 (755,914 142.8%

Interest on short- and lortgrm debt increased by 39.4% in 2011 as compar@016, due to: (i) additional interest on loansirthe senior not
issued in July 2010 maturing in 2020; (i) addibimterest on loans from the R$600 million debemtissue in September 2010; (iii) additional intern
loans from the R$500 million debenture issue in ROEL; (iv) the larger number of aircraft clagsifiunder finance leases (an average of 42 in 28fsl:
an average of 35 in 2010); and (v) the 12.6% dégtien of thereal against the dollar between the periods (exchaatgeaf the end of the period), wh
had a negative impact on interest payments ongoreiirrency debt (70.0% of our total debt at Decendi, 2011).
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Exchange rate changes, net generated a loss of R&388on in 2011 versus a gain of R$46.0 million2010 due to the depreciation of tieal
versus the U.S. dollar, especially in the thirdregraof 2011, which had a direct impact on foregymrencydenominated financial assets and liabilities
by the recognition of an exchange variation expesfsR$10.5 million due to the reclassification ofintanance deposits from “non-monetary asstis”
“monetary assets” since the second quarter of 28driially offset by the reduced U.S. dollar expesof our debt (70% in 2011, versus 76% in 2010).

In 2011, we recognized derivative financial instants net loss of R$52.4 million. As of DecemberZ111, we had derivative positions in plac
hedge approximately 48%, 41%, 27% and 20% of stimated jet fuel consumption for the first, secathitd, and fourth quarters of 2012, respectively.

Investments funds increased by 42.0% in 2011 agpaced to 2010 due to financial gains from increaseestments of our cash position compc
by cash and cash equivalents, short investmentscamdnt and noncurrent restricted cash, whichlrisady equivalent to 31.1% of our last d@nth:
operating revenue.

Other financial expenses decreased by 20.7% fron¥ B$dillion in 2010 to R$37.3 million in 2011, due &4 R$38.0 million expense from
discounts granted to CVC in 2010. The expense waglhaoffset by a R$10.4 million expense from tleeagnition of the adjustment to present valt
future obligations related to aircraft returns &igher expenses from banking commissions genetstéide debenture issue in June 2011, senior nsgas:
in July 2010 and the debentures issued in SepteRtld€r (recognized in the income statement alongléint’'s maturity period).

Income Tax

Income tax generated a credit of R$248.9 millio2@11 compared to an a expense of R$172.3 milli®0it0. The variations were mainly dut
credits taxes from VRG tax loss carryforwards andatige basis of social contribution, the depreoiatof thereal against the U.S. dollar between
periods, which generated a temporary reductiorediffce on the exchange variation of financial fegssi contributing to the credit recorded in theedeft
income tax line. In addition, there was an decréasaxable income, generating an expense of R$8l@munder current income tax.

Income (Loss) For The Period
As a result of the foregoing, we had net losseR%¥51.3 million in 2011, versus a net income of R$2Million in 2010.

Year 2010 Compared to Year 2009
Our results of operations in 2010 were affectethigyfollowing key drivers:

Strong growth in domestic markdh 2010, the improved economic scenario in Brazd &outh America as a whole, especially from thesoore
confidence point of view and the expansion of thentry’s emerging middle class, which led to a greaterbimof people opting for air transport, were
main factors for the increase in domestic demarsda Aesult we grew 17.0% as compared to 2009 insteff revenue passenger kilometers in the don
market.

Implementation of new cost reduction initiativé&e have completed our fleet renewal plan in 201ifh the return of the remaining 11 Boeing 737t
aircraft. This will benefit future years with a reztion of approximately R$9 million per quarter e&$ing expenses. We will replace more aircraft wéh
Boeing 737800 and 700s NGs aircraft that will provide lowestof inventories and spare parts, less fuel copsion and lower crew training costs.
also have implemented several measures for cogttied resulting in a reduction of other operatexgenses, including: the implementation of the &t
Services Center, the adoption of zero based budpetiethodology and investments linked to IT improeets of internal controls systems in orde
improve operational efficiency. Our high aircrafilimation rate of 12.9 block hours per day in 20a6 increase of 10.4% compared to the 11.6 blocks
per day recorded in 2009, also contributed to difited costs.
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We present in the following table information redjag our results of operations in IFRS in 2010 aBd®

Year Ended December 3:

200¢ 201(
Income Statement Data: (in thousands ofreais)
Operating revenues:
Passenge 5,306,53! 6,277,657
Cargo and other 718,852 701,790
Total operating revenus 6,025,38; 6,979,447
Operating expenses:
Salarie (1,100,953 (1,252,402
Aircraft fuel (1,813,104 (2,287,410
Aircraft rent (650,683 (555,662
Sales and marketir (364,551 (367,757
Landing fee: (312,637 (331,882
Aircraft and traffic servicing (381,721 (430,521
Maintenance, materials and rep: (417,212 (422,950
Depreciation and amortizatic (142,853 (281,604
Other operating expenses (428,376) (351,464)
Total operating expens (5,612,09C (6,281,652
Income (loss) from operations before financial meo(expense 413,29 697,795
Interest expens (288,112 (297,256
Financial income (expense), t 630,95¢ (14,043
Income (loss) before income taxes and social daurticn 756,13t 386,49t
Income taxe: 134,69t (172,299
Net loss (income 890,83: 214,19

We had operating income of R$697.8 million in 20binpared to R$413.2 million in 2009. Our operatingrgin was 10.0% in 2010, and 6.9%
2009. We reported net income in 2010 of R$214.%anicompared to R$890.8 million for 2009. Incomefdre income tax was R$386.5 million in 2!
compared to R$756.1 million in 20009.

Operating Revenue®perating revenues increased 15.8% to R$6,979.5omilh 2010 as compared to 2009 as a result ofrtbeased demand !
domestic flights emerging from the Brazilian middlass due to the positive macroeconomic scenariaddition to our: (i) dominant position and incec
frequency between the Brazilian leading airport§;High operating quality indices (punctuality, véarity, client service and safety); (iii) dynanfiare
management, which combines the strengthening qlyagtields with stimulation demand for leisure teders; (iv) growth of theSmiles mileage prograi
and; (vi) focus on shoftaul flights in a range of three hours or lessgffiing business travelers. Our consolidated denaoeased 19,4%. Our dome
market demand increased by 17.0%, while internationarket demand increased 48.7% as a result ofilbemational network expansion with
introduction of new routes in the Southern Cone @adbbean regions and the introduction of new regliaiestinations in Brazil in addition to mark
operated by our new regional airline partners. figher demand was partially offset by a 0.9% desgrea yields to R$20.5 cents in 2010 from R$20.7s
in 2009 due to a variety of factors: (i) a morebktacapital markets scenario, (i) lower sellingremses in the domestic market due to a graduaéas
during 2009 of commissions paid to travel ageniiehe domestic market (valid for all players ire imdustry) which were fully extinguished in Felmy
2010, (iii) the upturn in economic activity and somer confidence, reflected in increased demankifgure trips that consequently, generate largevdrc
bookings; (iv) an increase in the average staggtheloy 1.9% and; (v) lower U.S. dollar and WTI pilce volatility.

Our load factor increased 3.1 percentage pointa $8.6% in 2009 to 66.7% in 2010, mainly due todowmcrease in available seat kilometers by 1.
compared to the increase of 19.4% in revenue pgss&ilometers.

Our ancillary revenues, composed by cargo and stiexenues, decreased 2.4% from R$718.9 millior®8920 R$701.8 million in 2010, represen
10.1% of our total net revenues, mainly due todberease in nehow fee and tickets rescheduling revenue andalvevenues of R$48.1 million in 2C
related to image rights and rental of @&milesclient database as part of the co-branded cradit @ontract.
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Operating ExpensesOperating expenses per available seat kilometeedsed 1.7% from R$13.91 cents in 2009 to R$13.6%6 ¢er2010, primaril
due to the (i) increased available seats kilomeigrs3.8%; (ii) 10.4% increase in aircraft utilizat; (iii) 1.9% extension of the average stage fengffse
by an increase of 10.8% in fuel cost from R$4.4%se¢0 R$4.98 cents per available seat kilometerper&ing expenses per available seat kilor
excluding fuel decreased 7.6% from R$9.41 cents ® R¥cents in 2010, mainly due to lower aircrafityenaintenance, sales and marketing and
operating expenses; offset by the additional casising from the fleet renewal carried out in 2Q®Oreturn eleven Boeing 7300 aircraft and tt
maintenance expenses for reactivation of five Bo&wig, four for long-haul international charter amek for sub-leasing operations.

Our breakeven load factor increased 0.8 percengaings to 60.0% in 2010 compared to 59.2% in 2@@@narily due to (i) higher fuel cost per literi)
0.9% decline in yields and; (iii) a 3.1 percentpg@ts increase in load factor.

The breakdown of our operating expenses on a eladle seat kilometer basis for 2010 comparedf@®as as follows.

Year Ended December 3:

200¢ 201C
(cost per available seat kilometer in R$ cent

Operating expenses:

Salarie 2.73 2.73
Aircraft fuel 4.49 4.98
Aircraft rent 1.61 1.21
Sales and marketir 0.90 0.80
Landing fee: 0.77 0.72
Aircraft and traffic servicing 0.95 0.93
Maintenance materials and reps 1.03 0.92
Depreciation and amortizatic 0.35 0.61
Other operating expens 1.06 0.77
Total operating expens: 13.9] 13.67
Cost per flight hou 9.41 8.7C

Note: In October 2010, ANAC changed its calculatimethod for monthly traffic information and republkési information for periods since January 2009.0plérating data for 2009 and 2(
reflects the new methodology. According to ANAC, ttleanges were designed to align data with the qis@dopted by the ICAO. The change was necessagube Brazil has joined 1
ICAO’s statistical program and supplies the lattetatabase with several industry data. Changesim#thodology refer to the calculation of ASK (sagiply) and the classification of dome
legs in international flights, which are now coresiell to be part of the domestic market. ANAC hawdtthat it will republish information for 2008 afater date.

Salaries, wages and benefits increased 13.8%, dsIR&illion, due to (i) a 6% partial cost of ligrincrease on salaries effected in December 20}
higher constituted provisions for employee prdfiasng based on the stock option plan and; (id)526 increase in the number of employees from Brif
2009 to 18,776 in 2010, especially in the operatioairport and call center areas, in turn fuelgdh® need to adjust to the growth in our operatiand th
growth of 15.8% in passengers transported. Salaviages and benefits per available seat kilondereased 0.1% due to the same reasons, ali
diluted by the increase in available seat kilonseber2010.

Aircraft fuel expense increased 26.2%, or R$ 474illom, primarily due to a 22.4% increase in averagl (WTI) prices, 3.4% increase in fi
consumption due to the growth in the operationstigher number of average operating aircraft (fltf@8 in 2009 to 111 in 2010). Aircraft fuel expepsa
available seat kilometer increased 10.8% due tedhnge reasons, although diluted by the increaaeditable seat kilometers in 2010.

Aircraft rent, which we incur in U.S. dollars, deased 14.6%, or R$ 95.0 million, due to a 11.7%agedepreciation of the U.S. dollar agaimest|
and a 18.2% increase in the total fleet under firdeases from 33 in 2009 to 39 in 2010. Aircrafitper available seat kilometer decreased 25.0%1¢
the same reasons, although emphasized by an iedreasailable seat kilometers in 2010.

Sales and marketing expense increased 0.9%, or Rfillion, resulting from (i) additional advertiginexpenses in order to revitalize dsmiles
mileage program; (ii) advertising expenses fromea finstitutionalcampaign and; (i) higher commissions paid to @redrd administrators due to '
increase in direct sales, partially offset by thieni@ation of ticket sales commissions for traveleats as of the beginning of February 2010. Sahe
marketing per available seat kilometer decreasetPd tlue to the increase in available seat kilorsete2010.
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Landing fees increased 6.2%, or R$19.3 million, hyailue to a 7.9% increase in departures. Landdeg per available seat kilometer decreased
due to the increase in available seat kilometeBOID.

Aircraft and traffic servicing expense increasedB%, or R$48.8 million, primarily due to an incre@sé¢he average operating fleet (from 108 in 208
111 in 2010), increased handling expenses as dt msincreased arrivals and departures and additidT and consulting services related to (i)
implementation of the new budget planning meth@tdbase budget), (ii) the Shared Service Centengito improve the quality and productivity of «
operations, (iii) the migration of ou8miles system from IBM to Oracle (Siebel) and (iv) the noyement of internal software (related to chéck-
developments, buy on board services and wireletgstaimment service). Aircraft and traffic servigiexpense per available seat kilometer decreasét
due to the same reasons, although diluted by trease in available seat kilometers in 2010.

Maintenance, materials and repairs increased 104®$5.7 million, due to increase in scheduled aftanaintenance events during the year, refle
the larger average operating fleet and expensatedeto the fleet renovation and standardizatiagiam, with return of eleven remaining Boeing B8I-
and reactivation of five Boeing 767 to long-haulemmiational charters and sldmsing operations. Maintenance, materials andingper available se
kilometer decreased 10.9% primarily due to thedase in available seat kilometers in 2010.

Depreciation and amortization increased 97.1% or3B®Lmillion, due primarily to (i) the higher numbef aircraft under finance leases (from 3
2009 to 39 in 2010); (ii) a change in 2010 in tegmeate for the depreciation of maintenance castemgines under finance leases, which now havgeab
depreciation period, whereas the remaining itenmdilcoe to depreciate over 25 years. Depreciatimhamortization per available seat kilometer inseg
73.2% due to the same reasons, although dilutedebincrease in available seat kilometers in 2010.

Other operating expenses (mainly comprising accodatian, crew travel and accommodation, direct pagse expenses, equipment leasing
general and administrative expenses) decreasef1810R$76.9 million, due to several factors: (i)rmefficient controls over general and administe
expenses (telephone, water, gas and electricity)vell as losses of inventories, uniforms and othputs in the operational bases, (ii) gains frdre
automation of our internal systems (inventoriegoaats, billing, legal affairs and accounts reckigs which led to better controls over provisicarg
reduction in general and administrative expensié¥;optimization of our route network; (iv) fewetight cancellations; and (v) greater volume of
equipment under finance leases, reducing expens@sgquipment rentals. Other operating expenseavaable seat kilometer decreased 27.4% duee
same reasons, although emphasized by the increasailable seat kilometers in 2010.

Financial Income (Expensefinancial expense in 2010 totaled R$311.3 miliompared to a financial income of R$342.8 millior2D09, mainly as
result of: (i) lower noreash foreign exchange variation gains on our assetdiabilities of R$661.7 million due to the impa€ the 4.3% appreciation of t
real against the U.S. dollar during 2010 (compared 25.6% appreciation in 2009); (ii) higher interespenses related to the increase in our indebte
with the issue of senior notes in July 2010 ancedélres in September 2010; (iii) partially offsgttbe R$33.9 million increase of interest revenue tduthe
higher cash position since the end of 2009.

Income TaxesOur income taxes totaled R$172.3 million in 20d@mpared to an income tax benefit of R$134.7 nmiliio 2009, mainly as a result
higher current income tax in 2010 due to higheabds income basis calculated in accordance withiBrazcorporation law (No. 6,404/76) and hig
deferred income tax expense caused by: (i) tempdlifferences arising mainly from the exchange atioh on financial leasing operations which gera
deferred income tax liabilities; (ii) recognition 2009 of deferred income tax credits resultingnfrax losses generated by VRG acquisition and;té
credits from temporary differences recorded in 2688ed on expectations for future taxable income.
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B. Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flow Analysis

Operating Activities Our strategy is to rely primarily on cash flofvem operations to provide working capital for @nt and future operations.
2011, we used R$602.5 million in cash from our ofegaactivities reflecting the decrease in our agieg profitability. In 2010 and 2009, net cash\pdec
by operating activities was R$723.9 million and R$85million, respectively. Cash flows used in opemtactivities for 2011 were driven by R$7E
million in net loss, plus noncash depreciation ambrtization expense of R$395.8 million, noncashrigt on loans of R$414.4 million, noncash exch
variation loss of R$400.1 million, a R$123.7 milliorcrease in accounts receivable, R$1,011.5 milllmortterm investments used for trading, a R$
million increase in deposits, an increase of R$3@4&lon in interest paid and a decrease of R$77IBam in prepaid expenses and recoverable taxest
flows associated with derivative financial instrurte which are also classified as operating cashisf] generated net inflows of R$19.5 million in 20[ki
2010, we generated R$723.9 million cash from ouratpey activities, mainly driven by our net incomieR$214.2 million. In 2009, we generated R$4
million cash from our operating activities, maimiven by our net income of R$890.8 million, andtadlly offset by the decrease in accounts receal
R$182.0 million and a decrease in deposits of R$L2dlldn.

In 2011 our operating cash flows were affectedabyincrease of R$66.1 million related to the reqnest under the terms of certain of our airc
operating lease agreements that we establish maimte reserve deposit accounts for our aircraft thast be funded at specified levels. A
December 31, 2011, we had R$630.5 million of depasitder our aircraft operating leases for mainteearFunds will be drawn from the maintene
reserve accounts to reimburse for certain structnesntenance expenditures incurred. We belieeeathounts deposited and to be deposited plus on
cash resources will be sufficient to service oturfe aircraft and maintenance costs for the duragfdhe applicable operating leases.

Investing Activities Net cash used in investing activities was R$4®8ilRon primarily due to the payment for the atition of Webjet (net of ca
acquired) of R$33.9 million and of property and @quént, including spare parts and aircraft modifaret, investments in the expansion of Cor
Maintenance Center and paelivery deposits for the acquisition of Boeing #8ftraft. During 2011, capital expenditures were P8 million, especiall
due to pre-delivery deposits for the acquisitionBaleing 737 aircraft. In 2010 capital expendituwese R$230.5 million mainly related to pdelivery
deposits for the acquisition of Boeing 737 aircraft.

Financing Activities Net cash generated from financing activitiesltst R$354.5 million in 2011 and consisted primaoifycapital we raised in o
issuance of our® series of debentures in the amount of R$500 millinaturing in 2017 that we used as working capttalpay suppliers, and in t
investment of R$182 million made by Delta Airlinesdur capital. These proceeds were partially offsethe prepayment of working capital lines, o
debt maturing in the next couple of years to reduwdmancing risk in the short term, and paymerftaiccraft finance leases. Net cash generated
financing activities totaled R$139.9 million in 2018 compared to net cash generate from finangtigities of R$769.2 million in 2009, mainly due
receipt of net proceeds from a follom offering of common and preferred shares in theunt of R$600.3 million concluded in October 2008 aeceipt ¢
net proceeds from a rights offering in the amodr®$203.5 million concluded in the second quarte2@d9.

Liquidity

In managing our liquidity, we take into account eash and cash equivalents, short-term investnagrtshort- and lonterm restricted cash as well
our accounts receivable balances. Our accountvedide balance is affected by the payment termeunfcredit card receivables. Our customers
purchase seats on our flights using a credit caddpay in installments, typically creating a oneweo-month lag between the time that we pay our sup
and expenses and the time that we receive paymerdur services. When necessary, we obtain workimgjtal loans, which can be secured by
receivables, to finance the sale-to-cash colleatiare.

We have a strong balance sheet, especially our masition which as of December 31, 2011 was eqeitaio 31.1% of our trailing twelve months’
operating revenues and already surpasses oull taitget of at least 25% of the trailing twelve il operating revenues. This position also covess
times our short-term debt, which vbelieve currently is an appropriate level of lityd We are also committed to having no significéinancial dek
maturities (excluding finance leases) coming duiwiany three-year horizon.
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The following table sets forth certain key liquiddata at the dates indicated:

At December 31

201 2011 % Change
(in millions of reais)
Real Denominate 2,316.: 2,702.¢ 16.7%
Cash and Cash Equivale 1,955.¢ 1,230.: (37.1%
Shor-Term Investments and Sh- and Lon-Term Restricted Cas 57.1 1,118.: 1,858.3%
Shor-term Receivable 303.1 354.1 16.8%
Foreign Exchange Denominate 323.% 365.1 12.8%
Advances for acquisition of aircre 323.% 365.] 12.8%
Total Cash Deposit 2,639.¢ 3,067." 16.2%

As of December 31, 2011, cash and cash equivakmist-term investments and short- and long-testricked cash were R$2,702llion, compriser
by R$1,230.3 million in cash and cash equivalentartze, R$1,009.1 million in shorérm investments representing immediate liquidrfaial assets ai
R$109.1 million in restricted cash. The increas®ial cash deposits, as compared to 2010 is mda#yto several measures in 2011 towards increasil
liquidity such as (i) our 5th debenture issuancéhenamount of R$500 million, which was used toficeaworking capital and pay suppliers; (i) the igt
investment of R$182 million made by Delta Air Lines)d (iii) an issuance of R$200 million related t@hét's refinancing, which allowed us a gre.
flexibility in the management of Webjet's cash flow

Shortterm receivables include credit card sales, the Waeil installment payment program, accounts red#es from travel agencies and c:
transportation. At the end of 2011, we had in@dasolume of shorterm receivables as compared to 2010, due to aedse in the volume of adval
ticket sales.

As of December 31, 2011, we had R$36&illion deposited with Boeing as advances for aftcagquisitions, an increase of 12.8% as compao
December 31, 2010, mainly due to the higher nunalbetircraft delivered in 2011 with the deposit reed to us and the higher number of new air
deliveries scheduled to be delivered from Boeingeurdir fleet plan in the next 18 months as comptreke same period in 2010.

As a result, our total cash deposits was R$3,06ilibn as of December 31, 2011 as compared to RE&million at December 31, 2010.
Indebtedness
The following table sets forth our loans and finags at December 31, 2011 and 2010:

At December 31

201 2011 % Change
(in millions of reais)
Loans and Financin 1,709.¢ 2,535.; 48.3%
Aircraft Finance Leas 1,680.: 2,056.: 22.4%
Interest 53.7 64.1 19.4%
Perpetual Bonds 297.9 335.8 12.7%
Total Loans and Financing 3,741.. 4,991.¢ 33.4%

As of December 31, 2011, our total debt was R$4®8illion, with an average term of 7y&ars (excluding perpetual notes) and an averagees
rate of 12.3% for obligations in local currency afdb.2% for U.S. dollar denominated obligatiorisccluding our perpetual bonds, which have no mii
date, total loans and financing totaled R$4,655/amiat December 31, 2011, with a negative foreggichange effect due to the depreciation ofrdz
against the U.S. dollar of 12.6% between 2011 a&fD2The increase compared to 2010 was also inghdgte(i) the 5th issuance of debentures ir
amount of R$500 million issued in June 2011; (i§ tigher number ddircraft under financial leasing (average of 42011 versus 35 in 2010); and (iii)
incorporation of Webjet's debt in our balance sHemh October 3, 2011.
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Loans and Financir
The following table sets forth our short- term dorg-term loans as of December 31, 2010 and 2011:

At December 31

201( 2011 % Change

Short-Term Debt (in millions of reais)

Local Currency 65.( 1,215.: 1769.4%
BNDES- loar 14.¢ 8.4 -41.7%
BNDES-Safra loat 27.5 30.0 8.9%
BDMG loarf® 3.4 3.6 6.6%
Debentures IV * - 595.1 100.0%
Debentures V* - 493.% 100.0%
Santande - 40.7 100.0%
Citibank - 19.¢ 100.0%
Industrial CDE - 1.2 100.0%
Interes 19.7 23.4 18.8%
Foreign Currency (U.S.Dollars 281.( 337.: 20.0%
Working Capite 83.¢ 95.¢ 100.0%
Aeroturbine - 4.€ 100.0%
IFC loar¥ 13.9 31.2 124.5%
FINIMP®) 2.7 3.1 15.0%
Finance Leas 146.¢ 161.¢ 10.3%
Interes 34.C 40.7 19.7%
Total Short-Term Debt 346.( 1,552.¢ 348.6%
Long-Term Debt

Local Currency 700.t 264.. -62.2%
BNDES loan® 8.4 - -100.0%
BNDES-Safra loaf® 70.9 42.8 -39.6%
BDMG loan®) 27.3 25.9 -5.4%
Safre - 196.( 100.0%
Debentures IV * 593.¢ - -100.0%
Foreign Currency (U.S. Dollars 2,396." 2,838.! 18.4%
IFC loan® 27.8 - -100.0%
Senior Notes 835.¢ 944.( 13.0%
Finance Leas 1,533.t 1,894.t 23.5%
Total Long-Term Debt 3,097.: 3,103.: 0.2%
Total Loans Ex-Perpetual Bond: 3,443.: 4,655.¢ 35.2%
Perpetual Bonds** 297.¢ 335.¢ 12.7%
Total Loans - including Perpetual Bonds 3,741.: 4,991.¢ 33.4%

= \We reclassified our@ and 8" debenture issuances in the total amount of R$15088lion from long term to short term debt duectivenant non-compliance as further described@ovenar
Compliance” and Risk Factors: Certain of our debt agreements confaiancial covenants and any default under sucht dgjpeements may have a material adverse effeduorfinancia
condition and cash flows.”

*** No maturity term bonds

(1) Credit line with Banco Nacional de DesenvolvinteBtondmico e Social (the Brazilian Development BaokBNDES, used to finance the development of ourfi@s maintenance center.
(2) Credit line with BNDES used to finance the modieation of engines.

(3) Credit line with Banco de Desenvolvimento de Nitzerais (Minas Gerais State Development Bank) tessédance the development of our Confins mainterarenter.

(4) Credit line with International Finance Corporatigsed to finance spare parts.

(5) Credit line with Banco do Brasil used to finanegort of rotables parts.
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Aircraft Finance Least
The following table sets forth our aircraft finarlease as of December 31, 2010 and 2011:

As of December 3!

201( 2011 % Change

Short-Term Debt (Foreign Currency - U.S. Dollars (in millions of reais)

Finance Leas 146.¢ 161.¢ 10.4%
Total Short-Term Debt (Foreign Currency - U.S. Dollars] 146.€ 161.¢ 10.4%
Long-Term Debt (Foreign Currency - U.S. Dollars;

Finance Leas 1,533 1,894.! 23.5%
Total Long-Term Debt (Foreign Currency - U.S. Dollars’ 1,533t 1,894.! 23.5%
Total Aircraft Finance Lease 1,680.: 2,056. 22.4%

On December 31, 2011, aircraft finance lease dehted R$2,056.3nillion, including aircraft finance lease paid imonthly installments with func
generated from our operations. Financial experaated thereto are booked as financial expensth®imcome statement.

Total short-term debt at December 31, 2011 tot&&d,552.4 consisting of aircraft finance lease of B33 million, interest of R$64.Million anc
loans of R$1,326.f/illion.

The following table sets forth the maturities anteiest rates of our indebtedness:

Contractual Effective
Maturity Interest Interest p.a. Currency
BNDES Jul/1z TJILP +2.659 8.66% Rea
BNDES-Safra Out/1< TJLP +5.59 11.50% Rea
BDMG Mar/1€ IPCA +6% 8.05% Rea
Debentures I Sep/1! 118.0% of CD 12.95% Rea
Debentures' Jun/1° 120.0% of CD 13.18% Rea
Industrial CDE Mar/1Z CDI +6.17% 11.58% Rea
Santande Out/1z 11.63% 11.63% Rea
Citibank Dec/1: 11.33% 11.33% Rea
Safre Dec/1t 125% of CD 14.50% Rea
Finimp Set/1: Libor +1.80% 2.69% U.S. dolla
Aeroturibe Dec/1: - - U.S. dolla
Working Capital Mar/1z 3.42% 12.95% U.S. dolla
IFC Loan Jul/1z Libor +3.75% 4.54% U.S. dolla
Senior Notes 20! Apr/17 7.50% 7.50% U.S. dolla
Senior Notes 20: Jul/2C 9.25% 9.25% U.S. dolla

Perpetual Bond n/e 8.75% 8.75% U.S. dolla
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The following table sets forth the loans and firiags amortization schedule:

Without
2012 2012 2014 201% 201¢€ After 2016 maturity date Total
(in R$ millions)

Real Denominate 1,191 99.2 85.4 70.C 4.4 5.€ - 1,456.
Debentures I\ 595.1 - - - - - - 595.1
Debentures \ 493.: - - - 493.5
BNDES loar- Safra 30.C 27.8 15.C - - 72.¢
Safra - 64.¢ 65.€ 65.€ - 196.(
Santande 40.7 - - - - 40.7
Citibank 194 - - - 19.4
BNDES loan 8.4 - - - - - - 8.4
BMDG 3.6 6.7 4.8 4.4 4.4 5.6 - 29.t
Industrial CDB 1.z - - - - - - 1.2

Foreign Currency Denominated 134.¢ - - - 944.( 335.¢ 1,414.¢
Working Capital 95.¢ - - - - - 95.¢
IFC 31.2 - - - 31.2
FINIMP 3.1 - - - 3.1
Aeroturbine 4.6 - - - - - 4.€
Senior Bond - - - - 393t - 393t
Senior Bond 11 - - - 550.f - 550.t
Perpetual Bonc - - - - - - 335.¢ 335.¢

Total* 1,326.¢ 99.2 85.4 70.C 4.4 949.¢ 335.¢ 2,871.(

*excluding interest expenses and aircraft finareaske
For further information on our financing activitiesee note 16 to our consolidated financial statésnags of December 31, 2011.
Covenant Compliance

Our long term financings (excluding the perpetuahds and aircraft financings) in the aggregate arnofiR$1,208.7 million at December 31, 2
contain customary covenants and restrictions, @ioly but not limited to those that require us toint@n defined debt liquidity and interest expe
coverage ratios.

We are subject to certain financial and performandeators (covenants) based on consolidated diahstatements such as: (1) net debt/EBITC
(2) current assets/current liabilities, (3) EBITDAK service, (4) short-term debt/EBITDA, (5) curreatto and (6) debt coverage index (DCI).

The debentures we issued during the third quaft@0dO require the maintenance of certain debtiseroverage index, which is defined as the
between our cash flow and debt service (total efftincipal amortized plus interest paid) for amyeg fiscal year. VRG must obtain an index of atsl
130%, to be in compliance at the end of each reéiseperiod. In addition, VRG must also maintais financial leverage ratio, which is defined as
adjusted debt divided by EBITDAR, below 3.5x. At Betber 31, 2011, we did not meet the minimum reduierformance indicators for the debentt
and we reclassified the amount related to the Diebes IV and V from long term debt to short ternbtdeln March 2012, the Company received wai
through June 2012 from the debenture holders (B&Bkazil and Bradesco).

Other Financing Sources and Measures
We did not declare dividends for the fiscal yeat ROWe declared dividends of R$50.9 million for fiseal year 2010.

On February 22, 2011, our board of directors apgioa capital increase in the amount of R$0.6 millipon issue of 34,718 preferred shares,
result of the exercise of the stock purchase ogianted under our Stock Option Plan.
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On May 10, 2011, our board of directors approvedgital increase of R$0.2 million upon issuanc@®#80 preferred shares, as a result of the ex
of the stock purchase option granted under ourkSBgation Plan

On September 08, 2011, the Company's Board of Direetathorized the repurchase of its own sharesugtr call options ("calls"), and the launct
put options ("puts" and options) according to tbaditions below, mediated by Santander. The progratjective is the acquisition of preferred shate
be held in treasury for subsequent sale and/oretiation, in accordance with CVM Instructions 104@d 390/03. The acquired shares may be deregi
or held in treasury, during which time they wilstheir political and economic rights.The numtfecadls and puts to be launched or acquired coomed
to a maximum of 9,305,754 registered preferredeshawithout par value, issued by the Company, reptegy up to 10% of outstanding shares, tot:
93,057,541 preferred shares on September 8, 20t Inére information see note 16 to the financiateshents.

On December 21, 2011, in order to implement theteDelvestment, our board of directors approved gitalincrease of up to R$295.8 millic
equivalent to up to 6,825,470 common shares antl9f/65 preferred shares at a subscription pricR%#2.00 per share, with a minimum aggre
subscription amount of R$182.6 million. Our coniral shareholder subscribed for 6,825,469 commoneshand 1,474,986 preferred shares, usin
funds received from Delta to pay in for those shafdis capital increase is still subject to ragfion by our board of director.

On December 21, 2011, our board of directors aut@ capital increase of R$0.04 million, upon isseaof 3,138 preferred shares, as a result
exercise of the stock purchase option granted uodetock Option Plan. During 2011, our executifficers exercised stock options for an aggregé
49,836 preferred shares.

Capital Resources

We typically finance our leased aircraft througleigting and finance lease financings. Althoughbetieve that debt and/or operating lease finan
should be available for our future aircraft delieer we cannot assure you that we will be ableetui® financings on terms attractive to us, ifllat Bo the
extent we cannot secure financing, we may be reduo modify our aircraft acquisition plans or intigher than anticipated financing costs. We ekpe
continue to require working capital investment daethe use of credit card installment payments by customers. We expect to meet our oper
obligations as they become due through availaldh ead internally generated funds, supplementegesssary by short-term credit lines.

Our growth plans contemplate operating 135 airdsgifthe end of 2013. As of December 31, 2011, ae ®lfirm purchase orders with The Bot
Company for 737-800 Next Generation aircraft outditagn and we have 10 purchase rights and purchasenspfor an additional 40 73300 Nex
Generation aircraft. Committed expenditures fos¢haircraft, based on aircraft list price and idiolg estimated amounts for contractual price esical
and pre-delivery deposits, are US$443.9 millior2012, US$537.1 million in 2013 and US$502.0 million2014, US$407.1 million in 2015, US$94.€
million in 2016 and US$6.6 million beyond 2016. \&%pect to meet our pielivery deposits by using long term loans fronvaie financial institutior
guaranteed by first tier financial institutions atapital markets financings such as long term arggiual bonds.

The firm aircraft orders represent a significan@aficial commitment for us. Pending the applicatibthe proceeds from financing activities, we t
invested these proceeds in overnight deposits apasit certificates with highly-rated Brazilian ban&nd short-term investments, mainly highdyec
Brazilian government bonds.

We expect that the continuance of the commitmentstérom the EXm Bank to provide guarantees covering 85% of thgregate purchase price
the firm order aircraft will assist us in obtainitayv-cost financing for the purchase of the firm ordecraft. The remaining 15% of the aggregate puse
price for the firm order aircraft is expected to foeded by our cash or other financing alternativé® the extent that we do not have sufficienth
resources to do so, we may be required to modifyaineraft acquisition plans or to incur higher nhanticipated financing costs, which would haw
adverse impact on the execution of our strategykarsiness. The Company believes that it has arldnathe future have appropriate funding reso.
available with the combination of Ex-Im Bank suppdrfinancing, local development bank funding arld aad leaseback transactions.

Ex-Im Bank has recently agreed on a common appraé&bhEuropean exportredit agencies on offering export credits for caeneral aircraft. Amon
other things, the new ASU sets forth minimum gua@rpremiunrates applicable to aircraft delivered on or afl@nuary 1, 2011, or under firm contr:
entered into after April 30, 2007. While subjexzntodification, the exposure fees paid by Gol opliapble aircraft are likely to increase. The antoofrany
such increase will depend upon the credit riskga®sl to us by the participating expagencies pursuant to the protocols of the ASUaddition, we wil
no longer be able to finance the amortization paymef loans guaranteed by Ex-Im Bank with SOAR |Ifzarilities.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

As of the date of our consolidated financial staeta included elsewhere in this annual report we d@opted all new and revised standards
interpretations except for the following:

IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programslarifies the meaning of “fair valueth the context of measurement of award creditsustamer loyalt
programs, it is relevant and effective to the Comypeamd its subsidiaries had its initial adoptiorthe year ended December 31, 2011. The applicafitime
clarified guidance does not result in any impacttom financial position and results of operatiomea the Company already applied the requiremer
IFRIC 13 in measuring the fair value of its awarddie

IFRIC 19, Extinction of Financial Liabilities with E@y Instrumentsclarifies the accounting by an entity when thent of a financial liability ai
renegotiated and result in the issuance of eqogiriments by the entity to an entity creditorxtreguish all or part of a financial liability (debonversion
This requires that a gain or loss is recognizeith@ome, which is measured as the difference betwleerarrying amount of financial liability and tFesr
value of equity instruments issued. If the fairueabf financial instruments issued cannot be riliaieasured, the equity instruments should be rmeest
reflect the fair value of financial liability extjuished. Applicable as of July 1, 2010.

Ammendment to IFRIC 14, IAS 19, The limit on a ddfibenefit assets, minimum funding requirementstheil interaction:removes unintend:
consequences arising from the treatment of pre-pajgrwhere there is a minimum funding requirem&he results in prgayment of contributions
certain circumstances are recognized as an agbet than an expense. This standard did not hayesignificant impact to the Company, considerin
current operations. Applicable as of January 1,1201

IAS 32, Financial Instrumentgstablishes principles for presenting financiatrimeents as liabilities or net value, and for dffisg between financi
assets and financial liabilities. The principleghis Standard complements the principles for rag@m and measurement of financial assets and(iiad
liabilities in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recojpm and Measurement, as well as the principlesdieclosure of information about them in IFR
Financial Instruments: disclosures. Applicable &3amuary 1, 2014.

Amendment to IAS 12, Income Taxes on deferred &% 12. "Income taxes’turrently requires an entity to measure the defletag relating to ¢
asset depending on whether the entity expectsdovee the carrying amount of the asset through arsgale. However, for the “investment property’
measured at fair value under IAS g@Xxisting principle, it may be difficult and sutiiee to assess whether the recovery will be thinouge or through sal
This amendment introduces an exception to theirgigrinciple to measure the deferred tax asséability on investment property measured at faifue
The amendment to IAS 12 resulted in the incorponatif SIC 21, “Income Taxes — Recovery of revaluentdepreciable assetsind will no longer apply -
investment properties carried at fair value. Thanges also incorporate into IAS 12 the remaininiglance previously contained in SIC 21, which
removed. This standard should not have any sigmifiompact to the Company, considering its currg@etrations. Applicable as of July 1, 2011.

Amendments to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Trenssbf financial assetpromotes transparency in the disclosure of tertsansactions and imprc
users’ understanding of the risk exposures relatngansfers of financial assets and the effedho$e risks on an entig/financial position, particular
those involving securitization of financial assdthis standard will affect future disclosure to theaent that any transfer of financial assets. Aple as ¢
July 1, 2011.

New standards, amendments and interpretationsdssi®911 and applicable in future ye.
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Amendment to IAS 1, Financial Statement Presemaitgarding to other comprehensive incorttee main change resulting from this amendment
the requirement for entities to group items preseim other comprehensive income based on thelplitysihat they can or cannot be potentially residiec
to profit or loss subsequently (reclassificatiojuatinents). The changes do not establish whichsitemast be presented as other comprehensive indde
Company is evaluating the impact of this standaiitsidisclosure. Applicable as of July 1, 2012.

IFRS 13, Fair value measurememtiproves consistency and reduces complexity ofdhiezalue measurement, by providing a more predefaition of
fair value and a single source of fair value measent and disclosure requirements for use acrd®S.IFhe requirements, which are largely ali¢
between IFRS and US GAAP, do not extend the usaiofvhlue accounting but provide guidance on howhibuld be applied when its use is alre
required or permitted by other standards within IFR®ES GAAP. The Company is in the process of agsgsehether IFRS 13 will have any impact or
how fair value is determined. The standard is apple as of January 1, 2013.

IFRS 12, Disclosures of interests in other erditiecludes the disclosure requirements for all forofisnterests in other entities, including jc
arrangements, associates, special purpose patiticipand other off balance sheet interests. Thepgaomis analyzing the additional disclosure whidh
be required by IFRS 12. The standard is applicablef danuary 1st, 2013.

IFRS 11, Joint arrangementprovides a more realistic reflection of joint amgaments by focusing on the rights and obligatiohthe arrangeme
rather than its legal form. There are two typegoait arrangement: (i) joint operations, which ariwhen a joint operator has rights to the assed
contractual obligations and as a consequence eegjisis rightsportion in assets, liabilities, revenue and expgnard (i) joint ventures, which arise wl
the joint operator has rights to the net asseth®farrangement and registers its investments éeduity equivalence method. Proportional consbéd
method will no longer allowed in joint control. Brétandard is applicable as of January 1, 2013.

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statemerdntifies the concept of control as a major fadtodetermining whether an entity should or no
included within the consolidated financial statetsesf the parent company. The standard providegiadal guidance to the determination of contrdhis
standard should not have any significant effecthenCompany considering its current operations. $tsindard is applicable as of January 1, 2013.

IFRS 9, Financial instrumentsaaddresses the classification, measurement and mgioogof financial assets and liabilities. IFRS @swissued |
November 2009 and October 2010, and replaces pai&S 39 related to the classification and measwmet of financial instruments. IFRS 9 requ
financial assets to be classified into two categorthose measured at fair value and those meaatgedortized cost. The determination is done it
recognition. The basis of classification dependshenentitys business model and the contractual characteristithe financial instruments cash flow. A
concerns financial liabilities, the standard mamganost of the requirements established by IAST38s standard should not have any significantotfte
the Company considering its current operations. $taindard is applicable as of January 1, 2013.

Amendment to IAS 19, Employee benefits:hain effects of the amendment are: (i) elimorabf corridor approach, (ii) recognition of alltaaria
gains and losses in other comprehensive incomgsegoccur, (iii) immediate recognition of past\dee costs as profit and loss, and (iv) the repteagt o
the participation costs and expected return plar assets by an amount of net participation, caledlthrough the application of a discount ratthéasse
(liability) of the net defined benefit. This stamdahould not have any significant effect on the @any considering its current operations. This staahdt
applicable as of January 1, 2013.

There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations éinatnot yet effective that would be expected taet@wmaterial impact on the Company.
C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, etc.

We believe that the Gol brand has become synonymoths innovation and value in the Brazilian airlimedustry. We have filed requests
registration of the trademarks “GOL” and “GOL LINFPAAEREAS INTELIGENTES"with trademark offices in Brazil and in other cousgr and hax

already been granted fineggistration of these trademarks, for example: mgehtina, Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, the European Unitire United State
Paraguay and Uruguay. VRG holds trademark regstrafor the Yarig” brand and trademark applications for tt8nfile$ brand in various countries.
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D. Trend Information

We believe in a recovery in the Brazilian econongpeeially in the growth of the Brazilian middle clas the next years. We are projecting supply d¢n

of not more than 2% in our own and Welgetombined route network, and an increase in Beawzdiviation industry demand of between 3.0 andifhés
GDP growth for 2012, combined with the continuoMpamsion of Brazib potential market led by the accelerated growtdeémand from South Ameri
and the Caribbean. We believe that nominal yieldsuinnetwork should recover as compared to 201is fositive macroeconomic and operating scer
combined with our strategy to continue to grow pager revenue and develop new sources of ancitagnues while focusing efforts to reduce CASK Ex
Fuel, should further improve operating margins.

E. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

None of our 99 aircraft recognized as operatingdeabligations are reflected on our balance shéetDecember 31, 2011, we had 45 airc
recognized as finance leases on our balance skéetare responsible for all maintenance, insuramceother costs associated with operating theseatti
however, we have not made any residual value @raharantees to our lessors.
F. Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations

Our non-cancelable contractual obligations as etddnber 31, 2011 included the following:

Beyonc
Total 2012 2012 201< 201% 201€ 2016 No maturity date
(in millions ofrreais)
Non-derivative financial instruments
Aircraft and engine operating leas 2,269.! 595.( 517.2 341t 205.¢ 157.2 452.¢ -
A ) 2
Aircraft finance Iease%) 2,545.¢ 281.2 292.¢ 292.¢ 284.2 276.] 1,118.: -
Short-term de&) 1,390." 1,390.° - - - - - -
Long-term det®! 1,544.! 99.2 85.4 70. 4.4 949.¢ 335.
Total non-derivative financial instruments 7,750.: 2,266.¢ 909.t 719.7 559.¢ 437.7 2,520.° 335.¢
Derivative financial instruments - - - - - - -
Fuel derivative 19.2 19.2 - - - - - -
Foreign exchange derivati - - - - - - - -
Interest rate sway 96.2 96.2 - - - - - -
Total derivative financial instruments 115.¢ 115.¢ - - - - - -
Aircraft commitments
Pre-delivery deposit: 1,991. 443.¢ 537.1 502.( 407.1 94.€ 6.€ -
Aircraft purchase commitmen 15,780.( 896.1 2,938.¢ 4,341.¢ 3,740.. 3,207.¢ 655.8 -
Total aircraft commitments 17,771. 1,340.( 3,475.¢ 4,843.¢ 4,147 3,302.: 662.1 -
TOTAL 25,636.! 3,722.: 4,385.¢ 5,563.¢ 4,707.: 3,739.¢ 3,182.¢ 335.¢

(1) Does not include shor and long term financedea(2) Finance leases including interest

ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES
A. Directors and Senior Management

Under our by-laws, we are managed by Gonselho de Administragdor board of directors, which is composed of astdive members and at m
eleven members, and @iretoria, or board of executive officers, which is composddat least two and at most seven members. Aouprtb the
Differentiated Corporate Governance Practices L&veitroduced by BM&FBOVESPA, at least 20% of the memsbof our board of directors shall
“independent directors,” as defined by the BM&FBOVRSP
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Our management and board of directors is suppaatet advised by a number of committees which comphighly specialized and qualifi
individuals. These committees actively participatehe strategic and other key decisions of ounagament and we believe they add substantial va
our business. We currently have audit, human ressuand corporate governance, financial and raicyp and accounting committees, comprise
members of our board of directors and non-board Ibeesn We also have a tax and financial statemaittypsubcommittee.

We are committed to achieving and maintaining hstandards of corporate governance. In working tdsv¢his goal, we have established a ht
resources and corporate governance committee titanamd make recommendations with respect to gatpayovernance “best practicds”our board ¢
directors. In addition, in connection with listings a Level 2 company on the BM&FBOVESPA, we haveeredt into an agreement with
BM&FBOVESPA to grant certain additional rights notjuéired of Level 2 companies to our shareholdersh s tagalong rights offering our preferr
shareholders 100% of the price paid per commorestfacontrolling block shareholders. We conduatlmusiness with a view towards transparency an
equal treatment of all of our shareholders. Weshimmplemented policies to help to ensure that allemal information that our shareholders requirentike
informed investment decisions is made availabléhéopublic promptly and that we at all times actelyareflect the state of our operations and firial
position through press releases, filings with tleCSand Brazilian Securities Commission (“CVM3nd by keeping the investor relations section @
website current and complete. We have also addptathl policies that restrict trading in our pneésl shares by company insiders.

In addition, according to the Level 2 practiceg, tompany shall cause all new members of the bafaddectors, board of executive officers and fi
committee must sign a statement of consent in wthiely undertake to comply with the regulationstaf Differentiated Corporate Governance Prac
Level 2. Their taking office is conditioned to sigg of such document. Also the members of the d@drdirectors, board of executive officers anadi
committee must sign a statement of consent, intwthiey undertake to refer to arbitration underahspices of the BM&FBOVESPA Arbitration Cham
any disputes and/or controversies arising out efapplication of the listing rules of the Differied Corporate Governance Practices Level 2, stiad
agreement with BM&FBOVESPA, the regulations of the BMBOVESPA, the provisions of the Brazilian corporatiem, guidelines issued by 1
Brazilian authorities and the other rules applicdbléhe capital markets in general, involving tleenpany, the shareholders, the managers and the ens
of the fiscal committee.

Board of Directors

Our board of directors is dedicated to providing ouerall strategic guidelines and, among othengsj is responsible for establishing our gel
business policies and for electing our executifeeafs and supervising their management. Currently,board of directors is comprised of ten memt
Four of the board members qualify as independesgdapon New York Stock Exchange criteria. Therdad directors meets an average of five time:
year or whenever requested by the president oe tnembers of our board of directors.

Under the Brazilian corporation law, each directarstrhold at least one of our common or preferredeshand be a Brazilian resident, and is elect
the holders of our common shares atAlssembléia Geral Ordinarjaor the annual general meeting of shareholdergerel'are no provisions in our byws
restricting (i) a directos power to vote on a proposal, arrangement or @oinin which such director is materially interested (ii) the borrowing powe
exercisable by our directors from us. However,aimtle Brazilian corporation law, a director is pbited from voting on any matter in which such dia
has a conflict of interest with our company.

Additionally, under the Brazilian corporation lavhaseholders of publicly traded companies, such aske, who together hold non-voting or voting
right restricted preferred shares representingast|10% of our total share capital for at leastetmonths are entitled to appoint one member oboard o
directors.

Under our bytaws, the members of the board of directors aretedieby the holders of our common shares at theameneral meeting of shareholde
Members of our board of directors serve simultaseme-year terms and may be re-elected. The @fms current directors expire in ApeiD12. Our by-
laws do not provide for a mandatory retirementfag®ur directors.
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The following table sets forth the name, age arsitiopm of each member of our board of directorsbrief biographical description of each membe
our board of directors follows the table.

Name Age Position

Alvaro de Souza 63 Chairmai
Henrique Constantir 40 Vice-Chairmai
Antonio Kandir* 58 Directol
Constantino de Oliveira Jun 43 Directol
Joaquim Constantino Ne 47 Directol

Luiz Kaufmann* 66 Directol
Paulo Kakinoff* 37 Directol
Ricardo Constantir 49 Directol
Richard F. Lark, . 45 Directol

* Denotes an independent director

Alvaro de Souzéas been a member of our board of directors ghuzrist 2004 and became our chairman of the boa#piil 2009. Mr. Souza is ¢
officer of AdS—Gestao, Consultoria e Investimentos Ltda., and etairof the board of directors of World Wildlife Fuim Brazil (WWF), He is also
member of the board of directors of the followingmpanies and organizations: WWF International Bardrustees, the Brazilian Biodiversity Fu
(FUNBIO), Triangle Bank S.A. (Tribanco), CSCardSystem and Santos Soccer Club. He is also meshber audit and fiscal committee of AMBEV. |
Souza is a certified director by IBG@razilian Institute of Corporate Governance. He wagefOBxecutive Officer of Citibank Brazil from 1991 99/
and an Executive Vice-President of Citigroup in N¥ark from 1995 to 2003. Mr. Souza holds a bachslategree in Economics and Busir
Administration from Pontificia Universidade Catdlida Sdo Paulo. Mr. Souza is an independent meafilmer board of directors under the requiremen
the SEC and NYSE listing standards and is a menftmiraudit committee and human resources and caggovernance committee.

Henrique Constantindias been a member of our board of directors diteeh 2004 and became our vickairman of the board in June 2010.
participated in the creation of Gol and servedtaghief financial officer from January 2001 to Mar2003, when he became a member of the boarc
Henrique Constantino is also a member of the boadirectors of Providéncia S.A. and BR Vias S.A. Monstantino has a law degree fr&@&UB—
Centro de Ensino Unificado de Brasilamd has a post-graduate degree in Business Adraiiost from EAESP—FGV (Fundacgdo Getllio VargaSéae
Paulo. Mr. Constantino is a member of our financial asll policy committee and human resources and catp@overnance committee.

Antonio Kandirhas been a member of our board of directors shugpist 2004. Mr. Kandir is an economic consultiit. Kandir is also partner
Governancga e Gestao and is a member of the boatideators of Providéncia S.A. Mr. Kandir servedhe Brazilian government as a Federal Lower H
Representative for two terms of office, and servedPknning and Budget Minister and Secretary of Booa Policy and President of the Privatiza
Council. He has a bachelor degree in productiorineeging from the Escola Politécnica at USP anchélats, masters and doctoral (PhD) degre
Economics from Unicamp. Mr. Kandir is an indepertdmember of our board of directors under the meguoénts of the SEC and NYSE listing stand
and is a member of our audit committee.

Constantino de Oliveira Junidras been a member of GGLboard of directors and its Chief Executive Offisierce the Company was founded in 2C
Mr. de Oliveira introduced the “low-cost, low-farebncept to the Brazilian airline industry and wasned “Most Valuable Executivaly the Brazilial
newspapeialor Econdmicoin 2001 and 2002. He was also elected the LeaHiregutive in the logistics sector by the readdr&azeta Mercantil,
Brazilian financial newspaper, in 2003, and in 2088s named a “Distinguished Executivie’ the Air Transportation category at the GALA (i
American Aeronautics Gallery) awards, sponsorethiyA. Between 1994 and 2000 he served as direntpassenger land transportation company. M
Oliveira studied Business Administration at theiversidade do Distrito Federalnd attended the Executive Program on Corporatealytanent for Braz
conducted by the Association for Overseas Tech@chblarships. He is also member of our human resswand corporate governance committee.
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Joaquim Constantindleto has been a member of our board of directors ditexeh 2004. He has been the chief operationsesfiid the Compor
group since 1994. From 1984 to 1990, he was ingehaf operations of Empresas Reunidas Paulistaaesportes Ltda. Since 1990 to the present, i
been the President of Breda Servigos, a bus tratasiporcompany.

Luiz Kaufmanrhas been a member of our board of directors €hem@ember 2004. Mr. Kaufmann is the Managing Paxh&. Kaufmann Consultor
Associados. Mr. Kaufmann has presided over sevagaipanies such as Aracruz Celulose S.A., Medial &aldoton Educacional, Petropar, Gr
Multiplic, Arthur D. Little, and was a partner atP@nvestimentos. He was a member of several comgdnoard of directors, including Pioneer Biiec
International, América Latina Logistica and Lojamdricanas. He was a member of the Global Corpdgateernance Advisory Board, which v
comprised of 20 internationally renowned businesglérs from 16 different countries, created to ade&knowledge on the roles and responsibilitie
boards of directors of international companies.. Kufmann is an independent member of our boamdirettors under the requirements of the SEC
NYSE listing standards. He is a member of our tacminmittee and our audit committee financial ekpsrdefined by the current SEC ru

Paulo Kakinoffhas been a member of our Board of Directors sineaalg 2010. Mr. Kakinoff is currently CEO of Audi&il and vice president of t
Brazilian Automobile Importers AssociatioAgsociagdo Brasileira de Importadores de Veiculommotores — ABEIVJAHe is also a member of the bc
of directors of Volkswagen Participacdes Ltda. @rice Services of Volkswagen Group in Brasil) sin@gdl 2011. Mr. Kakinoff has 18 years of experit
in the auto industry, having served as Sales & Mi@mg Director at Volkswagen do Brasil and as ExeeuDirector for South America at the Volkswa
Group’s head offices in Germany. He holds a barheldegree in Business Administration from Mackenzigversity. Mr. Kakinoff is an independe
member of our board of directors under the requiéreisnof the SEC and NYSE listing standards.

Ricardo Constantindias been a member of our board of directors diteeh 2004. He has been the chief technical anidterence officer of tt
Comporte group since 1994. Mr. Ricardo Constantin@ Mealso a member of the board of directors of BR\A&. and Providéncia S.A.

Richard F. Lark Jr. has been a member of our board of directors singe 2008. Mr. Lark served as our executive viasigent, chief financial ai
investor relations officer from April 2003 to JuB@08. He is a director of Endurance Capital Pastnen investment management firm (participal
Anbima and ABVCAP), and a member of the board ofaies of Renar Magéds S.A. (BM&FBOVESPA: RNAR). From @@6 2003, Mr. Lark served
chief financial officer of Americanas.com, one bétleading Brazilian eemmerce companies. Prior to joining Americanas,ddr. Lark was an executi
in the investment banking divisions of Morgan S¢gn& Co., Citicorp and The First Boston Corporationr. Mark is a member of the Board of Govert
of the American Society of S&o Paulo since 2008jngaserved as its president during 2G®7. Mr. Lark holds a Master in Business Admiaititr
degree from the Anderson School at UCLA and bactdadgrees in finance and business economics anasppity from the University of Notre Dame.
is also a Portfolio Manager authorized by the CVM @nassociated with the Brazilian Institute of Cogte Governance (IBGC). Mr. Lark is a membe
our financial and risk policy committee and accamttax and financial statement policy subcomraitte

Constantino de Oliveira Junior, Henrique Constantioaquim Constantino Neto and Ricardo Constantinbrateers. Constantino de Oliveira Jur
Henrigue Constantino, Joaquim Constantino Neto andréicConstantino control our major shareholder Futeltnvestimento em Participacdes Vollutc
an equal basis.

Executive Officers

Our executive officers have significant experieiltéhe domestic and international passenger trategmn industries, and we have been able to
upon this extensive experience to develop our logt-operating structure. The executive officers @sponsible for our day-ttay management. T
executive officers have individual responsibilitiestablished in our biaws and by our board of directors. The busineskess of each of our execul
officers is the address of our principal executffice.

Under our by-laws, we must have at least two anui@dt seven executive officers that are electethbyboard of directors for a oyear term. An
executive officer may be removed by the board céalors before the expiration of his term. Therentr term of all our executive officers ends in bfar
2013.
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The following table sets forth the name, age arsitipm of each of our executive officers. A brlabgraphical description of each of our exect
officers follows the table.

Name Age Position

Constantino de Oliveira Jun 43 President and Chief Executive Offi

Adalberto Cambauva Bogs 46 Vice Presiden- Technica

Leonardo Porcitincula Gomes Per 53 Vice Presiden- Chief Financial Officer and Investor Relatic
Officer

Ricardo Khauaj 42 Vice Presiden- Management and Human Resou

Constantino de Oliveira Junior. S&e-Board of Directors.

Adalberto Cambauva Bogsdmas been an officer since October 2010. He joireeth LApril 2002 and served as the line captainhef Boeing 7370C
aircraft, assistant of head of Operations, hea@pérations and Operational Control departments.sHasio a welkexperienced captain, with more tl
13,000 flying hours, Mr. Bogsan is specifically dfiatl in airline management and holds an MBA frore #undacao Getullio Vargas (FGV). Mr. Bog
started his career at the Brazilian airline Bia-from 1988 to 2002, where he served in as aajpaseveral aircraft models, and also served stsuctor fo
8 years and was captain instructor and flight ingpeof Boeing 737-300/500 Next Generation airondfen he left that airline.

Leonardo Porciincula Gomes Pereinas been our Chief Financial Officer and InvestoraRehs officer since February 2009. Prior to jogiGol, Mr
Pereira served two years as the Director Presiode@ompanhia do Vale do Araguaia, a Brazilian comiakfforesting company, and six years as
Executive Director Finance and Investor Relation&NBfT Servigos, a leading cable provider in Latin &ioa listed on the BM&FBOVESPA (Level |
NASDAQ and Latibex. He previously served five yeas Planning Director at Globopar, a media ingiusttding company, and 13 years in a numbi
roles at Citibank Corporate Finance Bank in Brazil a@A&iatin America and the United States, includieader of the Latin American Aviation team. H
member of the Corporate Governance Committee of #ioePAulo chapter of the American Chamber of Commevtre Pereira holds degrees in Produc
Engineering from the Universidade Federal do Ridaeeiro (UFRJ) and Economics from the Universidadedida Mendes; he received his MBA fr
Warwick University (England). Mr. Pereira has at$odied Finance at IMD in Switzerland and Generah&bement at Wharton Business School, atte
The Association for Overseas Technical Scholar@h@TS) in Japan, and completed Columbia Universi8emior Executive Education Program.

Ricardo Khauajahas been an officer since July 2009. Mr. Khauajeked for beverage company Ambev for ten years,revie served in seve
positions, including Corporate Human Resources mairfea 2001 to 2003. After this, he worked for gears at home appliance manufacturer Whirlj
first as the Human Resources Officer for Latin Am@r{three years), followed by vigeesident (three years). Mr. Khauaja has a degré&oductiol
Engineering from the Federal University of Rio daeleo (UFRJ) and a MBA in Finance from the Braziliarpital Market Institute (IBMEC/RJ). He al
completed “The Transition from Functional to Gehdfanagement” course at Columbia University in th&ted States.

B. Compensation

Under our bytlaws, our shareholders are responsible for eshahijsthe aggregate amount we pay to the membeosioboard of directors and ¢
executive officers. Once our shareholders estallisaggregate amount of compensation for our bofaditectors and executive officers, the membé
our board of directors are then responsible fdirgeindividual compensation levels in compliandgéwour by-laws.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011, theeggte compensation, including cash and benefitind but excluding stock options, that we
to the members of our board of directors and exexuffficers was R$38.illion.

Stock Option Plan
Our stock option plan was approved at a specialesiodders’meeting held on December 9, 2004. The stock optlan is aimed at promoting ¢

interests by encouraging management employeesntalmate substantially tour success, by motivating them with stock optiofihe plan is managed
both our human resources and corporate governamemittee and our board of directors.
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Participants in the plan are selected by the hureaaurces and corporate governance committee,da\that they have been either president, vic

president, officer, advisor to the president otti® vicepresident, general manager or manager. The sfmains to be granted under the plan confer r
related only to our preferred shares, and overrabeu of preferred shares that does not, at any, xeeed 5% of our shares. The human resource
corporate governance committee establishes eachtheatrike price of the options to be grantedicwhmust be equal to the average price of the ped
shares recorded in the last 60 trading sessionstorthe granting date, adjusted pursuant to@&®-M inflation index.

The plan is valid for a tepear term. In case of termination of our legahtiehship with the option holder, with or withowtse (except in the case
retirement, permanent disability or death) all opsi that have been granted to the participantywdmich were not yet exercisable, automatically expir

In 2009, we issued 1,142,473 stock options, of twitoly 652,998 were outstanding on December 310 24fer the cancellation of 530,480 st
options due to the departure of their respectividdre from the company, the exercise of 175,668kstptions and the complementary grant of 21€
stock options in 2010 under the 2009 plan. Théseksoptions were issued at a weighted averageciseer price of R$10.52 per share. In 2010, we is
2,774,640 stock options, of which only 2,593,938&aveutstanding on December 31, 2010, after theeatiation of 170,786 stock options due to
departure of their respective holders from the camypand the exercise of 9,916 stock options. Tisések options were issued at a weighted aw
exercised price of R$20.65 per share. On Decenthe2®L0, our board of directors approved the gnantif 2,722,444 options at the price of R$27.8:
share for the year 2011. In 2011, we issued stptibrs of up to 49,836t a weighted average exercise price of R$1pekGhare. For 2012, the stock |
is being reviewedThe total number of options granted in the last¢hyears, excluding the 2,366,605 options cancaledthe 235,420 options exercise
4,189,357, or 1.5% of our total shares and 3.1%hetotal preferred shares. The vesting perioth®fstock options is 5 years for the options gduotetil
2009 and 3 years for the options granted until 2@bd options can be exercised up to 10 years thitegrant date. The purpose of our stock optlan 3
to align shareholder and top management interests.

C. Board Practices

Currently, our board of directors is comprised afenmembers. The terms of our current directors exibire on April 30, 2012. See “Beard o
Directors.”

Fiscal Committee

Under the Brazilian corporation law, ti@onselho Fiscalor fiscal committee, is a corporate body indegendf management and of our exte
auditors. The fiscal committee may be either p@ené or norpermanent, in which case it is appointed by theedt@ders to act during a specific fis
year. A fiscal committee is not equivalent to,comparable with, a U.S. audit committee. The primrasponsibility of the fiscal committee is to iew
management’s activities and a company’s finandalesents, and to report its findings to the comjmmshareholders. The Brazilian corporation
requires fiscal committee members to receive asunemation at least 10% of the average annual ampaidt to a compang’ executive officers. TI

Brazilian corporation law requires a fiscal comndtte be composed of a minimum of three and a maximifive members and their respective alternates

Under the Brazilian corporation law, the fiscal coittee@ may not contain members that (i) are on card of directors, (ii) are on the boarc
executive officers, (iii) are employed by us orantolled company, or (iv) are spouses or relatokEsny member of our management, up to the
degree. Our by-laws provide for a non-permanettaficommittee to be elected only by our sharelsldequest at a general shareholdenseting. Th
fiscal committee, when elected, will be compriséa aninimum of three and a maximum of five memkbamsl an equal number of alternate member
2011, our shareholders did not request the elecfianfiscal committee.
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Committees of the Board of Directors and Board of Exadive Officers

Our board of directors also has audit, human ressuand corporate governance, and financial akdogcy committees and an accounting, tax
financial statement policy subcommittee. Our baafréxecutive officers has management, executiligypdudget, investment, corporate governance
risk policies committees. In most cases, membktiseocommittees do not need to be members of oardcof directors or board of executive officelhe
responsibilities and composition of these commiti@e described below.

Audit Committee Our audit committee, which is not equivalent ao,comparable with, a U.S. audit committee, presidssistance to our boarc
directors on matters involving accounting, interoahtrols, financial reporting and compliance. Ehalit committee recommends the appointment ¢
independent auditors to our board of directors esdews the compensation of our independent awgligmd helps coordinate their activities. It
evaluates the effectiveness of our internal finainahd legal compliance controls. The audit conaeitomprises three members elected by the bo
directors for a one-year term with the right toeteetion, all three of which are independent. Therent members of our audit committee are Alvas
Souza, Antbnio Kandir and Luiz Kaufmann. All mentdeneet the independent membership requiremeritsecBEC and NYSE as well as other N
requirements. Luiz Kaufmann is the committee’sdficial expertwithin the scope of the SEC rules covering the dmale of financial experts on at
committees in periodic filings pursuant to the US8curities Exchange Act of 1934.

Financial Policies CommitteeDur financial policies committee is responsible: f@y reviewing and adopting actions for protectiohour cash flow
balance sheet, profits and losses against vojatilitfuel prices, exchange rates, domestic andnat®nal interest rates; (i) assessing periotiictile
effectiveness of all the actions contemplatedemi(i) and recommending changes, as necessajyréparing and approving our corporate financécjesd
as well as monitoring and reviewing the effectivenand implementation thereof; (iv) reviewing, frtime to time, our investment plan and the finat
plan, as well as recommending the necessary tramsato our board of directors; (v) reviewing,frdime to time, the impact of our investment plad af
the financing plan on our capital structure and ¢basequences thereof on our income, as well asmmending the necessary changes to our bo:
directors; and (vi) setting out parameters withi@wto keeping the desired capital structure aqdidiity, besides monitoring the application theraat
approving the policies to be adopted in the sub=egquarter. The financial policies committee isnpoised of five members, appointed by our boai
directors which are our: chief executive officénahcial vicepresident (CFO) and three directors, for terms fi€@fof one year, reelection being permit
The financial policies committee currently consists Constantino de Oliveira Junior, Leonardo Rarcula Gomes Pereira, Henrique Constantino, Ri
Freeman Lark Jr. and Luiz Kaufmann.

Risk CommitteeOur risk committee is responsible for: (i) revieg and approving our risk policies, as well as it@wing and analyzing the
implementation; (i) reviewing, from time to timtéhe impacts on assets, especially regarding expdeud.S. dollars and fuel, as well as recommenttie
necessary transactions to our board of direct@isrdviewing, from time to time, our revenues aexpenses, focusing on the impact to our incomd
recommending necessary actions to our board oftdire and (iv) preparing, approving and evaluatimg risk policies used by us in the short- andylon
term, and approving the policies to be used anddaitor their implementation. The risk committeec@mnprised of up to five members, appointed by
board of directors, whether they are directors att for terms-ofeffice of one year, reelection being permitted. Tis committee currently consists
Henrigue Constantino, Constantino de Oliveira Jufachard Freeman Lark Jr., Luiz Kaufmann and Leoaddrciincula Gomes Pereira.

Human Resources and Corporate Governance Commiftee human resources and corporate governanceitia® is responsible for the coordinat
implementation and periodic review of best corppigvernance practices and for monitoring and keppur board of directors informed of legislatiord
market recommendations addressing corporate gavegnalt also reviews and recommends to our bo&udirectors human resources policies, form
compensation, including salary, bonus and stocloogt to be paid to our employees, as well as aivmjymanagemerd’career and succession plans.
committee consists of up to six members electeduryboard of directors for a one-year term, wité tight to reelection, comprising the chairman and
vice-chairman of the board of directors, three membétheboard of directors, two outside specialistd the management and human resources of
The human resources and corporate governance ctanaitirrently consists of Alvaro de Souza and HmriConstantino, members of our boar
directors, Ricardo Khauaja, our management and huesaurces officer, Betania Tanure de Barros ancoRaégar Aragao.
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Accounting Tax and Financial Statement Policy Subcommitt€he accounting, tax and financial statementcgoiubcommittee conducts peric
reviews of, and evaluates and monitors the comamycounting policies and financial statementsraakles observations and recommendations to the
of directors on these matters. The subcommitteetsnen a quarterly basis and consists of three rasmddected by the board of directors for a pea-
term with the right to re-election, comprising t@mpanys chief financial officer, a member of the boarddo&ctors or a member of the audit commi
and an independent member. The committee curreothgists of Richard F. Lark, Jr., a member of cesrt of directors, Leonardo Pereira, our ¢
financial and investor relations officer, Charledlland and Marcos da Cunha Carneiro.

D. Employees

We believe that our growth potential and the acérieent of our resultsriented corporate goals are directly linked to abitity to attract and mainte
the best professionals available in the airlinerimss. We place great emphasis on the selectibtraiming of enthusiastic employees with poterttiaadc
value to our business and who we believe fit irhvaitd contribute to our business culture.

As of December 31, 2011, we had 20,525 active eyl We invest significant resources promotingwke# being of our employees. In 2011,
spent R$ 454.&illion on health and safety matters, training,igsbcontributions, employee meals, transportatiod profit sharing.

We train our own pilots. We also provide extensimgoing training for our pilots, flight attendaratisd customer service representatives. In additi
the required technical training, which follows tteictest international standards, we also proemi@prehensive managerial training to our pilots figtt
attendants through Crew Resource Management anddrierated Flight Training programs, emphasizingithportance of resource management to prc
the best service to our passengers. In February, 204 launched th&OL Institutelocated in our Confins Maintenance Center, in the state ofddiGerais
aiming to provide technical training, promoting isbinclusion and improving the learning of the f@ssionals in the aviation sector. We expect taicedh:
cost and average time of training for mechanicsamnilots.

In order to help retain our employees, we encouragen communication channels between our emplogeels management and offer ca
development opportunities in the company and péariestaluations. We offer in-house paggtduate business school training in conjunctioth whe
Fundacéo Getulio Varg;, a leading Brazilian business school, to provideagament training to selected employees. Our cosgtien strategy reinforc
our determination to retain talented and highly iwaded employees and is designed to align theasterof our employees with our shareholders.
compensation packages include competitive salanies participation in our profit sharing program.eWave agreements with medical and insut
companies to offer affordable health and pensian pptions to our employees.

A national aviators’ union represents Brazifilots and flight attendants, and seven otheionegd aviation unions represent ground employeesir
transportation companies. Approximately 6% of employees are members of unions. Negotiationespact of cost of living wage and salary incre
are conducted annually between the workensons and a national association of airline conggmnThere is no salary differential or seniopty escalatic
among our pilots. Work conditions and maximum wiokirs are regulated by government legislationardot the subject of labor negotiations. Sihe
commencement of our operations, we have not haorla stoppage by our employees and we believe tivatetationship with our employees is good.

To motivate our employees and align their interests our results of operations, we provide an ahquofit sharing program to all of our employe
Under Brazilian law, companies may provide proférshg programs that define mechanisms for distitiigua portion of a company’profits based upon t
achievement of predefined targets established by the company. Ouwuanprofit sharing programs are negotiated withoaamission formed by o
employees and approved by labor unions for thefiiefall of our unionized and noanionized employees. For the purposes of our fpsbfiring prograr
a portion of profit sharing distributions are basgmbn the achievement of corporate profit targeid a portion of the distributions are based or
achievement of operational targets set for eaaduoflepartments. We have established a stockroptam for our management and employees vestint
a 3 year period. As of March 2012, a total of 8bur management and employees were granted sitkne under this plan.
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E. Share Ownership

The members of our board of directors and our eiezwfficers, on an individual basis and as a gradirectly own approximately 1.5% of ¢
preferred stock. See “ltem 7A. Major Shareholdiramd Related Party Transactions—Major Shareholddfsndo de Investimento em Participag
Volluto is a fund directly controlled by Messrs. Gtamtino de Oliveira Junior, Henrique Constantimagliim Constantino Netand Ricardo Constantir
respectively.

“

For a description of stock options granted to aar of directors and our executive officers, seeCompensation—Executive Stock Options” aré
Compensation—Stock Option Plan.”

ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
A. Major Shareholders

The following table sets forth information relatitmthe beneficial ownership of our common shares @referred shares as of December 31, 201
each person known by us to beneficially own 5% orarof our common shares or preferred shares dodradlirectors and officers as a group.

Each shareholdes’ percentage ownership in the following table isdohon the 137,032,734 common shares and 133,86p@ferred shar
outstanding as of December 31, 2011.

Common Shares Preferred Shares Total Shares
Shares (%) Shares (%) Shares (%)
Fundo de Investimento em Participacdes Volltto 137,032,71 100.0% 29,612,82 22.2% 166,645,54 61.6%
Executive officers and directc 16 0.0% 2,006,14. 1.5% 2,006,15:! 0.7%
Treasury shar - - 3,724,22! 2.8% 3,724,22! 1.4%
Delta Air Lines Int - - 8,300,45! 6.2% 8,300,45! 3.1%
Fidelity Investment - - 7,033,501 5.3% 7,033,501 2.6%
Wellington Management Compe - - 6,722,29 5.1% 6,722,29 2.5%
Free Floz - - 75,957,826 57.0% 75,957,826 28.1%
Total 137,032,734 100.0% 133,357,270 100.0% 270,390,004 100.0%

(1) Fundo de Investimento em Participacdes Vol({taomerly named Fundo de Investimento em PartidpagAsas) is controlled equally by Constantino tiee®a Junior, Henrique Constanti
Joaquim Constantino Neto and Ricardo Constantino. Boesclude the 6,825,469 common shares and 8884 referred shares acquired in the capital iser@anounced in December, 2011.

According to our internal share record, which corganformation regarding the ownership of our slsaand the ADSs as filed by the holders of
shares and ADS, there were, at December 31, 2613%bof our free float was traded in the United&ta

During 2011, our executive officers exercised stoptions for an aggregate of 49,836 preferred share

On December 21, 2011, in order to implement theteDelvestment, our board of directors approved gitalincrease of up to R$295.8 millic
equivalent to up to 6,825,470 common shares antl9f/65 preferred shares at a subscription pricR%#2.00 per share, with a minimum aggre
subscription amount of R$182.6 million. Our coniral shareholder subscribed for 6,825,469 commoneshand 1,474,986 preferred shares, usin
funds received from Delta to pay in for those shafdis capital increase is still subject to ragfion by our board of director.

Shareholders’ Agreement

No shareholders’ agreements have been filed with us
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B. Related Party Transactions

According to the Level 2 regulations, the companglisforward and disclose to BM&FBOVESPA the inforioatregarding every and any agreen
entered by and between Gol and its affiliates esgbeiate companies, its administrators, its cdirigpshareholder, as the case may be, as welltes
corporations that make a group with any such persamether factual or by law, whenever they reamith a single agreement or with succes
agreements, with or without the same purpose,yapariod of one year, an amount of R$0.2 milliommmre, or a value of 1% or more over the net ecpf
the company, whichever is higher.

Such announced information shall describe the sobpke agreement, the term, the price, the tertionar completion conditions and any poss
influence of the agreement upon administrationamngany business conducting.

We have engaged in a number of transactions wlileick parties, none of which have involved thedsee of guarantees.
Transportation, Graphic and Consultancy Agreements \ith Comporte Participagfes S.A.

We have exclusive bus transportation agreements Expresso Unido Ltda. and Breda Servigos for thesportation of our passengers, their lug
and our employees. We have operating agreemetiisServicos Graficos Ltda for graphic services. & have a contract with related party Vv
ParticipagBes S.A. to provide executive adminigiraind management services. We are the tenanpifpeerty located at Rua Tamoios, 246, in Séo F

SP, owned by an affiliate, Patrimony AdministraddeaBens. The entities mentioned above belongeséime economic group and are all controlle
Comporte Participacdes S.A.

In 2010 and 2011, we made total payments of R$8lomand R$11.1 million, respectively, under theperating agreements.
Commercial Agreement with Unidas Rent a Car

Since May 2009, we have a commercial agreement Mitidlas Rent a Car, a Brazilian car rental companyctlwhives Unidas‘customers a 50
discount on the daily car rental charges when thastomers purchase their airline tickets operate@ol through Gob website. As of June 20, 2011, w

Gol's chairman, Alvaro de Souza, left his positmsa member of Unidas Rent a Gavoard of directors this contract was no longersidered a relatt
party agreement.

Contracts Account Opening UATP (Universal Air Transpatation Plan) to Grant Credit Limit

In September 2011, we signed contracts with Pas&amb Taxi Aéreo Ltda. and Viacdo Piracicabana Ltflae purpose of these contracts was
opening of UATP (Universal Air Transportation Plaacounts, where we grant credits of R$20 to Passanb Taxi Aéreo Ltda. and R$40 to Viac
Piracicabana Ltda. for utilization in the UATP syst This system can be utilized to make paymemtthocontracting of domestic and internationdiree
services with all participating members. We useUWea P system that is operated and maintained byirttggnational airline industry and seek to siny
billing and facilitate the payment of air traveldasther related services.
C. Interests of Experts and Counsel

Not applicable.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Inform&on

See “ltem 3. Key Information—Selected Financial®atnd “Item 18. Financial Statements.”
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Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of our business, we areygarvarious legal actions, which we believe adantal to our operations, in large part linkedhe
routine demands related to the rights of consumassof December 31, 2011, we were parties in ZBj@dicial lawsuits and administrative proceedil
including 15,38&:ivil claims, and 7,87%abor claims. We believe that the outcome of thecgedings to which we are currently a party wit have
material adverse effect on our financial positi@sults of operations and cash flows. We havebksiteed provisions for all amounts in dispute ttegireser
a probable loss in the view of our legal advisard i relation to those disputes that are covereldys, administrative decrees, decrees or colirtgsitha
have proven to be unfavorable.

We are party to approximately 14,74igil proceedings arising from the normal courseof business, which includes flight delays or edlations an
baggage loss or damage, and 676 civil proceedigamst Varig S.A. in which plaintiffs claim we walbe a successor in interest of Varig S.A. The
majority of these proceedings involve minor cagdating to customer relations. As of DecemberZIL1, we had established provisions to addresg
contingencies in the total amount of R$3dillion.

We are party to approximately 4,2%bor proceedings arising from the normal coursewf business, which includes overtime, hazardoagk
premium, health exposure allowance and differerecesalary, and 3,62@bor proceedings against Varig S.A. in which piéfe claim we would be
successor in interest of Varig S.A.. At December@111, we have established provisions to addiessetcontingencies in the total amount of R$41
million.

We are subject to 3 labor proceedings related tpl@yees’claims against Varig S.A. in France. We have ethddl provisions in the amount
R$5.1 million for these proceedings.

In 2001, we commenced proceedings against the Brnaztate revenue service, in which we claim anmgton from the payment of Brazilian va
added tax (ICMS) due on imported aircraft, parts amgines. On May 30, 2007, tBeipremo TribunaFederal(Federal Supreme Court) ruled in our fe
in respect of one of these cases. Various of thegedings relating to this matter are still pegdifhe estimated aggregated amount of the ondawspits
related to the nofevy of ICMS tax on said imports is R$205.1 millios @ December 31, 2011, adjusted for inflatiort,inoluding later payment charg
Based on our legal counselopinion and supported by similar lawsuits witkidiable decisions to taxpayers by the Superior Coludustice (STJ) ai
Supreme Federal Court (STF) in the second quart2007, we understand that the likelihood of loseeimote, and thus did not recognize provision
these amounts. Although the outcome of these lasvamd proceedings cannot be anticipated, our gesnent, based on the opinion of its outside
counsel, understand that the final decisions ogett@wsuits will not have any material adverse ichjpa our financial position, operating resultsd aasl
flows.

In 2007, we commenced an arbitration before theriational Chamber of Commerce against the sellekR& and their controlling sharehold
relating to a purchase price adjustment. In JanR@t1, the arbitral tribunal ruled in our favordagranted us an award of R$93.0 million plus inteaes
costs against the sellers of VRG and their contrplshareholders. We have initiated enforcementgadiogs to collect the award amount in U.S. fe
courts. The sellers of VRG and their controllingurgholders are contesting the enforcement procgediiVe believe that the chance of success i
enforcement proceedings is possible.

We are questioning the applicability of certainyis@mns regarding the calculation and rates ofaamntribution taxes (PIS and COFINS) in Brazil
of December 31, 2011 we had a provision of R$105lBomfor these lawsuits in addition to judiciaéposits of R$77.5 million. As of December 31, 2
these amounts were R$84.0 million and R$66.9 milliespectively.

For further information on our legal proceedingd anntingencies, see note 21 to our consolidatethéiial statements.
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Dividends and Dividend Policy
Amounts Available for Distributiol

At each annual general shareholdergeting, our board of directors is required to psspphow our earnings for the preceding fiscal yaarto b
allocated. For purposes of Brazilian corporatiom,la company’s nocensolidated net income after federal income teck swocial contribution on n
income for such fiscal year, net of any accumulddsdes from prior fiscal years and amounts aletdb employees’ and managemsriarticipation i
earnings, represents its “income” for such fisaary In accordance with the Brazilian corporatiaw,lan amount equal to the company’s “inconas,”
adjusted (the “distributable amountiiill be available for distribution to shareholdénsany particular year. The distributable amouiit e affected by th
following:

e reduced by amounts allocated to the legal reserve;
e reduced by amounts allocated to the statutory vesérany;

e reduced by amounts allocated to the contingenasrvesif any; reduced by amounts allocated to tirealized profits reserve established by
company in compliance with applicable law (as dssed below);

e reduced by amounts allocated to the reserve fasimrent projects (as discussed below); and
e increased by reversals of reserves recorded in ypeiars.

Our by-laws do not provide for statutory or congéngy reserves. Under the Brazilian corporationdad according to our bigws, we are required
maintain a “legal reserve” to which we must all@c&® of our “income” for each fiscal year until tamount of the reserve equals 20% of paidapital.
We are not required to make any allocations tolegal reserve in respect of any fiscal year in Whsach reserve, when added to our capital res:
exceeds 30% of our capital. Accumulated losseanyf may be charged against the legal reserveer@an that, the legal reserve can only be ua
increase our capital. The legal reserve is sulbjeapproval by the shareholders voting at the ahsivareholdersheeting and may be transferred to ca
but is not available for the payment of dividendssubsequent years. Our calculation of net incame allocations to reserves for any fiscal yea
determined on the basis of our non-consolidateghfiral statements prepared in accordance with theilgmn corporation law.

Under the Brazilian corporation law, a portion of@poration’s “income’may be allocated for discretionary appropriatiomisdlant expansion a
other fixed or working capital investment projedtss amount of which is based on a capital budgatipusly presented by management and approv
the shareholders in a general shareholderséting. After completion of the relevant cappabjects, the company may retain the appropriatiotil
shareholders vote to transfer all or a portionhef teserve to capital or retained earnings. TheilBra corporation law provides that, if a projeatwhict
the reserve for investment projects account icatled has a term exceeding one year, the budgétdeto the project must be submitted to the slotdels’
meeting each fiscal year until the relevant investims completed.

Under the Brazilian corporation law, the amount ol the mandatory distribution exceeds the “reaizportion of net income for any particular y
may be allocated to the unrealized profits resemvé the mandatory distribution may be limited te thealized” portion of net income. The “realized’
portion of net income is the amount by which “ineSnexceeds the sum of (a) our net positive resultanyf, from the equity method of accounting
earnings and losses of our subsidiaries and ceaféiliates, and (b) the profits, gains or incomatained on transactions maturing after the enche
following fiscal year. As amounts allocated to th@ealized income reserve are realized in subsgq@ars, such amounts must be added to the di
payment relating to the year of realization.

Under Brazilian tax legislation, a portion of thecdme taxes payable may also be transferred to argeffiscal incentive reserveih amount
equivalent to the reduction in the companiricome tax liability which results from the optito deposit part of that liability into investmantapprove
projects in investment incentive regions estabtigime government.
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Under the Brazilian corporation law, any company ro@ate a “statutory” reserve, which reserve mastiéscribed in the company’s taws. Thos
by-laws which authorize the allocation of a peragetof a compang’net income to the statutory reserve must alsicate the purpose, the criteria
allocation and the maximum amount of the reser/be Brazilian corporation law provides that all ditonary allocations of “incomefhcluding the
unrealized profits reserve and the reserve forstment projects, are subject to approval by theettwdders voting at the general shareholderséting an
may be transferred to capital or used for the payjroédividends in subsequent years. The fiscagrmtive reserve and the legal reserve are alsecuto
approval by the shareholders voting at the gerstrateholdersmeeting and may be transferred to capital or ugeabsorb losses, but are not availabl
the payment of dividends in subsequent years.

The amounts available for distribution may be fartincreased by a reversion of the contingencyrveser anticipated losses constituted in priorrg
but not realized. Allocations to the contingenegarve are also subject to approval by the shatetmloting at the general shareholders meetiriee
amounts available for distribution are determinadte basis of our non-consolidated financial statets prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The balance of the profit reserve accounts, exfmpthe contingency reserve and unrealized proéiserve, may not exceed the share capital. |
happens, a shareholderseeting must resolve whether the excess will bdieppo pay in the subscribed and unpaid capitaintrease and pay in 1
subscribed stock capital or to distribute dividends

Pursuant to Law No. 10,303, net income unalloctigtie accounts mentioned above must be distritageatividends.
Mandatory Distributior

The Brazilian corporation law generally requirest tie@ bylaws of each Brazilian corporation specify a minimpercentage of the amounts availi
for distribution by such corporation for each fisgaar that must be distributed to shareholdedivddends, also known as the mandatory distribution

The mandatory distribution is based on a percentégeljusted noronsolidated net income, not lower than 25%, rath@n a fixed monetary amol
per share. If the by-laws of a corporation arergiin this regard, the percentage is deemed &% Under our by-laws, at least 25% of our aggiston-
consolidated net income for the preceding fiscalryaust be distributed as a mandatory annual diddeAdjusted net income means the net income
any deductions for the legal reserve and contingeeserves and any reversals of the contingen@rves created in previous fiscal years. The Bax
corporation law, however, permits a publicly hetsnpany, such as we are, to suspend the mandagiripdtion of dividends in any fiscal year in whittte
board of directors reports to the shareholders’timgethat the distribution would be inadvisable view of the companyg financial condition. Tt
suspension is subject to the approval at the shifets’ meeting and review by members of the fiscal congmittWhile the law does not establish
circumstances in which payment of the mandatoriddivd would be “inadvisable” based on the compsafiyiancial condition, it is generally agreed th
company need not pay the mandatory dividend if qaayyment threatens the existence of the compary ging concern or harms its normal cours
operations. In the case of publicly held corporsj the board of directors must file a justifioatfor such suspension with the CVM within five dajshe
relevant general meeting. If the mandatory divilennot paid and funds are available, those figiddl be attributed to a special reserve accoifmot
absorbed by subsequent losses, those funds shadidbeut as dividends as soon as the financialition of the company permits.

The board of directors can also decide to makerthedatory dividend distribution in the form of irget attributable to shareholdeesjuity, which i
deductible when calculating income and social ¢oution taxes.

Payment of Dividenc

We are required by the Brazilian corporation lavhétd an annual general shareholdeng’eting by no later than April 30 of each yeamvhich time
among other things, the shareholders have to decidbe payment of an annual dividend. Additionalthterim dividends may be declared by the bod
directors. Any holder of record of shares at theetof a dividend declaration is entitled to reeeflividends. Dividends on shares held through siéguie:
are paid to the depositary for further distributiorthe shareholders.
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Under the Brazilian corporation law, dividends aemerally required to be paid to the holder of rdoon a dividend declaration date within 60 ¢
following the date the dividend was declared, unmkeshareholdersesolution sets forth another date of payment, hit either case, must occur prio
the end of the fiscal year in which such dividerabwleclared. Pursuant to ourlays, unclaimed dividends do not bear interestnatemonetarily adjuste
and revert to us three years after dividends weotaded. See “Item 10.B. Memorandum of Articleg\s§ociation—Description of Capital Stock.”

Our board of directors may declare interim dividerd interest attributable to shareholders’ eghaged on income verified in searnual financie
statements. The board of directors may also dedatdends based on financial statements pregdareshorter periods, provided that the total divids
paid in each sixnonth period do not exceed the capital reservesiahrequired by Brazilian corporation law. The lbaf directors may also pay intel
dividends or interest attributable to shareholdecglity out of retained earnings or income resereesrded in the last annual balance sheet. Anynpa
of interim dividends may be set off against the amiaf mandatory dividends relating to the net meoearned in the year in which the interim divids
were paid.

Our by-laws do not require that we adjust the amo@iany dividend payment to inflation.

In general, shareholders who are not residents afiBmust register their equity investment with entral Bank to have dividends, sales procee
other amounts with respect to their shares eligiblbe remitted outside Brazil. The preferred shamderlying the ADSs are held in Brazil by Bancdl
S.A., also known as the custodian, as agent fodépesitary, that is the registered owner on tberds of the registrar for our shares. The curregistra
is Banco Itad. The depositary registers the prefeshares underlying the ADSs with the Central Bamk #herefore, is able to have dividends, ¢
proceeds or other amounts with respect to regstereferred shares remitted outside Brazil.

Payments of cash dividends and distributions, ¥f, @me made imeais to the custodian on behalf of the depositary, Wiken converts such proce
into U.S. dollars and causes such U.S. dollaretddivered to the depositary for distribution tders of ADSs. In the event that the custodiaimiable t
convert immediately the Brazilian currency receiesddividends into U.S. dollars, the amount of d@lars payable to holders of ADSs may be adve
affected by depreciation of the Brazilian currentgttoccur before the dividends are converted. Utigecurrent Brazilian corporation law, dividendsd
to persons who are not Brazilian residents, inclydiolders of ADSs, will not be subject to Braziliaithholding tax, except for dividends declared lobse
profits generated prior to December 31, 1995, whidlh be subject to Brazilian withholding income tax varying tax rates. See “ltem 10. Taxation
Material Brazilian Tax Considerations.”

Holders of ADSs have the benefit of the electraristration obtained from the Central Bank, whichpts the depositary and the custodian to col
dividends and other distributions or sales procewitls respect to the preferred shares representediiSs into foreign currency and remits the pros
outside Brazil. In the event the holder exchangesADSs for preferred shares, the holder will bitled to continue to rely on the depositaryegistratio
for five business days after the exchange. Themeah order to convert foreign currency and reaitside Brazil the sales proceeds or distributioil
respect to the preferred shares, the holder muatrob new registration in its own name that wérmit the conversion and remittance of such paym
See “Item 10.B. Memorandum of Articles of AssociatieDescription of Capital Stock—Regulation of Forelgmestment and Exchange Controls.”

Under current Brazilian legislation, the federal goyment may impose temporary restrictions of faredgpital abroad in the event of a ser
imbalance or an anticipated serious imbalance dfiBsdalance of payments.

Interest Attributable to Shareholde’ Equity

Under Brazilian tax legislation effective Januan1296, Brazilian companies are permitted to payetiest’to holders of equity securities and treat ¢
payments as an expense for Brazilian income taxgsepand, beginning in 1997, for social contribuporrposes. The purpose of the tax law changa
encourage the use of equity investment, as oppmsddbt, to finance corporate activities. Payn@nguch interest may be made at the discretionuc
board of directors, subject to the approval of shareholders at a general shareholders’ meetihg. amount of any such notional “interepélyment t
holders of equity securities is limited in respetany particular year to the daily pro rata vaoiatof the Long-Term Interest Rat€axa de Juros de Lon
Prazc), or TILP, as determined by the Central Bank franetio time, and may not exceed the greater of:
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e 50% of net income (after social contribution on petfits but before taking into account the prastisfor income tax and the interest attributab
shareholders’ equity) for the period in respeavbfch the payment is made; or

e  50% of the sum of retained earnings and profitrkeseas of the beginning of the year in respeeiti€h such payment is made.

Payment of interest to a holder that is not domitiln Brazil for Brazilian tax and regulatory purpeg@ “non-Brazilian holder”)s subject t
withholding income tax at the rate of 15%, or 25%e nonBrazilian holder is domiciled in a country or locatithat does not impose income tax or w
the income tax rate is lower than 20% (“Low or Wilx Jurisdiction”)or where applicable local laws impose restrictionghe disclosure of the shareholc
composition or the ownership of investments or dhiémate beneficiary of the income derived fromngactions carried out and attributable to a nol
Brazilian holder. These payments may be includethedr net value, as part of any mandatory divitlefio the extent payment of interest on net eqgsis¢
included, the corporation is required to distribtdeshareholders an additional amount to ensutetiiieanet amount received by them, after paymeiie
applicable withholding income tax, plus the amaoafrdeclared dividends is at least equal to the ratowg dividend.

Under current Brazilian legislation, the sum of #reount distributed as interest on shareholdegsity and as dividends must be at least equdile
mandatory dividend. For IFRS accounting purposkispagh the interest charge must be reflected énstiatement of operations to be tax deductible
charge is reversed before calculating net incoméhénstatutory financial statements and deductenh fshareholderséquity in a manner similar to
dividend. Any payment of interest in respect afprred shares (including the ADSSs) is subject taziian withholding income tax at the rate of 1584
25% in the case of a shareholder domiciled in a loovNil Tax Jurisdiction or where applicable lodalvs impose restrictions on the disclosure o
shareholding composition or the ownership of inmestts or the ultimate beneficiary of the incomevdst from transactions carried out and attributable
non-Brazilian holder (see “ltem 10. Taxation—MadéBrazilian Tax Considerations”Jf such payments are accounted for, at their nieteyas part of ar
mandatory dividend, the tax is paid by the compamyehalf of its shareholders, upon distributiorihef interest. In case we distribute interesthaited tc
shareholderséquity in any year, and that distribution is not@mted for as part of mandatory distribution, Bagiincome tax would be borne by
shareholders. For IFRS accounting purposes, intatiefutable to shareholders’ equity is reflecésda dividend payment.

Under our by-laws, interest attributable to shaléés’ equity may be treated as a dividend for purposeth@fmandatory dividend. In 2009
distributed R$185.8 million to our shareholders, ieajent to a payment of R$0.70 per share or ADS.2010 we declared R$50.9 million to
shareholders, equivalent to a payment of R$0.18pene or ADS. In 2011 we did not distribute divids.

Dividend Polic

We intend to declare and pay dividends and/or ésteattributed to shareholders’ equity, as requinethe Brazilian corporation law and our layvs.
The declaration of annual dividends, including dands in excess of the mandatory distribution, ireguapproval by the vote of the majority of thddeos
of our common shares. The amount of any distdmstivill depend on many factors, such as our resdilbperations, financial condition, cash requizats
prospects and other factors deemed relevant bp@and of directors and shareholders. Within th&ed of our tax planning, we may in the future thoune
determining that it is to our benefit to distriburéerest attributed to shareholders’ equity.

B. Significant Changes

None.
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ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING
A. Offer and Listing Details

In the United States, our preferred shares tradleeiriorm of ADS. Since December 2005 each AD3®esmts one preferred share, issued by Citil
N.A., as Depositary pursuant to a Deposit Agreemént December 13, 2005, we executed a 2:1 AD$ splnging to ratio of one ADS representing
preferred shares to one ADS representing one peefeshare, as approved by a meeting of the BoaRirettors of the Company on November 8, 2(
The ADSs commenced trading on the NYSE on Jun@@34. As of December 31, 2011, the ADSs reprede3te6% of our preferred shares and 48.2
our current global public float.

The following table sets forth the reported higld émw closing sales prices for the ADSs on the NY&Ehe periods indicated.

US$ per ADS
Low High Average)

200¢

Annual 2.8¢ 15.5¢ 7.44
201(

Annual 10.62 18.5¢ 16.6¢
First quarte 12.0¢ 16.4¢ 13.4¢
Second quart 10.6: 13.6¢ 12.4;
Third Quarte 12.1C 15.92 13.8¢
Fourth Quarte 14.6¢ 18.5¢ 16.6:
2011

Annual 5.1¢ 16.17 10.67
First quarte 12.52 16.1% 14.1¢
Second quart 11.3¢ 14.1: 12.8¢
Third Quarte 5.5¢€ 13.1¢ 8.27
Fourth Quarte 5.1¢ 8.82 7.4t
Last Six Months 5.1¢ 13.1¢ 7.8¢
October 201 5.1¢ 8.4:% 7.0¢
November 201 6.5¢ 8.5¢ 7.6¢
December 201 6.37 8.8 7.5¢
January 201 6.50 7.32 6.93
February 201 7.03 9.04 8.08
March 201: 6.7: 8.51 7.84

Source: Bloomberg
(1) Calculated as average of closing prices foiprod.
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Our preferred shares began trading on the S&o Baobdik Exchange on June 24, 2004. The followitgetaets forth the reported high and low clo
sale prices for our preferred shares on the BM&FBORESor the periods indicated.

Reaisper Preferred Share

Low High Average)

200¢

Annual 6.5¢ 27.3¢ 14.1:
201(

Annual 19.7C 30.4( 24.3¢
First quarte 21.4( 27.1¢ 23.6¢
Second quart 19.7C 23.8¢ 22.1¢
Third Quarte 21.3i 27.0( 23.91
Fourth Quatrte 24.5( 30.4( 27.71
2011

Annual 9.12 26.5¢ 17.41
First quarte 20.5¢ 26.5¢ 23.1¢
Second quart 17.6¢ 22.1 20.22
Third Quarte 9.12 20.3( 13.2¢
Fourth Quarte 9.67 15.7C 13.1¢
Last Six Months 9.12 20.3( 13.22
October 201 9.67 13.9¢ 12.2¢
November 201 12.27 14.61 13.4¢
December 201 10.2¢ 13.0C 11.8:
January 201 11.93 12.89 12.30
February 201 12.07 15.19 13.83
March 201: 12.1¢ 15.1¢ 13.9¢

Source: Bloomberg
(1) Calculated as average of closing prices foipr@od

B. Plan of Distribution
Not applicable.
C. Markets
Trading on the BM&FBOVESPA

In 2000, the S&o Paulo Stock Exchange was reorg@utizough the execution of memoranda of undersigray the Brazilian stock exchanges. Ut
the memoranda, all securities are now traded onlyhe S&o Paulo Stock Exchange, with the excemticglectronically traded public debt securities
privatization auctions, which are traded on the dRigJaneiro Stock Exchange.

On May 8, 2008, the Sao Paulo Stock Exchange am@thzilian Mercantile and Futures Exchange mergeshting BM&FBOVESPA. Together, t
companies have formed one of the largest exchangddwide in terms of market value, the seconddatgn the Americas, and the leading exchan
Latin America.

When shareholders trade in common and preferrag@sioan the BM&FBOVESPA, the trade is settled in thyasiness days after the trade date wit
adjustment of the purchase price for inflation.e Beller is ordinarily required to deliver the gwato the exchange on the second business dawiiodjdhe
trade date. Delivery of and payment for sharesnaade through the facilities of the clearinghouSempanhia Brasileira de Liquidacdo e Custgdia
CBLC.
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The BM&FBOVESPA is a foprofit listed company that has regulatory authoaower its trading markets. Trading on the BM&FBOVESB limited
to member brokerage firms and a limited numberutharized nonmembers. The BM&FBOVESPA has two opeterg trading sessions each day f
10:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.mSao Paulo time, for all securities traded on altkets, except during daylight savings time in Brafiuring daylight savings time
Brazil, usually the sessions are from 11:00 a.n:8® p.m., S&o Paulo time, to closely mirror theS¥ytrading hours. Trading is also conducted bet
11:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., or between 10:00 a.m.5a0@ p.m. during daylight savings time in the @ditStates, on an automated system known
Computer Assisted Trading SysteB®igtema de Negociac@ssistida por Computadpon the BM&FBOVESPA and on the National Electroni@ading
System $istema Eletrénico de Negociagdo Nacignalhis system is a computerized system that lielestronically with the seven smaller regic
exchanges. The BM&FBOVESPA also permits trading fEdb p.m. to 7:00 p.m., S&o Paulo time, or frodb&.m. to 7:30 p.m. during daylight savi
time in Brazil, on an online system connected tditi@nal and Internet brokers called the “after ke’ Trading on the after market is subject to reguie
limits on price volatility and on the volume of sba transacted through Internet brokers. Ther@auspecialists or officially recognized market mekfol
our shares in Brazil.

In order to better control volatility, the BM&FBOVE3Padopted a “circuit breakesystem pursuant to which trading sessions may sgesaled for
period of 30 minutes or one hour whenever the exliaf the BM&FBOVESPA falls below the limits of 10% 156%, respectively, in relation to the in
registered in the previous trading session.

The BM&FBOVESPA is significantly less liquid than tiNYSE or other major exchanges in the world. ADetember 2011, the aggregate me
capitalization of the BM&FBOVESPA was equivalent toZ3frillion and the 10 largest companies listed onBW&.FBOVESPA represented 53.0% of
total market capitalization of all listed companiés contrast, as of December 2011, the aggragat&et capitalization of the NYSE was $§15.3 trillion.
Although any of the outstanding shares of a listeghpany may trade on the BM&FBOVESPA, in most case®f than half of the listed shares are act
available for trading by the public, the remaintdemg held by small groups of controlling persdmsgovernment entities or by one principal sharééio
See “ltem 3. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to the AD&$ @ur Preferred SharesFae relative volatility and illiquidity of the Brain securities marke
may substantially limit your ability to sell thegferred shares underlying the ADSs at the timepaiog you desire.”

Trading on the BM&FBOVESPA by a nd®razilian holder, is subject to certain limitatiamsder Brazilian foreign investment legislation. kVitmited
exceptions, noBrazilian holders may only trade on Brazilian stogklenges in accordance with the requirements of IRtimo No. 2,689, of January :
2000, of the National Monetary Councf@nselho Monetario Naciongalor CMN, or Resolution No. 2,689. Resolution N&&3, requires that securit
held by nonBrazilian holders be maintained in the custody oinaleposit accounts with, financial instituticeasd be registered with a clearinghouse. .
financial institutions and clearinghouses must by duthorized to act as such by the Central Bankth@dC VM. In addition, Resolution No. 2,689 requ
non-Brazilian holders to restrict their securitiesding to transactions on Brazilian stock exchamgegualified over-thesounter markets. With limite
exceptions, non-Brazilian holders may not trandferdwnership of investments made under Resolution2@9 to other noBrazilian holders through
private transaction. See “ltem 10. Taxation—MataBrazilian Tax Considerations—Taxation on Gaiftg”a description of certain tax benefits extentiy
non-Brazilian holders who qualify under Resolution R@89.

Corporate Governance Practices

In 2000, the Séo Paulo Stock Exchange introduceskthpecial listing segments, known as Level 1 2md Differentiated Corporate Governa
Practices and New Markell¢vo Mercadd aiming at fostering a secondary market for séesrissued by Brazilian companies with securilisted on th
BM&FBOVESPA, by prompting such companies to followodopractices of corporate governance. The lissiegments were designed for the tradir
shares issued by companies voluntarily undertakingbide by corporate governance practices andodis® requirements in addition to those alre
imposed by Brazilian law. These rules generallydase shareholders’ rights and enhance the qudlibformation provided to shareholders.

To become a Level Njvel J) company, in addition to the obligations imposgdbrrent Brazilian law, an issuer must agree te(esure that shares
the issuer representing 25% of its total capital effectively available for trading, (b) adopt offey procedures that favor widespread ownershiphafre
whenever making a public offering, (c) comply witlinimum quarterly disclosure standards includinghcliow statements, (d) follow stricter disclos
policies with respect to transactions made by aliimg shareholders, directors and officers inviolysecurities issued by the issuers; (e) submiteaisting
shareholders’ agreements and stock option plattsetBM&FBOVESPA and (f) make an annual calendar annognstheduled corporate events, brin
information on the company, the event, date ane fins going to take place; any changes in thedagle shall be promptly forwarded to BM&FBOVES
and published.
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To become a Level Nfvel 2 company, in addition to the obligations imposgdchrrent Brazilian law, an issuer must agree ta@mply with all o
the listing requirements for Level 1 companies,di@nt tagalong rights for all shareholders in connectiorhvettransfer of control of the company, offe
the same price paid per share for controlling blogiknmon shares and 80% of the price paid per sbhamontrolling block preferred shares, (c) graating
rights to holders of preferred shares in conneotith certain corporate restructurings and relgiaty transactions, such as: (i) any transformatibthe
company into another corporate form, (ii) any mergensolidation or spioff of the company, (iii) approval of any transacs between the company
its controlling shareholder, including parties tethto the controlling shareholder, (iv) approvihoy valuation of assets to be delivered to thamany ir
payment for shares issued in a capital increa3e@p@ointment of an independent company, with reremexpertise, to ascertain the economic valube
company in connection with any deregistration aelisting tender offer, and (vi) any changes to ¢hesting rights, (d) have a board of directors cosgu
of at least five members, of which at least 20%l &f&“independent,as defined by the BM&FBOVESPA, with a term limitedtte years, (e) if it elects
delist from the Level 2 segment, hold a tenderraffe the company controlling shareholder (the minimum price of ghares to be offered will be -
economic value determined by an appraisal procassl), for the same purposes, in the case of compavith diffuse control (controlling power exerd
by the shareholder holding less than 50% of thengatapital and per group of shareholders who atesignatories of voting agreements and which t
under a common control and does not act as a meie of a common interest) to comply with coempéntary rules to be issued by BM&FBOVES
(f) disclose: (i) quarterly financial statememsEnglish or prepared in accordance with U.S. GAARFRS and (ii) annual financial statements in Esit
including cash flow statements, prepared in aceweavith U.S. GAAP or IFRS, in U.S. dollars mais and (g) adhere exclusively to the rules of
BM&FBOVESPA Arbitration Chamber for resolution of digps involving the controlling shareholders, thenagers and the members of the fi
committee.

To be listed in théNovo Mercadpan issuer must meet all of the requirements destrabove, in addition to (a) issuing only votsttares and enst
that all the shares will be composed exclusivelgahmon shares, (b) granting talpng rights for all shareholders in connectiorhvettransfer of control
the company, offering the same price paid per stwreontrolling block common shares.

In May 2004, we entered into an agreement withBNW&FBOVESPA to comply with the requirements to becoakevel 2 company. In addition
complying with Level 2 requirements, we have grdrisgalong rights that entitle our preferred sharehaderreceive 100% of the price paid per com
share of controlling block shareholders in conmectvith a transaction resulting in a transfer afitcol of our company. Furthermore, we prepare wguky
financial statements in accordance with IFRS. Weewacluded in the following indexes (a) since 200BrX-100 (ndice Brasil Index Brazi), IGC
(indice de Ac¢bes com Governanca Corporativa Diferaatei Special Corporate Governance IndielrAG (indice de Acdes com Tag Along Diferenciado
Special Tag Along Stock Indeand MSCI Morgan Stanley Capital International Indexb) since 2006: IbrX-50ifdice Brasil 50 Index Brazil 50 anc
(c) since 2007:indice BM&FBOVESPAall of which reflect our increased market cattion and liquidity of our preferred shares.

Regulation of the Brazilian Securities Market

The Brazilian securities markets are regulated byGkM, which has regulatory authority over the stegkhanges and securities markets, as well
the Central Bank, which has, among other powersndiog authority over brokerage firms and reguldt@®ign investment and foreign excha
transactions. The Brazilian securities marketgyarerned by Law No. 10,198 dated February 14, 208%, No. 10,303 dated October 31, 2001, know
Law No. 10,303 and Law No. 10,411 dated February?®82, which introduced new concepts and sevérahges to Law No. 6,385 dated Decemb
1976, as amended and supplemented, the principajdaerning the Brazilian securities markets, by Bigz corporation law, and by regulations issue
the CVM, the CMN and the Central Bank. These laws regdlations, among others, provide for discloseguirements applicable to issuers of tre
securities, criminal sanctions for insider tradiagd price manipulation, and protection of minoryareholders. They also provide for licensing
oversight of brokerage firms argbvernance of Brazilian stock exchanges. However, Brazilian securities markets are not as highfyulated an
supervised as U.S. securities markets.
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Under the Brazilian corporation law, a company ihesi publicly held, acompanhia abertaor privately held, acompanhia fechadaAll listed
companies are registered with the CVM and are sultjeceporting and regulatory requirements. A campregistered with the CVM may trade
securities either on the BM&FBOVESPA or in the Brailiover-thecounter market. Shares of companies listed onBi&FBOVESPA may nc
simultaneously trade on the Brazilian over-tloemter market. The shares of a listed companyatsaybe traded privately, subject to several &tions. T
be listed on the BM&FBOVESPA, a company must appiyégistration with the BM&FBOVESPA and the CVM.

The trading of securities on the BM&FBOVESPA may ladtdd at the request of a company in anticipatiba material announcement. Trading 1
also be suspended on the initiative of the BM&FBOVESR the CVM, among other reasons, based on or due lielief that a company has provi
inadequate information regarding a significant é\arhas provided inadequate responses to inquiyigke CVM or the BM&FBOVESPA.

Trading on the BM&FBOVESPA by noresidents of Brazil is subject to limitations und&mazilian foreign investment and tax legislationhe
Brazilian custodian for the preferred shares undaglthe ADSs must, on behalf of the depositarytfier ADSs, obtain registration from the Central Bay
remit U.S. dollars abroad for payments of divideratsy other cash distributions, or upon the digmosiof the shares and sales proceeds theregfou
exchange your ADSs for preferred shares, you velehtitled to continue to rely on the custodsaelectronic foreign capital registration for fibasines
days after the exchange. Thereafter, you may @atbte to obtain and remit abroad ri®mazilian currency upon the disposition of or disitions relating t
the preferred shares, and will be subject to a fl@asrable tax treatment on gains with respech&greferred shares, unless you obtain a new efec
foreign capital registration on your own name. Séem 10.B. Memorandum of Articles of Association-egxription of Capital Stock-Regulation ¢
Foreign Investment.”

Disclosure Requirements

According to Law No 6,385, a publicly held companyst submit to CVM and BM&FBOVESPA certain periodiéoirmation, including annual a
quarterly reports prepared by management and imdigpé auditors. This legislation also requiresoufile with CVM our shareholdergigreements, notic
of shareholders’ meetings and copies of the relatiedtes.

Pursuant to CVM Rule No. 358, of January 3, 2003masnded, the CVM revised and consolidated the rexapeints regarding the disclosure and u
information related to material facts and acts ulfcly held companies, including the disclosurardgbrmation in the trading and acquisition of setes
issued by publicly held companies.

Such requirements include provisions that:

. establish the concept of a material fact that gitiss to reporting requirements. Material factslude decisions made by the control
shareholders, resolutions of the general meetinghafeholders and of management of the compangnyiother facts related to the company’
business (whether occurring within the companytbevise somehow related thereto) that may infleehe price of its publicly traded securit
or the decision of investors to trade such seegribr to exercise any of such securities’ undeglyights;

o specify examples of facts that are considered tméterial, which include, among others, the executif agreements providing for the transfe
control, the entry or withdrawal of shareholderat timaintain any managing, financial, technologaahdministrative function with or contributi
to the company, and any corporate restructuringraklen among related companies;

e oblige the officer of investor relations, controtii shareholders, other officers, directors, membgtse audit committee and other advisory bc
to disclose material facts;
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require simultaneous disclosure of material faztslit markets in which the corporation’s securities admitted for trading;

require the acquirer of a controlling stake in @pooation to publish material facts, including itdentions as to whether or not to lis-the
corporation’s shares, within one year;

establish rules regarding disclosure requirementise acquisition and disposal of a material stottkhg stake; and

forbid trading on the basis of insider information.

In addition to the disclosure requirements underBhazilian corporation law and the CVM regulations, must also observe the following disclo:
requirements:

we must disclose our consolidated financial statémat the end of each quarter (except for thegaatter of each year) and at the end of
fiscal year, including a statement of cash flowhjolv must indicate, at least, the changes in cashcash equivalents, separated into oper:
financing and investing cash flows;

we must, no later than four months after the endhef fiscal year: disclose our financial statemeand consolidated financial statement
accordance with IFRS, ireais or U.S. dollars, which must be fully disclosedEnglish, together with a management report, exgitag notes th.
shall include the net income and shareholdegsiity calculated at the end of such fiscal yeamvall as the proposal for distribution or othee o
net income, and the independent auditors’ repad; a

within no longer than 15 days following the terntaddished by the Brazilian corporation law for distire of our quarterly information, we m
also: disclose our quarterly information translated English.

CVM Rule No. 480 provides for periodical informatitivat shall be submitted to the market. For instaheesubmission of the following documents
financial statements, (ii) standard form and @@rmulario de Referéncja new annual report that replaces IAN.

The Formulario de Referénciahall be annually presented until the fifth mofatiowing the termination of the fiscal year. Additally whenever tF
company decides to make a public offering an uptRmulario de Referéncighall be filed. In addition, category A issuerdieh includes us, shi
always update itSormulario de Referénciwithin seven business days from the occurren@mefof the following events:

(i) change of any of company’s managers or memb#renAudit Committee;

(ii) change of the corporate capital of the company

(iii) issuance of securities;

(iv) change of the rights and advantages of theedsecurities;

(v) change of the majority shareholder or variaiioits position equal or superior to five percéto);

(vi) whenever a shareholder achieves a participattpal or superior to five percent (5%) of shafethe same class, considering that the issuewk

it;

(vii) change or disclosure of new projections stiraates;

(viii) consolidation, merger of shares, merger apih-off involving the company;

(ix) execution, change or termination of sharehadgreement; or

(x) file for reorganization or petition for bankiy.
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CVM Rule No. 481 which sets forth (i) the procedurekting to the public solicitation of proxies ftire exercise of voting rights at shareholder:
meetings of public held companies; and (ii) disetesrequirements to be followed by public held canips before the shareholders meetings. It pro
that: (i) shareholders that own 0.5% or more efdbmpanys corporate capital may indicate members to thedofbirectors and to the Fiscal Counci
public solicitation of proxies conducted by the g@my’s management, being thus required that the shaieisobe able to vote on the referred candic
(ii) the companies that accept digital proxies seatworld wide web must allow shareholders whodh@l5% or more of the compamsycorporate capital
make public solicitation of proxies through the gamny’s referred system; and (iii) the publicly held c@mies that do not accept digital proxies sen
world wide web must pay part of the costs of theljgusolicitation of proxies made by shareholddrattown 0.5% or more of the compasycorporat
capital.

In addition, all information that shall be discldgeintly with the call notice for General Sharedhers Meetings of public held companies must be |
available to shareholders through the CVM websit that the following documents shall be discloseteast with thirty (30) in advance of the Anr
Shareholders Meeting:

(i) the management report on the corporation’siaéfiad major administrative events of the lastdlseear;
(ii) copies of the accounts and financial statersient
(iii) the opinion of the independent auditors, rifya
(iv) comments of the managers in the terms providete Section ten (10) of tlormulario de Referéncjaand
(v) the Audit Committee report, if any.
D. Selling Shareholders
Not applicable.
E. Dilution
Not applicable.
F. Expenses of the Issue
Not applicable.
ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
A. Share Capital
Not applicable.
B. Memorandum and Articles of Association

The Registrant was formed on March 12, 2004 sscéedade por a¢desa stock corporation duly incorporated under thwesl of Brazil with unlimite
duration. The Registrant is registered with the $&mlo Commercial Registrydynta Comercial do Estado de S&o Paulmder number NIR
35.300.314.441.
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Description of Capital Stock
General

The Registrant became the parent company of Gol arcivi29, 2004, when all of the common shares, @Glaa®ferred shares and Class B prefe
shares of Gol (except for five common shares of #Bat are held by members of Goboard of directors for eligibility purposes) wementributed to th
Registrant by the shareholders of Gol in exchangéh®applicable number of either common shargeeferred shares of the Registrant. Assult of thi:
reorganization, 41,499,995 common shares of Gokevexchanged for 109,448,497 common shares and , 8l preferred shares of the Regist
10,375,000 Class A preferred shares of Gol wereangdd for 29,049,994 preferred shares and six canghares of the Registrant and 8,408,206 Cl:
preferred shares of Gol were exchanged for 23,522p9eferred shares of the Registrant. The reazgtian did not affect our operations in any resg
The aggregate number of our common and preferraesioutstanding was increased to 168,793,243ea= sult of a 2.80 -foone stock split on May 2
2004 (which includes 224 common shares and 56 peefshares of the Registrant that were issuedrinexion with its formation on March 12, 2004).
June 24, 2004, the Registrant completed its inftidllic offering through the issuance of 18,750,@0éferred shares in the form of ADSs in the Ur
States and other countries outside Brazil and irfdira of preferred shares in Brazil. On April 2808, the Registrant completed a primary and secg
offering of 16,905,000 preferred shares in the f@ADSs in the United States and other countrigtside Brazil and in the form of preferred share
Brazil. In addition, during 2005, our executiveiofirs exercised stock options for an aggregate08f579 preferred shares. During 2006, our exee
officers exercised stock options for an aggrega®88,833 preferred shares. In 2007, we increasedapital and, as a result of 6.1 million shasesed fo
the VRG acquisition and 11,569 shares issued relatamir stock option program. On March 20, 2009, looard of directors approved a capital s
increase issuing 6,606,366 voting and 19,487,36fpmed shares. On October 19, 2009, we concladgdbal share offering of 19,002,500 common si
and 43,187,500 preferred shares. On May 5, 201®oard of directors approved a capital increas¢gheénamount of R$119.0 million, with the issuanc
4,883,756 shares, of which 3,833,076 were commareshand 1,050,680 were preferred shares. Durih@, 2(ur executive officers exercised stock opt
for an aggregate of 173,374 preferred shares. B@@11, our executive officers exercised stockamstifor an aggregate of 49,836 preferred sharesf
December 31, 2011 our capital structure consistel86,032,734 common shares and 133,357,270 peefeirtares, each with no par value. We are a
corporation ¢ociedade andnin)ancorporated under the laws of Brazil.

On December 21, 2011, in order to implement theteDelvestment, our board of directors approved gitalincrease of up to R$295.8 millic
equivalent to up to 6,825,470 common shares antl9f/65 preferred shares at a subscription pricR%#2.00 per share, with a minimum aggre
subscription amount of R$182.6 million. Our coniral shareholder subscribed for 6,825,469 commoneshand 1,474,986 preferred shares, usin
funds received from Delta to pay in for those shafde capital increase is still subjected to aygirby our board of directors.

Issued Share Capital

Under our by-laws, our authorized capital as of éveloer 31, 2011 was R$4lion, and can be increased by the issuance efepred or commc
shares, after approval by our board of direct@sr shareholders must approve any capital incrifeeexceeds our authorized capital. Under ousavos
and the Brazilian corporation law, if we issue addil shares in a private transaction, the exissihgreholders have preemptive rights to subscok
shares on a pro rata basis according to their ingddi See “—Preemptive Rights.”

Regulation of Foreign Investm:

There are no general restrictions on ownershipuofpoeferred shares or common shares by individualegal entities domiciled outside Brazil, exc
for those regarding airline companies (see “—Regriapf the Brazilian Civil Aviation Market”).However, the right to convert dividend payments
proceeds from the sale of preferred shares or canshares into foreign currency and to remit sucbuats outside Brazil is subject to restrictions u
foreign investment legislation which generally riggs, among other things, the registration of #lewant investment with the Central Bank.

Foreign investors may register their investmenteuricaw No. 4,131 of September 3, 1962, or Law N34, or Resolution No. 2,689 of January
2000 of the CMN, or Resolution No. 2,689. Registratinder Law No. 4,131 or under Resolution No. 2,§88erally enables foreign investors to cor
into foreign currency dividends, other distributsoand sales proceeds received in connection wgfistezed investments and to remit such amountsaal
Resolution No. 2,689 affords favorable tax treatmentoreign investors who are not resident in a LawiNil Tax Jurisdiction, which is defined uni
Brazilian tax laws as a country or location or offueisdiction that does not impose tax or wherertteximum income tax rate is lower than 20%.
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Under Resolution No. 2,689, foreign investors mayest in almost all financial assets and engagédnimost all transactions available in the Brazi
financial and capital markets, provided that certaiquirements are fulfilled. In accordance witts®ation No. 2,689, the definition of foreign invex
includes individuals, legal entities, mutual furalsd other collective investment entities that avenidiled or headquartered abroad. Investors ma
transfer the ownership of investments made undeolRtEsn No. 2,689 to other non-Brazilian holdersotngh private transactions.

Pursuant to Resolution No. 2,689, foreign investoust:

e  appoint at least one representative and a custadBBrazil with powers to perform actions relatirgthe foreign investment;
e complete the appropriate foreign investor regigtraform;

e register as a foreign investor with the CVM;

e register the foreign investment with the Central Bank

e appoint a tax representative in Brazil; and

e obtain a taxpayer identification number from theAflran federal tax authorities.

Amounts invested in our preferred shares by aBw@zilian holder who qualifies under Resolution 2,68@ obtains registration with the CVM, or
the depositary representing an ADS holder, argbddigor registration with the Central Bank. Thigjistration (the amount so registered is referrees
registered capital) allows the remittance outsidazBrof foreign currency, acquired with the proceed distributions on, and amounts realized thrg
dispositions of our preferred shares. The registeapital per preferred share purchased in tme éfran ADS, or purchased in Brazil and depositeti e
depositary in exchange for an ADS, will be equaitsopurchase price (stated in U.S. dollars). Tegistered capital per preferred share withdrawon
cancellation of an ADS will be the U.S. dollar eglent of (i) the average price of a preferred sham the Brazilian stock exchange on which the
preferred shares were traded on the day of withalraw(ii) if no preferred shares were traded aat tifay, the average price on the Brazilian stockamngt
on which the most preferred shares were tradetfidrfitteen trading sessions immediately precedinchswithdrawal. The U.S. dollar equivalent will
determined on the basis of the average rates qbgtéte Central Bank on these dates.

A non-Brazilian holder of preferred shares may experiatetays in effecting Central Bank registration, whichy delay remittances abroad. This d
may adversely affect the amount in U.S. dollarsgreed by the non-Brazilian holder.

A registration has been obtained in the name ofldpositary with respect to the ADSs and is maietiby the custodian on behalf of the deposii
Pursuant to the registration, the custodian andddéyositary are able to convert dividends and otlistributions with respect to the preferred st
represented by our ADSs into foreign currency amditr the proceeds outside Brazil. In the eventahladlder of ADSs exchanges such ADSs for prefi
shares, such holder will be entitled to continuesty on the depositarg’registration for five business days after suaharge, following which such holc
must seek to obtain its own registration with thet€d Bank.

Thereafter, any holder of preferred shares mayadatble to convert into foreign currency and resniside Brazil the proceeds from the dispositio
or distributions with respect to, such preferredrshb, unless the holder is a duly qualified investaler Resolution 2,689.

If the shareholder does not qualify under ResoluBig889 by registering with the CVM and the Central IBand appointing a representative ai
custodian in Brazil, the holder will be subject ¢34 favorable Brazilian tax treatment than a hatdekDSs. Regardless of qualification under Resoh
2,689, residents in a Low or Nil Tax Jurisdictia® aubject to less favorable tax treatment thaerdibreign investors. See “—TaxatioBrazilian Ta
Considerations.”
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Under current Brazilian legislation, the federal ggament may impose temporary restrictions on ramits of foreign capital abroad in the event
serious imbalance or an anticipated serious imbelaf Brazils balance of payments. For approximately six m®ithl989 and early 1990, the Brazi
government froze all dividend and capital repatiizg held by the Central Bank that were owed to fpraquity investors, in order to conserve Brazil’
foreign currency reserves. These amounts weresgqubstly released in accordance with federal gawent directives. There can be no assurance t
Brazilian government will not impose similar restiénis on foreign repatriations in the future. Sgem 3. Risk Factors—Risks Relating to Brazil.”

Description of Preferred Shar

According to our by-laws, our preferred sharesramevoting. However, under certain limited circumstas@rovided for in the Brazilian corporat
law and as described in this section, holders ofpweferred shares may be entitled to vote. Upgumidation, holders of preferred shares are enititd
receive distributions prior to the holders of oamgnon shares.

According to our bylaws, holders of our preferred shares are entttdoke included in a public tender offer in case camtrolling shareholder sells
controlling stake in us, and the minimum price ¢odffered for each preferred share is 100% of tfee paid per share of the controlling stake.

Under Brazilian law, the protections afforded to amity shareholders are different from those inlthiéted States. In particular, judicial guidanceh
respect to shareholder disputes is less establisha@er Brazilian law than U.S. law and there aréediht procedural requirements for bringing shalar
lawsuits, such as shareholder derivative suits.a Assult, in practice it may be more difficult fmur minority shareholders to enforce their righgsinst u
or our directors or controlling shareholder thawatuld be for shareholders of a U.S. company.

Redemption and Rights of Withdra

Under the Brazilian corporation law, a dissentingnonvoting shareholder has the right to withdraw frocoapany and be reimbursed for the valt
the preferred or common shares held whenever gideds taken at a general shareholderseting by a vote of shareholders representingaat [50% ¢
the total outstanding voting capital to:

e create a new class of preferred shares or incaisgmportionately an existing class of preferredrss relative to the other classes of sharesss
such action is provided for or authorized by owldoys (our by-laws allow us to do so);

o modify a preference, privilege or condition of reg#ion or amortization conferred on one or morssts of preferred shares, or create a new
with greater privileges than the existing classgsreferred shares;

e reduce the mandatory distribution of dividends;

e merge or consolidate us with another company;

e participate in group of companies as defined inBhazilian corporation law and subject to the cdods set forth therein;
e change our corporate purpose, including a salkeo¥oting control to a third party;

e transfer all of our shares to another company ceive shares of another company in order to ma&kedmpany whose shares were transfer
wholly owned subsidiary of such company, knowtnasrporacéo de acées

e conduct a spin-off that results in (a) a changewfcorporate purposes, except if the assets ahilities of the spireff company are contributed
a company that is engaged in substantially the sactieities, (b) a reduction in the mandatory dend or (c) any participation in a centrali
group of companies, as defined under the Brazilaparation law; or
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e dissolution of the company or terminating a stdtiéqoidation.

In the event that the entity resulting from a mergensolidation, oincorporacéo de acde®r spineff of a listed company fails to become a li¢
company within 120 days of the shareholders meeatnghich such decision was taken, the dissentingoavoting shareholders may also exercise
withdrawal right.

If there is a resolution to (a) merge or consoédag with another company; (b) condudte@orporacdo de agdegc) participate in a group of compan
as defined under the Brazilian corporation law gra@huire control of another company, the withdiarmghts are exercisable only if our shares dc
satisfy certain tests of liquidity and dispersatteé type or class of shares in the market atithe of the general meeting.

Only holders of shares adversely affected by ttaaghs mentioned in the first and second items abmayewithdraw their shares.

The right of withdrawal lapses 30 days after pwdilan of the minutes of the relevant general shadeins’ meeting that approved the corporate ac
described above. In the case of the changes meuqtim items (a) and (b) above, the resolutionulgiext to confirmation by the preferred sharehd
which must be obtained at a special meeting heldinvbne year. In those cases, theda@-term is counted from the date of publicationhaf minutes ¢
the special meeting. We would be entitled to reaer any action triggering appraisal rights withiddays following the expiration of such rightght
redemption of shares of dissenting or nvating shareholders would jeopardize our finanstability. Shares to be purchased by us from tagedting c
nonvoting shareholders exercising appraisal right$ lél valued at an amount equal to the lesser ofdtable portion attributable to such shares o
shareholders’ equity as shown on the last balaneetsapproved at a general shareholdeeting (book value) and the ratable portion aiteble to suc
shares of the economic value of the company, patsoaan appraisal report produced in accordante thie provisions of the Brazilian corporation laif
more than 60 days have elapsed since the datebftsiance sheet, dissenting shareholders mayreeiipait the book value of their shares be calcdlat
the basis of a new balance sheet. As a genegmlshihreholders who acquire their shares aftdirftenotice convening the general shareholderséting o
after the relevant press release concerning théimgee published will not be entitled to appraisghts.

For purposes of the right of withdrawal, the coricep “dissenting shareholder,inder the Brazilian corporation law, includes notyothose
shareholders who vote against a specific resolubahalso those who abstain from voting, who faihttend the shareholders meeting or who do ned
voting rights.

Preemptive Righ

Each of our shareholders generally has a preempti# to subscribe for shares or convertible séesrin any capital increases, in proportion 8
shareholdings. A minimum period of 30 days, unkesshorter period is established by our board wctrs, following the publication of notice of
capital increase is allowed for the exercise ofrigat and the right is negotiable. In the evehtai@apital increase which would maintain or inse=gh:
proportion of capital represented by preferred e$ianolders of ADSs or preferred shares would pagemptive rights to subscribe only to newly is:
preferred shares.

In the event of a capital increase which would pedilne proportion of capital represented by preteshares, holders of ADSs or preferred sharesd
have preemptive rights to subscribe for preferfates, in proportion to their shareholdings, andccommon shares, only to the extent necessaryetzep
dilution of their equity participation. (See “Risk®lating to the ADSs and Our Preferred Shardslders of ADSs may be unable to exercise preere
rights with respect to our preferred shares”). ©®wlaws provide that our board of directors may, wittine limit of its authorized capital, withdr
preemptive rights to existing shareholders in cotine with an increase in share capital througk saktock exchanges, public offerings or publicheang
offers. In addition, Brazilian corporation law pides that the granting or exercise of stock optipmssuant to certain stock option plans is not esthic
preemptive rights.
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Voting Rights

Each common share entitles its holder to one vioteiashareholdersheetings. Preferred shares have no voting rightsgpt that each preferred st
entitles its holder to one vote at our shareholdeeeting to decide on certain specific mattershsas:

e any transformation of the company into another crate type; any merger, consolidation or spin-6the company;

e approval of any transactions between the compadytarcontrolling shareholder or parties relatethtcontrolling shareholder;
e approval of any evaluation of assets to be deltvévehe company in payment for shares issuedcapétal increase;

e appointment of an expert to ascertain the fair@alithe company in connection with any deregigtnaand delisting tender offer;
e any changes to these voting rights; and

e approval of a change of our corporate purpose.

Holders of preferred shares are entitled to atsdradteholdersmeetings and to participate in the discussionse Bitazilian corporation law provides t
nonvoting shares, such as preferred shares, may acepling rights if the company fails to distribdteed or minimum dividends in connection with s
shares for three consecutive fiscal years andretiflin such voting rights until the distributionsafch fixed or minimum dividends. (SeRisks Relating t
the ADSs and Our Preferred Shares—Holders of tefeped shares may not receive any dividends”).

According to the Brazilian corporation law, any cparin the preferences or rights of our preferreatesty or the creation of a class of shares h
priority over our preferred shares, unless suchngbads authorized by our Bgws, would require the approval of our preferrédreholders in a spec
shareholdersineeting in addition to approval by a majority oé tholders of our outstanding voting shares. THdene of preferred shares would vote
class at the special meeting.

The Brazilian corporation law grants (i) holderspoéferred shares without voting rights (or withtriesed voting rights) representing 10% of the |t
issued capital stock and (ii) holders of our comrabares that are not part of the controlling graunul represent at least 15% of the voting capiteks the
right to appoint a member to the board of diregtbysvoting during the annual shareholders’ meetiighone of our norcontrolling holders of common
preferred shares meets the respective threshosisiloed above, holders of preferred or common shagresenting at least 10% of the share capitald
be able to combine their holdings to appoint onenlyer and an alternate to our board of directorgchSights may only be exercised by those shareln
who prove that they have held the required stakie mo interruption during at least the three momulinsctly preceding our annual shareholders meeting

Holders of common shares are entitled to certagjhtsi that cannot be amended by changes in thewsyda at a general shareholdamseeting, whic
include (i) the right to vote at general sharehdtimeetings; (ii) the right to participate in distrtimns of dividends and interest on capital andhars in th
remaining assets of the company in the event afdation; (iii) preemptive rights in certain circgtances and (iv) the right to withdraw from the pam
in certain cases. In addition to those rights,itiidaws or a majority of the voting shareholders matallish additional rights and, likewise, removernth
Currently, our bylaws do not establish any rights in addition tosth@lready set forth by the Brazilian corporation.larhe Level 2 of Differentiate
Corporate Governance Practices, which we comply, witbvides for the granting of voting rights to tiets of preferred shares in connection with ce
matters, including corporate restructurings, meygerd related party transactions.

Controlling shareholders may nominate and elect nihaof the members of the board of directorsBozilian companies. In a Brazilian compe
management is not entitled to nominate directorglection by the shareholders. Non-controllingrsholders and holders of n@aoting shares are entitl
to elect representatives tioe board, as described above. Holders of a tbi@gtercentage of the voting shares may also reéquego 48 hours prior to a
general shareholdersieeting, that the election of directors be subjeatumulative voting. The threshold percentagesired for cumulative voting for
corporation such as ours is currently 5% of thestamding shares. Shareholders who vote to elsgprasentative of the naontrolling shareholders m
not cast cumulative votes to elect other membetkeoboard.
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Conversion Right

Our shareholders may, at any time, convert comnhanes into preferred shares, at the rate of onermnshare to one preferred share, to the €
such shares are duly paid and provided that theiataf preferred shares does not exceed 50% dabthéamount of shares outstanding. Any requer
conversion must be delivered to our board of exeeudfficers and, once accepted by the board otutikee officers, must be confirmed by our boar
directors at the first meeting after the date efréquest for conversion.

Special and General Meetin

Unlike the laws governing corporations incorporat@der the laws of the State of Delaware, the Bearitorporation law does not allow sharehol
to approve matters by written consent obtained @Ssponse to a consent solicitation procedure.maliters subject to approval by the shareholdest o
approved in a general meeting, duly convened putdaathe provisions of Brazilian corporation laBhareholders may be represented at a sharehold:
meeting by attorneys-in-fact who are (i) sharehaé the corporation, (ii) a Brazilian attorneyi) @ member of management or (iv) a financialitngbn.

General and special shareholders’ meetings maglbeidy publication of a notice in thizario Oficial do Estado de Sdo Pauémd in a newspaper
general circulation in our principal place of besie at least 15 days prior to the meeting. Spewéatings are convened in the same manner as ¢
shareholders’ meetings and may occur immediatdlyrber after a general meeting.

At duly called and convened meetings, our sharasldre empowered to take any action regardingpasiness. Shareholders have the exclusive
during our annual shareholdersieetings required to be hold within 120 days of ¢inel of our fiscal year, to approve our financi@taments and
determine the allocation of our net income anddis&ibution of dividends related to the fiscal ygamediately preceding the meeting. The membtaair
board of directors are generally elected at anshaleholdersmeetings. However, according to Brazilian corporatiaw, they can also be electe:
extraordinary shareholdersheetings. At the request of shareholders holdirgufficient number of shares, a fiscal council ¢enestablished and
members elected at any shareholders’ meeting.

An extraordinary shareholders’ meeting may be tegldcurrently with the annual shareholdenseeting and at other times during the year.
shareholders may take the following actions, anathgrs, exclusively at shareholders’ meetings:

e election and dismissal of the members of our boérirectors and our fiscal council, if the shareleos have requested the set up of the latter;

e approval of the aggregate compensation of the mesrdfeur board of directors and board of executifficers, as well as the compensation o
members of the fiscal council, if one has beenbdistzed;

e amendment of our bylaws;
e approval of our merger, consolidation or spin-off;
e approval of our dissolution or liquidation, as wesl the election and dismissal of liquidators dvedapproval of their accounts;

e granting stock awards and approval of stock spliteverse stock splits;
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e approval of stock option plans for our managemet employees, as well as for the management antbgegs of other companies directly
indirectly controlled by us;

e approval, in accordance with the proposal submlittedur board of directors, of the distributionaafr net income and payment of dividends;

. authorization to delist from the Level 2 of Diffete&ated Corporate Governance Practices and to be@mpgvate company, except if
cancellation is due to a breach of the Level 2 lagns by management, and to retain a speciafinmctto prepare a valuation report with respe:
the value of our shares, in any such events;

e approval of our management accounts and our fiahetatements;
e approval of any primary public offering of our seaor securities convertible into our shares; and

e deliberate upon any matter submitted by the boadirectors.
Anti-Takeover Provisions

Our by-laws require any party that acquires outr@io extend a tender offer for common and pref@ishares held by naentrolling shareholders
the same purchase price paid to the controllingetedder.

Arbitration

In connection with our listing with Level 2 of Défentiated Corporate Governance Practices, we ancbatrolling shareholders, directors, officers
members of our fiscal committee have undertakenefer to arbitration any and all disputes arising of the Level 2 rules or any other corporate erat
See “Market Information.” Under our bBgws, any disputes among us, our shareholders @anchanagement with respect to the application e®L& rules
the Brazilian Corporation law or the application bé trules and regulations regarding Brazilian capitatkets, will be resolved by arbitration condu
pursuant to the BM&FBOVESPA Arbitration Chamber anlgsu Any disputes among shareholders, includiriders of ADSs, and disputes between us
shareholders, including holders of ADSs, will bbémitted to arbitration in accordance with the BM&FBBESPA Arbitration Chamber and rules.

Going Private Process

Pursuant to our bylaws, we may become a privdtelg-company only if we, our controlling sharehotder our group of controlling shareholders v
a public tender offer for all outstanding shares.

According to the Level 2 regulations and our bylathe minimum price of the shares in the publid&roffer required to be made in case we go pt
shall be equivalent to the economic value deterchinghe appraisal report prepared by a speciakretindependent company, with renowned expett
be selected at the annual shareholders’ meeting &rmong the three companies suggested by the bbdiectors.

In addition to the requirements set out in the L@regulations and our bylaws, according to thezliem corporation law, our registration as a pciy
held company with shares traded on stock exchanglelse canceled only if we or our direct or inditecontrolling shareholders make a public tendér
for the total outstanding shares in the market ¢ivimay be the same tender offer required by LevebRlations and our bylaws), at a fair value,gqrice
at least equal to our evaluation, determined basethe following criteria, separately or jointly gated: stockholders’ equity book value, stockhadtle
equity at market price, discounted cash flow, mldticomparisons, market price of our shares orathgr criteria accepted by the CVM. Sharehol
holding at least 10% of our outstanding shares ragyire our management to review the price offéoedhe shares, and in this event our managemei
call a special shareholders™ meeting to determinether to perform another valuation using the sansdifferent valuation method. Such request rbe
made within 15 days following the disclosure of finiee to be paid for the shares in the public ¢éeradfer, and shall be duly justified. The shatdbos whe
make such request, as well as those who vote favts, shall reimburse us for any costs involvegieparing thaew valuation if the valuation price
lower than or equal to the original valuation pridéthe new valuation price is higher than thigimal valuation price, the public tender offer mhe mad
at the new valuation price.
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Delisting from Differentiated Corporate Governancea&tices Level 2

We may, at any time, delist our shares from theeL@vsegment, provided that this is approved byedtw@ders representing the majority of our vc
share capital at an annual shareholderséting and that we provide written notice to theSgMBOVESPA at least 30 days in advance. If we detidgelis
from the Level 2 segment, in order to make ourehawailable to be traded outside the Level 2 sagmar controlling shareholders must conduct dip
tender offer for the acquisition of our shares imitthe legal timeframe, based on the economic vahleulated in the appraisal report prepared
specialized and independent company, to be selattaed annual shareholderaeeting from among three companies suggested blpahel of directors
The public tender offer notice must be communicdtethe BM&FBOVESPA and immediately disclosed to tharket after the shareholdermeetin
during which the delisting was approved. If thdisdimg from the Level 2 segment is a result of tancellation of our registration as a publiclyd
company, our controlling shareholders must follbe dther requirements applicable to going private.

The delisting from the Level 2 segment does notyrtipe cancellation of the trading of our sharesttnBM&FBOVESPA.

If our share control is transferred within the 18nths subsequent to the delisting from the Leveh@,selling controlling shareholder and the b
shall offer to our other shareholders the acqoisitof their shares at the price and conditions igexi to the controlling shareholder selling thersh
adjusted for inflation.

After delisting from the Level 2 segment, we may regjuest the listing of our shares in the Leveé@ment for two years subsequent to the cancei|
except if there is a change of our share contter alelisting from the Level 2 segment.

Form and Transfer

Because our preferred shares are in registered éatok-form, Banco Ital S.A., as registrar, mustafény transfer of shares by an entry made
books, in which it debits the share account of thaasferor and credits the share account of thesfieaee. When our shares are acquired or solc
Brazilian stock exchange, the transfer is effectedh® records of our registrar by a representativa brokerage firm or the stock exchargyelearing
system. Transfers of shares by a foreign investerexecuted in the same way by that investor’allagent on the investar'’behalf except that, if t
original investment were registered with the Cerahk pursuant to Resolution No. 2,689, the foreiyestor should also seek amendment through it$
agent, if necessary, of the electronic registratreflect the new ownership. The BM&FBOVESPA opesaa clearinghouse through CBLC. The fact
such shares are subject to custody with the retestank exchange will be reflected in our regisifyshareholders. Each participating shareholdér i
turn, be registered in the register of our benafishareholders that is maintained by CBLC and wilirbated in the same way as registered shareholders

American Depositary Receipts

Citibank, N.A., as depositary, has executed andreleld the ADRs representing our preferred sharesh BDR is a certificate evidencing a spet
number of American Depositary Shares, also refetweas ADSs. After our 2:1 ADS ratio change in &mber 2005, each ADS represents one prel
share (or a right to receive one preferred shagppsited with the principal S&o Paulo office of Baftall S.A., as custodian for the depositary in Bri
Each ADS also represents any other securities, @asther property which may be held by the depogit The depositarg’ office at which the ADRs ¢
administered is located at 399 Park Avenue, NevkYldew York 10043.

You may hold ADSs either directly (by having an AB&jistered in your name) or indirectly through ybuoker or other financial institution. If y
hold ADSs directly, you are an ADR holder. We dd tneat ADR holders as our shareholders and ADR hsldave no shareholder rights. Brazilian
governs shareholder rights. The depositary istiider of the preferred shares underlying the ADSselders of ADRs have ADR holder rights. A dep
agreement among us, the depositary and you, asDéh Holder, and the beneficial ownersAIDRs sets out ADR holder rights as well as the rigirte
obligations of the depositary. New York law gowethe deposit agreement and the ADRs.
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C. Material Contracts

Our material contracts are directly related to operating activities, such as contracts relatingitoraft leasing and fuel supply as well as cant
relating to our concession to operate as a comaleiline. We do not have material contracts #ratnot related to our operating activities.

Aircraft General Terms Agreement between The Boeing Qopany and VRG Linhas Aéreas S.A.

In 2004, we entered into an agreement, as amemd#d;The Boeing Company for the purchase of airciiafifallation of buyer furnished equipm
provided by us, customer support services and ptaghsurance. In addition to the aircraft suppligte Boeing Company will provide maintenance traj
and flight training programs, as well as operatiengineering support.

Commercial Sale Promise Agreement between Petrobrdistribuidora S.A. and VRG Linhas Aéreas S.A.

In 2001, we entered into a commercial sale promgreement for the purchase of fuel from Petrolwhich was renewed July 7, 2006. We agre¢
purchase fuel exclusively from Petrobras in altteg airports where Petrobras maintains aircraflirfgeacilities. Petrobras, in turn, agreed to\pde u:
with all of our fuel needs in the supplying airgort

Reservation Services and Software License Use Agreent between Navitaire Inc. and VRG Linhas Aéreas S.A

On May 1, 2004, we entered into an agreement, &hded and updated, with Navitaire Inc. for hosemnestion services and obtained a license t
the Navitaire software to provide reservation sgsito our customers. Navitaire provides a nurobancillary services in addition to the host ressior
services, including data center implementation isesy network configuration and design servicestesy integration services, customer site instalt
services and initial training services.

D. Exchange Controls

The right to convert dividend or interest paymaartd proceeds from the sale of shares into foraigrency and to remit such amounts outside Bra
subject to restrictions under foreign investmegidiation which generally requires, among othengdhi that the relevant investments have been esgi
with the Central Bank and the CVM. Such restrictionsthe remittance of foreign capital abroad maydéinor prevent the custodian for our prefe
shares represented by our ADSs or the holders ojpmferred shares from converting dividends, itigtions or the proceeds from any sale of t
preferred shares into U.S. dollars and remittirgwhS. dollars abroad. Holders of our ADSs cowdbversely affected by delays in, or refusal emgany
required government approval to convert Braziliamency payments on the preferred shares underbimg\DS and to remit the proceeds abroad.

Resolution No. 1,927 of the National Monetary Coumeivides for the issuance of depositary receiptforeign markets in respect of share
Brazilian issuers. The ADS program was approveceutite Annex V Regulations by the Central Bank andQ¥&1 prior to the issuance of the ADS
Accordingly, the proceeds from the sale of ADSSADR holders outside Brazil are not subject to Braaifiareign investment controls, and holders o
ADSs are entitled to favorable tax treatment urnéetain circumstances. See “Taxation—Material BieziTax Considerations.”

E. Taxation

The following discussion addresses the material iBaazand United States federal income tax consecge of acquiring, holding and disposing of
preferred shares or ADSs.

This discussion is not a comprehensive discussiaill dhe tax considerations that may be relevana tdecision to purchase our preferred shar
ADSs and is not applicable to all categories oEstars, some of whicmay be subject to special rules, and does notfigahi address all of the Brazilii
and United States federal income tax consideratimpdicable to any particular holder. It is basgdn the tax laws of Brazil and the United Statem
effect on the date of this annual report, which subject to change, possibly with retroactive dffand to differing interpretations. Each prospe
purchaser is urged to consult its own tax advibouathe particular Brazilian and United States fabimcome tax consequences to it of an investrimeoti
preferred shares or ADSs. This discussion is laés®d upon the representations of the depositahyprthe assumption that each obligation in theosid
agreement among us, Citibank, N.A., as depositarg, the registered holders and beneficial ownersusf ADSs, and any related documents, wil
performed in accordance with its terms.
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Although there presently is no income tax treatyvieen Brazil and the United States, the tax autlesritf the two countries have had discussions
may culminate in such a treaty. We cannot assate lyowever, as to whether or when a treaty witteinto force or how it will affect holders of ¢
preferred shares or ADSs.

Material Brazilian Tax Considerations

The following discussion, in the opinion of Mattéslho, Veiga Filho, Marrey Jr. e Quiroga Advogadaddresses the material Brazilian
consequences of the acquisition, ownership anasipn of our preferred shares or ADSs by a noreiiea holder.

This discussion is based on Brazilian law as culreint effect, which are subject to change, possibigh retroactive effect, and to differi
interpretations. Any change in such law may chahgeconsequences described below. This discudsies not address all Brazilian tax consideratioat
may be applicable to any particular non-Braziliafdio and, therefore, each n@mazilian holder should consult his or her own taxiser concerning tt
Brazilian tax consequences of an investment in thfeped shares or ADSs.

Taxation of DividendsDividends, including dividends in kind, paid bytasthe depository in respect of the preferred sharelerlying the ADSs or tc
non-Brazilian holder of preferred shares will not bejeabto Brazilian withholding income tax, providdtht such amounts are related to profits earnec
January 1, 1996.

Taxation of Gains According to Law No. 10,833, enacted on Decembef@03, capital gains realized on the dispositibassets located in Brazil b
non-Brazilian holder are subject to taxation in Brazgardless of whether the sale or the dispasitomade by a non-Brazilian holder to another no
Brazilian resident or to a Brazilian resident.

With respect to the disposition of preferred shaasshey are assets located in Brazil, the Bi@zilian holder will be subject to income tax oe tain:
assessed, following the rules described below rdbgss of whether the disposition is conducted iazBor with a Brazilian resident.

With respect to the ADSs, arguably the gains redliay a non-Brazilian holder on the disposition @3s to another noBrazilian resident are n
taxed in Brazil, based on the argument that ADSsldvaot constitute assets located in Brazil for psgmof Law No. 10,833/03. However, we ca
assure you how Brazilian courts would interpretdbénition of assets located in Brazil in connectith the taxation of gains realized by a N@&raziliar
Holder on the disposition of ADSs to another nonzBian resident. As a result, gains on a dispositbf ADSs by a nomrazilian holder to Brazilia
resident, or even to ndBrazilian holder in the event that courts determireg ADSs would constitute assets located in Brazidly be subject to income -
in Brazil according to the rules described aheads important to clarify that, for purposes of Bi@n taxation, the income tax rules on gains eaatc
disposition of preferred shares or ADSs vary depgnadn the domicile of the non-Brazilian holder, toem by which such noBrazilian holder he
registered its investment with the Central Bank anldéov the disposition is carried out, as describeldw.

The deposit of preferred shares in exchange for ADSy be subject to Brazilian tax on capital gairtha rate of 15%, or 25% in the case of inve:
domiciled in a Low or Nil Tax Jurisdiction, if trecquisition cost of the preferred shares is lowant(a) the average price per preferred shareBraaliar
stock exchange on which the greatest number of shales were sold on the day of deposit or (bd ipreferred shares were sold on that day, the g&
price on the Brazilian stock exchange on which theagst number of preferred shares were sold irlsheading sessions immediately preceding
deposit. In such case, the difference betweeratpiisition cost and the average price of the prefleshares calculated as described above, w
considered to be a capital gaimbject to taxation. In some circumstances, threxg be arguments to sustain that such taxatioatigpplicable in the case
a non-Brazilian holder that is a 2,689 Holder (afinéel below) and is not resident in a Low or NilXTaurisdiction.
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The withdrawal of ADSs in exchange for preferreadrsis should not be considered as giving rise tapitat gain subject to Brazilian income 1
provided that on the receipt of the underlying erefd shares, the ndrazilian holder complies with the regulatory rulelsserved in respect to 1
registration of the investment before the CentralkBan

Gains assessed on the disposition of the prefshiates carried out on the Brazilian stock exchangpch includes the transactions carried out ol
organized over-the-counter market) are:

e exempt from income tax, when assessed by aBramilian holder that (1) has registered its invesitrin Brazil with the Central Bank under
rules of Resolution No. 2,689/00 (“2,689 Holder"dgR) is not resident in a Low or Nil Tax Jurisdbet; or

e subject to income tax at a rate of 15% in any otlase, including the gains assessed by aBramiian holder that is not a 2,689 Holder andgoz
resident in a Low or Nil Tax Jurisdiction. In tleesases, a withholding income tax of 0.005% shethjplicable and can be offset with the eve
income tax due on the capital gain.

Any other gains assessed on the disposition opteferred shares that are not carried out on theilBma stock exchange are subject to income ta
rate of 15%, except for a resident of a Low or Nik Jurisdiction, or yet where local regulationgpase restrictions on disclosure of share owneraht
identity of beneficiary holders which, in this case subject to income tax at a rate of 25%. Hsth gains are related to transactions conductetie
Brazilian non-organized over-ttemunter market with intermediation, the withholdingome tax of 0.005% shall also be applicable ardbe offset agair
the eventual income tax due on the capital gain.

In the case of a redemption of preferred sharesOf8s or a capital reduction by a Brazilian corpamatithe positive difference between the am
received by the noBrazilian holder and the acquisition cost of thefgmed shares or ADSs redeemed is treated as kgpitaderived from the sale
exchange of shares not carried out on a Brazilieckstxchange market and is therefore subject tnigctax at the rate of 15%, or 25%, as the casebmay

As a general rule, the gains realized as a re$udtdisposition transaction of preferred share&\DSs are determined by the difference betwee
amount realized on the sale or exchange of theestaard their acquisition cost.

There can be no assurance that the current prétdreeatment for noBrazilian holder of ADSs and 2,689 Holder of predershares will continue
will not be changed in the future.

Any exercise of preemptive rights relating to theferred shares or ADSs will not be subject to Biaziincome tax. Any gain on the sale
assignment of preemptive rights relating to pref@rshares or the ADSs by a nBrazilian holder will be subject to Brazilian incortexation according
the same rules applicable to the sale or dispositigreferred shares.

Distributions of Interest on Shareholders’ Equity. accordance with Law No. 9,249, dated Decembef 285, as amended, Brazilian corporations
make payments to shareholders characterized agbdiiins of interest on the company’s shareholderpiity as an alternative to making indivic
distributions. Such interest is calculated by nexfiee to the TILP as determined by the Central Bamk fime to time and cannot exceed the greater of:

e 50% of net income (after social contribution onfjgsoand before taking such distribution and thevision for corporate income tax into acco!
for the period in respect of which the payment &deq or

e 50% of the sum of retained profits and profits ress, as of the date of the beginning of the penagspect of which the payment is made.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Distributions of interest on shareholders’ equityéspect of the preferred shares paid to sharetsoldho are either Brazilian residents or Braziliar
holders, including noBrazilian holders of ADSs, are subject to Braziligthiwolding income tax at the rate of 15%, or 25%édse of a resident of a Low
Nil Tax Jurisdiction or where applicable local laingpose restrictions on the disclosure of the di@ding composition or the ownership of investmes
the ultimate beneficiary of the income derived frémansactions carried out and attributable to a-Biazilian holder. The distribution of interest
shareholdersequity may be determined by our board of directovée cannot assure you that our board of directglisnot determine that futu
distributions of profits may be made by means tdriest on shareholders’ equity instead of by meé&ds/idends.

The amounts paid as distribution of interest orredinalders’equity are deductible for corporation income tad ancial contribution on profit, both
which are taxes levied on our profits, as far aslithits and rules described above are observagby

Low or Nil Taxation Jurisdictions.

Law No. 9,779, dated as of January 1, 1999 staats except for limited prescribed circumstancaspine derived from transactions by a pe
resident or domiciled in a Low or Nil Tax Jurisdiet will be subject to withholding income tax aetrate of 25%. A Low or Nil Tax Jurisdiction is geally
considered to be a country or other jurisdictiorichtdoes not impose any income tax or which impaseh tax at a maximum rate lower than 20%. U
certain circumstances, naransparency rules are also taken into accoundédermining whether a country or other jurisdictisna Low or Nil Ta:
Jurisdiction. In addition, on June 24, 2008, Law lb,727 introduced the concept of “privileged tegime”,considered as such the tax regime that (i)
not tax income or taxes it at a maximum rate lothian 20%; (ii) grants tax benefits to nmsident entities or individuals (a) without thgu&ement to cart
out a substantial economic activity in the courdrydependency or (b) contingent to the mxercise of a substantial economic activity in ¢oentry o
dependency; or (iii) does not tax or that taxesitikeme generated abroad at a maximum rate lovaer 20%; or (iv) does not provide access to inforom
related to shareholding composition, ownershipssits and rights or economic transactions cartiéd We consider that the best interpretation off INo.
11,727/08 that the new concept of “privileged tegime”would be applicable solely for purposes of trangfécing and thin capitalization rules. Howe!
due to the recent enactment of this Law, we arblerta ascertain whether or not the privilegedrigime concept will be extended to the conceptamf o
Nil Taxation Jurisdiction although the Brazilian tawthorities appear to agree with our positionyiew of the provisions of the recently introdu
Normative Ruling No. 1,037, dated as of June 4, 20dtich presents two different lists (Low or Nil ¥durisdictions— taking into account the non-
transparency rules — and privileged tax regimes).

Notwithstanding the above, we recommend that yasaib your own tax advisors regarding the consegeenf the implementation of Law No. 11,7
Normative Ruling No. 1,037 and of any related Braniltax law or regulation concerning Low or Nil Taxrisdictions or“privileged tax regimes.”

Other Relevant Brazilian Taxes

There are no Brazilian federal inheritance, gifsoccession taxes applicable to the ownership, feans disposition of preferred shares or ADSs
non-Brazilian holder. Gift and inheritance taxesybweer, may be levied by some states of Brazil ots gifade or inheritances bestowed by the Bariliar
holder to individuals or entities resident or doifeid within such states in Brazil. There are mnazilian stamp, issue, registration or similar &age dutie
payable by a non-Brazilian holder of preferred sharcADSs.

Tax on foreign exchange transactions

Pursuant to Decree No. 6,306/07, the conversianfareign currency or the conversion into Brazilamrency of the proceeds received or remitted
Brazilian entity from a foreign investment in the Biian securities market, including those in coniwith the investment by a ndrazilian holder i
the preferred shares and ADSs may be subject tddakeon Foreign Exchange Transactions, or IOF/Exgha Currently applicable rate for most fore
currency exchange transactions is 0.38%. Effeas/ef December 1, 2011, currency exchange traoeaatarried out for the inflow of funds in Brazilr
investment made by a foreign investor (includingoa-Brazilian holder, as applicable) are subject to EXehange at (i) 0% rate in case of variable inc
transactions carried out on the Brazilian stockures and commodities exchanges, as well as in ¢haisitions of shares of Brazilian publidhelc
companies in public offerings or subscription chrsgs related to capital contributions, provided tha issuer company has registered its sharesafiing ir
the stock exchange (ii) 0% for the outflow of res@ms from Brazil related to these type of investrmeimicluding payments of dividends and interes
shareholdersequity and the repatriation of funds invested ia Brazilian market. Furthermore, the IOF/Exchargyeurrently levied at a 0% rate on
withdrawal of ADSs into shares. In any case, thellem Government is permitted to increase at &mg the rate to a maximum of 25%, but only in riela
to future transactions.
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Tax on Bonds and Securities Transactions

Pursuant to Decree 6,306/07, the Tax on Bonds andries Transactions (“IOF/Bondsthay be imposed on any transactions involving baatt
securities even if the transactions are performed d@razilian stock exchange. The rate of IOF/Bompiglicable to transactions involving preferre:
common shares is currently zero. In particulag, ItBF/Bonds levies at a rate of 1.5% on the transffshares traded on the Brazilian stock exchanga
the purpose of the issuance of depositary rectipie traded outside Brazil. The Brazilian governnmmeay increase such rate up to 1.5% per day, by
with respect to future transactions.

Registered Capital

The amount of an investment in preferred shares Iyela nornBrazilian holder who qualifies under Resolution N@8® and obtains registration w
the CVM, or by the depositary, as the depositaryesgmting such holder, is eligible for registratisith the Central Bank. Such registration allows
remittance outside of Brazil of any proceeds ofritigtions on the shares, and amounts realized reithect to disposition of such shares. The ragt
capital for preferred shares purchased in the foftADSs or purchased in Brazil, and deposited whih depositary in exchange for ADSs will be equ
their purchase price (in U.S. dollars) to the pasgr. The registered capital for preferred shénasare withdrawn upon surrender of ADSs, as agble
will be the U.S. dollar equivalent of the averagie of preferred shares, as applicable, on a Baazdtock exchange on which the greatest numbsuat
preferred shares, as applicable, was sold on thefdaithdrawal. If no preferred shares, as amtile, were sold on such day, the registered capillalefer
to the average price on the Brazilian stock exchamghich the greatest number of preferred shagspplicable, were sold in the 15 trading ses
immediately preceding such withdrawal. The U.Sladwalue of the preferred shares, as applicabldetermined on the basis of the average rateedun
the Central Bank on such date or, if the average miigreferred shares is determined under theptaseding sentence, the average of such averagec
rates on the same 15 dates used to determine ¢hagavprice of the preferred shares.

A nonBrazilian holder of preferred shares may experieseays in effecting such action, which may delaypiteances abroad. Such a delay
adversely affect the amount, in U.S. dollars, neeiby the non-Brazilian holder.

Material United States Federal Income Tax Consequees

The following discussion describes the material. JeBeral income tax consequences of purchasingijngoand disposing of our preferred share
ADSs. This discussion applies only to benefici@hers of ADSs or preferred shares that are “U.Sdeétfs,” as defined below. This discussion is base
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendeitheoCode, its legislative history, existing finegmporary and proposed Treasury Regulat
administrative pronouncements by the U.S. InteRmlenue Service, or IRS, and judicial decisionsaslcurrently in effect and all of which are subj®
change (possibly on a retroactive basis) and fereifit interpretations. This summary does not des@ny state, local or ndo:-S. tax law considerations,
any aspect of U.S. federal tax law (such as thetesax, gift tax or the Medicare tax on net inmesit income) other than income taxation. U.S. Ha
should consult their own tax advisors regardingé¢hmatters.

This discussion does not purport to address all fédral income tax consequences that may bearléw a particular U.S. Holder and you are ur@
consult your own tax advisor regarding your speddix situation. The discussion applies only t8.WHolders who hold preferred shares or ADS<capita
assets” @enerally, property held for investment) under@uele and does not address the tax consequencesapdke relevant to U.S. Holders in specia
situations including, for example:

e insurance companies;
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e tax-exempt organizations;

e broker-dealers;

e traders in securities that elect to mark to market;

e regulated investment companies;

e real estate investment trusts;

e banks or other financial institutions;

e investors liable for alternative minimum tax;

e partnerships and other passthru entities;

e U.S. Holders whose functional currency is not th8.Ulollar;

e U.S. expatriates;

e U.S. Holders that hold our preferred shares or ABSpart of a hedge, straddle, conversion or dtibegrated transaction; or

e U.S. Holders that own, directly, indirectly, or sbructively, 10% or more of the total combined mgtpower, if any, of our voting stock.

Except where specifically described below, thiscdssion assumes that we are not a passive fomigistment company, or PFIC, for U.S. fed
income tax purposes. Please see the discussi@n #Aassive foreign investment company rutedbw. Further, this discussion does not addiesstiate
local and foreign tax consequences of holding eefepred shares or ADSs. You should consult yeun tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal, statea
and foreign income and other tax consequencesrohpsing, owning and disposing of our preferredeshar ADSs in your particular circumstances.

You are a “U.S. Holder” if you are a beneficial avrof preferred shares or ADSs and , for U.S. f@dacome tax purposes, you are:

e anindividual who is a citizen or resident of theitdd States;

e a corporation, or any other entity taxable as @pa@tion, created or organized in or under the lafhe United States, any state thereof o
District of Columbia;

e an estate the income of which is subject to U.@eifal income tax regardless of its source; or

e atrust if a court within the United States is atdeexercise primary supervision over its admiaistn and one or more U.S. persons havi
authority to control all substantial decisions'tué trust (or otherwise if the trust has a valiccgdm in effect under current Treasury regulatit;mbe
treated as a U.S. person).

If a partnership (or any other entity taxable ggastnership for U.S. federal income tax purposediipreferred shares or ADSs, the U.S. fei
income tax treatment of a partner will generallpeted upon the status of the partner and upon tiétias of the partnership. A partnership thatdsoou
preferred shares or ADSs and partners in suchgraftips should consult their own tax advisors mdigarthe U.S. federal income tax consequencese
purchase, ownership and disposition of our prefesteres or ADSs.

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a U.S. Haflan ADS will generally be treated as the bernafiowner of the preferred shares represented ¢
ADS. However, see the discussion below under 'Distion on preferred shares or ADSs¥garding certain statements made by the U.S. g
concerning depository arrangements.
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Distributions on preferred shares or ADSs

Cash distributions (including amounts withheld tg frazilian withholding taxes and distributions dftional interest payments on shareholder:

equity, but excluding distributions in redemptidtioe preferred shares treated as exchanges @ watker the Code) made by us to or for the accdua
U.S. Holder with respect to preferred shares or &Q8nerally will be taxable to such U.S. Holdemedinary dividend income when such distributio
paid, actually or constructively, out of our cutren accumulated earnings and profits (as detemnioeU.S. federal income tax purposes). Distiiims ir
excess of our current or accumulated earnings esfidpwill be treated first as a non-taxable ratof capital reducing such U.S. Holdegdjusted tax ba:
in the preferred shares or ADSs. Any distributiorexcess of such U.S. Holder’'s adjusted tax baflisbe treated as capital gain and will be laegr
capital gain if the U.S. Holder held the prefersdthres or ADSs for more than one year. As useahhehe term “dividend’'means a distribution tr
constitutes a dividend for U.S. federal incomepgarposes.

A U.S. Holder will be entitled, subject to a numioércomplex limitations and conditions (includingrénimum holding period requirement), to clail
U.S. foreign tax credit in respect of any Braziligithholding taxes imposed on dividends receivegmaferred shares or ADSs. U.S. Holders who d:
elect to claim a foreign tax credit with regardatoy foreign income taxes paid or accrued duringdikable year may instead claim a deduction ineetsp
such withholding taxes. Dividends received witbpect to the preferred shares or ADSs will be ¢gtats foreign source income, which may be relewt
calculating such U.S. Holder'U.S. foreign tax credit limitation. For purposd#sthe U.S. foreign tax credit limitation, foreigource income is separa
into different “baskets,and the credit for foreign taxes on income in aagket is limited to the U.S. federal income tar@dble to such income. Divider
paid with respect to our preferred shares or ADfRsilsl generally constitute “passive category incbfoe most U.S. Holders. Holders are urged to ca
their tax advisors regarding the availability ok tforeign tax credit in their particular circumstas. The U.S. Treasury has expressed concer
intermediaries in connection with depository aremegnts may be taking actions that are inconsistghtthe claiming of foreign tax credits by U.Srpen:
who are holding depositary shares. Accordinglyestors should be aware that the discussion alemarding the ability to credit Brazilian withholditax
on dividends and the availability of the reducedrte for dividends received by certain raorporate holders described below could be affelsyedction
taken by parties to whom the ADSs are releasedtantRS.

Dividends paid by us generally will not be eligitite the dividends received deduction availableartie Code to certain U.S. corporate sharehol
Subject to the above-mentioned concerns by the Tr&sury and certain exceptions for shierth and hedged positions, the U.S. dollar amot
dividends received by certain U.S. Holders (inahgdindividuals) prior to January 1, 2013 with restte the ADSs will be subject to taxation at a maxm
rate of 15% if the dividends represent “qualifiedidend income.” Dividends paid on the ADSs will be treated as digalidividend income if (i) the AD¢
are readily tradable on an established securit®ehin the United States, (ii) the U.S. Holderetsehe holding period requirement for the ADSségally
more than 60 days during the 121-day period thginse50 days before the elvidend date), and (iii) we were not in the yedppto the year in which tt
dividend was paid, and are not in the year in whighdividend is paid, a PFIC. Our ADSs are listacdthe New York Stock Exchange, and therefor
ADSs will qualify as readily tradable on an estsiiid securities market in the United States so &mthey are so listed. However, no assurancebe
given that the ADSs will be or will remain readihadable. Subject to the discussion of PFIC rutdevi, based upon the nature of our current andeprey
income, assets and activities, we do not beliegepteferred shares or the ADSs have been (for @t faxable year), nor do we expect them to bed(fa
2012 taxable year), shares of a PFIC for U.S. féderame tax purposes.

Based on existing guidance, it is not entirely clehether dividends received with respect to théepred shares (to the extent not represented bys}
will be treated as qualified dividends, becauseptteferred shares are not themselves listed orBadxchange. In addition, the U.S. Treasury Depar
has announced its intention to promulgate rulesyant to which holders of ADSs or preferred stoc#t mtermediaries through whom such securitie
held will be permitted to rely on certificationsim issuers to establish that dividends are treasequalified dividends. Because such procedures ha
yet been issued, we are not certain that we wilabke to comply with them. U.S. Holders of ADSd areferred shares should consult their owr
advisors regarding the availability of the redudeddend tax rate in the light of their own parf@ucircumstances.
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The amount of any cash distribution paid in Branilarrency will equal the U.S. dollar value of thistribution, calculated by reference to the exge
rate in effect at the time the distribution is riged by thedepositary (in the case of ADSs) or by the U.S.ddp(in the case of preferred shares held dir
by such U.S. Holder), regardless of whether thenft is in fact converted to U.S. dollars at thaiet A U.S. Holder should not recognize any fon
currency gain or loss in respect of such distrinuif such Brazilian currency is converted into WBllars on the date received. If the Brazilianrency it
not converted into U.S. dollars on the date of icéowever, gain or loss may be recognized upsaoksequent sale or other disposition of the Bex:
currency. Such foreign currency gain or lossnif,awill be U.S.-source ordinary income or loss.

Because our preferred shares will not be treatégragerred stock’for purposes of Section 305 of the Code, distrimgito U.S. Holders of additior
shares of our “non-preferred stock” or preemptigéts relating to such “non-preferred stoekith respect to their preferred shares or ADSs dinatmade :
part of a pro rata distribution to all shareholdersnost instances will not be subject to U.S. fatlincome tax. However, if the holders of ADSs
restricted in their ability to participate in theegcise of preemptive rights, the preemptive rightsy give rise to a deemed distribution to holdmfrshe
preferred shares under Section 305 of the Code. deeyned distribution will be taxable as a dividémdhe extent of our earnings and profits as diset
above.

Sale or exchange or other taxable disposition oéfarred shares or ADSs

Deposits and withdrawals of preferred shares by Hdders in exchange for ADSs will not result iretrealization of gain or loss for U.S. fed
income tax purposes.

A U.S. Holder generally will recognize capital gainloss upon the sale, exchange or other taxagpmsition of preferred shares or ADSs measur¢
the difference between the amount realized andJti®e Holder's adjusted tax basis in the preferdegras or ADSs. Any gain or loss will be lotegsr
capital gain or loss if the preferred shares or A&ve been held for more than one year. Llteng- capital gains of certain U.S. Holders (inchg
individuals) are eligible for reduced rates of Ue®leral income taxation. The deductibility of itaplosses is subject to certain limitations unter Code.

If a Brazilian tax is withheld on the sale, exchaog®ther taxable disposition of a preferred stmrdDS, the amount realized by a U.S. Holder
include the gross amount of the proceeds of tHat eachange or other taxable disposition befodudgon of the Brazilian tax. Capital gain or logsny,
realized by a U.S. Holder on the sale, exchangetlmr taxable disposition of a preferred share BSAgenerally will be treated as U&wurce income 1
loss for U.S. foreign tax credit purposes. Consetiyiein the case of a sale, exchange or otheblexd@isposition of a preferred share or ADS thatuiljec
to Brazilian tax imposed on the gain (or, in theecafa deposit, in exchange for an ADS or prefesfeate, as the case may be, that is not regispemsdar
to Resolution No. 2,689, on which a Brazilian capgalns tax is imposed (see above under “— Matdiakilian Tax Considerations —Faxation o
Gains”),the U.S. Holder may not be able to benefit fromftreign tax credit for that Brazilian tax unless ti.S. Holder can apply the credit against
federal income tax payable on other income froreifpr sources in the appropriate income categotferdatively, the U.S. Holder may take a deducfin
the Brazilian tax if it does not elect to claim aefign tax credit for any foreign income taxes paicccrued during the taxable year.

Passive foreign investment company rules

In general, a foreign corporation is a PFIC withpeet to a U.S. Holder if, for any taxable year ihiet the U.S. Holder holds stock in the fore
corporation, at least 75% of its gross income issjy& income or at least 50% of the value of itsetss(determined on the basis of a quarterly ae
produce passive income or are held for the produoaif passive income. In determining whether &ifpr corporation is a PFIC, a pro rata portion
income and assets of each corporation in whiclvits) directly or indirectly, at least 25% interdsy value) is taken into account. For this purp@sessiv
income generally includes, among other things,ddinds, interest, rents, royalties and gains froendisposition of investment assets (subject toous
exceptions). Based upon the nature of our curmeshipaojected income, assets and activities, weaddelieve the preferred shares or ADSs are, nawe
expect them to be, shares of a PFIC for U.S. fedecaime tax purposes. However, the determinatfontether the preferred shares or ADSs cons
shares of a PFIC is a factual determination madeallynand thus may be subject to change. Becawse ttleterminations are based on the nature
income and assets from time to time, and involeeapplication of complex tax rules, no assuraneeshe provided that we will not be considered ad
for the current or any past or future tax year.
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If, contrary to the discussion above, we are teka®e a PFIC, a U.S. Holder would be subject to speales (and may be subject to increased
federal income tax liability and form filing reqainents) with respect to (a) any gain realized erstie, exchange or other disposition of prefestedtes ¢
ADSs and (b) any “excess distributiomiade by us to the U.S. Holder (generally, any itigtion during a taxable year in which distribusoto the
U.S. Holder on the preferred shares or ADSs exd@&36 of the average annual distributions the U@deét received on the preferred shares or /
during the preceding three taxable years or, iftehothe U.S. Holdes holding period for the preferred shares or ADSdiider those rules, (a) the gair
excess distribution would be allocated ratably dlierU.S. Holdes holding period for the preferred shares or ABsthe amount allocated to the tax:
year in which the gain or excess distribution slized and to taxable years before the first dayvbith we became a PFIC would be taxable as orc
income, (c) the amount allocated to each prior yeavhich we were a PFIC would be subject to U.8efal income tax at the highest tax rate in effex
that year and (d) the interest charge generallyiGgipe to underpayments of U.S. federal incomewaxld be imposed in respect of the tax attributat
each prior year in which we were a PFIC. A U.S.ddolwho owns preferred shares or ADSs during axgbia year that we are a PFIC generally mus
IRS Form 8621. U.S. Holders should also be awaertitently enacted legislation may broaden theeatitRS Form 8621 filing requirements or impos
additional annual filing requirement for U.S. persmwning shares of a PFIC. The legislation do¢siascribe what information would be required t
included in either situation, but grants the Segyedf the U.S. Treasury power to make this deteatin. U.S. Holders should consult their own
advisors regarding the application of the PFIC ritesur preferred shares or ADSs and the applicaifahe recently enacted legislation to their ipatar
situation.

In general, if we are treated as a PFIC, the rudssribed above can be avoided by a U.S. Holderetkats to be subject to a markamarket regime fc
stock in a PFIC. A U.S. Holder may elect marksarket treatment for its preferred shares or AlpEsyided the preferred shares or ADSs, for purpof
the PFIC rules, constitute “marketable stock” asnaef in U.S. Treasury regulations. The ADSs wél ‘tmarketable stockfor this purpose if they a
regularly traded on the New York Stock Exchangéeothan in de minimis quantities on at least Iysdduring each calendar quarter. A U.S. Hc
electing the mark-torarket regime generally would compute gain or listhe end of each taxable year as if the prefeshedes or ADSs had been sol
fair market value. Any gain recognized by the UHSlder under mark-torarket treatment, or on an actual sale, woulddeged as ordinary income, and
U.S. Holder would be allowed an ordinary deducfimnany decrease in the value of preferred sharéd&s as of the end of any taxable year, and rig
loss recognized on an actual sale, but only toetitent, in each case, of previously included markiirket income not offset by previously dedu
decreases in value. Any loss on an actual safgedérred shares or ADSs would be a capital loghdoextent in excess of previously included mark-t
market income not offset by previously deductedreieses in value. A U.S. Holdsradjusted tax basis in preferred shares or ADSddniocrease (
decrease by gain or loss taken into account uthdemark-to-market regime. A mark-taarket election is generally irrevocable. If we determined to |
a PFIC, a U.S. Holder may be treated as indiredlgling any subsidiary of ours that is itself a P&Gowertier PFIC) and may be subject to the PFIC 1
on indirect distributions or sales of the lowir PFIC, even if the U.S. Holder does not recaif’éhe proceeds of such distribution or salesaddition, :
mark-to-market election with respect to preferredres or ADSs would not apply to any lowier- PFIC, and a U.S. Holder would not be able ti&ensucl
a mark-to-market election in respect of its indireanership interest in that lowéer PFIC. Consequently, the PFIC rules could apply wespect t
income of a lower-tier PFIC, the value of which wibalready have been taken into account indireddymark-tomarket adjustments in respect of prefe
shares or ADSs.

If we are deemed to be a PFIC for a taxable yeaidetids on our ADSs would not be “qualified dividencome”subject to preferential rates of Un
States federal income tax, as described above:-Sdzistributions on preferred shares or ADSs.”

Backup withholding and information reporting

In general, dividends on preferred shares or AR8d, payments of the proceeds of a sale, exchangther disposition of preferred shares or Al
paid within the United States or through certaifs Welated financial intermediaries to a U.S. Holder subject to information reporting and may be scl
to backup withholding of U.S. federal income taxaaturrent maximum rate of 28% unless the U.S. &to{d is a corporation or other exempt recipier
(i) provides an accurate taxpayer identificatiammber and certifies that it is a U.S. person arad to loss of exemption from backup withholding
occurred.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

The amount of any backup withholding tax from arpent to a U.S. Holder will be allowed as a credaiast the U.S. Holdes’U.S. federal income t
liability, provided that the required informatios timely furnished to the IRS. You generally mayaiba refund of any amounts withheld under thekbg
withholding rules that exceed your U.S. federabme tax liability by timely filing a refund claimith the IRS.

In addition, U.S. Holders should be aware that mdgesnacted legislation imposes new reporting ieguents with respect to the holding of fore
financial assets, including stock of foreign issyéf the aggregate value of all of such assetgens $50,000. U.S. Holders should consult themm tax
advisors regarding the application of the informatreporting rules to our common shares and théicagipn of the recently enacted legislation toitt
particular situation.

Other Brazilian taxes

You should note that any Brazilian IOF/Exchange daXOF/Bonds tax may not be treated as a creditdkign tax for U.S. federal income
purposes, although you may be entitled to dedwatt taxes, subject to applicable limitations untier€ode. You should consult your tax advisors iigg
the U.S. federal income tax consequences of thess t

F. Dividends and Paying Agents
Not applicable.

G. Statement by Experts
Not applicable.

H. Documents on Display

We are subject to the informational requirementthefU.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whichl$® known as the Exchange Act. Accordir
we are required to file reports and other informmativith the Commission, including annual reportd=onm 20-F and reports on Fornk6- You may inspes
and copy reports and other information to be fikéth the Commission at the public reference faeditmaintained by the Commission at 100 F Street,.)
Washington D.C. 20549 and at the Commissiaegional offices at 500 West Madison Street,e51#00, Chicago lllinois 60661, and 233 Broadway,
York, New York 10279. Copies of the materials mayobtained from the Public Reference Room of the Casion at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washing
D.C. 20549 at prescribed rates. The public mayioléormation on the operation of the Commiss®RUublic Reference Room by calling the Commis
in the United States at 1-800-SB330. In addition, the Commission maintains anriveewebsite at http://www.sec.gov, from which yaan electronicall
access the registration statement and its materials

As a foreign private issuer, we are not subjedh&osame disclosure requirements as a domestiaégiStrant under the Exchange Act. For exar
we are not required to prepare and issue quanteplyrts. However, we furnish our shareholders withual reports containing financial statementsted
by our independent auditors and make availableutossbareholders quarterly reports containing urteddinancial data for the first three quartersatt
fiscal year. We file quarterly financial statemegentith the Commission within two months of the efdhe first three quarters of our fiscal year, avlfile
annual reports on Form ZDwithin the time period required by the Commissiamhjch is currently four months from December 3ig £nd of our fisc
year.

We will send the depositary a copy of all notidest twe give relating to meetings of our sharehalderto distributions to shareholders or the offg o
rights and a copy of any other report or commuriocathat we make generally available to our shddsgre. The depositary will make all these noti
reports and communications that it receives fronavalable for inspection by registered holdersAbiSs at its office. The depositary will mail copiel
those notices, reports and communications to yaueifisk the depositary to do so and furnish sefficcopies of materials for that purpose.

We also file financial statements and other pedadports with the CVM located at Rua Sete de Setenidrl, Rio de Janeiro, Rio de Janeiro 2015
900, Brazil.
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. Subsidiary Information
Not applicable.
ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The risk inherent in our market risk sensitive finstents and positions is the potential loss ari$iogh adverse changes to the price of fuel
real/U.S. dollar exchange rate and interest rates. Jommpany purchases jet fuel at prevailing marketgssi but seeks to manage market risk thr
execution of a documented hedging program. The @agmcurs a portion of its costs and operatingeesps in U.S. dollars. The Company has int
rate risk in its floating rate leases and debtgations. We have a fleet of 150 aircraft, 99 ofaluhwere under operating leases, 45 were undendméease
and 6 were owned by us. However, fixed rate leasesiot considered market sensitive financiarimsents and, therefore, are not included in therés
rate sensitivity analysis below.

Aircraft Fuel

Our results of operations are affected by changdbe price of aircraft fuel required to operate aincraft fleet. To manage the price risk, wdizs
crude oil and heating oil derivative contracts! dlour derivative instruments must be liquid sota allow us to make position adjustments and Ipaioe:
that are widely disclosed. All existing contrastdtle on a monthly basis and we do not purchad®lor derivative instruments for trading purposés
December 31, 2011, we had oil derivative contraatstanding to hedge 34% of our expected fuel aopsion in 2012 and the fair value of such conti
was R$9.2million. If the aircraft fuel price had increaskd 10% in relation to the average 2011, the fupleese would have increased R$ 295 millio
the price had decreased by 10%, the expense waukldecreased R$ 295 million. We acquire substinéhlof our fuel from one supplier.

Foreign Currencies

A significant part of our costs and operating e)ge=n such as aircraft and engine maintenance sspadacraft lease payments and aircraft insur
are denominated in U.S. dollars. To manage exchaaig risk, we enter into derivative contractprtotect against a possible depreciation ofréa in
relation to the U.S. dollar. At December 31, 204&#, didnt have outstanding currency derivative contractsaAneasure of our market risk with respe
our foreign currency exposure, a hypothetical 1@%reciation of theeal against the U.S. dollar would have resulted innanease in expenses of airc
and engine maintenance, aircraft operating leagmeats and aircraft insurance of R$4®8lion in 2011. A hypothetical 10% appreciation thi real
against the U.S. dollar would have resulted in@ekese of R$40Bnillion in such expenses.

Interest Rates

Our earnings are affected by changes in interéss @due to the impact those changes have on ihexpense from variablete leasing contracts.
December 31, 2011, leases for 7 aircraft had figatite rent payments. A hypothetical 10% increasaternational market interest rates in 2011 w
have resulted in an increase in our aircraft fitereasing expenses of approximately R$0.1 milliérhypothetical 10% decrease in market interestsra
2011 would have resulted in a decrease in ouradirinancial leasing expenses of approximately R$0illion. These amounts are determined consid
the effects of the hypothetical international ietgrates on our variable-rate leasing contraddeaember 31, 2011.

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES
A. American Depositary Shares

In the United States, our preferred shares tradleeiriorm of ADS. Since December 2005 each ADSesmts one preferred share, issued by Citil
N.A., as Depositary pursuant to a Deposit Agreemént December 13, 2005, we executed a 2:1 AD$ splnging to ratio of one ADS representing
preferred shares to one AD&presenting one preferred share, as approvednbgeging of the Board of Directors of the Company avéinber 8, 200=
The ADSs commenced trading on the NYSE on Jun@@3y.
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We do not treat ADR holders as our shareholdersA@i holders have no shareholder rights. Braziliand@verns shareholder rights. The depos
is the holder of the preferred shares underlyiegADSs. Holders of ADRs have ADR holder rights.

Fees and Expenses

The following table summarizes the fees and exepagable by holders of ADRs:

Persons depositing preferred shares or ADR holc must pay
US$5.00 (or less) per 100 ADSs (or portion of 1(0SA)

US$0.02 (or less) per ADS (to the extent not pritdaibby the rules
of any stock exchange on which the ADSs are ligtettading

A fee equivalent to the fee that would be payalflesecurities
distributed to you had been preferred shares amdshHares had been
deposited for issuance of AC

US$0.02 (or less) per ADS per calendar year (to ékgent the
depositary has not collected a cash distributiom é& $0.02 per ADS
during the yea

Registration or transfer fees

Expenses of the depositary in converting foreignrency to
U.S. dollar.
Expenses of the depositary

Taxes and other governmental charges the depositahe custodian
have to pay on any ADR or preferred share underldngADR, for
example, stock transfer taxes, stamp duty or wittihg taxe:

Any charges incurred by the depositary or its agémt servicing the
deposited securiti

Payment of Taxes

For:

Issuance of ADSs, including issuances resultingfeodistribution of
preferred shares or rights or other prog

Cancellation of ADSs for the purpose of withdrawatluding if the
deposit agreement terming

Any cash distribution to you

Distribution of securities distributed to holdefsdeposited securities
which are distributed by the depositary to ADR hodde

Depositary services
Transfer and registration of preferred shares onpoeferred share

register to or from the name of the depositary teragent when you
deposit or withdraw preferred sha

Cable, telex and facsimile transmissions (when esgbyeprovided in
the deposit agreeme
As necessary

No charges of this type are currently made in trezlan marke

The depositary may deduct the amount of any taweidrom any payments to you. It may also sellodépd securities, by public or private sale
pay any taxes owed. You will remain liable if {m®ceeds of the sale are not sufficient to paydikes. If the depositary sells deposited secaritiewill, if
appropriate, reduce the number of ADSs to refleetsale and pay to you any proceeds, or send tarypproperty, remaining after it has paid the saxe
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Reimbursement of Fees

Citibank, N.A., as depositary, has agreed to reisdus for expenses we incur that are related &blegiment and maintenance expenses of the
program. The depositary has agreed to reimbur$eraair continuing annual stock exchange listiegs. The depositary has also agreed to pay theast
out-ofpocket maintenance costs for the ADRs, which comdishe expenses of postage and envelopes formgadlihnual and interim financial repo
printing and distributing dividend checks, electoofiling of United States federal tax informatianailing required tax forms, stationery, postagesimile
and telephone calls. It has also agreed to reisgbus annually for certain investor relationshipgpams or special investor relations promotionsivaies.
In certain instances, the depositary has agrequtaeide additional payments to us based on anyicgipé performance indicators relating to the £
facility. There are limits on the amount of expemfor which the depositary will reimburse us, the amount of reimbursement available to the Com|is
not necessarily tied to the amount of fees the sieany collects from investors.

The depositary collects its fees for delivery andender of ADSs directly from investors depositsitares or surrendering ADSs for the purpo:
withdrawal or from intermediaries acting for thernihe depositary collects fees for making distribngi to investors by deducting those fees fron
amounts distributed or by selling a portion of disitable property to pay the fees. The depositaay collect its annual fee for depositary servibg
deduction from cash distributions or by directlylibg investors or by charging the boekitry system accounts of participants acting famth The
depositary may generally refuse to provide feeaating services until its fees for those servigespaid.

Reimbursement of Fees Incurred in 2011

From January 1, 2011 until the date of this anmepbrt, the Company did not receive any funds fréva depositary for standard outjodcke
maintenance costs for the ADRs (consisting of thpeases of postage and envelopes for mailing anao@linterim financial reports, printing ¢
distributing dividend checks, electronic filing 0fS. Federal tax information, mailing required takns, stationery, postage, facsimile, and telephuails)
any applicable performance indicators relatindhADR facility, underwriting fees and legal fees.

PART Il
ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES
None.
ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF PROCEEDS
None.
ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedure3he Registrant maintains controls and proceddesgyned to ensure that it is able to collect tiiermation it it
required to disclose in the reports it files witle ISEC, and to process, summarize and disclosatbrsation within the time periods specified irethule:
of the SEC. Based on an evaluation of the Regisgraligtlosure controls and procedures as of theoktite period covered by this report conductedhs
Registrants management, with the participation of the chie¢caitive and chief financial officers, after evalng together with other members
management the effectiveness of our disclosureasrand procedures (as defined in the U.S. Séesifiixchange Act of 1934 under Rule 13de)) hav
concluded that our disclosure controls and proesiare effective to ensure that the Registrantles tabcollect, process and disclose the informaiias
required to disclose in the reports it files witle ISEC within the required time periods.
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Management’'s Report on Internal Control over FinahdReporting Management of the Registrant is responsible $tabdishing and maintainii
effective internal control over financial reportiag defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the Securiiashange Act of 1934. The Registraniternal contre
over financial reporting is designed to providesmeable assurance to the Registantanagement and board of directors regardingréqgapation and fz
presentation of published financial statements. aBse of its inherent limitations, internal contmler financial reporting may not prevent or de
misstatements.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Registnternal control over financial reporting as afd@mber 31, 2011. In making this assessi
management used the criteria set forth by the Com@endf Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cision (COSO) in Internal Controltrtegrater
Framework. Based on this assessment, manageméexdsethat, as of December 31, 2011, the Compaimgernal control over financial reporting
effective based on those criteria.

Attestation Report of the Independent Registeredli®uccounting Firm The effectiveness of internal controls over fiicial reporting as 1
December 31, 2011 has been audited by Deloitte fdiohmatsu Auditores Independentes, or Deloitie independent registered public accounting
who also audited the Company’s consolidated findrati@ements for the year then ended. Deloittejgort on the Company’internal controls ov
financial reporting is included herein.

Changes in internal control over financial reportirigxcept as disclosed in the following paragraphrehgas no change in our internal control «
financial reporting that occurred in the period @@d by this annual report that has materiallycéfé, or is reasonably likely to materially affeot
internal control over financial reporting.

The material weakness identified by our managerapdtincluded in the Management Report on Internaki@baver Financial Reporting for the y
ended December 31, 2010 concerning revenue regmgoit ticket sales under interline agreements rgasediated in April 2011 and no longer is a mat
weakness.

ITEM 16. [RESERVED)]
ITEM 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert

Our board of directors has determined that Luiz fkeunn, a member of our audit committee, is an “aadmmittee financial expertis defined b
current SEC rules and meets the independence rewrite of the SEC and the NYSE listing standards. aFiscussion of the role of our audit commi
see “ltem 6C. Board Practices—Audit Committee.”

ITEM 16B. Code of Ethics

Our board of directors has adopted a Code of Etgigdicable to our directors, officers and employeesluding our principal executive officer ¢
principal financial officer. The Code of Ethics da@ found at www.voegol.com.br under the headimgébtor Relations.'Information found at this webs
is not incorporated by reference into this document
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ITEM 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The following table sets forth by category of seevihe total fees for services performed by oungipal accountants during the fiscal years e
December 31, 2011 and 2010. Deloitte has beenringipal accountant during the fiscal years endeddmnber 31, 2011 and 2010.

201( 2011
(in reaig)
Audit Fee: 2,716,31. 3,429,10
Audit-Related Fee 603,54( 1,094,51
Tax Fee - -
All Other Fee - -
Total 3,319,85: 4,523,62
Audit Fees

Audit fees include the audit of our consolidatedisal financial statements and internal controls, dhdit of our IFRS financial statements, revie'
our quarterly reports and required statutory auatiis regulatory filings such as tRermulario de Referéncia

Audit-Related Fees

Audit-related fees include fees for the preparation asdaince of comfort letters in connection with cemigr notes offering, due diligence and a
service related to sustainability.

In 2010 and 2011, audit-related fees for serviefopmed by our principal accountant amounted to@®%40 and R$1,094,516 respectively.
Tax Fees

There were no tax advisory services provided bypouncipal accountant in 2010 and 2011.
All Other Fees

There were no other fees.
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures

Our audit committee approves all audit, audlated services, tax services and other servicegded by Deloitte. Any services provided by
principal accountant that are not specifically imt#d within the scope of the audit must be gpproved by the audit committee in advance of
engagement. Pursuant to Rule 2-01 of Regulation 8udit committees are permitted to approve ceffeers for auditrelated services, tax services
other services pursuant tada minimisexception prior to the completion of an audit egegaent. In 2011 and 2010, none of the fees paldetoitte wer
approved pursuant to tlike minimisexception.
ITEM 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees

None.
ITEM 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuand Affiliated Purchasers

None

ITEM 16F. Change in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant

None
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ITEM 16G. Corporate Governance
Significant Differences between our Corporate Govaerance Practices and NYSE Corporate Governance Standis

We are subject to the NYSE corporate governantiadistandards. As a foreign private issuer, taadards applicable to us are considerably diff
than the standards applied to U.S. listed comparikgier the NYSE rules, we are required only (@} have an audit committee or audit board, pursta
an applicable exemption available to foreign peviasuers, that meets certain requirements, assdied below, (b) provide prompt certification by ohief
executive officer of any material ha@ompliance with any corporate governance rules, @hgrovide a brief description of the significadifference
between our corporate governance practices anYI®E corporate governance practice required toobewied by U.S. listed companies. The discus
of the significant differences between our corpogavernance practices and those required of I$t8dlcompanies follows below.

Majority of Independent Directors

The NYSE rules require that a majority of the boamdst consist of independent directors. Indepecelén defined by various criteria, including
absence of a material relationship between thectireand the listed company. Brazilian law does lmeote a similar requirement. Under Brazilian
neither our board of directors nor our managememequired to test the independence of directofsréeaheir election to the board. However, bote
Brazilian Corporation law and the CVM have establishel@s that require directors to meet certain djgation requirements and that address
compensation and duties and responsibilities ofyels as the restrictions applicable to, a comparerecutive officers and directors. While our cliogs
meet the qualification requirements of the Brazil@arporation law and the CVM, we do not believe thahajority of our directors would be conside
independent under the NYSE test for director indepace. The Brazilian Corporation law requires thatdirectors be elected by our shareholders
general shareholders’ meeting. All of our direstare elected by our controlling shareholder avel df our directors represent our controlling shaléer.

Executive Sessions

NYSE rules require that the nananagement directors must meet at regularly schddeecutive sessions without management pre3éret.Braziliat
Corporation law does not have a similar provisidecording to the Brazilian Corporation law, up to éh&d of the members of the board of directors
be elected from management. Constantino de Olivkitaour president and chief executive officeraismember of our board of directors. There i
requirement that non-management directors meetasgwithout management. As a result, the momragement directors on our board do not typi
meet in executive session.

Fiscal Committee

Under the Brazilian corporation law, ti@®nselho Fiscalor fiscal committee, is a corporate body indepenndf management and external audit
The fiscal committee may be either permanent orpermanent, in which case it is appointed by theedi@ders to act during a specific fiscal yearfiskal
committee is not equivalent to, or comparable wéth).S. audit committee. The primary responsibitif the fiscal committee is to review management
activities and a company’s financial statements] &nreport its findings to a compasyshareholders. The Brazilian corporation law nexgufisca
committee members to receive as remuneration stt 1626 of the average annual amount paid to a copyp@&xecutive officers. The Brazilian corpora
law requires a fiscal committee to be composedraframum of three and a maximum of five members thil respective alternates.

Under the Brazilian corporation law, the fiscal coittee@ may not contain members that (i) are on caard of directors, (ii) are on the boarc
executive officers, (iii) are employed by us orantolled company, or (iv) are spouses or relatokEsny member of our management, up to the
degree. Our by-laws provide for a non-permaneutaficommittee to be elected only by our sharelsldequest at a general shareholdenseting. Th
fiscal committee, when elected, will be compriséa aninimum of three and a maximum of five memkbamsl an equal number of alternate member
2011, our shareholders did not request the elecfianfiscal committee.
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Audit Committee

NYSE rules require that listed companies have afitaommittee that (i) is composed of a minimumtifee independent directors who are
financially literate, (ii) meets the SEC rules retiag audit committees for listed companies, (idshat least one member who has accounting or fia
management expertise and (iv) is governed by aenmritharter addressing the commitseegquired purpose and detailing its required nesibdities.
However, as a foreign private issuer, we need tmlygomply with the requirement that the audit cotteei meet the SEC rules regarding audit comm
for listed companies to the extent compatible vBttazilian corporation law. Our audit committee, wthiis not equivalent to, or comparable witl
U.S. audit committee, provides assistance to oardeof directors on matters involving accountingeinal controls, financial reporting and complier
The audit committee recommends the appointmenupfralependent auditors to our board of directord weviews the compensation of our indeper
auditors and helps coordinate their activitiesal$b evaluates the effectiveness of our intetinahtial and legal compliance controls. The aocditmittet
comprises three members elected by the board eftdirs for a one-year term with the right toeteetion, all three of which are independent. Theen
members of our audit committee are Alvaro de SoArgdnio Kandir and Luiz Kaufmann. All members m#e independent membership requiremer
the SEC and NYSE as well as other NYSE requiremdniiz Kaufmann is the committee’s “financial exgjewithin the scope of the SEC rules covering
disclosure of financial experts on audit committieegeriodic filings pursuant to the U.S. Secustiexchange Act of 1934.

Nomination/Corporate Governance and Compensation Comteds

NYSE rules require that listed companies have aimating/corporate governance committee and a cosgiiem committee composed entirely
independent directors and governed by a writtentehaddressing the committeefequired purpose and detailing its required nesibdities. Require
responsibilities for the nominating/corporate gmarce committee include, among other things, ifléng and selecting qualified board member nomi
and developing a set of corporate governance piegiapplicable to the company. Required respditibifor the compensation committee include, ag
other things, reviewing corporate goals relevarth&chief executive officer’'s compensation, evaigathe chief executive offices’performance, approvi
the chief executive officer's compensation levetsl aecommending to the board non-chief executifizaf compensation, incentiv@mpensation al
equity-based plans.

We are not required under applicable Brazilian lawh&ve a nomination/corporate governance commdteeompensation committee. Under
Brazilian Corporation law, the total amount availabde compensation of our directors and executiviéicefs and for profisharing payments to ¢
executive officers is established by our sharehsldé the annual general meeting. The board ettiirs is then responsible for determining theviioldial
compensation and profiharing of each executive officer, as well as ttrapensation of our board and committee membersnaking such determinatiol
the board reviews the performance of the execuffieers, including the performance of our chiekeutive officer, who typically excuses himself fr
discussions regarding his performance and compensat

Our human resources and corporate governance cteenist responsible for the coordination, implemimtaand periodic review of best corpol
governance practices and for monitoring and keepimg board of directors informed of legislation am@rket recommendations addressing corp
governance. It also revievemd recommends to our board of directors humaruress policies, forms of compensation, includinigiya bonus and sto
options, to be paid to our employees, as well atyaing managemerst’career and succession plans. The committeestemdiup to five members elec
by our board of directors for a one-year term, wita right to reelection, comprising the chairman of the board iofalors, one member of the boarc
directors, two outside specialists and the managered human resources officer. The human resswrnd corporate governance committee curr
consists of Henrique Constantino, a member of oardof directors, Betania Tanure de Barros, Alvar&deza, Paulo César Aragéo and Ricardo Khauaj

Shareholder Approval of Equity Compensation Plans
NYSE rules require that shareholders be given fh@odunity to vote on all equity compensation plamsl material revisions thereto, with limi

exceptions. Under the Brazilian Corporation law,rshalders must approve all stock option plansaddition, any issuance of new shares that excegn
authorized share capital is subject to shareh@lgproval.
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Corporate Governance Guidelines

NYSE rules require that listed companies adoptdiadiose corporate governance guidelines. We havedopted any formal corporate governi
guidelines beyond those required by applicable Beazlaw. We have adopted and observe a disclgsoliey, which requires the public disclosure d
relevant information pursuant to guidelines sethfdsy the CVM, as well as an insider trading poligshich, among other things, establishes blagk-
periods and requires insiders to inform manageroiall transactions involving our securities.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

NYSE rules require that listed companies adoptdiadose a code of business conduct and ethicdiffectors, officers and employees, and pron
disclose any waivers of the code for directors)@rcative officers. Applicable Brazilian law doest h@ave a similar requirement. We have adopted &
of Ethics and Conduct applicable to our officersecliors and employees worldwide, including at thiesgliary level. We believe this code addresse
matters required to be addressed pursuant to tf@ENVMles. For a further discussion of our Codetbfds and Conduct, see “Iltem 16B. Code of Ethics.”

Internal Audit Function

NYSE rules require that listed companies maintairinéernal audit function to provide management tedaudit committee with ongoing assessn
of the companys risk management processes and system of inteon#iol. Our internal audit and compliance deparitnwas created in 2004 under
supervision of our chief financial officer and oaudit committee and is responsible for our comgkamwith the requirements of Section 404 of
U.S. Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 regarding intenmitrol over financial reporting. The internal &uahd compliance department reports to our «
executive officer and the audit committee.

PART Il
ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
See “Item 18. Financial Statements.”
ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
See our consolidated financial statements beginmmnBage F-1.
ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

1.1 *  By-laws of the Redistrant (English transiatis

2.1 Form of Amended and Restated Deposit Agreement arnienBegistrant, Citibank, N.A., as depositary, dedHolders from time to time of
American Depositary Shares issued thereunder,dimduthe form of American Depositary Receipts, iposated herein by reference from
our Registration Statement on Fori-6, filed August 2, 201

8.1 *  List of Subsidiariet

10.1 Agreement, dated as of April 12, 2007, betweenRkgistrant and Petrobras Distribuidora S.A., incigdAmendments 1 and 2 there

incorporated herein by reference from our Annuald®epn Form 2-F for the year ended December 31, 2010, as filefoil 8, 2011

Amendment 3 to Agreement, dated as of DecembedBl,between the Registrant and Petrobras Distibai®.A. Certain portions of th

exhibit have been omitted from the public filingdamere separately filed with the Commission witlequest for confidential treatme

10.c Navitaire Hosted Services Agreement, dated May0D42between Navitaire Inc. and Gol Transportee8g1S.A., including amendment:
through 7 thereto, incorporated herein by referdrm® our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the yeadeshDecember 31, 2006, as filed on
February 28, 200
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Amendment No. 8 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agmeenuated as of June 11, 2007, between Navitaoednd Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A,, incorporated herein by reference from our dairReport on Form 20-F for the year ended Decer@beR007, as filed on April 22,
2008

Amendment No. 9 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agreeindated as of August 20, 2007, between Navitageand Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A,, incorporated herein by reference from our dairReport on Form 20-F for the year ended Decef@beR007, as filed on April 22,
2008

Amendment No. 10 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agret dated as of August 27, 2007, between Navitageand Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A,, incorporated herein by reference from our dairReport on Form 20-F for the year ended Decef@beR007, as filed on April 22,
2008

Amendment No. 11 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agreret dated as of April 24, 2008, between Navithie and Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A., incorporated herein by reference from our dairReport on Form :-F for the year ended December 31, 2008, as filedlay 8, 200¢
Amendment No. 12 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agreret dated as of April 24, 2008, between Navithie and Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A., incorporated herein by reference from our dairReport on Form :-F for the year ended December 31, 2008, as filedlay 8, 200¢
Amendment No. 13 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agiegt dated as of May 5, 2008, between Navitaire &mcl Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A., incorporated herein by reference from our dairReport on Form :-F for the year ended December 31, 2008, as filedlay 8, 200¢
Amendment No. 14 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agreret dated as of October 1, 2008, between Navitageand VRG Linhas Aéreas
S.A,, as successor of Gol Transportes Aéreos Bigarporated herein by reference from our Annuald®epn Form 20-F for the year ended
December 31, 2008, as filed on May 8, 2

Amendment No. 15 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agrert dated as of October 1, 2008, between Navitageand VRG Linhas Aéreas
S.A., as successor of Gol Transportes Aéreos Biéorporated herein by reference from our Annuald®epn Form 20-F for the year ended
December 31, 2008, as filed on May 8, 2!

Amendment No. 16 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agreret dated as of October 1, 2009, between Navitageand VRG Linhas Aére:
S.A,, as successor of Gol Transportes Aéreos Bigorporated herein by reference from our Annuald®epn Form 20-F for the year ended
December 31, 2009, as filed on March 31, 2

Amendment No. 17 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agrexet dated as of February 1, 2010, between Nawitag. and VRG Linhas Aére.
S.A., as successor of Gol Transportes Aéreos Biéorporated herein by reference from our Annuald®epn Form 20-F for the year ended
December 31, 2009, as filed on March 31, 2(

Amendment No. 18 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agreret dated as of March 15, 2010, between Navitaiceand VRG Linhas Aére:
S.A,, as successor of Gol Transportes Aéreos Bigorporated herein by reference from our Annuald®epn Form 20-F for the year ended
December 31, 2010, as filed on April 8, 2(

Amendment No. 19 to Navitaire Hosted Services Agrat dated as of June 25, 2010, between Navitaireand VRG Linhas Aéreas S.A.,
as successor of Gol Transportes Aéreos S.A., incatpd herein by reference from our Annual ReporfForm 20-F for the year ended
December 31, 2010, as filed on April 8, 2(
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Amendment No. 20 to Navitaire Hosted Services Ageee dated as of November 1, 2010, between Nawitag. and VRG Linhas Aéreas
S.A,, as successor of Gol Transportes Aéreos Bigarporated herein by reference from our Annuald®epn Form 20-F for the year ended
December 31, 2010, as filed on April 8, 20

Amendment No. 21 to Navitaire Hosted Services Aaueet dated as of March 1, 2011, between Navitaicednd VRG Linhas Aéreas S.A.,
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as successor of Gol Transportes Aéreos S.A. Cartations of this exhibit have been omitted from plublic filing and were separately filed
with the Commission with a request for confidentiabtmen:

Aircraft Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 1042fetween Gol Transportes Aéreos S.A. and The Bagampany, incorporated herein
by reference from our Registration Statement on Ferhfiled June 1, 2004, as amended on June T4 20d June 23, 2004, File No. 333-
116054

Supplemental Aircraft Purchase Agreement No. 1ddateof July 16, 2004 between Gol Transportes A2&A. and The Boeing Company,
incorporated herein by reference from our Registattatement on Form F-1, filed March 28, 2004am&nded on April 11, 2005 and
April 26, 2005, File No. 35-123625

Supplemental Aircraft Purchase Agreement No 2 daiedf January 20, 2005 between Gol TransportegoséB.A. and The Boeir
Company, incorporated herein by reference from owgidRation Statement on Form F-1, filed March 2804, as amended on April 11,
2005 and April 26, 2005, File No. 3123625

Supplemental Aircraft Purchase Agreement No. 3 dla@®e of January 7, 2005 between Gol TransportegoséB.A. and The Boeir
Company, incorporated herein by reference from owidR&tion Statement on Form F-1, filed March 2802 as amended on April 11,
2005 and April 26, 2005, File No. 2-123625

Supplemental Aircraft Purchase Agreement No. 4 dda®e of March 24, 2004 between Gol Transportes ¢&1®.A. and The Boeing
Company, incorporated herein by reference from owidR&tion Statement on Form F-1, filed March 2802 as amended on April 11,
2005 and April 26, 2005, File No. 3-123625

Supplemental Agreement No. 5 dated July 25, 200Butchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 2004 bet@eé Transportes Aéreos S.A.
and The Boeing Company, incorporated herein by neéerérom our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the ymraded December 31, 2005, as
filed on March 20, 2006 and as amended on May @6.

Supplemental Agreement No. 6 dated August 26, 200Burchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 2004eeetwGol Transportes Aéreos
S.A. and The Boeing Company, incorporated hereinefigrence from our Annual Report on Form 20-F for yker ended December 31,
2005, as filed on March 20, 2006 and as amendeédayn2, 200€

Supplemental Agreement No. 7 dated October 18, 200%urchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 2004eleet Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A. and The Boeing Company, incorporated hereinefigrence from our Annual Report on Form 20-F for ybar ended December 31,
2005, as filed on March 20, 2006 and as amendedayn2, 200€

Supplemental Agreement No. 8 dated February 19 20®urchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 20@ebka Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A. and The Boeing Company, incorporated hereinetigrence from our Annual Report on Form 20-F for yker ended December 31,
2005, as filed on March 20, 2006 and as amendeédayn2, 200€

Supplemental Agreement No. 9 dated March 6, 20@urchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 2004 bet@eé Transportes Aéreos S.A.
and The Boeing Company, incorporated herein by neéerérom our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the ymraded December 31, 2005, as
filed on March 20, 2006 and as amended on May @6.
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Supplemental Agreement No. 10 dated October 19 2®®urchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 20f@4elba Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A. and The Boeing Company. Certain portions of é¢iisibit have been omitted from the public filingdawere separately filed with the
Commission with a request for confidential treatn

Supplemental Agreement No. 11 dated October 246 20®urchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 2084eke Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A. and The Boeing Company, incorporated hereinefigrence from our Annual Report on Form 20-F for ykar ended December 31,
2006, as filed on February 28, 2C

Supplemental Agreement No. 12 dated February 87 200Purchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 20f¥eka Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A. and The Boeing Company, incorporated hereinefigrence from our Annual Report on Form 20-F for ybar ended December 31,
2007, as filed on April 22, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No. 13 dated December 1077, RDPurchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 26tWelen Gol Transportes Aére
S.A. and The Boeing Company, incorporated hereinefigrence from our Annual Report on Form 20-F for ykar ended December 31,
2007, as filed on April 22, 20C

Supplemental Agreement No. 14 dated September@IB ® Purchase Agreement dated as of May 17, P@ddeen Gol Transports
Aéreos S.A. and The Boeing Company, incorporatedirndrg reference from our Annual Report on Form 2@sF the year ended
December 31, 2008, as filed on May 8, 2

Supplemental Agreement No. 15 dated April 30, 2@0Burchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 2004eleetBol Transportes Aéreos S
and The Boeing Company, incorporated herein by neéerérom our Annual Report on Form 20-F for the ymraded December 31, 2009, as
filed on March 31, 201

Supplemental Agreement No. 16 dated September@38 fo Purchase Agreement dated as of May 17, ded4een Gol Transportes
Aéreos S.A. and The Boeing Company, incorporatediérg reference from our Annual Report on Form 2@sF the year ended
December 31, 2009, as filed on March 31, 2(

Supplemental Agreement No. 17 dated October 289 2@®urchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 20@4elba Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A. and The Boeing Company, incorporated hereinefigrence from our Annual Report on Form 20-F for ybar ended December 31,
2009, as filed on March 31, 201

Supplemental Agreement No. 18 dated July 8, 20IPutchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 2004 bet@eé Transportes Aéreos S.A.
and The Boeing Company., incorporated herein byeatsr from our Annual Report on Form 20-F for ther yealed December 31, 2010, as
filed on April 8, 2011

Supplemental Agreement No. 19 dated September@IQ) ® Purchase Agreement dated as of May 17, P@ddeen Gol Transportes
Aéreos S.A. and The Boeing Company., incorporate@imdsy reference from our Annual Report on Form 2@F the year ended
December 31, 2010, as filed on April 8, 2(

Supplemental Agreement No. 20 dated February 111 20 Purchase Agreement dated as of May 17, 26tWelen Gol Transportes Aéreos
S.A. and The Boeing Company., incorporated hereinefgrence from our Annual Report on Form 20-F f& ylear ended December 31,
2010, as filed on April 8, 201
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SIGNATURE

The Company hereby certifies that it meets all efrgguirements for filing on Form Z0and that it has duly caused and authorized thersigned to sic
this Annual Report on Form 20-F on its behalf.

GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.

By: /s/ CONSTANTINO DE OLIVEIRA JUNIOR
Name Constantino de Oliveira Junior
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.

By: /s/ LEONARDO PORCIUNCULA GOMES PEREIRA
Name Leonardo Porcitincula Gomes Pereira
Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Finaral and Investor Relations Officer

Dated: April 11, 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKERM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Gol Linhas Aéreas Inteligentes S.A.
Sao Paule SP, Brazil

We have audited the accompanying consolidated nsémie of financial position of Gol Linhas Aéreasdiigentes S.A. ar
subsidiaries (the “Company”as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the relabedotidated statements of operati
comprehensive income, shareholdexguity and cash flows for each of the two yearshim period ended December 31, 2
These financial statements are the responsibifithe Companys Management. Our responsibility is to express @inian or
these consolidated financial statements based oauulits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting Oversighamo(United States) -
PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan anfdpeithe audit to obtain reasonable assurance atloether the consolidat
financial statements are free of material misstat®@mAn audit includes examining, on a test basisgdence supporting t
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated fimhrstatements. An audit also includes assessingdbeunting principles us
and significant estimates made by Management, #sawevaluating the overall financial statemergsgntation. We believe tl
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opini

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetagresent fairly, in all material respects, timaricial position of Gol Linhs
Aéreas Inteligentes S.A. and subsidiaries as oeBber 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidatedtsesfutheir operations a
their consolidated cash flows for each of the twarg in the period ended December 31, 2011, inocanity with Internationz
Financial Reporting Standards - IFRS as issuedth®yrtternational Accounting Standards Board - IASB.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bofdnited States) -
PCAOB, the Company' internal control over financial reporting as aédember 31, 2011, based on the criteria establisi
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of theadwey Commission -
COSO, and our report, dated April 9, 2012, expresse unqualified opinion on the Compasiyhternal control over financ
reporting.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Auditores Independentes

Séo Paulo, Brazil

April 9, 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKERM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Gol Linhas Aéreas Inteligentes S.A.
Sao Paulo, Brazil

We have audited the internal control over finanaigporting of Gol Linhas Aéreas Inteligentes S.Ad asubsidiaries (tt
“Company”) as of December 31, 2011, based on @itestablished in Internal Controlintegrated Framework issued by
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread@ommission - COSO. The CompasiWwlanagement is responsible
maintaining effective internal control over finaalkcreporting and for its assessment of the effeatdss of internal control o
financial reporting included in the accompanying ndgemens Report on Internal Control over Financial Repayti Ou
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Canys internal control over financial reporting bdson our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversight ido@nited States)
PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan arfdnpethe audit to obtain reasonable assurance aftioether effective intern
control over financial reporting was maintainecalnmaterial respects. Our audit included: obtairém understanding of inter
control over financial reporting, assessing thk timat a material weakness exists, testing anduatiay the design and operat
effectiveness of internal control based on thesssskrisk, and performing such other proceduregeasonsidered necessary in
circumstances. We believe that our audit providesaaonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvigi the compang’ principa
executive and principal financial officers, or pmrs performing similar functions, and effected b tcompanys Board ©
Directors, Management, and other personnel to geokeasonable assurance regarding the reliabfliiywancial reporting and tt
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with International Financiepdtting StandardsIFRS. A
companys internal control over financial reporting incldhose policies and procedures that: (1) pertaithé maintenance
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately faity reflect the transactions and dispositionstioé assets of the compa
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactiomsrecorded as necessary to permit preparatiofinafcial statements
accordance with International Financial Reportingn8ards {FRS, and that receipts and expenditures of thepeomy are beir
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngan@ent and directors of the company; and (3) peovahsonable assura
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauted acquisition, use or disposition of the comparassets that could hav
material effect on the financial statements.
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Because of the inherent limitations of internal tcohover financial reporting, including the posltp of collusion or imprope
management override of controls, material misstatésdue to error or fraud may not be preventedetected on a timely bas
Also, projections of any evaluation of the effeetiess of the internal control over financial reijpgrto future periods are subj
to the risk that the controls may become inadegbatause of changes in conditions, or that theegegf compliance with tl
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all malerespects, effective internal control over fio&l reporting as of Decemt
31, 2011, based on the criteria established inrdateControl -Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ofnSpin¢
Organizations of the Treadway Commission - COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blofdnited States)
PCAOB, the consolidated statement of financial fpmsiof the Company as of December 31, 2011, atated consolidate
statements of operations, comprehensive incomeelsblalers’equity and cash flows for the year then ended. 1©port, date
April 9, 2012, expressed an unqualified opiniortlusse consolidated financial statements.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Auditores Independentes

Sao Paulo, Brazil

April 9, 2012
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GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.
Corporate Taxpayer’s ID (CNPJ): 06.164.253/0001-87
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MANAGEMENT REPORT

GOL Linhas Aéreas Inteligentes S.A. (GLAI) hereluybmits to its shareholders its Management Repaitthe corresponding Financ
Statements, in addition to the independent auditeport for the fiscal years ended December 31,1284d 2010, in accordance w
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFR&J accounting practices adopted in Brazil.

Message from Management

2011 was characterized by the strengthening of G@bsitioning in preparation for the coming yearih specific initiatives to reinforce tl
following strategic guidelines:

e Focus on the Client

¢ Development of Ancillary Revenues
e Cost Leadership

e Disciplined Supply Growth

e Strategic Partnerships

Even though operating margins were lower than oally planned, the Company implemented certaindegisions to ensure that its busir
became increasingly solid, both in regard to ciearid to initiatives designed to ensure sustairasigts in the medium and long term.

FOCUS ON THE CLIENT

Increase in the remote passenger check-in ratifsom 15.0%, in December 2010, to 35% in Decemif@drl2 by improving the functionali
of GOL’s website and expanding the number of kiaskthe countrys main airports. In Webjet, this ratio reached atb81% in Decemb
2011.

Launch of the GOL NO AR (GOL ON AIR) on-board entertainment platform. This free service, which is already availablaiound 4:
aircraft, allows the Company to offer greater cornfo its passengers during flights by providingastphone, tablet and notebook access
exclusive interactive media portal created by G@rotigh partnerships with national media compariies added comfort does not entail
additional operating costs in regard to installatias the system makes use of the aircraft's egistifrastructure. GOL is the first loaes
airline to offer this type of service in Latin Ames;

Expansion of the on-board food service, giving pasagers an extended range of optionghe Company currently offers this service
more than 180 daily flights and expects to readh ddily flights by the end of June 2012.

Continuous investments to maintain a young and upetdate fleet resulting in lower maintenance costs. GOL wasfitisé airline in Latir
America to adopt the new Boeing 737NG internal @pmhtion (Sky Interior), aiming to offer its pasgers a more modern and comforti
product.

Improved punctuality ratios. Punctuality is one of GOF’ strengths, as it is for Webjet. In 2011, Webjeaiswhe undoubted highlig
recording a punctuality ratio of 91%, the highesthie national industry.

New destinations In March 2012, GOL requested authorization froMALC (the Brazilian Civil Aviation Agency) to opertegular flight
between Brazil and the United States with a stegr in Caracas, Venezuela. The new route is aiatedeeting Brazilian and Venezue
demand. Fares will be competitive fares and tlyhfti will be handled by B737 NG aircraft, therebgimtaining GOL'’s standardized fleet.
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CONTINUOUS DEVELOPMENT OF ANCILLARY REVENUES

GOLLOG, the Company cargo transport unit, increased the number d#scgerved from 2,200 to 3,400, ensuring greassilility for
customers. At the beginning of 2012, a new carguiteal was inaugurated at Guarulhos, which will gug the growth of the business in
coming years. GOLLOG’ s share of the Companigtal net revenue increased from around 3.5%0i020 4.0% in 2011, underlining !
success of the Company'’s efforts on this front;

The Smiles Loyalty Programhad 8 million members in 2011 and a decision \a&eri to turn it into an independenttyanaged business L
which will both support GOLs growth and ensure greater operational flexibillige idea is to maximize the number of partnexbiaareas
the prograns attractiveness for a greater number of particgpana market in which the middle class alreadyoaats for more than 50%
the population and whose purchasing power hasisedt@aconomic growth outside the traditional vestor

COST LEADERSHIP

The Company is fully aware that it is experiencingcenario of new fuel cost and exchange ratedeared adjusting the cost base to this
reality will be crucial in ensuring disciplined asdstainable growth in the years ahead. By maimigiits cost advantage, GOL will be abl
offer lower fares and expand in a controlled mariaaneet future demand in new markets. In 201ihtibduced measures to reduce its z
cost base by around R$500mm and alleviate pregsumefuel costs and the recent increases in aiffeed. One example of this was the re
of five Boeing 767s in 2011. In 2012, the Companill benefit from operational synergies with Webjecquired in October 2011, !
maintenance agreement with Delta Tech Ops andraenis process optimization will be fundamentalhis pprocess. It is also worth not
the constant improvements to aviation processggcesly those related to fuel savings, streamligezlind operations and adequacy ol
workforce to the new reality of growth.

ACQUISITION OF WEBJET

On the strategic front, the Company once again detnated its belief in Braza’ potential consumer market by acquiring Webjetich
closed 2011 with 26 aircraft, two of which Boeingj7800s, having transported around five million pagees during the year. The transac
further strengthened GOL’s position in the courdriéading airports and allowed it to offer its oli® a more extensive route network \
even more competitive costs. In effect, the Complaay merged with an airline that has the same dimdaw-cost DNA and innovati\
vocation and which possesses a fleet that fits ®ifbL's. Operations currently remain separate, but tltedwmpanies have already ado|
concrete coordination measures that have had &v@oshpact on the results of both. Finalizationtloé transaction is awaiting approval
CADE.

AGREEMENT WITH DELTA

GOL'’s strategy calls for the strengthening of altias with international lonbaul airlines, thereby ensuring that more passengisiting
Brazil in the future will use GOIs' services. Such arrangements will also allow tbm@any to sell international flights to its cliemtgthout
losing its focus on a standardized fleet flyingrslamd mediundistance routes. In this sense the December 20EEmgnt with Delta was
important step forward. This strategic long-termeggnent will give GOLS clients the opportunity of flying to more than d@untries with
partner airline that also has a strong presentieeirBrazillJSA corridor, one of the routes that will recordshgrowth in the next five yea
Also as part of this agreement, the Company trarestidwo Boeing 767-300s to Delta, given that G@Uanger uses this type of aircraft.

DISCIPLINED SUPPLY GROWTH

On the operational front, the main focus amongitigeistry leaders in Brazil and in the wodddther major markets where the airlines
trying to create a sector that is both sustainédeclients and profitable for shareholders, is aamtrolling supply, with an emphasis
profitable routes. GOL recently announced a sujpdyease of not more than 2% on its joint domestige network with Webjet, and
initial target for 2012 is 0%. The Company aimsréburn as quickly as possible to profitability Iése¢hat ensure adequate returns
investments, as happened in the past and moretkede8009 and 2010.
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All these initiatives, and all the others that ammed at continuous improvement, are supported slyamg balance sheet with high liquic
and virtually no refinancing risk for the next targears. In addition, GOL is still the leader imts of corporate governance procedures
ensure that important decisions are always disdusse specialized committees whose members are amdkgmt of the controllir
shareholders.

In this period, GOL prepared for a new cycle offpability and growth and its medium and long-terision remains intact. The cost-
reduction measures announced in 2011 will facditdte expansion of its low-cost, low-fare businegxlel in the domestic market. GGL’
DNA will be strengthened and positive results \githdually be resumed, always aligned with the Comwisavalues: safety, focus on the cli
sustainability, innovation and profitability.

The Company would like to take this opportunitytt@nk its clients for their confidence in GQLbperation all its employees for tf
unwavering dedication and motivation, attitudeg #tra making GOL increasingly the best companytavith, work for and invest in.

Constantino de Oliveira Junior
Chief Executive Officer

ECONOMIC AND SECTOR SCENARIO

2011 was characterized by fierce domestic compatiéind intense volatility in the global economiersario. The national aviation indus
grew by 16% over the previous year, or around ifn@g annual GDP growth. There were several majeeldpments in the national aviat
industry throughout the year, including the coustrjrst airport operation concession to a privatelvned company -S&8o Gongalo ¢
Amarante airport, in Natal, Rio Grande do Norteswe first Brazilian airport to be privatized. TRational Civil Aviation Agency (ANAC
also published the privatization notice for threerenstrategic airports, which will be auctioned=gbruary 2012: Guarulhos (SP), Viracc
(Campinas -SP) and Brasilia. The aim of allowing private eptise to run the airports is to improve infrastruetin preparation for the ma
sporting events to be held in Brazil shortly, adl&s to resolve existing infrastructure problen® do the substantial increase in passe
traffic.

OPERATING PERFORMANCE

Acquisition of Webjet: The acquisition of Webjet, which is still beingadyzed by CADE, was part of the process of constilidj the
Company's strategy in 2011, allowing both GOL andbygt to offer their customers improved serviced anmore comprehensive ro
network.

Agreements and Partnerships:At the beginning of 2011, GOL established a Iteagn MRO (maintenance, repair and overhaul) pastig
with Delta TechOps, the maintenance division oft®dlirlines, with the purpose of improving GOL’sAlecost structure and the quality of
state-of-the-art Brazilian maintenance center. Toenpany also signed a memorandum of understanéiggrding a codshare agreeme
with Aerolineas Argentinas and initiated a coderstagreement with Qatar Airways. Also in 2011,dgan an interline operation with Webjet
allowing the latter to use GOL'’s sales channelsaibtickets for its flights.

In December, GOL announced a long-term stratedianae with Delta Airlines. This agreement is inel with the Company’ strategy ¢
establishing international partnerships with legdgtobal players that add value to its servicesuph the joint accumulation/redemptior
miles in the airlines’ mileage programs, togethd@hvthe opportunity of offering long-distance flighto GOL’s passengerfhe agreeme
also capitalized GOL, strengthening its balanceeshed making it even better prepared to achievgadtals and explore new markets
sources of revenu®artnering with a global player will also resuitaperational synergies with great potential faueng operating cos
thereby reinforcing the Company'’s low-cost, lowefdNA. The experience and knowledge of global aviatioruaed by Delta in more thi
81 years of operations in the world's most developarket, combined with Brazilian commercaliation's growth potential, provides
opportunity for both companies to increase theiumreon capital employed in the years ahead.
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Fleet: GOL continued with its renewal strategy, closihg year with an operational fleet comprising 12&iBg 737800/700 Next Generatir
and 24 Boeing 73800 aircraft with an average age of 7 and 18 yeagpectively. This allow the Company to provitkedustomers wit
better-quality service, while at the same time iowing its financial performance by reducing maiece costs and fuel consumptiémthe
second half, it took delivery of its first Sky Ini@ aircraft, featuring a futuristic design thrdugtED projections and increased passe
comfort. GOL was the first Latin American airline@ incorporate this model into its fle®uring the year, the Company returned three B
that were no longer part of its operational flétyearend, it had 91firm orders, 10 purchase rights anddditional 40 purchase options
Boeing 737 NGs for delivery between 2011 and 2016 of a total order for 141 Boeing aircraft.

Maintenance Center: GOL maintains an Aircraft Maintenance Center ia Trancredo Neves international airport, in Confidfas Gerais
which opened in 2006 and is the largest and mostramed complex of its kind in Latin America. Helne iCompany undertakes heavy fuse
maintenance, preventive maintenance, aircraft jpgirdnd internal aircraft configuration for GOL aW@\RIG’s combined fleet. The fit
construction stage began in 2005, when the Ceateiced up to 60 aircraft. The conclusion of theos®l stage, which began in 2008, dou
this capacity t0o120 aircraft/year and added a namghr, offices, a storeroom, warehouses and additgupport areas, as well as increa
the yard area. Given its size, the Cemstenxpansion has made a substantial contributidinetaevelopment of the Belo Horizonte metropo
region. One of GOIS current challenges is to be certified by the F/&&deral Aviation Administration), which is respies for regulatin
civil aviation in the United States, allowing it poovide services to international airlines, thgrgbnerating significant ancillary revenues.

IATA Membership and IOSA Certification: GOL became a member of the International Air Tramnispion Association (IATA), the glok
airline industry’s most representative institutiarhich regulates airline operations with the priynatention of ensuring passenger safétys
recognized as the global benchmark for evaluatiliges’ operational safety management and contnoti as a membeGOL will take part il
global discussions on issues regarding the devedapof the commercial aviation industtywill also participate in forums and have acc&
the most up-to-date studies and indicators, as aglenjoying full-member voting rightdn 2010 the Company obtained I0SA (1A
Operational Safety Audit) certificatiohis is an extremely important achievement for @mnpany, given that it underlines its commitn
to safety in every procedure and generates refi@tsare accepted by international companies, ditiad to reducing the costs associated
other audits. It also means that the high safety @werational quality standards are reassesseg &veryears. Our certificate, therefore
valid until December 2012.

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

Given that it was founded at a time when social amdronmental issues were a major concern, G@lisiness plan incorporated sustair
development and an operational structure and tmep@ay has since made strategic investments that ¢raverated substantial gains in te
of operating profitability, environmental efficiepand passenger service quality.

In 2011 GOL disclosed its 2010 Annual SustaingbiReport based on Global Reporting Initiative (GBUjdelines, an international stand
for reporting economic, social and environmentatfgrenance. By adopting these parameters, GOL haeddreater transparency .
credibility to its accountability with its varioustakeholders. The GRI standards also constituténgortant step towards manag
sustainability within GOL, as their adoption invetV representatives of many different areas in tieation and auditing of information a
the creation of new procedures for monitoring iatlics, as part of a constant learning and improwne mecess.

Also in 2011 GOL published a report on greenhouse gmissions based on the most internationallygrézed tool for controlling the
emissions: the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Initiativ€HG Protocol.
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The Fundacéo Getulio Vargas, in Sdo Paulo, wa®nsdge for training personnel in the drawing ugted inventory.

The Protocol measures the Compan®HG emissions on all its operational fronts asesuthe resulting data to arrive at the most apjata
means of reducing adverse environmental impacisaddpting the GHG Protocol to compile its emissigmventory, GOL is showing t
market and society as a whole that it takes theatgof its activities on the environment very aesly indeed, even though civil aviation
whole accounts for only 2% of the planet’s total Sénissions, according to the UNIntergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.

initiative will help mitigate climate change andseine advanced compliance with the rigid internati@viation standards that are certain t
introduced in the near future.

GOL was the first Latin American airline to presemt emission control plan for generating an invento accordance with DEHS
(Deutsches Emissionshandelsregister), a Germamritythesponsible for the implementation of progeand emissiomonitoring initiative:
within the Kyoto Protocol’s Clean Development Megisan. As a result, GOL was able to quantify its emissiand develop action plans
reduce them.

One of the 2010 sustainability highlights was thauiguration of the Instituto GOMR, pioneering initiative in the largest maintenaneater i
Latin America through which the Company expectséoome a benchmark for the training of aircraftntexiance personneCreated to me
demand for skilled labor in the aviation sectog thstitute is a non-profit association which atms$rain and qualify sector professionalsile
also contributing to the social and economic dgwalent of the Belo Horizonte metropolitan region.

GOL maintains a partnership agreement with GE Aatés Fuel and Carbon Services divisitoncreate studies and systems designed to r
fossil fuel consumption and GHG emissions, furthederlining the Compang’ determination to ensure the sustainable developofeits
business.

The Company'’s fleet is composed of modern airdteft generate less noise pollution and have alreztithe CQ emission reduction targ

required by law in 2014. GOL has been implemen#@ARS, a system that permits the réiate digital transmission, via satellite,
important flight data between aircraft and GOL'sés, allowing routes and flight times to be autacadly updated.

In January 2010, GOL began equipping its aircratfh wensors for the innovative GPS Landing Systsnell as Vertical Situation Display
sophisticated tool for determining the aircraftasyiion in relation to the groundThe GPS Landing System allows increased landing
takeoff accuracy and safety, reducing fuel consion@nd GHG emissions by up to 5% during thesdfligageswhile the Vertical Situatic
Display allows pilots to accurately identify infoation on ground relief and obstacles from the cachp turn allowing them to plan the
landing approach with more efficiency.

GOL has developed its own program for the managéroéraircraft maintenance waste in its operatiobakes. Apart from beil
environmentally correct and in line with its envirmental responsibility policies, this program gake Company greater control over
consumption and use of materials. It is also inedlin ongoing research programs aimed at develap@aner technology and ensuring long
term fuel availability.

In its Maintenance Center, GOL follows strict elvimental standards: all oil and chemical efflugmtsluced during maintenance proced
are treated before disposal to avoid environmetdatage. The Center also has a fikquipped exhaust system which results in a hee
working environment and reduces atmospheric ennisdiy 60% due to the retention of particulate mattel volatile organic compounds.

When cleaning inside aircraft, the Company useastréhl towels cleaned by specialized companies/tid any type of waste. For the out:
of the aircraft GOL has adopted a diiganing method since 2003, which reduced watesumption by 90% over previous levels. The vol
of water saved per aircraft is enough to coverdéidy needs of a family of two adults and two ctald. The painting hangar has an exh
and pollution control system, which also reducesi@aate material. The new area of the hangar egaspped with cabins for the painting :
sanding of aircraft parts and with a filtering ®mttoreduce atmospheric emissions. In addition, a higguum system was installed, wt
captures the dust from aircraft sanding and rettiegarticulate material in filter bags, prevegtany impact on the health of employees
the environment.
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Thanks to these efforts and a constant focus oabisctives, GOL was the only Brazilian airlineesgéd to join SAFUG (the Sustaina
Aviation Fuel Users Group), an international awatbiofuel research group.

GOL supports important social initiativesmed at the sustainable development of the busisestor and society as a whole, inclu
Campanha Amigos do Mundbriends of the World CampaigrQopa Socia(Social Cup)Projeto Colaborador CidadagCitizen Employe
Program), Ashoka, anBducador Nota 1QPremium Educator), plus a range of cultural apdrting projects. With a focus on raising
employees’ awareness of the importance of sust@ndbvelopment, exchanging experience, strengtgemind developing Brazd’
educational system, building the foundations faufe professionals and promoting the spread ofimiltthe Company creates and supj
various social inclusion and development projecthée educational area geared to the pure sciemzkshildren’s health.

REGULATORY MATTERS

Air transportation services are considered to bthépublic interest and are therefore subjectxtersive regulation and monitoring by
Aeronautical Command of the Ministry of Defenses @ivil Aviation Board (CONAC) and the Brazilian\@iAviation Authority (ANAC), as
well as the Federal Constitution and the Brazilfanation Code. The Brazilian air transportation teys is controlled by several differ
authorities. ANAC is responsible for regulating #idines, the Airspace Control Department (DECH®Y) controlling the countrg airspac
and INFRAERO for managing the airports. In Marcli20the Department of Civil Aviation (SAC) was dsished to oversee the Brazil
civil aviation industry. The SAC oversees ANAC dhdFRAERO and reports directly to Brazil's president

Financial Statements

In order to comply with sections 302 and 404 of #aebane®xley Act, the internal control framework governirglevant processes that n
pose a risk to the financial statements is evatljatecumented and tested in accordance with théresgents of the Public Companies Al
Oversight Board (PCAOB) using internationally-resagd methods and criteria.

AWARDS

In recognition of its 2011 performance, GOL recdiseveral important institutional awards, includifiBest Financial Reporting Practices”
“Most Progress in Financial Reporting Practicesid 439 Best Investor Relations Website”, in theMadition of the IR Global Rankin
(IRGR). IRGR is one of the most comprehensive ranking systéor investor relations websites, annual repasporate governance ¢
financial reporting practices. The Company's manmegeg and the Investor Relations area also receiliedfollowing awards: Best IF
Department”; «#d and 34 Best CEO in the Transportation Industry”, eledbgcsell-side and buy-side analysts, respectivelg}‘,j Best CFO i
the Transportation Industry”, elected by both séle and buy-side analysts; and “Best IR Area’ctelé by sell-side analysts, all of which by
Institutional Investc magazineGOL was also recognized as the “Best Passengendirl 2011" byTransporte Modernanagazine.

EMPLOYEES

The Company could not have achieved everythingd Without the dedication of its 20.525 employdhe (Team of Eagles”)who haw
striven tirelessly and efficiently to achieve tlsisccess story by providing our passengers withbdst possible servicés a result, th
Company believes that high-quality, laest services are the key to reaching its goaleokegating returns for all those who believed in
contributed to its success.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Net operating revenuetotaled R$7,539.3billion in 2011, 8.0% up on thesRF9.4billion recorded in 2010, chiefly due to theorporation ¢
operating revenue amounting to R$280.7mm from 8y dd Webjet's operations (as of October 3, when Gompany acquired outrig
control of Webjet). Other variations includ€d:a 6.9% upturn in passenger revenue due to #e.p. increase in the load factor (from 67.
in 2010, to 68.8%), combined with a 4.9% declineyiglds; (ii) growth of close to 17.7% in cargo eewmie due to GOLLOG' increase
national coverage (from 2,000 cities, in 2010, %08), accounting for around 4.1% of the Compargtal net revenue; (iii) a 4.8% increas
revenue arising from Smiles, due to the strengtierdf the mileage program throughout the year; &v30% upturn in revenue frc
agreements with international partner airlines; @pca 35% increase in revenue from flight caratedhs and rebooking due to the uptur
operational volume.

Operating coststotaled R$7,783.8 bhillion, 23.9% up on the R$6,281Im posted in 2010, due to the incorporation of 82mm in operatir
costs from 87 days of Webjet's operations, andreesef other variations, includingi) growth of around 33.8% in fuel expenses, im
caused by the 19.5% upturn in the average WTIlbperel oil price; (ii) a 24.6% increase in wagesiages and benefits, mainly due to
impact of the 8.75% pay rise following the colleetibargaining agreement, as well as the 10.6% mptuthe number of hours flown; (i
higher variable expenses due to the period incrieagperational volume (growth of around 6.4% inmfner of departures); (iv) namcurring
expenses in 2011 from the return of 3 B767 airciféifiht cancellations (Chilean volcano), contréetminations, systems automation
others; (v) the introduction of ANAC's new fare @dhtion methodology in March; and (vi) increasegbieeciation expenses due to the |z
number of aircraft under financial leasing in 2Q45, versus 35 aircrafts in 2010). Operating cpsisASK (CASK) moved up by 13.9
from 13.67 cents (R$) in 2010 to 15.57 cents (R$011.

As a result of all the above, the Company repoatedt operating loss of R$244.5mimwith a negative operating margin &2%, versus ne
operating income of R$697.8mm in 2010, with a maufi10.0%. The Company is projecting the resunmptibpositive operating margins
2012.

The net financial result was an expense of R$755.9mm, versus an expens&3ifIBmm in 2010, due to the incorporation of ad
R$19.4mm in net financial expenses (revenues) B@mdays of Webjet's operations, in addition to otraiations, including: (i) the negati
impact of exchange rate volatility in 2011, whigd Ito variations in the Company’s foreign-currendgnominated assets and liabilities;

higher interest expenses from the senior bondgdssuJuly, 2010, and thdvand 5" debenture issue in September 2010 and June 2011.
As a result of all the above, the Company poste@ld net loss of R$751.5mnwversus net income of R$214.2mm in 2010.

Liquidity and Indebtedness: Even in the face of a difficult year, GOL was swsfal in increasing its liquidity and maintainingash balanc
equivalent to at least 25% of LTM net reven@s.a result, it closed the year with cash posifmmposed by cash and cash equivalents,
term investments and current and noncurrent réstricash) of R$2,348.5mm, representing 31.1% oti@nnet revenuel0.4% up on tF
previous quarter and 18.7% more than at the ertlQdf0. At yearend, total loans and financings came to R$4,991.4#0% of which il
foreign currency and the remainder in Reais.

Capex: The Company invested approximately R$685mm in 26B% of which in the prepayment of aircraft as pdrthe fleet expansic
plan. The remainder was allocated to the acquisitiorpafe parts, the Confins maintenance center, ag@ord the opening of stores in Sc
America.
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Corporate Governance: GOL conducts its business in line with the begfpomte governance practices in Brazil and worléwéohd i
recognized by the market as one of those companigdoying exemplary governance standards. Sind®@sin 2004, the Comparg/'share
have been traded in the Level 2 Corporate Govemaegment of the Sdo Paulo Stock Exchange (BOVESBA) complies with th
Sarbanes Oxley Act and has introduced several itapbmitiatives to benefit its shareholders, imtthg 100% tag along rights for prefer
shareholders, the election of four independent @oa@mbers, and the constitution of a series of 8ocammittees in which these indepent
members play an active role, one of whom as Chairma

CAPITAL MARKET

At the end of 2011, the Compasycapital stock was composed of 270.4 million comrand preferred shares. The preferred shares fesar
traded on the Sdo Paulo (GOLL4) and the New Yo®I(}5Stock Exchanges since 2004. The free float amap 36.3% of the total sha
and 73.5% of the preferred shares. GOL is one@hibst liquid companies in Brazil and is includedhie Ibovespa (Bovespa Index), IT.
(Special Tag Along Stock Index), MSCI and IBRX 38dzil Index 50). Daily traded volume averaged R$80in 2011 on the BM&
Bovespa alone. GOL'’s shares closed 2011 at R$Y&rddhare, 50.4% down on the R$25.10 reporteceagrid of 2010.

RELATIONS WITH THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Company's policy when contracting the indepandaditors for services which are unrelated toetkternal audit is grounded in princig
that preserve their independence. In accordandeimtgérnationallyaccepted standards, these precepts are: (a)diterawshall not audit the
own work; (b) the auditors shall not occupy a mameg) position in their cliens company; and (c) the auditors shall not legadjyresent tr
interests of their clients.

In accordance with Item lIl, article 2 of CVM Inatition 381/03, the Company and its subsidiariesagbaconsult their Audit Committ
before contracting professional services other thase related to the external audit, in ordemsuee that the provision of these services
not affect the independence and objectivity necgska the performance of independent audit sesiicehe auditors are also requiret
provide formal declarations attesting to their ipeledence when providing services not related t@tiu.

COMMITMENT CLAUSE — ADHERENCE TO THE ARBITRATION CH AMBER

The “Commitment Clausefefers to the arbitration clause, through which @wmpany, its shareholders, Board of Directors,chtiee Boart
and Fiscal Council, as well as the Bovespa, unkierta resolve, by means of arbitration, any andlisibutes or controversies that may ¢
between them related to or arising from, especialig application, validity, effectiveness, interfation, violation, and their effects, of
provisions of Brazilian Corporate Law, the CompanBylaws, the regulations of the National Monet&guncil, the Brazilian Central Ba
and the Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commmssind all other regulations governing the fundtigrof the securities market in gene
as well as those in the Bovespa Listing RulesAttiétration Rules and the Level 2 Listing Rules.

2012 OUTLOOK

Based on demand growth trends in recent yearstanéirtancial markes GDP forecast for 2012, together with the contiguéxpansion «
Brazil's potential market due to the rapid growthttee countrys emerging middle class, accompanied by the equapid expansion
tourism in South America and the Caribbean, the gy estimates aviation industry demand growthatfvben 2.5 and 3.0 times G
growth (i.e. around 10.0%). The Company also ddriacrease its domestic seat supply by betweem®d2% on its own and Webjgt'oute
network, accompanied by a load factor between Wl7&%. GOLexpects the domestic industry to adopt a morematiapproach to addi
seat supply in 2012, and, accordingly, resultingrirecovery yield scenario when compared to 20h@ Company estimates an opere
margin (EBIT) of between 4% and 7%.
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of Tourism for their dedication to the developmehthe Brazilian aviation industry.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

To the Shareholders, Directors and Management of
Gol Linhas Aéreas Inteligentes S.A.

Sao Paule SP
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GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS OFIBCEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010
(In thousands of Brazilian Reais —)?$

Note 12/31/201. 12/31/201!
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 1,230,28 1,955,858
Short-term investments 5 1,009,06: 22,606
Restricted cash 4 8,55¢ -
Trade receivables 6 354,13¢ 303,054
Inventories 7 151,02: 170,990
Recoverable taxes 8 212,99¢ 88,143
Prepaid expenses 9 93,791 116,182
Deposits 10 35,08 -
Other receivables 43,36( 48,019
3,138,30: 2,704,852
Non-current assets
Deposits 10 595,51 715,377
Restricted cash 4 100,54: 34,500
Prepaid expenses 9 44,96+ 54,201
Deferred taxes 8 1,086,991 817,545
Other receivables 14,39¢ 9,227
Related parties transactions 11 - -
Property, plant and equipment 14 3,890,47! 3,460,968
Intangible assets 15 1,783,95 1,267,177
7,516,83 6,358,995
Total assets 10,655,14 9,063,847

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS OFIBCEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010
(In thousands of Brazilian reais — R$)

LIABILITIES Note 12/31/201 12/31/2011
Current liabilities
Short term del 16 1,552,44C 346,00t
Trade payable 414,563 215,79.
Salaries, wages and bene 250,030 205,99:
Tax obligation 20 76,736 58,197
Tax and landing fer 190,029 85,14(
Advance ticket salt 17 744,743 517,00t
Dividends payab 22 584 51,45(
Mileage prograr 18 71,935 55,32¢
Advances from custome 19 30,252 24,58:
Provision: 21 75,568 55,967
Liabilities from derivative transactio 26 115,432 1,64¢
Other payable 73,353 71,88«
3,595,66! 1,688,99:

Nonr-current liabilitie:

Long term detk 16 3,439,00¢ 3,395,08!
Deferred taxe 8 763,706 642,18!
Provision: 21 231,182 88,91
Mileage prograr 18 214,779 152,32
Advances from custome 19 - 33,26:
Tax obligation 20 112,935 99,71¢
Payables to related compar 11 - -
Other payable 91,955 34,20t
4,853,56¢ 4,445,68!

Shareholders' equ 22
Issued Capital 2,316,50C 2,315,65!
Advance for future capital increase 182,610 -
Capital reserves 60,263 60,26
Share issuance costs (145,279 (132,522
Earnings reserve - 642,86(
Share-based payment 68,602 43,723
Treasury shares 16 (51,377 (11,887
Other comprehensive incol (79,268 11,07
Accumulated losses (146,140 -
2,205,911 2,929,16!
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 10,655,141 9,063,84

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 201012 AND 2009
(In thousands of Brazilian reais — R$, except badituted loss per share)

Consolidatec

Note
12/31/201 12/31/201 12/31/200!

Operating revenu
Passeng 6,713,029 6,277,657 5,306,53!
Cargo and otht 826,279 701,790 718,85

23 7,539,30: 6,979,441 6,025,38:
Operating expens
Salarie (1,560,43€ (1,252,402 (1,100,953
Aircraft fuel (3,060,665 (2,287,410 (1,813,104
Aircraft ren (505,058 (555,662 (650,683
Aircraft insuranc (31,921 (47.757 (56.324
Sales and marketil (402,568 (367,757 (364,551
Landing fee (395,249 (331,882 (312,637
Aircraft and traffic servicin (484,642 (430,521 (381,721
Maintenance materials and rep (434,181 (422,950 (417,212
Depreciation and amortizati (395,807 (281,604 (142,853
Other operating expens (601,713 (303.707 (372.052
Gain on bargain purche 88,42¢ - -
Total operating expens (7,783,812 (6,281,652 (5,612,09C
Income (loss) from operations before financial imeo(expenses) (244,504 697,795 413,29;
Finance result
Financial income 24 477,524 183,90 191.55;
Financial expenses 24 (834,541 (541,755 (556.947
Exchange rate changes, net 24 (398,897 46,549 708.24(

(755,914 (311,299 342.84¢

Income (loss) before income tax and social contigiou (1,000,418 386,496 756,13t
Curren (5,791 (53,855 (609;
Deferre( 254,671 (118,444 135,30!

8 248,880 (172,299 134,69¢
Net (loss) income (751,538 214,197 890,83:
Weighted average numbgr of outstanding shares latioe to basic 13
earnings (loss) per share (in thousa 270,37t 268,56¢ 227,47
Basic earnings (loss) per sh 13 (2.780 0.79¢ 3.91¢
Diluted earnings (loss) per sh 13 (2.780 0.79¢ 3.91«

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEARS ENDED DEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 AND 2009

(In thousands of Brazilian reais — R$, except badituted loss per share)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Consolidated

12/31/1: 12/31/1( 12/31/0¢

Income for the yee (751,538 214,19 890,83:
Other comprehensive income (los

Available for sale financial ass 362 (2,497 4,137

Cash flow hedge (136,992 18,03t 19,77¢

Income ta 46,28¢ (5,283 (6,725

(90,341 10,25¢ 17,19:

Total comprehensive income for the ye: (841,879 224,45. 908,02:

Transactions shown in comprehensive income foyéaes ended on December 31, 2011, 2010 and 20@8aieed below:

Consolidatec

Total
Financial assets comprehensive
available for sale Cash flow hedge Income tax income (loss)
Balance on December 31, 2( 4,001 (30,869 10,49¢ (16,373
Realized losses (gains) from financial instrumerdasferred to the
income 7 98,57¢ - 98,58
Fair value variatio (1,873 (69,702 (9,817 (81,392
Balance on December 31, 2( 2,13¢ (1,995 67€ 81€
Realized losses (gains) from financial instrumerdasferred to the
income (2,497 20,57 (6,994 11,08(
Fair value variatio - (2,536 1,711 (825
Balance on December 31, 2( (362 16,04( (4,605 11,07
Realized losses (gains) from financial instrumerdssferred to th
income 362 19,10% (6,496 12,97
Fair value variatio - (156,099 52,78t (103,314
Balance on December 31, 20 - (120,952 41,68¢ (79,268

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfirancial statements.
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GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS™ EQY FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 AND 2009
(In thousands of Brazilian reais — R$)

Valuation adjustments to

Capital reserve Earnings reserve equit
Advance . . -
for Goodwill Special Share _ Available- Unrealized
Capital future on goodwill issuance Legal Reinvestment Share—basgd Treasury for-sale hedge Accumulated Total
" transfer reserve of reserve reserve compensation shares profit losses
capital of shares subsidiar costs assets (loss)
increase Y

Balances as of January ¥,
2009 1,363,94 - 60,36¢ 29,187 (113,328 80,86¢ 837,70( 14,44« (41,180 (2,002 (14,371 (1,144,022 1,071,60!
Total of other comprehensit
income - - - - - - - - - 4,131 13,05« - 17,19:
Capital increas 830,84¢ - - - - - - - - - - - 830,84¢
Share issuance co - - - - (19,194 - - - - - - - (19,194
Cancelled treasuary sha - - (29,293 - - - - - 29,29¢ - - - -
Recognition of earning
reserve to absorb accumulated
losse: - - - - - (80,865 (837,700 - - - - 918,56! -
Net income for the ye - - - - - - - - - - - 890,83: 890,83:
Recognition of legal reser - - - - - 39,120 - - - - - (39,123 -
Dividends payab - - - - - - - - - - - (185,839 (185,839
Allocation of net incom - - - - - - 557,50« - - - - (557,504 -
Sharwbased paymer - - - - - - - 4,54( - - - - 4,54(
Balances as of December 3
2009 2,194,79 - 31,07¢ 29,187 (132,522 39,120 557,50¢ 18,98 (11,887 2,138 (1,317 (117,091 2,609,98
Net income - - - - - - - - - - - 214,19 214,19
Recognition of legal resen - - - - - 10,71( - - - - - (10,710 -
Proposed mandato
minimum dividend - - - - - - - - - - - (50,873 (50,873
Allocation of net incom - - - - - - 35,520 - - - - (35,523 -
Other comprehensive incor
(loss’ - - - - - - - - - (1,648 11,90¢ - 10,25¢
Capital increas 120,86: - - - - - - - - - - - 120,86:
Sharbased paymer - - - - - - - 24,74! - - - - 24,74:
Balances as of December 3
2010 2,315,65 - 31,07¢ 29,187 (132,522 49,83! 593,02 43,727 (11,887 487 10,58t - 2,929,16!
Error adjustment, net of
taxes- note 2.: - - - - - - - - - - - (37,462 (37,462
Restated balance as ¢
January 15!, 2011 2,315,65 - 31,07t 29,18 (132,522 49,83 593,02 43,72’ (11,887 487 10,58¢ (37,462 2,891,70
Other comprehensive incor
(loss), ne - - - - - - - - - (487, (89,854 - (90,341
Net income (loss - - - - - - - - - - - (751,538 (751,538
Recognition of earning 22
reserve and legal reserve to - - - - - (49,833 (593,027 - - - - 642,86( -
absorb accumulated los
Capital increase through tl 22
exercise of stock optio 84t - - - - - - - - - - - 84t
Advance for future capit 22
increas - 182,61( - - - - - - - - - - 182,611

22
Share issuance co - - - - (12,757 - - - - - - - (12,757

22
Shar+-based paymer - - - - - - - 24,87¢ - - - - 24,87t

1€
Share buybac - - - - - - - - (39,490 - - - (39,490
Balances as of December 3
2011 2,316,50  182,61( 31,07¢ 29,187 (145,279 - - 68,60: (51,377 - (79,268 (146,140 2,205,91

The accompanying notes are an integral part cktfieancial statements
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GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 AND 2009
(In thousands of Brazilian reais — R$)

Consolidatec

12/31/201 12/31/2011 12/31/200!
Net income (loss) (751,538 214,19° 890,83:
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash pwided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 395,807 281,60: 142,85:
Allowance for doubtful accounts 23,483 7,72¢ 7,701
Provision for contingencies 6,218 18,84: 13,00
Provision for (reversal of provision for) onerowntracts 15,393 (445, 2,08(
Provision for inventory obsolescence 1,196 8,40: 4,327
Deferred taxes (254,671 118,44 (135,305
Share-based compensation 24,875 24,74 4,54(
Exchange rate changes and inflation adjustments, ne 400,095 (46,549 (708,240
Interest on loans 414,430 297,25¢ 275,46t
Unrealized hedge income (loss), net of taxes 19,469 117,02: 80,33:
Provision for aircraft retui 96,136 108,10¢ 13,11
Other provisions (30,460 - -
Mileage prograr 79,057 (106,299 (38,714
Write-off of property, plant and equipment and igible assets 10,173 3,037 (8,832
Impairmen 23,35¢ - -
Gain on bargain purchase (88,428 - -
Changes in operating assets and liabilitie
Trade accounts receivable 84,84( 208,52t (182,082
Short-term investments used for trading (1,011,534 - -
Inventories 22,406 (41,433 45,87¢
Deposits 144,456 78,36¢ (124,196
Prepaid expenses and recoverable taxes (12,406 64,95( 25,44
Other receivables 16,831 9,86¢ 47,772
Trade accounts payable 131,971 (146,590 78,66¢
Advanced ticket sales 125,112 (44,341 (11,226
Liabilities from derivative transactions (42,314) - -
Advances from customers (27,591 (162,150 190,14¢
Payroll 22,25¢ (27,168 86,35!
Tax and landing fees 58,600 8,80¢ (20,879
Taxes payab 6,65% 16,54¢ 65,24¢
Provisions (95,413 (124,722 (127,191
Other payables 22,841 (4,650 (13,250
Cash provided by operating activitie: (168,706) 882,10: 603,83°
Interest paid (428,023 (123,019 (115,422
Income tax paid (5,791 (35,186 (31,156
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitie (602,520 723,89 457,25¢
Investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of ce (33,885 - -
Short-term investments - 17,93¢ 205,14(
Restricted cas (74,594 (8,416 (37,812
Payment of property, plant and equipment (279,826 (230,469 (130,475
Intangible asse (80,863 (58,512 (31,431
Net cash used in investing activitie (469,168 (279,459 5,422
Financing activities
Short and long term debt collection 628,18 638,63t -
Short, long term debt and lease payments (391,054) (433,760 (42,416
Dividends paid (50,866 (185,839 -
Due from related parties - - -
Capital increase 84t 120,86: 811,65¢
Advance for future capital increase 182,61( - -
Share issuance costs (15,175 - -
Net cash provided by financing activitie 354,547 139,90( 769,23¢
Exchange rate changes in cash and cash equivalefiot®ign subsidiarie (8,430 (10,888 (18,841
Increase (decrease) in cash, r (725,571 573,45( 1,213,07:

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of goerio




1,955,85! 1,382,40: 169,33(
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of peri 1.230.28 1.955.85: 1.382.40:

The accompanying notes are an integral part cktfieancial statements

F-15



TABLE OF CONTENTS

GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THEEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2011 AND 20
(In Thousands of Brazilian Reais — R$, except wheitated otherwise)

1. General Information

Gol Linhas Aéreas Inteligentes S.A. (“Company” GLAl") is a publiclydisted company incorporated in accordance with BHeasw Corporat:
Laws, organized on March 12, 2004. The Companyngsmged in, exercising shareholding control of itelly-owned subsidiary VRG Linh
Aéreas S.A. (“WRG"), and through its subsidiariesaffiliates, essentially exploring: (i) regularcanonfegular air transportation services
passengers, cargo and mailbags, domestically ernationally, according to the concessions grafigdhe competent authorities;
additional passenger air chartering services .

GLAI is the direct parent company of the subsidisaiGAC Inc (“GAC”), Gol Finance (“Finance’and indirect parent company of subsid
SKY Finance and SKY Finance Il (“SKY 1I") and Webjenhas Aereas S.A. ("Webjet").

GAC was established on March 23, 2006, accordinfpedaws of the Cayman Islands, and its activiies related to the aircraft acquisi
for its single shareholder GLAI, which providesdirtial support for its operating activities andlsatent of obligations. GAC is the par
company of SKY Finance and SKY Il, established amgést 28, 2007 and November 30, 2009, respectimih located in the Caym
Islands, whose activities are related to obtairiiumgls to finance aircraft acquisition. The actedtiof SKY Finance were closed in 2010,
the liquidation of all funds raised by companiemsidering that they were organized with the speoibjective of obtaining such funds.

Finance was established on March 16, 2006, acaprttinthe laws the Cayman Islands, and it is engadgeaiising funds for aircre
acquisition.

On April 9, 2007, the Company acquired VRG, a lastcand lowfare airline company, which operates domestic amermational flight
using GOL and VARIG brands, and provides regulat monfegular air transportation services from/to themugstinations in Brazil, Sot
America and the Caribbean.

On February 28, 2011, the subsidiary VRG constitaté®articipation Account company engaged in d@ietpand operating obeard sales
food and beverages in domestic flights. VRG cost&fl% of this company, which started to opera®dptember, 2011.

On October 3, 2011, VRG subsidiary acquired th@eshare capital of Webjet Linhas Aereas SA ("Vé&hj a low-cost and loviare airline
headquartered in the city of Rio de Janeiro, witintvides scheduled passenger air chartering seriicBrazil, for transaction’s details
Note 12—Business Combination..

On October 27, 2011, CADE, VRG and Webjet entergd & Transaction Reversibility Preservation Agreet("APRO"), concerning tl
acquisition of 100% (one hundred percent) of thgitahof Webjet, whereby the reversibility of thansaction and preservation of asse
assured until a final decision is handed downhgygovernmental agency. The agreement ensurésdéeendence in the management of
companies, including with respect to the Compariséguent flyer program ("Smiles").Without reduciiigebjet’s capacity, the agreem
provides for the sharing of flights between the pamies with the aim of optimizing the route netwarld offer more options to flyers.

The Companys shares are traded on the New York Stock ExchdNY&E) and on the Sado Paulo Stock Exchange (BOVBSHFAe
Company has entered into an Agreement for Adoptibhevel 2 Differentiated Corporate Governance Bcas with BOVESPA, and
included in the Special Corporate Governance Stadkx (IGC) and the Special Tag Along Stock Ind@XAG), which were created
identify companies committed to adopt differemdhtorporate governance practices.
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2. Basis of preparation and summary of significat accounting policies

The Companys consolidated financial statements for the yededrDecember 31, 2011 were authorized for issuddBoard of Directors ¢
March 26, 2012. The registered office is locateR@ Tamoios, 246, Jd. Aeroporto, Sado Paulo, Brazil

2.1 Compliance Statement

The Consolidated Financial Statements were pregaradcordance with International Financial RepaytStandards (IFRS) as issued by
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

2.2 Basis of preparation

These financial statements were prepared basedstorital cost, except for certain financial assatd liabilities that are measured at
value in accordance with accounting practices desgrbelow.

These Consolidated Financial Statements were prdpeing Brazilian Reais as the functional and ntampcurrency.
The summary of significant accounting policies addpby the Company and its subsidiaries are asvistl

a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements compriseatteunts of GLAI and its direct and indirect sulzgigs presented below:

% of capital stock

Location Type of control 2011 201(C
VRG Brazil Direct 100% 100%
GAC Inc Cayman Islanc Direct 100% 100%
Gol Financ Cayman Islanc Direct 100% 100%
Webje Brazil Indirec 100% -
SKY Finance | Cayman Islanc Indirec 100% 100%

The accounting policies were applied consistemtlall the consolidated entities and are consistgtiit those used in previous years. All
transactions, balances, incomes and expenses Ilmetineentities are full eliminated in the consdigthfinancial statements.

The investments that its subsidiary VRG has inftshore subsidiaries (South America, Europe arl. )} are fully eliminated.

b) _Cash and cash equivalents

Consists primarily of cash balances classifiedithek deposits and short term investments that @esured at fair value through profit
loss. The short term investments have maturitiethiefe months or less (or with no fixed time fodemption) with immediate liquidity, al
are subject to an insignificant risk of changesdtue.
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c) Restricted cash

Consist of investments measured at fair value tiinoprofit and loss, deposited in guarantees linkedecurities, and short and long t
debt.

d) _Financial assets and financial liabilities

The non-derivative financial instruments includeorstterm investments, debt and equity instruments,etradcounts receivable, ot
receivables, short and long term debt, other pa&gabhd debts. Financial instruments are initialgasured at fair value plus or minus c
directly attributable to their acquisition or issga, except for financial instruments at fair vallmeugh profit or loss, whose costs are dir¢
recorded in income or loss. After initial recogaitj noneerivative financial instruments are measured ahdmlance sheet date, base:
their classification, which is defined upon initiglcognition considering the intent for which thegre acquired or issued, as described below

i.  Financial assets measured at fair value througFitpoloss: include financial assets held for traf(i.e., acquired primarily for tl
purpose of sale in the short term), or those deséghat fair value through profit or loss. Interésflation adjustment, foreign exchar
changes and changes arising from the adjustmefatirtoalue are recognized in profit or loss undeaficial income or financial expens
when earned or incurred. The Company has shortiterestments classified as cash equivalents uhiecategory.

ii. Held-to-maturity financial assets: nalerivative financial assets with fixed or deterntilgapayments and fixed maturity dates tha
Company has the positive intention and ability &ddhto maturity. These are measured at amortizest &fber initial recognition under t
effective interest method, less possible impairndesges, when applicable, and changes are recapimzofit or loss, as financial income
financial expenses, when earned or incurred. Thragamy does not have financial assets classifie@nithis category.

iii. Loans and receivables: include ndarivative financial assets with fixed or deterntilgapayments that are not quoted in an active nt
which are measured at amortized cost after infé@lognition under the effective interest methtterest, inflation adjustment, forei
exchange changes, less impairment losses, wheitappl are recognized in profit or loss underificial income or financial expenses, w
earned or incurred. The Company has mainly bankgiepand trade accounts receivable classified ruhiecategory.

iv. Available for sale: include noderivative financial assets not classified under thtegories above, measure at fair value. Aftitiali
recognition, available-for-sale securities are mesas at fair value, and the respective gains asskl® are recognized i@ther Comprehensi
Income”in shareholders' equity until the investment islsahd any gains and losses previously accumutatedeclassified to profit or lo:
“Short-term Investmentsére comprised by assets available for sale relatédreign deposits (time deposits). These ass@te la maturit
period of more than 90 days after the investmet® dad their amounts are subject to significaningka. The Company does not
speculative investments.

The principal financial assets recognized by then@any are cash and cash equivalents, short-terestiments, and accounts receivable.
Financial liabilities are classified under the catées below based on the nature of the finanogtiuments contracted or issued:

F-18



TABLE OF CONTENTS

GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THEEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2011 AND 20

(In Thousands of Brazilian Reais — R$, except wheitated otherwise)

i. Financial liabilities at fair value through pior loss: include financial liabilities that aregularly traded before maturity and liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss on initial recation, except those designated as hedge instrum&hesy are remarked to fair value at e\
balance sheet date. Interest, inflation adjustmfamgign exchange changes and changes arising fng@asurement at fair value, wi
applicable, are recognized in profit or loss whaeuired. The Company classifies under this catederivatives not designated as an effer
hedge instrument.

ii. Financial liabilities not measured at fair valunonderivative financial liabilities that are not regtly traded before maturity. After init
recognition, they are remeasured at amortized gsisig the effective interest method. Interest,aitnfin adjustment and foreign excha
changes, if applicable, are recognized in profilass when incurred. The Company recognized uruerdategory current and noncuri
short and long term debt (comprising finance legand trade accounts payable.

e) _Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are stated at costlesgances made for doubtful receivables, whichragimates fair value given their sh
term nature. An allowance for doubtful receivabitesstablished when there is objective evidencetteaCompany will not be able to coll
all amounts due according to the original termshef receivable through risk analysis and taking atcount the historical analysis of
recovery of arrears. The allowance for doubtfukreables is the difference between the book vahderacoverable amount. The provisio
made for all accounts overdue for more than 90 #tarymstallment sales, travel and cargo ageneied,180 days in respect of airline partners
f) Inventories

The inventories are valued at the lower of cost m@idrealizable value. The costs of inventoriesdatermined by the weighted average
method. The net realizable value represents thenastd selling price of the inventory, less cosiscompletion and costs necessar
complete the sale.

g) Lease accounting

In accordance with the IAS 17 "Leases", leasexkassified as finance leases when the lease amageransfers substantially all the ri
and rewards of ownership to the lessee, or medbtloeving conditions:

(i) the lease transfers ownership of the assdtaddssee at the end of the lease term;

(i) the lessee has the option to purchase thet ats® price that is expected to be sufficientlywédo than fair value at the date the op
becomes exercisable such that, at the inceptitineoiease, is reasonably certain that the optidirbeiexercised:;

(iii) the lease term is the most part of the ecoitaasset life, even if the title is not transferred

(iv) at the beginning of the lease, the presentevalf minimum lease payments represents at leastamntially all the fair value of the lea:
asset, and

(v) the leased assets are of such a specializedensiich that only the lessee can use them withajdr modifications.
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The amounts payable arising from finance leasalinstnts are recognized and allocated betweendiabexpenses and repayment of fina
lease so as to achieve a stable interest rate.

The difference between the present value and thédamount of falling due installments is chargegtofit or loss as financial expens&e
corresponding obligation to the lessor is accouritedas short and long term debt. The aircraft hetdler finance leases, which hav
purchase option at the end of the contract, areedegied on a straighine basis over the useful life at rates calculdtedrite down the cost
the estimated residual value of 20% based on marie valuations. All other aircraft recorded aogerty, plant and equipment, when tt
is no reasonable certainty that the Company withimbownership of the property at the end of thetartual term, are depreciated over
shorter of the useful life of the assets and theddgerm.

The other leases are classified as operating Eadare recognized as an expense in the inconsstat on straighine basis over the tel
of the lease contract.

Gains or losses related to sale-leaseback transadtlassified as an operating lease after the aaeaccounted for as follows:
e They are immediately recognized as other (expensejne when it is clear that the transaction ialdihed at fair value;
. If the sale price is below fair value, any profit loss is immediately recognized as other (expeirs®me, however, if the loss
compensated by future lease payments at below marlee, it is deferred and amortized in proportimnthe lease payments over

contractual lease term;

. In the event of the sale price is higher than dievalue of the asset, the value exceeding thevédue is deferred and amortized du
the period when the asset is expected to be usedamortization of the gain is recorded as a reédludh lease expenses.

If the saleleaseback transactions results in financial leassg,excess proceeds over the carrying amount sealkferred and amortized o
the lease term. The Company did not have any sakeback transaction that resulted in financiadea

h) Prepaid expenses

The prepaid expenses correspond to payments wiersdits to the Company will take place after thiabee sheet date. Primarily consis
prepayments for aircraft and engine rentals ungerating lease agreements, premium payments afroptintracts designated as hedge,
commissions, deferred losses arising from salesteask transactions, and prepayments for insurance.

i)  Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including rotablegsaare recorded at acquisition or constructiost;ancluding interests and other finan
charges. Each component of property, plant andpeggit that has a cost that is significant in refatio the overall cost of the item
depreciated separately. Aircraft and engine spacgsired on the introduction or expansion of tleetfl as well as rotable spares purch
separately, are carried as fixed assets and génelgpreciated in line with the fleet to which theslate. Predelivery deposits refer
prepayments made based on the agreements enteredtim Boeing Company for the purchase of Boei8g-800 Next Generation aircraft.
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Assets held through finance leases are depreaiatetthe expected useful life the same way aswheed assets or for a shorter period, if
applicable, as under the lease agreement in questio

The estimated useful life for property and equiptignlisclosed at Note 14.

Under IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipmerttie costs relating to significant engine overhainisluding replacement of spare parts
personnel expenses, are treated and capitalizedadely as a property, plant and equipment item deqteciated until the next signific
overhaul.

Identifiable interest costs incurred on short amtflterm debt directly attributable to assets umdaistruction, including prdelivery deposit
to acquire new aircraft, are capitalized and inetli@ds part of the cost of the assets through theereaf the date of completion or aircr
delivery.

The book value of fixed assets is analyzed for kleé@ossible loss in recoverable value when eventhanges in circumstances indicate
book value is bigger than the estimated recoveraileunt.

An item of fixed asset is writeff after disposal or when there are no future eaoic benefits resulting from continued use of tesed. An'
gains or losses on fixed asset sale or woffeare determined by the difference between tHaesreceived in the sale and the asset's ba
value, and are recognized in income.

i) Intangible assets

i.  Goodwill

The goodwill value is tested annually by compatimg balance value to fair value recoverable froendiishgenerating unit that, in this cas
the operating subsidiary VRG. Management exerasesiderable judgment to assess the impact of tpgrand macroeconomic change
order to estimate the future cash flows and meath&aecoverable amount of that asset. The assonsptidopted by the Company on
impairment tests are consistent with internal prtiges and operating plans. No impairment losseg ha&en recorded until the present date.

ii. Airport operating rights

Airport operating rights were acquired as parthaf &cquisition of VRG and of Webjet, and were @djzied at fair value at the acquisition ¢
and are not amortized. Those rights are consideyeldave an indefinite useful life due to severaltdes and considerations, includ
requirements and necessary permits to operatenMBhazil and limited slot availability in the moshportant airports in terms of traf
volume. The carrying value of these rights is eatdd annually as to its recoverable amount or #& @d changes in circumstances indic
that carrying values may not be recoverable. Ncaimmpent has been recorded to until the present date

iii. Trademarks

VRG brand name was acquired as part of the VRGisitign and was capitalized at fair value at theuasition date. The brand name
considered to have an indefinite useful life ateréfore, this is not amortized due to severalofacand considerations, including the bi
awareness and market position, customer recogratioinloyalty and the continued use of the VARIGnbraame. The carrying value of th
rights is evaluated annually as to its recovera®unt or in case of changes in circumstances atecthat carrying values may not
recoverable. No impairment has been recorded ibthatpresent date.
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iv. Software

Costs related to the acquisition or developmermoofiputer software that is separable from an itemelated hardware is capitalized separ:
and amortized over a period not exceeding fivegeara straight-line basis.

The carrying value of these intangibles is reviei@dimpairment if events or changes in circumsénindicate that the carrying value r
not be recoverable.

k) Deposits

Are represented by maintenance deposits for atraraf engines, deposits in guarantee and collatefdéase agreements and judicial dep
of contingent liabilities relating to labor, cixahd tax claims.

Aircraft and engine maintenance depc

The Maintenance deposits refer to payments madidollar by the Company to commercial lease congsao be used in future aircraft
engine maintenance work. Management performs regeNgews of the recovery of maintenance depositskzelieves that the values reflec
in the consolidated balance sheet are recoverable.

These deposits are used to pay for the maintengrerésmed, and might be reimbursed to the Companiyits subsidiaries after terminai
of the contracts. Maintenance costs are capithlmerecorded in profit or loss when incurred, tt@dance with the maintenance
accounting policy. Certain lease agreements estabifat the existing deposits, in excess of maartea costs are not refundable. Such e:
occur when the amounts previously used in maintemaervices are lower than the amounts deposited.ekcess amounts retained by
lessor upon the lease contract termination dateshadre not considered material, are recognizeatld@ional aircraft lease expense.

During the second quarter ended June 30, 201X dhgpany and its subsidiaries changed the clasificaf maintenance deposits from non
monetary to monetary asset, as the realizatiornede assets, since 2011 has become substantialygthreceipts of financial resourc
according to the renegotiations conducted with l#ssors. The exchange rate differences on paymaetspf maintenance costs,
recognized as an expense in the financial result.

Additionally, the Company maintains agreements witme lessors to replace deposits by letters dlitcte enable the utilization of depo:
to cover other disbursements related to lease agnets of its subsidiaries VRG and Webjet. Manyaf &ircraft lease agreements do
require maintenance deposits.

Deposits in guarantee and collaterals for leaseemmeni

The deposits in guarantee and collaterals are septed by amounts deposited to lessors of the easthly payments, as required at
inception of the lease agreements. The depositpiamantee and collaterals are denominated in Ud#af3, do not bear interest and
reimbursable to the Company upon termination ofaipeements.

[) [Foreign currency transactions

The functional currency used for preparation aresentation of the financial statements of the Camp@nd its subsidiaries is the Brazil
Real. Transactions in foreign currencies are rezmbrat the exchange rate prevailing at the time tiia@isaction occur. Monetary assets
liabilities denominated in foreigaurrencies are subsequently calculated based orersian the exchange rate at the balance sheetde
differences resulting from the currency calculdtaded on conversion are recognized in the statsméimcome.
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m) Hedge accounting

The Company and its subsidiaries contract cerfa@ntial derivatives to hedge its risks, relatedht® changes in oil prices (fuel), fore
exchange rate and interest rate. The derivativasbraalesignated to hedge accounting, and if theydasignated, are classified as fair v
hedges or cash flow hedge.

For classification as hedge accounting, the devieathould protect against changes in the hedgeddhue or cash flow. At the beginning
the hedge transaction, the Company and its subigisidocument the relationship between the hedgeuiment and the hedged item, incluc
risk management goals, and if the transactionheiltlesignated for hedge accounting.

The hedge accounting is prospectively discontinuden the Company and its subsidiaries revoke thagdieelationship, the hedgi
instrument either expires, is sold, terminatedy&sed, or no longer is qualified for hedge accmmt

Fair value hedge

Changes in fair value of derivatives designated gualified as fair value hedge are recognized doine. The changes in fair value of he
instruments and hedge item attributable to the éeidl are recognized in the income statement iated to the hedge item.

Cash flow hedge

The effective part of changes in fair value of datives that are designated as cash flow hedgecmnized in other comprehensive inc
and accumulated under the “Other Comprehensivenietdn shareholdes equity. The gains or losses that are relatedheoirieffectivi
portion are recognized immediately in financialules

At the moment that the hedge item is recognizethénfinancial result, amounts previously recognireadther comprehensive income .
accumulated in shareholderequity are reclassified to profit and loss under same section of the income statement in whigtm iis
recognized.

If the hedge accounting is discontinued, any gaimi®sses recognized in other comprehensive incamdeaccumulated in equity at that t
remains in shareholder’equity and are recognized when the forecastetsacdion is finally recognized as financial resuWhen th
forecasted transaction is not expected anymoregaires or losses accumulated in equity and defaredecognized in the financial re:
immediately.

n) Sharebased payments

The Company measures the fair value of equityexkttnsactions with employees at the grant dang tise appropriate valuation methods.

The fair value of options granted is recorded miticome statement during the period in which tgktris acquired, based on estimates o
Company about granted options on what will avemtuaé acquired, with a corresponding increase initggAt the end of each reporti
period, the Company revises its estimates of theumtof equity instruments that will be acquiredheTimpact of the review in relation
original estimates, if any, is prospectively reciagd in earnings of the period, so that tenulative expense reflects the revised estir
with a corresponding adjustment to shareholdergitegn the “Deferred Compensatiordiccount reserve, which reported the benefi
employees.
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0) _Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company hagsgept obligation (legal or presumed) as a result past event, it is probable that
outflow of resources will be required to settle tidigation and a reliable estimate can be madheamount of the obligation.

Where the Company expects some or all of a pravisiobe reimbursed, for example under an insuracgract, the reimbursemen
recognized as a separate asset when the reimburssmwatually certain.

The expense relating to any provision is preseireprofit or loss net of any reimbursement. If thifect of the time value of money
material, provisions are discounted using a curpgettax rate that reflects, where appropriate, thesrispecific to the liability. Whe
discounting is used, the increase in the providios to the passage of time is recognized as adineost.

Aircraft and engines’” return provisi

For aircraft operating leases, the Company is ectially required to return the equipment in a pfiegtd level of operational capability,
this reason it recognizes a provision based omiticeaft return costs as set forth in the agreement

The aircraft’s return provisions costs are estichatesed on expenditures incurred in aircraft regandtion (interior and exterior), license
technical certification, painting, and etc., acéogdto return agreement clauses’.

The engines’ return provisions are estimated basexl/aluation and minimum contractual conditioret the equipment should be returne
the lessor, considering not only the historicatsascurred, but also the equipment conditionhiatevaluation moment.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations resulting from onerous consrace recognized and measured as provisions. Aroasmeontract is entered into wi
unavoidable costs to meet the obligations assumeddruhe contract exceed the economic benefitsatleaexpected to be received over
contract term.

The provision for onerous contracts refers to less® operating lease agreements of owtesfAce aircraft. The provision corresponds tc
net amount between the present value of the ingalls of the respective leases and the expecteduevirom the use of such aircraft thro
operation or subleases, where applicable. The gdgum used are estimates and the settlement sé thhansactions may result in amoi
significantly different from those recorded.

Insurance provisio

The Management keeps insurance coverage in amoanssdered necessary to cover any claims, in vieth@nature the Compars/asse:
and the risks inherent in its operating activitiesth due heed being paid to the limits set in lbase agreements, in compliance
provisions of the Law n°® 10744/03.
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Other provisions

Are substantially related to lawsuits and are wiovied for losses considered probable in managérjedgment, related to labor, civil &
tax matters, the last mentioned being presentedruad obligations line, in case of existence auhl obligation.

p) Revenue recognition

The passenger revenue is recognized when air wetasipn services are actually provided to the @ager. Tickets sold but not yet used
recognized as advance ticket sales, correspondl¢desired revenue from sold tickets to be tranggbirt a future date, net of tickets that
expire in accordance with the Company’s (breakagpgctations, i.e., estimate of tickets that expiihout being used based on histor
data.

Breakage consists of the statistical calculatiam,aohistorical basis, of unused, expired tickets,, itickets not booked (passengers t
transported) that have a high probability of nginfy. The Company periodically records adjustedettef] revenues based on tickets act
expired.

The balance of deferred revenue also refers tetckooked again by passengers.

Revenues from cargo shipment are recognized whasgortation is provided. Other revenues includester services, miles sales, onbt
sales services, tickets exchange rates, and add@rcmal services, and are recognized when thécsers provided.

g) Mileage program

Since the acquisition of VRG, the Company operatégquent flyer program, denominated Smiles (“8mProgram”Wwhich consists main
of mileage credits earned by participants for useerwtravelling. The obligations assumed under theleS Program were valued at
acquisition date of VRG at estimated fair value chhiepresents the estimated price the Company wmapdto a third party to assume
obligation for miles expected to be redeemed utiteSmiles Program.

The fair value of mileage credits, net of estimateth-use of miles (breakage) is determined by the weijlaverage according to (i)
average amount charged per seat by VRG to airtimtsparticipate in the loyalty program divided ty amount of miles required to isst
ticket using miles and (ii) the average sale po€emiles sold to airlines that participate in tloydlty program Smiles. This fair value
updated every six months.

Miles awarded are valued at fair value describeavaland the redeemed miles are writen-off to “adedrticket saleshased on the weight
average of the balance of miles that had beenméefeiRevenue is recognized when transport is gealiunder passenger’s revenue iten
the portion of revenue from miles” sale over thevalue of miles is recognized as marketing rexe(as other income) when the transpc
provided.

The Companys policy is to cancel all miles contained in the@amts of customers after 3 years 11 months. Teecéded value for milea
credits estimated to be cancelled is recognizetkasnue. The Company calculates the expiratiomesti and nomsse based on historis
data. Future opportunities can significantly attestomer profile and the historical patterns. Stlidinges may result in material changes t
deferred revenue balance, as well as recognizeshues from that program.
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r Segment information

IFRS 8 require that operations by segment are iftlethbased on internal reports which are regulagljiewed by decision makers in orde
allocate resources to segments and assess thieimpance.

The Companys operations are derived from its subsidiaries \@@ Webjet and consist in to provide air transpianaservices within Sou
America and Caribbean, where it operates domestidragernational flights. The CompasyManagement performs the resources allocati
order to maximize the consolidated financial resulihe major revenue earning assets of the Comaemits aircraft, which are registere(
Brazil. Other revenues primarily arises from car§miles mileage program, installment sales, exbaggage charges and cancellation f
all directly attributable to air transportation\@ees.

Based on the way the Company treats its businessh@nmanner in which resource allocation decisemesmade, the Company has only
operating segment for financial reporting purposgse Companys primary reporting segments comprise of net regeby geograph
segments as described in Note 23.

s) _ncome taxes
i.  Current income tax

The provision for income tax and social contribatie based on taxable profit for the year. Taxdaiteme differs from earnings presente
the income statement because it excludes the sftd®egime Tributario de Transica®RTT) revenues or expenses taxable or deductil
other years, and exclude items not taxable or edtictible permanently.

The provision for income tax and social contribntis calculated for each company based on the pagesiling at the end of the year.

Current income tax relating to items recognizeédtly in equity is recognized in equity and nopinofit or loss.
ii. Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax and social contribution ar@gaized on temporary differences at the end of eaphbrting period between the balar
of assets and liabilities recognized in financtataments and tax bases used in the calculatitaxable income, including net tax losses, »
applicable. Deferred tax liabilities are generatigognized for all taxable temporary differenced deferred tax assets are recognized fc
deductible temporary differences, only when itigh@able that the company will present future ta@abtome in an amount sufficient to br
such deductible temporary differences can be used.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax is nereig at each balance sheet date and reduced tatdrg ¢hat it is no longer probable t
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allotax credit to be utilized. Unrecognized deferiedome tax assets are reassessed al
balance sheet date and are recognized to the ¢ktdrit has become probable that future taxatditpwill allow the deferred tax asset to
recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities arerdeteed, considering tax rates and tax laws ratifiecdubstantially ratified at balance st
date and which expects to be applied when the céspeasset is realized or the liability is settled
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Deferred income tax and social contribution, asartsliabilities are compensated if there is alleight and intention to offset them when
calculating the current taxes, generally when eelab the same taxable entity and the same taxatithrority.

t) Main accounting estimates and assumptionpted

The preparation of the financial statements reguinanagement to make judgments assumptions anthéssi that affect the application of
policies and the reported amounts of assets abdities, revenues and expenses. These estimattassumptions are based on histo
experience and several other factors that are methtas reasonable according to the circumstadagsal results could differ from tho
estimates. These assumptions are reviewed on pgutbge basis. Revised accounting estimates aognéed in the period which the estin
is revised. The estimates and assumptions that &aignificant risk of relevant adjustment to tlaerging amount of assets and liabilities
discussed below.

i. Impairment of non-financial assets

The Company assesses if there are indications pdinment for all norfinancial assets at every balance sheet date.rélidowerable values
the cash-generating unit were determined usingalse-in-use. The value-inse is determined based on the assumption of disedicas
flows set by Management.

Other non-financial assets are tested for impaitméren there are indications that their carryingpants might not be recoverable.

ii. Impairment of available-for-sale financiasets

The Company classifies some financial assets dmblafor sale and recognized the changes in fagivalues in shareholdersyuity. Whei
the fair value drops, Management analyzes the meéh its value to determine if the economic lossstrbe recognized in the inco
statement. As of December 31, 2011, the Companypadlithave financial assets classified as availtdrlieale.

iii. Income taxes

The Company believes that the tax positions takerreasonable. However, it recognizes that theoaititts may question the positions ta
which may result in additional liabilities for tex@nd interest. The Company recognizes provisieasihvolve considerable judgment of
management. The provision are reviewed and adjusteatcount for changes in circumstances, suctapsrng of applicable statutes
limitations, conclusions of tax authorities, aduti@l exposures based on identification of new ssuecourt decisions affecting a particular
issue. Actual results can differ from estimates.

iv. Property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Companyaws the carrying amounts of its property, plard aguipment items to determine if ther
any indication that they might be impaired. If suietlication exists, the recoverable amount of thseais estimated to measure the impair
loss.

u) Business combinations as from January 1, 2009

Business combinations are accounted for using ¢haisition method. The cost of an acquisition iamged as the sum of the consideratio
transferred, based on the fair value on acquisitiate. Costs directly attributable to the acquisitare accounted for as expense whe
incurred.
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The assets acquired and liabilities assumed weresuned at fair, classified and allocated accordinghe contractual terms, economic
circumstances and relevant conditions on the aitiquigiate.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of consideratimsferred in relation to net assets acquirddiavalue.

If the consideration is lower than the fair valdaet assets acquired, the difference should begrézed as a gain in the income statement.
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured@ist less any accumulated impairment losses.

v) New standards and interpretations issuedravided in 2011:

i.  New standards, interpretations and revisions issaredl adopted in 2011

* IFRIC 13 - "Customer Loyalty Programs" under which the meaning of “fair valué clarified in the context of measurement of av
credits in customer loyalty programs, is relevamd effective to the Company and its subsidiaethé initial adoption in the financial y¢
ended December 31, 2011. The application of thefield guidance does not result in any impact oa fimancial position and results
operations since the Company was already consglérarequirements of IFRIC 13 in measuring thevfalue of its award credits.

* IFRIC 19, Extinction of financial liabilities wit h equity instruments - The interpretation clarifies the accounting by atitg when th
terms of a financial liability are renegotiated ardult in the issuance of equity instruments legyehtity to an entity creditor to extinguish
or part of a financial liability (debt conversioA)his requires that a gain or loss is recognizesh@ome, which is measured as the differt
between the carrying amount of financial liabilityd the fair value of equity instruments issuedhéf fair value of financial instruments iss
cannot be reliably measured, the equity instrumsimésild be measured to reflect the fair value rwdricial liability extinguished. Applicable

of July $£2010.

* IAS 32, Financial Instruments —The purpose of this standard is to establish gslasifor presenting financial instruments as litibg ol
net value, and for offsetting between financialeéssand financial liabilities. The principles ingtStandard complement the principles
recognition and measurement of financial assetsfiaatcial liabilities in IAS 39 Financial Instrumes: Recognition and Measurement

well as the principles for disclosure of informatiabout them in IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: disates. Applicable as of Januaf},2014.

» Amendment to IFRIC 14, IAS 19- The limit on a deihed benefit assets, minimum funding requirements rad their interaction —
Removes unintended consequences arising from eagnent of prggayments where there is a minimum funding requirgmehe results |
prepayment of contributions in certain circumstances recognized as an asset rather than an expehi&estandard did not have ¢

significant impact to the Company, consideringitsrent operations. Applicable as of Januay2011.

» Amendment to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Tranders of financial assets -This amendment will promote transparency in
disclosure of transfer transactions and improvesusmderstanding of the risk exposures relating tosfiers of financial assets and the ef
of those risks on an entity'financial position, particularly those involvisgcuritization of financial assets. This standailll affect future

disclosures to the extent that any transfer ofrfia assets. Applicable as of JuRf,2011.
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* Amendment to IAS 12, Income Taxes on deferred taxIAS 12- "Income taxes", currently requires an entity tcaswee the deferred tax
relating to an asset depending on whether theyestipects to recover the carrying amount of theta$sough use or sale. However, for
“Investment Propertyieasured at fair value under IAS 40 existing pghgiit can be difficult and subjective to asse$ether the recove
will be through use or through sale. This amendimierefore, introduces an exception to the exgspirinciple to measure the deferred
asset or liability on investment property measuwaeéhir value. The amendment to IAS 12 resulteth& incorporation of SIC 21 icome
Taxes — Recovery of revalued non-depreciable dssei no longer apply to investment properties oadriat fair value. The changes
incorporate into IAS 12 the remaining guidance pesly contained in SIC 21, which is was removeHisTstandard should not have

significant impact to the Company, consideringcitsrent operations. Applicable as of Jufj;2011.

ii. New standards, amendments and interpretatieaged in 2011 and apply in future years:

» Amendment to IAS 1, Financial Statement Present&in regarding to other comprehensive income- The main change resulting fre
these amendments was the requirement for entdigsaup items presented in other comprehensiveniecbased on the possibility that t
can or cannot be potentially reclassified to profitoss subsequently (reclassification adjustmefitse changes do not establish which it
must be presented as other comprehensive inconeeCdmpany is evaluating the impact of this standatteir disclosures. Applicable as

July 1812012.

* IFRS 13, Fair value measurement, issued in May 2Q. The objective of IFRS 13 is to improve consisteand reduce complexity of t
fair value measurement, by providing a more predisnition of fair value and a single source oif fealue measurement and disclos
requirements for use across IFRS. The requiremaritish are largely aligned between IFRS and US GAA® not extend the use of 1
value accounting but provide guidance on how iusthbe applied when its use is already requiregesmitted by other standards within IF
or US GAAP. The Company is in the process of agsgsshether IFRS 13 will have any impact on the n&non how fair value

determined. The standard is applicable as ofJarit52013.

* IFRS 12, Disclosures of interests in other entits —includes the disclosure requirements for all foohmterests in other entities, includ
joint arrangements, associates, special purpogeipations and other off balance sheet intereBee Company is analyzing the additic

disclosures which will be required by IFRS 12. Btendard is applicable as of Janua¥y2013.

* IFRS 11, Joint arrangements — issued in May 201The standard provides a more realistic reflectibjoint arrangements by focusing
the rights and obligations of the arrangement rathan its legal form. There are two types of jawntangement: (i) joint operationsarise
when a joint operator has rights to the assetscanttactual obligations and as a consequence eegjists rightsportion in assets, liabilitie
revenue and expenses; and (ii) joint venturearise when the joint operator has rights to theassets of the arrangement and registe
investments by the equity equivalence method. Rtmpal consolidation method will no longer allowéd joint control. This standard

applicable as of January2013.

* IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements supports itself on existing principles, identifyititge concept of control as a major factc
determining whether an entity should or not beudeld within the consolidated financial statemeritshe parent company. The stanc
provides additional guidance to the determinatiboamtrol. This standard should not have any sigaift impact to the Company conside!

its current operations. This standard is applicaklef January®2013.
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* IFRS 9, Financial instruments —addresses the classification, measurement andmitioogof financial assets and liabilities. IFRSvas
issued in November 2009 and October 2010, andpiaces parts of IAS 39 related to the classificattmd measurement of finant
instruments. IFRS 9 requires financial assets tolégsified into two categories: those measurddiavalue and those measured at amor
cost. The determination is done at initial recagnit The basis of classification depends on thé&yestbusiness model and the contrac
characteristics of the financial instruments cashvf Regarding to financial liabilities, the stamdamaintains most of the requireme
established by IAS 39. This standard should noeflay significant impact to the Company consideiisgurrent operations. This standat

applicable as of January'2013.

* IAS 19, Employee benefits amended in June 201The main impacts of the changes are: (i) elimimatdd corridor approach, (
recognition of all actuarial gains and losses meottomprehensive incomes as they occur, (iii) icliately recognition of past service cost
profit and loss, and (iv) the replacement of thetipipation costs and expected return plan oveetasey an amount of net participati
calculated thru applying a discount rate to thea@mbility) of the net defined benefit. This stird should not have any significant impa

the Company considering its current operationss tandard is applicable as of Janu&h2@13.
There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretatiora Hre not yet effective that would be expecteldaee a material impact on the Company.
2.3 Restatement of the beginning balance - correoti of error

In April of 2011, the Company concluded the implena¢ion of the new revenue recognition module (AFBA@o complement the currt
reservations systemNew Skies. In connection with this implementatitihe Company has identified a difference at the rdefierevenu
balance in relation to the historical amounts reixgd in the financial statements. The total gfi@dterror, which was initially recognized
the profit or loss of the first quarter of 2011aaseduction of revenue, amounted to R$56,760 (R&Z7/net of taxes), and was associated
the recognition of interline revenues.

The Company interline ticket sales represent dates the Company to other airline entities unddeilne agreements. In accordance '
these agreements an airline entity can use the @oyhp reservation system to book domestic flight8iazil by paying a predetermir
contractual price. Before implementing the newteays interline deferred revenue was recognizeccgoance with the contractual prii
However, the recognition of passenger’s revenuehaasd on the spot ticket price. Consequently difference could represent either
overstatement or an understatement of revenuesndam on the difference between the contractuatline price and the spot price.

In 2008 the Company initiated the interline tranas and since then the volume of these transstimve been increasing year after \
However, due to certain system limitations of thservation system related to the inability to repes historical data, the Company is un
to allocate this error to the periods which theyéhaccurred, which are the years ended Decembe2@®18, 2009 and 2010 and the !
qguarter of 2011. After the first quarter of 201isthystem deficiency has been remediated with dimelasion of the new revenue recogni
system implementation.

After further considerations, the Company has aohedl that the most appropriate way to reflectddisistment was in the opening balanc

the retained earnings as of January 1st, 2011uantsto paragraph 44 of CVM Deliberation 592/@oliticas Contabeis, Mudanca
Estimativa e Retificagdo de E" and IAS 8, "Accounting Policies, Changes in Agnting Estimates and Errors”.
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The impacts of this adjustment to the quarterlgficial statements are as follows:

Previous Previous Previous

reported Restatec reported Restatec reported Restatec

9 months ended on 09/30/20 6 months ended on 06/30/20 3 months ended on 03/31/20
Passenger revenues 4,658,24! 4,715,00! 3,025,67 3,082,43 1,647,08: 1,703,84!
Current Income Tax and Social Contribution expe (2,888 (22,186 (308! (19,606 (4,102 (23,400
Net revenue (loss) of the period (843,269 (805,807 (326,769 (289,307 31,93« 69,39¢
Earnings (losses) per share b (3.12 (2.98 (1.20 (.07 0.1z 0.2€
Earnings (losses) per share diluted (3.12 (2.98 (1.20 (1.07 0.12 0.2€

3. Cash and cash equivalents

Consolidatec

12/31/201 12/31/2011
Cash and bank deposits 157,45: 194,493
Cash equivalents 1,072,83! 1,761,365
1,230,28 1,955,858

As of December 31, 2011, cash equivalents weresepted by private bonds (CDBs - Bank Deposit fimates), Government bonds (NTN -
National Treasury Notes, LT- National Treasury Bills, LFT — Treasury Finandalls, “committed operations” and fixedicome funds, pa
at post fixed rates ranging between 98.5% and ¥9®6the Interbank Deposit Certificate Rate (CDI).

The breakdown of cash equivalents balance is &sfsl

Consolidatec

12/31/201 12/31/201
Bank deposit certificatg€DBs) 284,91: 678,253
Government bonds (NTN, LTN and LF 787,60! 245,186
Investment funds 31¢ 837,926
1,072,835 1,761,365

These investments have high liquidity, are reaclilgvertible into known amounts of cash, are sulifeein insignificant risk of value changes
and maturity of less than 90 days.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynpeateemed some of its private bonds and, throtgginvestment strategy towa
greater profitability, increased its position invgonment
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4. Restricted Cash

As of December 31, 2011, restricted cash in curaseets was fully represented by the updated depasie in a restricted account on Aut
8, 2011, relating to the acquisition of Webj&ee explanatory note 12.

The restricted cash in noncurrent assets in theiatrad R$100,541 as of December 31, 2011 was repted by:

e margin deposits, in US dollar, bond to hedge tretisas, subject to the overnight rate (averagedyi#l0.14% p.a.), in the amount
R$82,996 (on December 31, 2010, the margin deposgte redeemed and replaced by a letter of guaraintehe amount
R$100,000 which maturity was on September 2011).

e guarantee margin deposits bond to loans fromBi#weco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Econémico e E@MDES) applied in D

investment funds and yielding the weighted averatg of 98.5% of CDI, in the amount of R$8,591.

deposits in guarantee, represented by a lettenariagtee with Safra Bank, in the amount of R$8,471.

e others in the amount of R$483.

On April 2011, the Company redeemed CDB with SadarBank in the amount of R$25,000, which were guo@e toBanco d
Desenvolvimento de Minas Ger (BDMG), replaced by chattel mortgage of engines.

5. Short-term Investments

Consolidatec

12/31/11 12/31/10
Private Bonds 12,07:
Government Bonc 124,40( -
Investment Funds 872,59 2,816
Foreign bank deposits - 19,790
1,009,06! 22,606

Private bonds comprise of CDBs (“Bank Deposit Giegtes”), with maturity until September 2013 and highly lidty, paid at 102% of tt
CDiI rate.

Public bonds comprise of LTN (National Treasuryldijl LTNO (prefixed National Treasury Bills) and N1B (indexed to IPCA), wit
immediate maturity paid at an variable averageoatel.12% p.a..

Investment funds are represented primarily by gawent bonds LTN, LFT, NTN, CDBs and Debentures.
The foreign bank deposits (time deposits) were igioned in its totality due to the loss on coveragkie of the instrument.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynpdteemed some of its private bonds and, throtggymvestment strategy aiming
higher profitability, increased its position in ggmment bonds.

F-32



TABLE OF CONTENTS

GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THEEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2011 AND 20
(In Thousands of Brazilian Reais — R$, except wheitated otherwise)

6. Trade and Other Receivables

Consolidated

12/31/1: 12/31/1(
Local currency

Credit card administratc 100,21 90,61:
Travel agencie 185,54« 149,39:
Installment sale 47,18¢ 51,25
Cargo agencit 37,46( 20,58:
Airline partners compani 17,03: 16,60¢
Othe 35,07% 27,49:
422,51! 355,93¢

Foreign currenc
Credit card administratc 9,22¢ 5,85¢
Travel agencie 6,83: 3,93t
Cargo agencit 301 141
16,36: 9,931
438,87" 365,87(
Allowance for doubtful accour (83,610 (60,127
355,26° 305,74
Curren 354,13« 303,05«
Noncurrent (* 1,13¢ 2,68¢

(*)The portion of noncurrent trade receivableseisarded in other receivables, in noncurrent asaatscorresponds to installment sales made undé&fda Facilprogram, with maturity over 3i
days.

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accountsaarillows:

Consolidated

12/31/1: 12/31/1(
Balance at beginning of peri (60,127 (52,399
Additions (35,849 (27,689
Additions from Webje's acquisitiol (3,376 -
Unrecoverable amour 3,30¢ 5,62
Recoverie 12,43¢ 14,33¢
Balance at the end of per (83,610 (60,127

The aging list of accounts receivable is as follows

Consolidatec

12/31/1: 12/31/1(

Falling due (until 360 day 315,88! 270,28t
Falling due (after 360 day 1,13¢ 2,68¢
Overdue until 30 da 20,61¢ 19,09:
Overdue 31 to 60 da 7,507 4,12¢
Overdue 61 to 90 da 4,95¢ 5,563¢
Overdue 91 to 180 da 11,75¢ 8,041
Overdue 181 to 360 de 15,301 7,052
Overdue above 360 dz¢ 61,72: 49,05(

438,87 365,87(

The average collections period of installment saagne months and 5.99% interest is charged erb#lance receivable, which is recogn
as financial income. The average collection pedbdther receivables is 108 days.
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As of December 31, 2011, accounts receivable frawet agencies in the minimum amount of R$16,0062¢R300 on December 31, 2010)
and firm guarantees of 30% from accounts receivelitle credit card administrators, are related @nl@agreements guarantees with BNI
Bank.

Additionally, on December 31, 2011, 30% of the re@lele amounts from credit card administratorstamand to guarantee the contract \
Banco Safr, collected by the indirect subsidiary Webijet.

7. Inventories

Consolidated

12/31/1: 12/31/1(

Consumable 20,14¢ 16,70:
Parts and maintenance matel 127,08( 117,74
Advances to supplie 12,72t 43,72t
Imports in progres 1,61z 1,88¢
Other: 7,65¢ 7,94
Provision for obsolescen (18,200 (17,004

151,02 170,99(

Changes in the allowance for inventory obsolescaneas follows:

Consolidated

12/31/201. 12/31/2011
Balance at beginning of the per (17,004 (8,602
Additions (52,233 (44,426
Additions from Webje's acquisitiol (13) -
Write-offs 51,05( 36,02«
Balance at end of peri (18,200 (17,004

F-34



TABLE OF CONTENTS

GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THEEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2011 AND 20
(In Thousands of Brazilian Reais — R$, except wheitated otherwise)

8. Deferred and Recoverable Taxes

Consolidatec

12/31/1: 12/31/1(
Recoverable taxes
Current assett
icms @ 13,22 7,03¢
Prepaid IRPJ and CS$P) 77,67¢ 35,18¢
IRRF (3) 16,58 8,54¢
PIS and COFINSY 54,08 -
Withholding tax of public institutior 26,79: 17,33¢
Value added tax — IVAY) 4,24; 3,51
Income tax on impor 17,74( 15,80t
Other: 2,65¢ 71¢
Total recoverable taxes- current 212,99 88,14
Deferred taxes
Non-current asset:
Tax losse 427,16 340,05!
Negative basis of social contribut 153,78 122,42
Temporary difference
Mileage progran 97,48! 70,60:
Allowance for doubtful accounts and otr 62,31 47,31t
Provision for loss on acquisition of VF 143,35 143,35(
Provision for legal and tax liabiliti 57,15: 44,55¢
Return of aircra 22,08¢ 11,31¢
Derivative transactions not sett 65,37 -
Effects from Webje's acquisitiol 7,08¢ -
Other: 51,19( 37,92¢
Total noncurrent deferred tax asset 1,086,99 817,54
Noncurrent liabilities
Temporary differenct
Brand: 21,457 21,457
Flight rights 353,22( 190,68t
Maintenance depc 101,63( 155,26t
Depreciation of engines and parts for aircraft reianc 140,67 115,09¢
Reversal of goodwill amortizatit 76,59¢ 51,06
Derivative transactions not sett 28,52t 5,45¢
Leasing of aircra 26,90: 94,95(
Othel 14,69: 8,21(
Total noncurrent deferred tax liabilities 763,70¢ 642,18

(1) ICMS: State tax on sales of goods and services.
(2) IRPJ: Brazilian federal income tax on taxalleoime.
CSLL: social contribution on taxable incomegated to sponsor social programs and funds.
(3) IRRF: withholding income tax levied on certalomestic transactions, such as payment of feesrwe sservice providers, payment of salaries,
financial income from bank investments.
(4) PIS/COFINS: Contributions to Social Integrat®rogram (PIS) and Contribution for the Financifi@ocial Security (COFINS)
(5) IVA: Value added tax on sales of goods andises/abroac

During the fourth quarter of 2011 the subsidiary&Reviewed the criteria adopted to calculate PI& @OFINS. By changing the taxat
regime, and the percentage of proportionality oietdion income subject to cumulative and noncunwdatiixation applied to costs ¢
expenses entitled to credit and taxes overpaidoargtortcomings in previous periods, recognizededlit of R$52,334, being R$34,608
reducing fuel costs and other services entitledrémlit, R$21,739 reducing PIS and COFINS expenseeeenues and R$4,013 of inte
costs and fine.

The Company and its subsidiary VRG have tax lossgsnegative basis of social contribution on calttah of taxable income, to be off
against 30% of annual taxable income, which cacdoged forward indefinitely, in the following amois:

Direct (VRG) and indirect subsidiary
(Webijet)

2011 201cC
Tax losse 1,887,26 1,299,55!
Negative basis of social contribut 1,887,26' 1,299,55!




Tax credits arising from tax loss carryforwards amedjative basis of social contribution were recdrbased on the expected generatic
future taxable income of the Company and its sudses, as prescribed by tax laws.

Projected future taxable income for the utilizatmfitax loss carryforwards and negative basis ofadaontribution, technically prepared ¢

supported based on business plans and approvetiebfdard ofDirectors, indicates the existence of sufficientatsle income for tr
realization of the recognized deferred tax assets.
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GLAI, its subsidiary VRG and its indirect subsigdial/ebjet, have a total tax credits amount of R$Z29, however, they recognized an
allowance for loss of R$148,535 for credits thatehao perspective of realization in an immediaterkt

Management considers that the deferred tax assstagafrom temporary differences will be realizpcoportionally to the realization
provisions and final outcometure events.

Consolidatec

2011 201C 200¢

Income (loss) before income tax and social contidin (1,000,418) 386,49t 756,13t
Combined tax ra 34% 34% 34%
Income tax at combined tax r 340,14: (131,409 (257,086
Adjustments to calculate the effective tax rate
Equity in subsidiarie - -
Nondeductible income from subsidial (47,522) (26,283 3,79¢
Income tax on permanent differen 20,117 (6,673) (10,076
Nondeductible expenses (nontaxable incc (39,878) (19,484) (22,970
Exchange differences on foreign investm (48,396 (61) (104,934
Income tax and social contribution expenses ondsses and negative basis not recognized of preyietiod 24,41¢ 11,61: 270,15¢
Income (expense) of tax and social contribt

248,880 (172,299 134,69t
Current income tax and social contribution (5,791) (53,855 (609
Deferred income tax and social contribu 254,67: (118,444 135,30!

248,88 (172,299 134,69t

9. Prepaid Expenses

Consolidated

12/31/1. 12/31/1(

Deferred losses from si-leaseback transactions 54,20: 63,574
Prepayments of hedge premi 11,57 23,334
Lease prepaymer 30,38: 33,322
Insurance prepaymel 22,77¢ 27,860
Prepaid commissio 13,02( 16,628
Other: 6,811 5,665
138,76: 170,383

Curren 93,79. 116,182
Noncurren 44,96 54,201

(a) During the accounting periods of 2007, 2008, an@92@he Company recorded losses on tedseback transactions performed b
subsidiary GAC Inc. relating to 9 aircraft in theeunt of R$89,337. These losses are being defamddamortized proportionally to 1
payments of the respective lease contracts duhiegcontractual term of 120 months. Further infofamarelated to the saleasebac
transactions are described in explanatory Note.25 b
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10. Deposits
Maintenance depos

The Company and its subsidiaries VRG and Webjetenaghosits in US dollars for maintenance of aitaafl engines that will be investec
future events as set forth in some finance leastracs.

The maintenance deposits do not exempt the Comaadyits subsidiaries, as lessee, neither from ¢iéractual obligations relating to 1
maintenance of the aircraft nor from the risk agged with maintenance activities. The Company ismgubsidiaries hold the right to se
any the maintenance service providers or to perfarah services internally.

Based on the regular analysis of deposit recovergnagement believes that the amounts reportedeircdinsolidated balance sheet
recoverable and there are no indications of impamtnof maintenance deposits, whose balances asadrbber 31, 2011 classified in curi
and noncurrent assets amount to R$35,082 and R¥E&23espectively (R$456,666 in noncurrent assetf ®ecember 31, 2010).

Deposits in guarantee for lease agreem

As required by the lease agreements, the Compadyitansubsidiaries hold guarantee deposits in UBadoon behalf of the leasi
companies, wha fully refund occurs upon the contract expiratiate. As of December 31, 2011, the balance of gteeadeposits for lea
agreements, classified in noncurrent assets, i$R89 (R$127,963 as of December 31, 2010).

Escrow deposi

Escrow deposits represent guarantees in legal @daugs related to tax, civil and labor nature, d#ed in escrow until the resolution of
related claims, paid @ELIC tax. The balances of escrow deposits as of DeceB81he2011, recorded in noncurrent assets totafl’R 47.
(R$130,748 as of December 31, 2010).

11. Transactions with related parties

Graphic, consulting and transportation services

The subsidiary VRG holds contract with the relgtady Breda Transportes eServicosS.A. for passenger and luggage transportatiorics=
between airports, and transportation of employeedurating on May 31, 2012, renewable every 12 hwfdr additional equal terms throt
an amendment instrument signed by the parties,alyradjusted based on the General Market PriceXr{tiGP-M) fluctuation.

The subsidiary VRG also holds contracts with théateel partiesExpresso Unido Ltdaand Servicos Graficos Ltda.for employe
transportation and graphic services, maturatingeptember 16, 2012 and February 18, 2012, respbctiv

The subsidiary VRG also holds contracts for theraf@n of theGollog franchise through the related patigido Transporte de Encomende
Comeércio de Veiculos Ltdavith 60-month maturity term.

The subsidiary VRG also holds contracts with relgparty Vaud Participacdes S.Ao provide executive administration and manage
services, with two year term beginning on OctolEt®@
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During the period ended December 31, 2011, VRGgeized total expenses related to these servicB$d1,101 (R$8,621 as of December
31, 2010). All the entities referred above belomghe same economic group.

Property leas

VRG is the lessee of the property located at Ruadies, 246, S&o Paulo, SP, ownedHRatrimony Administradora de Bensontrolled br
Comporte Participacdes S.,Aa company owned by the same shareholder of tmep@oy, whose contract expires on April 4, 2012.e
contract includes an annual adjustment clause,dbasethe IGPM. During the period ended December 31, 2011 a \fREgnized toti
expenses related to this lease of R$559 (R$361 Bsaember 31, 2010).

Commercial Agreement with Unidas Rent a Car

On December 31 2011, VRG remained in a commergigement with Unidas Rent a Car, a Brazilian coryhat provides car rentals to
customers at a 50% discount on daily rates of rghen buying tickets for flights operated by VRGtolled through its website, signec
May 2009. This contract came to be dismissed atated party on June 20, 2011 with the terminadilr. Alvaro de Souza, president of
Board of GLAI, as a board member of United Renta. C

Contracts Account Opening UATP (Universal Air Traoitation Plan) to Grant Credit Limit

On September 2011, subsidiary VRG entered intoesgeats with related partid¥assaro Azul Taxi Aérebtda. andViacdo Piracicabana
Ltda. The purpose of the agreement is the issuahd& TP (Universal Air Transportation Plan) accasinvhere VRG issued credits to relz
parties in the amounts of R$20 and R$40, respdgtive be used in the UATP system. Such system lmmused to pay domestic :
international air services to all members. VRG ubesUATP system, which is operated and maintalmethe international air sector, ¢
seeks to simplify billing and facilitate the paymefair travels and other related services.

Trade payables current liabilities

As of December 31, 2011, balances payable to telzdenpanies amounting to R$1,198 (R$230 and R$68Bexember 31, 2010 and 2!
respectively) are included in the balance of actopayables and substantially refers to the payneeBteda Transportes e Servigos Sfé.
passenger transportation services.

Key management personnel paym

12/31/201. 12/31/2010 12/31/2009
Salaries and benef 15,26( 22,51¢ 13,22¢
Related taxe 5,56¢ 6,832 4,111
Shar+based paymer 17,76( 24,74: 3,43(
Total 38,58¢ 54,09 20,76¢

As of December 31, 2011, the Company did not gifestemployment benefits, and there are no sevelaefits or other longerm benefit
for the Management or other employees.
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Sharebased payments

The Company’s Board of Directors within the scopét®functions and in conformity with the Compasystock Option Plan, approved
grant of preferred stock options to the Companganagement and key senior executive officersgFaorts through 2009, the options vest

rate of 20% per year, and can be exercised withitol 0 years after the grant date.

Due to changes in the Company's Stock Option Rlpproved at the Annual Shareholdevieting held on April 30, 2010, for plans grar
beginning 2010, 20% of the options become vestdasthe first year, an additional 30% as from ¢skeeond, and the remaining 50% as 1

the third year. The options under these plans nsaylee exercised within 10 years after the graté.da

The fair value of stock options was estimated engfant date using the Black-Scholes option pricioglel.

The date of the Board of Directors’ meetings areabsumptions utilized in the Black-Scholes optinaing model are as follows:

Stock option plans

200% 200¢ 2007 200¢ 2009 (a 2010 (b) 2011
February  December

Board of Director meeting dal December 9, 20( January 2, 20( December 31, 20( December 20, 20( February 4, 20C 2, 201( 20, 201(
Total options grante 87,41¢ 99,81¢ 113,37¢ 190,29¢ 1,142,47 2,774,641 2,722,44.
Option strike pric 33.0¢ 47.3( 65.8¢ 45.4¢ 10.52 20.6¢ 27.8¢
Average fair value of the option on the grant 29.27 51.6¢ 46.61 29.27 8.5¢ 16.81 16.01(c
Estimated volatility of the share pr 32.52% 39.87% 46.54% 40.95% 76.91% 77.95% 44.55%
Expected divider 0.84% 0.93% 0.98% 0.86% 2.73% 0.47%
Risk-free return rat 17.23% 18.00% 13.19% 11.18% 12.66% 8.65% 10.25%
Option term (year: 10 1C 1C 10 1C 1C 10

(a) In April 2010 additional options were granted, tioig 216,673 in addition to those approved by tB8@plan.

(b) In April 2010 additional options were approvethling 101,894, referring to the 2010 plan.

(c) The calculated fair the value for 2011 plan W92, 16.11, and 15.17 for the related vestimgpge (2011, 2012, and 2013).

Changes in the stock options as of December 311, a4 as follows:

Weighted

Outstanding options as of December 31, 2010
Granted

Vested

Adjustment on forfeited rights estimate
Outstanding options as of December 31, 20

Number of options to be vested as of December @I
Number of options to be vested as of December 3012

average strike

Stock options price
3,476,68 20.5¢
2,722,44. 16.07

(49,836 15.1(
(1,528,10C 22.2¢
4,621,19. 24.3¢
955,97! 22.8¢
1,784,75! 23.8¢

The strike price range and the average maturitputétanding options, as well as the strike priacegeafor the exercisable options a:

December 31, 2011, are summarized below:
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Outstanding options Options exercisabli

Strike price range  Outstanding options avgig:mg&mii?nhﬁirs Average strike price Options exercisabli  Average strike price
33.06 31,22; 4 33.06 31,22. 33.06
47.3( 37,96( 5 47.3C 37,96( 47.3C
65.85 38,19¢ 6 65.85 38,19¢ 65.85
45.4¢ 89,241 7 45.4¢ 71,39 45.4¢
10.52 360,84: 8 10.52 216,50! 10.52
20.6¢ 1,922,441 9 20.6¢ 961,22: 20.6¢
27.8% 2,141,28 10 27.8% 428,25¢ 27.8%
10.52-65.8¢ 4,621,19; 9.2¢ 24.3¢ 1,784,75 23.8¢

For the period ended December3l, 2011, the Compaengnized in shareholdersguity an result with stock options in the amouf
R$24,875 (R$24,743 for the period ended Decembge?@®I0), being the expense disclosed in the caleeld income statements as persc
expenses.

12. Business Combination

On October 3, 2011, the Company, through its sidnsid/RG, acquired the total capital of Webjet,arine headquartered in the city of |
de Janeiro, engaged in passenger air transportatitin a fleet of twenty-four Boeing 73380 and operating in 16 Brazilian cities, wt
carries approximately 1,000 weekly flights, by #tgusted price of R$43,443.

On February 27, 2011, after the audit conclusioithef closing balance sheet at the acquisition dageprovisional price of R$70,000 v
reduced by R$26,557 and adjusted as provided iedhtact to R$43,443. The amount of R$7,000 ugbatel deposited in blocked accc
will be released to the Company, and the amouR®1f9,557, already transferred to the former colmigkhareholders of Webjet by way
consideration, was recorded as other credits dileetagreement between the parties to give the @oynghe right to recover the greater
of the consideration determined under specific amttial conditions.

Webjet's acquisition aims to strengthen the Company'sopadnce in the domestic market, increasing itsgmes in main Brazilian airpor
including Guarulhos and Santos Dumont airport tovigle services to the growing middle class, cortiguits mission of making ¢
transportation more affordable and operating asobtiee leading companies in the low-cost aviatentor.

The transaction is being analyzed by the AdminiisteaCouncil for Economic Defense ("CADE") and uiittis approved, the two compan
will continue to operate as separate entities.

The provisional fair value of assets acquired gatuilities assumed identifiable by the date of asitjon on October 3, 2011, are as follows:
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Opening Balanc¢ Adjusted Opening
10/03/201. Adjustment Balance
10/03/201.

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivale 9,55¢ - 9,556
Trade and other receivables 159,40: - 159,403
Inventories (i) 6,69¢ (3,061 3,635
Deposits 65,20« - 65,204
Prepaid expens 9,197 - 9,197
Taxes recoverable 10,211 - 10,211
Other 1,607 - 1,607
Deferred income tax - 7,08¢ 7,086
Property, plant and equipm (i) 71,59: (4,624 66,968
Intangible asse (ii) 20¢ 478,05° 478,266

333,67¢ 477,45¢ 811,133
LIABILITIES
Short and long term debt 224,40 - 224,403
Trade payables 74,06¢ - 74,064
Payroll 21,791 - 21,791
Tax obligations 5,101 - 5,101
Tax and landing fees 25,79¢ - 25,796
Advance ticket sales 92,15¢ - 92,154
Provisions (iii) 39,66: 13,15¢ 52,820
Other current liabilities 18,34¢ - 18,349
Deferred taxes - 162,53¢ 162,539
Lawsuits (iv) 2,24k - 2,245

503,56¢ 175,69' 679,262
Net assets acquired from Wel 131,871
(-)Adjusted purchase price (43,443)
Gain on bargain purchase 88,428

(i) The fair value of inventories and property,mland equipment were appraised by experts. Theyyaped an inventory of aircrafts, rotal
reparable and consumable items and evaluated ¢hailly each item according to its physical condis®f use.

(i) The Company recognized the fair value of ofiagarights at Guarulhos in Sao Paulo (22 flighegiing rights) and Santos Dumont in
de Janeiro (14 flight operating rights) under tleading intangible. These rights were evaluateddasediscounted future cash flows of
acquired intangibles. Other intangible assets sisctiade names, n@empetition agreements, customers list and othee wealyzed and ¢
not qualify for recognition, as defined in accongtstandards.

(i) The fair value of operating leases presentathvorable conditions, which resulted in the retdtgn of onerous contracts on a provisic
basis, which can occur at the time of negotiatibthe aircraft returns.

(iv) The Company has not obtained all necessargrinétion to reliably measure the fair value of amgent liabilities of the acquire
Company, for which it has contractual guarantedemfier shareholders without limiting values &operiod of five years.

The acquisition of the indirect subsidiary was anted by the acquisition method in accordance WRS 3R, and the gain on barg
purchase of R$88,428 was recorded in the incontersent for the year under other operating reveifeegenses), not taxable becaus
related to permanent difference, according withBrezilian Transition Tax Regim@&egime Tributario de Transigdo — RTT).

Administration expects to finalize the valuation adrtain assets, including intangible assets aadililies, as well as the effect of ta
deferred until October 2, 2012.

The gain on bargain purchase generated by the gsedb related to the recognition of the intang#ssets value not recorded on the bool
acquired, represented by the rights of Guarulhas %entos Dumont airports usage, which are the stugigoorts in the country, and wh¢
value is a consequence of the significant demarmvipr and the flow of domestic passengers in thet riyears, coupled with tt
Administration expectation for recovery of operatgrofitability at those airports.
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Since the acquisition until December 31, 2011,Gbenpany's results were impacted by R$ 28,092 i¥ebjet’'s operational losses.

Transaction costs, totaling R$2,362, were treatedraexpense and included under other operatingnegg in the income statement for
year ended December 31, 2(

13. Earnings or Loss per Share

Although there are differences between common amedfeped shares in terms of voting rights and ftgiom case of liquidation, tf
Companys preferred shares are not entitled to receivefiaay dividends. Rather, preferred shareholderseat#éled to receive dividends |
share in the same amount of the dividends per gteiceto common shareholders. Therefore, the Cognpaderstands that, substantie
there is no difference between preferred sharels cammon shares, and, accordingly, basic and dile@nings or loss per share
calculated equally for both shares.

Consequently, basic earnings or loss per shareamputed by dividing income or losses by the waidhverage number of all classe
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted egsor loss per share are computed including stptions granted to key management
employees using the treasury stock method wheagftlet is dilutive. The antidilutive effect of gibtential shares is disregarded in calculé
diluted earnings or loss per share.

Consolidatec

12/31/1: 12/31/1( 12/31/0¢
Numerato
Income (loss) for the peri (751,538 214,19 890,83:
Denominatc
Weighted average number of outstanding share&dimsands 270,37t 268,56:¢ 227,47
Effect of dilutive securitie
Stock Option Plan (in thousan - 39C 111
Adjusted weighted average number of outstandingeshand diluted presumed conversions
thousands 270,37t 268,95¢ 227,58
Basic earnings (loss) per sh (2.780 0.79¢ 3.91¢
Diluted earnings (loss) per sh (2.780 0.79¢ 3.91¢

As of December 31, 2011, diluted earnings or lassglare are calculated by considering the instnisnghat may have a potential dilut
effect in the future. As of December 31, 2011,gtrike price of vested stock options under the 289® 2010 plans are lower than the ave
market quotation for the period (in-the-money). T899 plan is in-theaoney even when the vesting stock options expeargecluded i
the strike price of the expenses that will be inedy of the “vestingbption. However, due to the loss reported for peeaded on Decemt
31, 2011, these shares have anti-dilutive effedt tirerefore, are not considered in the total nurobeutstanding shares.
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment

12/31/1: 12/31/1(
Weighted annual Accumulated Net Net
depreciation rate Cosl depreciation amount amount
Flight equipment
Aircraft under finance leas 4% 2,924,40 (547,173 2,377,23 2,210,43
Sets of replacement parts and spare en 4% 909,23t (176,141 733,09! 649,75¢
Aircraft reconfigurations / overhauli 30% 474,66¢ (221,013 253,65! 86,99:
Aircraft and safety equipme 20% 1,69: (871, 822 601
Tools 10% 25,99: (7,605 18,38" 14,46¢
4,335,991 (952,803 3,383,19: 2,962,24!
Impairment losseéa) - (50,653 - (50,653 -
4,285,34. (952,803 3,332,541 2,962,24!
Property, plant and equipment in ust
Vehicles 20% 9,85¢ (6,886 2,96¢ 3,30¢
Machinery and equipme 10% 43,21: (11,640 31,57¢ 15,74«
Furniture and fixture 10% 19,69° (9,374 10,32¢ 10,69¢
Computers and peripher 20% 43,25( (27,538 15,71: 14,35¢
Communication equipme 10% 2,78¢ (1,451 1,33¢ 1,517
Facilities 10% 4,501 (2,647 1,85¢ 2,19:
Maintenance cente Confins 7% 105,97: (13,924 92,04 93,16(
Leasehold improvemer 20% 34,18: (19,067 15,11t 18,54(
Construction in progre - 21,93¢ - 21,93¢ 15,54¢
285,39( (92,527 192,86. 175,05¢
4,570,73: (1,045,33C 3,525,40: 3,137,30
Advances for acquisition of aircr - 365,06 - 365,06 323,66:
4,935,80 (1,045,33C 3,890,47 3,460,96!

a) In 2011, the Company recognized an amount of RER0g6 impairment of fixed assets as follows:
In VRG was recognized a total of R$23,250, dividgd: (i) provision for aircraft under lease (RRAC) of R$5,582, (ii) items rotabl
on 737-300 fleet and financial 767-300 fleet totglR$17,668.
In Webjet recognized a total of R$ 27,403, beindr@4,624 of fair value of rotable aircraft iteregognized at the acquisition date
and (ii) R$22,779 resulting from impairment oféwn aircraft WJA, WJF, WJH, WJI, WJJ and WJK andaléte parts.

Changes in property, plant and equipment balaneeasafollows:
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Advances for

Property, plant and acquisition of
equipment under Others flight property, plant and
finance lease equipment (a) equipment Others Total
As of December 31, 201 2,021,08: 601,16¢ 538,89¢ 164,56¢ 3,325,711
Additions 381,07¢ 200,54 293,23¢ 29,92¢ 904,78t
Disposal - (2,740 (508,476 (297, (511,513
Depreciatiol (191,728 (47,151 - (19,139 (258,018
As of December 31, 20 2,210,43: 751,81t 323,66 175,05¢ 3,460,961
Additions from Webje's acquisition (note 1 - 65,32¢ - 6,26¢ 71,59:
Additions 371,26: 300,91t 273,98 38,57¢ 984,73
Disposal - (3,383 (232,578 (5,132 (241,093
Depreciatiol (204,461 (136,120 - (21,903 (362,484
Impairment loss¢ - (23,250 - - (23,250
As of December 31, 201 2,377,23 955,30t 365,06° 192,86. 3,890,47!

(& Additions in 2011 primarily represent total estiethtcosts to be incurred relating to the reconfitjomaof aircraft when returned and improvement sasfating ti
major overhauled of engine under operating lease.

15. Intangible assets

Airport
operating
Goodwill (a) Trademarks license: Software Total
Balance as of December 31, 2 542,30: 63,10¢ 560,84: 65,53: 1,231,78!
Additions - - - 58,512 58,512
Amortizatior - - - (23,120) (23,120)
Balance as of December 31, 2 542,302 63,10¢ 560,84 100,92: 1,267,17
Additions from Webje's acquisitiol 209 209
Additions - - - 73,597 73,597
Disposal - - - (8,936) (8,936)
Amortizatior - - - (26,149) (26,149)
Provisional fair value from Web|'s acquisition (note 1 - - 478,05t - 478,05¢
Balance at December 31, 20 542,30: 63,10¢ 1,038,901 139,64t 1,783,95

(&) The goodwill arises from the acquisition of subaigiVRG on April 9, 2007.

The Company has allocated goodwill for future eagej trademarks and airport operating licensedy witlefinite useful life, upon tl
acquisition of VRG on April 9, 2007 and Webjet ost@ber 3, 2011, which are annually tested for impant considering the operations
the subsidiaries as single cash-generating Uihie. recoverable amount of these assets has bded fes the date of December 31, 2011
was not identified impairment losses for thesetasse

The Company implemented a new mileage control systethe quarter ended March 31, 2011 and, conselgueeduced the unamortiz
remaining balance in the former system, in the athotiR$7,175.
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16. Short and Long-term Debt

Short-term debt:
Local currency:
Debentures IV
Debentures V
BNDES loan Safra
Santander
Citibank
BNDES

BDMG
Industrial CDB
Interests

Foreign currency
(in U.S. Dollars):
Working Capital
IFC

FINIMP
Aeroturbine
Interests

Finance lease
Total long-term debt

Long-term debt:
Local currency:
Debentures IV

Safra

BNDES - Loan Safra
BDMG

BNDES

Foreign currenc
(in U.S. Dollars):
IFC

Senior bond |
Senior bond Il
Perpetual bond

Finance lease
Total long-term debt

Effective average

interest
rate (p.a.)
Maturity 12/31/2011 12/31/201 12/31/2011
Sep, 2015 12.95% 595,16( -
Jun, 2017 13.18% 493,28 -
Oct, 2014 11.50% 29,95¢ 27,550
Oct, 2012 11.63% 40,67¢ -
Dec, 2012 11.33% 19,40: -
Jul, 2012 8.66% 8,37: 14,352
Mar, 2018 8.05% 3,60( 3,376
Mar, 2012 11.58% 1,25( -
23,421 19,72
1,215,120 64,99¢
Mar, 2012 12.95% 95,89¢ 83,803
Jul, 2013 4.54% 31,26¢ 13,885
Sep,2012 2.69% 3,127 2,718
Dec,2012 - 4,57¢ -
40,70: 33,969
175,56! 134,37!
1,390,68! 199,374
Dec, 2021 161,75! 146,634
1,552,441 346,00t
Sep, 2015 12.95% - 593,870
Dec,2015 14.50% 196,00( -
Out, 2014 11.50% 42,831 70,934
Mar, 2018 8.05% 25,85 27,332
Jul, 2012 8.66% - 8,372
264,68t 700,50¢
Jul, 2013 4.54% - 27,770
Apr, 2017 7.50% 393,53: 347,501
Jul, 2020 9.25% 550,47: 487,887
- 8.75% 335,76t 297,944
1,279,77 1,161,10;
1,544,45! 1,861,61!
Dec, 2021 1,894,54! 1,533,470
3,439,00: 3,395,08!
4,991 44 3,741,088
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Consolidatec

After Without
201: 2014 201¢ 201¢ 201¢ maturity date Total

Local currency
BNDES- Loan Safr 27,84: 14,99¢ - - - - 42,83
Safre 64,81 65,63: 65,55¢ - - - 196,00(
BDMG 6,65¢ 4,741 4,447 4,447 5,551 - 25,85!

99,31 85,36¢ 70,00z 4,445 5,557 264,68t
Foreign currenc
(Dollars)
Senior bond - - - - 393,53: - 393,53
Senior bond | - - - - 550,47: - 550,47
Perpetual bor - - - - - 335,76¢ 335,76¢

- - - - 944,00: 335,76t 1,279,77.

Total 99,31 85,36¢ 70,00z 4,445 949,56( 335,76t 1,544,45!

The fair values of senior and perpetual bondsf &eoember 31, 2011, are as follows:

Consolidated

Book Market (a)
Senior bonds (I and | 944,00 893,34t
Perpetual bonc 335,76¢ 257,92

(a) Senior and perpetual bonds market prices are autahru market quotations and exchange rate vaniati

Working Capital

On September 30, 2011 the Company, through itsidiabg VRG, raised a working capital loan in theamt of R$50,000 in local curren
subject to a rate of 108.4% of CDI Over p.a.. Tlen@any settled the loan on October 28, 2011.

On March 21, 2011, the Company raised a workingtalafwan in the amount of R$85,000 (USD 51,121),edfective rate of 3.42%
annum and maturing on March 15, 2012. As of DecerBbgethe balance recorded in current liabilitiessviR$ 95,894.

As of December 31, 2010, the Company recorded B$33as working capital with a financial institutiohlong with the loan, the Compa
contracted a swap transaction, changing the effectdst of the borrowing to 118% of CDI Over, imtgstic currency. The loan was set
in March 2011.

Industrial CDE

On February 2010, the Company, through its subrsidéebjet, raised a working capital loan in the amoof R$10,000 in domestic curren
The loan has as guarantee an aircraft and the Guorigpandorsement, and is effective for 24 months, stelflat a rate of certificate
interbank deposit of 6.17% p.a. generating an gffeaate of 11.58% p.a., whose last installmetis fdue on March 14, 2012. As
December 31, the balance recorded in current ilisilwas R$1,250.
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IFC

On July 2006, the Company through its subsidiaryGyRigned a floating rate guaranteed loan fromitiernational Finance Corporati
(IFC) in the amount of R$108,000 (USD 50,000). Tden aimed to purchase spare parts and for worképital, with maturity on July 2013
(contracted term of six years with grace periodwslve months) interest calculated at LIBOR plu&75% p.a. and is guaranteed for a ple
of parts and equipment in the amount of R$7,256$4)87). On July 2009, the Company renegotiatecctimeract by modifying the de
interest rate to Libor plus 3.75% generating araife rate on 2011 of 4.54% p.a.. On DecembeRB11, the balance included in short t
was R$31,264 (R$13,885 registered in short termR$2Y7,770 registered in the long term as of Decer@bg2010).

Finimp

On October 4, 2011, the Company, through its sidnsid/RG, raised the amount of US$1,667, correspuntb R$3,091 through Banco
Brasil. The purpose of this loan is to purchase parts iforait. This funding has as guarantee a promissatg in the amount of U$2,3
(R$4,472). As of December 31, 2011, the amountroszbin current liabilities was R$3,127.

On June 14, 2011 the Company settled R$2,659¢tktattheBanco do Brasiforeign-currency denominated loan, raised in ROTEO.

BNDES loan (Direc

On July 31, 2006, the Company contracted a fundiith BNDES (Direct) with the main goal of expansiahe facilities of Confin
Maintenance Center, purchase of domestic equiparahtnaterials, the acquisition of national softwatestomization of software made in
country and technical and managerial staff, aimMeédcaeasing its market share in civil aviation.

The effective rate for this loan in local curreratyDecember 31, 2010 was 8.66%. As of DecembeR@11 the amount included in curr
liabilities was R$8,372 (R$14,352 and R$8,372 oeddgber 31, 2010 included in current liabilities armh-current liabilities, respectively
The loan requires as guarantee bank certificate@gspwith minimum amount of R$8,000 reported adrieted cash and receivables fi
travel agencies in the amount of R$16,000.

BDMG

On March 29, 2010, VRG received funds from BDGB&co de Desenvolvimento de Minas Géraimounting to R$20,000, which will
also used in the financing for the expansion of Alireraft Maintenance Center at the Confins Intéioreal Airport in Minas Gerais and t
construction of the Brake maintenance center, émtat Tancredo Neves International Airport in Lag@ata, Minas Gerais.

The total loan term is eight years with 8@®nth grace period and interests computed usingP@é (National Price Index Consumer) plus
per year. The loan is monthly amortized monthlyro&@ months, from April 2013. The financing is garateed by an aircraft motor cha
mortgage. As of December 31, 2011, the amount deduin current liabilities and noncurrent liabdsi was R$3,600 and R$25,¢
respectively (R$ 3,376 recorded in current liaiefitand R$27,332 recorded as noncurrent liabilétd3ecember 31, 2010).
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BNDES loar—intermediated by Banco Safra

On March 31, 2010, VRG contracted wiglanco Safra credit line amounting to R$44,436 with fundsqereding from th&anco Nacional ¢
Desenvolvimento Econdmico e Sc (BNDES), by its indirect transfer program “Finam®derniza BK”. The funds will be destined to 1
modernization of turbines in specialized Brazilimaintenance centers. The loan term is 48 months, six month grace period and w
capital to be amortized monthly. The monthly paytridrinterests is computed based on TJLP plus 5.p6f4ear.

On May 26, 2010, VRG received froBanco Safrahe amount of R$23,000 related to the secondgdahte credit line with funds proceed
from theBanco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Econémico e B¢BNDES), by its indirect transfer program “Finaf@derniza BK”. The
loan term is 48 months, with maturity date in Ma@;14 with 6 months grace period and major capitdleg amortized monthly. The mont
payment of interests is computed based on TILPA% per year.

On September 27, 2010, was released to the VRBamto SafraR$33,705 value of which is on the third part of tine of credit with func
from theBanco Nacional de Desenvolvimento Econdmico e S@MDES) through its program indirect transfer "&ime modernizes BK
The loan has a term of 48 months with maturity dateSeptember 2014, the contract states 6 monthsegperiod, principal amot
amortization monthly and firm guarantees of redai@s from credit card administrators. The monthdyment of interest is calculated ba
on the TJLP plus 5.5% per year. On December 310,20& amount recorded in current liabilities and-ourrent liabilities was R$29,956 ¢
R$42,837, respectively (R$27,550 and R$70,934 &eotmber 31, 2010).

Citibank

In December 2009, the Company, through its subrsidiéebjet, raised the amount of R$33,630, includimgsaction costs of R$2,080, v
Citibank. The loan is effective for 36 months aagiimarily intended to settle the US dollar fineugcraised by the Company with "Tribe
Aviation Partners" for the acquisition of aircrdfiterest on the agreement is 11.33% per year. |ddrehas a bank guarantee of R$26,55C
of December 31, 2011, the balance recorded in eulisbilities was R$19,401.

Safra

On December 2011, the indirect subsidiary Webjatl & working capital loan in the amount of R$200,00local currency, being R$125.(
collected on December 2011 and R$75.000 which ritatdate was renegotiated. The loan has a gradedef 18 months and the ta
payment of R$200,000 will be made in six semianrnnosfallments, based on 125% of the average daily of CDI Over, with the la
installment maturing on 2015, with guarantee of 3f%Vebjets receivable from credit card Administrator. Theammortized transaction co
amount to R$4,000. As of December 31, 2011, themlsa recorded in noncurrent liabilities was R$096,

Debentures |

On September 30, 2010, the Company approved théhfpublic issue of 600 simple, nonconvertible debees in a single series by VF
with Companys guarantee, without collateral and guaranteechbyQompany, at the par value of R$1,000 each,ingt&$600,000. Th
issue is intended to prepay the third issue thalt pdace in May 2009 and meet VRGN orking capital requirements. The issuance custs
R$6,453, totaling the net amount of R$593,547. déleentures mature within five years after thedssate and they will be fully repaid
September 30, 2015. The debentures bear interestagent to 118% of CDI. As of December 31, 201He balance recorded in curr
liabilities was R$595,160 (R$593,870 as of Decendier2010 recorded in noncurrent liabilities).
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Debentures '

On June 10, 2011, the Company approved the fiftlipissue of 500 debentures noonvertible into shares in a single series issyeWRG
and guaranteed by the Company, and without cotlhir par value of R$1,000, totaling R$500,000.sTissue is intended to prepay
working capital needs of VRG. The issuance cost®Ww$7,264 which total the net amount of R$492 386 total R$610 have already b
amortized and recognized in income. The maturitythef bonds is six years from the date of issuamckits repayment will be entire
recognized on June 10, 2017. The debentures adeapain interest rate of 120% of CDIl. On Decemter2®11, the amount recordec
noncurrent liabilities debt was R$493,284.

Aeroturbing

The Company, through its subsidiary Webjet, hirediises from Aeroturbine Inc. so as to exchangeeptace defective engines for new
overhauled engines. This service is paid througimancing line directly with the supplier, in US Itbo's, and payment by 12 mont
installments, without interesAs of December 31, 2011, the balance recordedrireitliabilities was R$4,579.

Repurchase of own sha

On September 08, 2011, the Company's Board of Wire@uthorized the repurchase of its own shahesugh call options (“calls”), and 1
launch of put options ("puts" and options) accogdim the conditions below, mediated by Santander.

The program's objective is the acquisition of pmefé shares, to be held in treasury for subsemgeatand/or cancellation, in accordance
CVM Instructions 10/80 and 390/03. The acquiredratianay be deregistered or held in treasury, dunhggh time they will lose the
political and economic rights.

The number of calls and puts to be launched oriesdjgorresponds to a maximum of 9,305,754 registereferred shares, without par va
issued by the Company, representing up to 10% wtanding shares, totaling 93,057,541 preferredeshan September 8, 2011.

The Company implemented these transactions urglsh#tre buyback program at the Sdo Paulo StockalBgenBM&FBOVESPA. Under tl
program context, the Company acquires calls orrtaicenumber of the Comparsy/preferred shares, and simultaneously sells pusiumbe
equivalent to its preferred shares in the open etafikince these options are concurrently settled et basis, they represent a future synt
contract to purchase the company’s preferred slar@specific strike price in a future date.

These transactions result in future obligationghi® Company and are recorded, in conformity withageaphs 46 and 23 of IAS 32, ¢
financial liability at present value of redemptiamounts (strike price). The strike price is deteexi based on the purchase and sale pric
the option series with liquidity in the open market

The options will be settled through physical defyef shares upon the payment of the strike pridsich will be determined based on
stock price, plus related financial charges.

The deadline for the performance of the above meat transactions is 180 (one hundred and eiglaty3 dounted from September 9, 2
and the maturity of the options shall not exceel @6ree hundred sixty-five) days from the dateach transaction.
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The Company sharesepurchase transactions began on September 12, &@llthrough December 31, 2011. The Company bobatk
3,269,800 shares, with maturities from June, 2@hd, October, 2012. Premiums paid R$6,856 and pramieceived of R$7,423, recorde:
shareholders’ equity as a balance sheet item ot-&von debt and financing, (which are adjusted tes@né value, reflecting the Compat
share price on December 31, 2011) and which wilvbi#en off on the option vesting date.

Since the beginning of the repurchase financingamm, no option was vested by the parties involndtie operation.

Finance leases
Future payments of US dollar-denominated finanasddnstallments are as follows:

Consolidated

12/31/2011 12/31/201C
2011 - 227,174
2012 281,165 227,174
2013 292,83! 227,174
2014 292,819 227,174
2015 284,20! 219,576
2016 276,098 212,645
After 201¢€ 1,118,241 722,805
Total minimum lease payments 2,545,36: 2,063,722
Less total interest (489,058) (383,618)
Present value of minimum lease payments 2,056,304 1,680,104
Less short-term installment portion (161,755 (146,634)
Long-term installment portion 1,894,549 1,533,470

The discount rate used to calculate the presenewal the minimum leasing payments is 6.10% asexfdnber 31, 2011 (6.23% at Decen
31, 2010). There are no significant differencesveen the present value of minimum leasing paymeantsthe fair value of these finan
liabilities.

The Company extended the maturity date of finanéimgsome of its aircraft leased for 15 years ushg SOAR framework (mechanism
extending financing amortization and repayment)iclvienables performing calculated withdrawals tartaele for a bullet payment settlenr
at the end of the lease agreement. As of Decenthe2@. 1, the withdrawals made for the repaymematurity date of the lease agreen
amount to R$59,552 (R$37,407 as of December 310)2@te recorded in long-term debt.

Covenants

VRG has restrictive covenants ("covenants") irffiitancing agreements with the following financiasiitutions: IFC, BNDESBradesco anc
Banco do Bras (Debentures IV and V, respectively).

The restrictive covenants measures for these laes(i) net debt / EBITDAR, (ii) Current Asset€drrent Liabilities, (iii) EBITDA / Dek

Service, (iv) Short-term Debt / EBITDA, (v) Liquigiand (vi)
Debt Coverage Ratio (ICD).
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On December 31, 2011, the Company and its subigdidid not reach the minimum standards establifbretthe financing from the IFC,
BNDES and the Debentures IV and V, bond to EBITDu& do accumulated losses in the year ended Dece3ibenl1l.

VRG issued to BNDES a letter of guarantee of R$Mdilbon, whose amount exceeds the current delat,igmot therefore subject to liquid
problems in case it is required to settle suchglebt

The Company reclassified the long term balancé@febentures IV and V for the short term, in otdemeet the Brazilian and internatic
accounting standards set out in IAS 1 - Presematid-inancial Statements.

17. Advance Ticket Sales

As of December 31, 2011, the balance of advanéettisales in current liabilities of R$744,743 (R$RD6 as of December 31, 2010
represented by 4,245,181 tickets sold and not ged (2,270,720 as of 31 December 2010) with 75 dhgserage term of use (95 days &
December 31, 2010).

As described in explanatory note 2.3, in the fipgarter of 2011, the Company implemented a newngy@ccounting systemARACS anc
identified a difference between the balance of adeaicket sales calculated by the ARACS and tleeraalated balance recorded in the
system (New Skies), in the amount of R$56,760 (R#&Z net of PIS and Cofins). This difference arisem the fact that the old syst
recorded interline sales and mileage use in acocaaith the amounts set in the related agreentmritglid not record the provision of
respective services, but rather based on the pofc@smestic tickets.

18. Smiles Deferred Revenue
As of December 31, 2011, the balance of Smilesroederevenue is R$71,935 and R$214,779 classifiethé current and nocurren

liabilities, respectively (R$55,329 and R$152,33708 December 31, 2010). The number of miles opeecember 31, 2011 amounte:
23.004.285.890 (16.960.469.902 on December 31,)2010

19. Advances from Customers

As of December 31, 2011, the Company recognizeddR$2 in line item “advances from customeis’current liabilities, arising from tl
Co-branded Operating Agreement in the amount o920 and from the advance of C\RZasil Operadora e Agéncia de Viagens .S./
(“CVvC"), amounting to R$20,632, as detailed below. As ofdbeber 31, 2010, the amounts recorded as advamresctistomers amount

to R$24,581 and R$33,262 in current and noncutiaritities, respectively.

Operating AgreementCo-Branded

The Company, through its subsidiary VRG, signechvidainco Bradesco S.A. and Banco do Brazil S.ASéptember 2009, an Operal
Agreement for the sale of miles and right to ugedatabase of the Smiles mileage program, relatitige issuance of doranded credit carc
The agreement is effective for five years.

The table below summarizes the aggregate amouatseto these agreements.
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Payment method:

Purchase of miles R$204,00
Right to access the customer database of the Spridgsam (ii R$16,08!
Right to use the Smiles brand in credit cards R$32,00!
Total R$252,08

() The purchase of miles was accounted for as adviaogecustomers. The total amount received by them@my to purchase miles v
R$204,000, which corresponds to the fair value désnsold under this agreement, based on similakebhdransactions. These amounts
transferred from “advances from customers” to “defé revenue from the mileage progratd'the extent that the banks request the iss
miles on behalf of their customerSiiles accounts. The balance of R$9,169 as of Deeeil, 2011 (R$49,746 as of December 31, -
corresponds to the remaining miles that were natrded to the customers' accounts and transferrétietdeferred revenue of the mile
program as of that date.

(i) The rights to use the database of customers Smées recorded as other current and narrent liabilities. This amounts are recogn
on other revenues balance, linearly for the coterhperiod of five years. The Company offers thdaiped databanks to the counterpartie
described in the agreement.

(iii) The right to use the Smiles flag in the credit sanhs recorded as other revenues in July 2009 #sihec€ompany did not hold a
contractual obligation to return the amount and thilue was not associated with any service torteged.

CVC Advance

The Company, through its indirect subsidiary Weljetids an advance made on October 26, 201leimmount of R$25,000, related tc
agreement signed with CVC, to buy tickets from Végebj

On December 31, 2010, the Company had the amouRi$8f097 recorded as advances from customers nerduiiabilities related to ¢
agreement firmed with CVC thru its subsidiary VRiBished at the begin of 2011.

20. Taxes Payable

Consolidated

12/31/1: 12/31/1(
PIS and COFINS 107,98 84,022
REFIS 24,24¢ 38,247
IRRF on payroll 26,37: 20,895
ICMS 12,60: 7,165
Import tax 3,41( 3,712
CIDE 1,274 354
IOF 67C 125
IRPJ and CSLL to collect 8,57t 779
Others 4,53¢ 2,613

189,67: 157,91.
Curren 76,73 58,197
Noncurren :l.:|.2,93l 99,715
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PIS and COFINS

With the beginning of the non-cumulative calculatgystem of taxes on revenue PIS (Law

10637/02) and COFINS (Law 10833/03), the subsidi#RG implemented those rules and challenged incthets the rate used to calcu
these taxes. The provision recorded in balancet stseef December 31, 2011, amounting to R$105,R4%B4,022 as of December 31, 2C
includes the unpaid portion, adjusted for inflatiosing the SELIC (Central Bard’policy rate). There are escrow deposits in theuarho
R$77,539 (R$66,963 as of December 31, 2010) torerithke suspension of the tax collection. On Jan@a®012, as described on note 29
Company filed the withdrawal of judicial processlas awaiting review and approval of the conversibdeposits by the Judicial Court.

In the first quarter ended March 31, 2011, the Camypdentified R$24,058 arising from PIS and COFIR&ring the fourth quarter of 20
the Company revised the criteria for calculatiorPé® and COFINS, as disclosed in Note 8 and offseffull amount provisioned with t
calculated amounts in this review.

Adherence to the Program of Subdivision of Fed€saxies (REFIS)

On November 30, 2009, the Company and its subgidM&G filed its adherence to the Program of Sulsidri of Federal Taxes (REFIS),
prescribed by Law no. 11,941 of May 27, 2009, ideig all debts with th®eceita Federal do Bras{Brazilian Federal Revenue Service)
Procuradorie-Geral da Fazenda NacionéBrazilian National Treasury Attorney General’s io#), maturing through November 30, 2008.

Management decided to pay debts in the amount @830 related to GLAI and R$35,012 related to VIR@80 installments. This paym:
method offers reductions of 60% (sixty percentjhaf late payment fines, 25% (twerftye percent) of interest, and 20% (twenty percexf
assessment fines, reducing the GLAI and VRG deB$H0,257 and R$27,990, respectively.

The debts consolidation occurred on June 29, 2@t&ording with to PGFN/RFB Resolution 2/2011, amqbru such consolidation t
Company and its subsidiary VRG used a portion eirttax credits relating to tax loss carry forwaet&l negative basis of social contribu
to settle amounts related to interest and penaltissunting to R$1,637 and R$8,013 for GLAI and VR&pectively.

The Company and its subsidiary VRG have paid REm&lments on the consolidated debt in June/11.
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21. Provisions

Consolidatec

Provision for Return of
ISrSoLi/riz?ocrf agt'ﬁ'raaé?d aircraf@ and g?gg;ss Litigation Total
aircraft engine

Balance as of December 31, 2010 31,07( - 33,28: 9,88t 70,63¢ 144,87¢
Additions from Webjet's acquisition (note 12) 1,938 - 39,662 - 2,245 43,845
Additional provisions recognized 38,25: 26,26: 167,50« 15,39¢ 6,21¢ 253,62¢
Utilized provisions (47,760) - (59,409) (25,278) (3,155) (135,602)
Balance as of December 31, 20 23,49¢ 26,263 181,04« - 75,94¢ 306,75(
Balance as of December 31, 2
Curren 31,070 - 21,227 3,669 - 55,967
Noncurren - 12,060 6,216 70,636 88,911

31,07( - 33,28 9,88t 70,63¢ 144,87¢
Balance as of December 31, 2
Curren 23,49¢ 16,25: 35,81" - - 75,56¢
Noncurren - 10,011 145,22 - 75,94¢ 231,18:

23,49¢ 26,263 181,04« - 75,94¢ 306,75(

Onerous Contracts

On December 31, 2011 the subsidiary VRG, reverseaitire provision of onerous contracts, concegriwo Boeing 767300 aircraft, due 1
the transfer of aircraft and the installments cacts of operating leases based on the tengr strategic agreement signed with C
Airlines,Inc..

Provision for anticipated return of Wek's aircraft

In 2011, according to the strategic planning oWebjet, provision was made for anticipated retofrrircraft. This provision was calcula
based on the return flow of 14 aircraft Boeing B0 with operating leases contracts, as part oCibrapany's fleet renewal. The anticip:
returns from aircraft are scheduled to occur betw2@12 and 2013 and the original maturities of dsaare in between 2012 to 2014.
December 31, 2011 the amount recorded in currabilities and noncurrent was R$16,252 and R$10r84fiectively.

Return of aircraft and engin

The provision for return considers the costs thatithe contractual conditions for the return afiees maintained under operating lease
well as the costs to reconfigure the aircraft withpurchase option, as described in return conditiaf lease contracts, which the counte:
is capitalized in the fixed assets, note 14.

In the first quarter ended March 31, 2011, the Camyprecognized an additional provision arising fribv@ increased costs incurred in airc
and engines returning when compared to the vat@gously estimated.

Lawsuitt

As of December 31, 2011, the Company and its sidygd are parties to 23,267 lawsuits and admatist proceedings. The lawsuits .
administrative proceedings are classified into @pen (those arising from the Compasyiormal course of operations), and Successiose
arising from the succession of former Varig S.Aligdtions). Under this classification, the numbé&pmmceedings is as follows:
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Operation Successio Total
Civil lawsuits 13,026 656 13,68:
Civil proceeding 1,638 20 1,65¢
Civil miscellaneou 48 - 48
Labor lawsuit 4,178 3,618 7,79¢
Labor proceeding 81 2 83
Total 18,97 4,29¢ 23,26

The civil lawsuits are primarily related to compatien claims generally related to flight delaysghtit cancellations, baggage loss,
damages. The labor claims primarily consist of usions related to overtime, hazard pay, and dé&rences.

The provisions related to civil and labor suits,0sé likelihood of loss is assessed as probablesafalows:

12/31/1: 12/31/1(
Civil 34,10: 29,786
Labor 41,84: 40,850
75,94 70,636

Provisions are reviewed based on the progresseoptbceedings and history of losses based on thtecbherent estimate for labor and c¢
lawsuits.

There are other lawsuits assessed by managemeitsdadal counsel as possible risks, in the esgthamount of R$33,221 for civil clail
and R$16,019 for labor claims at December 31, ZBH10,681 and R$7,530 as of December 31, 2010 ¢tgply), for which no provisior
are recognized.

On December 31, 2011 the Company was party to t{@08k labor lawsuits in France due to debts of fivener Varig S.A. The amou
involved in the discussions, not provisioned, ipragimately R$5,112 (corresponding t@#& million). Initially the company was party toufk
(04) labor suits, during the quarter ended Septed®e2010, the Company obtained a favorable ategision of not succession in one (01
the labor suits.

The Company and its subsidiaries are is challengirapurt the ICMS levied on aircraft and engineported under aircraft lease transact
without purchase options in transactions carrietl with lessors headquartered in foreign countridse Company’s and its subsidiaries
management understands that these transactioresesprsimple leases in view of the contractualgalthn to return the assets that are
subject matter of the contract. Management beliévee are no the evidence of goods circulationsmdhere are no legal events to gen
ICMS taxation.

The estimated aggregated amount of the ongoinguitsm®lated to the nolevy of ICMS tax on said imports is R$205,102 aPetember 3:
2011 (R$193,173 as of December 31, 2010) adjusteidflation, not including later payment chargBased on its legal counsglopinion an
supported by similar lawsuits with favorable demis to taxpayers by the Superior Court of Just&RJ{ and Supreme Federal Court (STI
the second quarter of 2007, the Company understinadshe likelihood of loss is remote, and thud dot recognize provisions for thi
amounts. Although the outcome of these lawsuitsmaodeedings cannot be anticipated, the Comgamgdnagement, based on the opinic
its outside legal counsel, understands that tha fiecisions on these lawsuits will not have anyema adverse impact on the finan
position, operating results, and cash flows ofGlenpany.
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22. Shareholders’ Equity

a) Issued capital

As of December 31, 2011, the Company’s capitab@esented by 270,390,004 shares, of which 137882re common anti33,357,27
are preferred (270,336,668 shares as of Decemb&030, of which 137,032,734 are common and 133%323are preferred). THeundo di
Investimento em Participa¢gbes Voll is the Companyg controlling fund, which is equally controlled I3onstantino de Oliveira Jani
Henrique Constantino, Joaquim Constantino Neto,Rindrdo Constantino.

Shares are held as follows:

12/31/201. 12/31/2011
Common Preferred Total Common Preferred Total

Fundo Vollutc 100.00% 22.21% 61.63% 100.00Y 26.98% 63.99%
Delta Airlines, Ini - 6.22% 3.07%
Wellington Management Compe - 5.04% 2.49% - 0.05% 0.02%
Fidelity Investment - 5.27% 2.60%
Treasury shar - 2.79% 1.38% - 0.34% 0.17%
Othel - 1.50% 0.74% - 1.42% 0.70%
Free floa - 56.97% 28.09% - 71.21% 35.12%

100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

The authorized share capital as of December 311, BOR$4.0 billion. Within the authorized limit,glCompany can, as approved by the B
of Directors, increase its capital regardless of amendment to its bylaws, by issuing shares, withtecessarily keeping the proport
between the different types of shares. The Boamitafctors will define the issuance conditions liring price and payment term.

On February 22, 2011, the Board of Directors apptothe capital increase of R$626 through the peivsgue of 32,487 preferred shares
registered with no par value, to the exercise alsbptions .

On May 10, 2011, the Board of Directors approvetidapital increase of R$181 through the issue gf8bpreferred shares, all registered
without par value, depending on the exercise optimehase plan stock options.

On December 21, 2011, the Board of Directors apmtohe capital increase of R$38, 3,138 by issuirgfepred shares, arising from
exercise of option to purchase shares granted uhdédption Plan.

On the same date, a capital increase of R$295,7Bmwith the possibility of partial confirmatioby the private issuance of 13,445,
shares with 6,825,470 shares and 6,619,765 prdfstrares was approved. This operation remains dpeng the first half of 2012, in tl
exercise of preemptive rights by the holders ofehaf the Company for the subscription of shaessiting from the capital increase suk
to approval. Together with this capital increase tapitalization of Delta Air Lines, Inc. ("Deltaipvestment, with the acquisition
8,300,455 (eight million, three hundred thousamdyr fhundred and fiftfive) preferred Company shares, acquired from Fuvidbuto by
converting these shares into ADRs (American DeposiReceipts) was introduced. Fundo Volluto, heldadvance for future capital incre
of R$182,610 (US$ 100,000), the amount receivethbytransfer of its shares for Delta, aiming touikbtheir equity position. This advance
bound to increase in capital 8,300,455 (eight onllithree hundred thousand, four hundred and fiifg) shares, equivalent to 6,825,469
million, eight hundred and twenty five thousandyrfdiundred and sixtpine) common shares and 1,474,986 (one million faurdred an
seventy-four, nine hundred eighty-six) preferredrsh, priced at R$ 22.00 (twenty-two reais).
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The Company made a tradgreement as part of the alliance with Delta, & ishareholder, involving codsrare (flights sharing), allowil
Delta to put its brand on more flights of the Comp@ Brazil, the Caribbean and South America, tre@lCompany to put its brand on D
services between Brazil and the United States, feord the U.S. to other destinations, expandinghfligptions for customers of b
companies and expanding its reach in the networkdHition, the agreement aims to optimize the eotion of flights and align services ¢
benefits to customers in the SMILES frequent flggsgrams and Sky Miles, among other synergies.

The price of Company shares as of December 31, 264 fjuoted, in the S&o Paulo Stock ExchanBOYESPA, in the amount of R$12.
and US$6.63 in New York Stock ExchangBl¥SE. The book value per share as of December @] R$8.24 (R$10.83 as of Decembel
2010).

b) Retained earnings

i. Legal reserve

It is recognized by allocating 5% of profit for tlyear after the absorption of accumulated lossescoordance with Article 193 of L
11.638/07, limited to 20% of the capital, accordioghe Brazilian Corporate Law and the CompanykWws. On December 31, 2011, |
legal reserve was used to absorb losses for threapeaunting to R$49,833.

ii. Reinvestment reserve

The reserve of retained earnings was constituteeruArticle 196 of Law 6.404/76, which intendeduse in planned investments in the ca
budget, approved at the Board of Directors.

As of December 31, 2011, the reserve for reinvestragprofits of R$479,699 was reversed in its retyi, against accumulated losses to |
the compliance with Article 189 of Law 6.404/76.

c) Dividends

The Companys bylaws provide for a mandatory minimum divideaccommon and preferred shareholders, in the aggrejat least 25%
annual adjusted profit determined in accordancé Wit Brazilian corporate law, which permits thg/mpant of cash dividends only frc
retained earnings, and certain reserves recogiizihe Company’s statutory accounting records.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company did not reieegtividends payable to its shareholders as dtrefsthe net loss recorded in the year.
d) Treasury shares

As of December 31, 2011, the Company has 3,724y225ury shares, totaling R$51,377, with a faiugadf R$46,329 (R$11,887 in she
with fair value of R$11,792 as of December 31, 3010

In compliance with Item IV art.4 of CVM Instructic3®0/03, the table below shows the changes in timeber of outstanding shares hel
treasury:

Treasury shares  Repurchase of share Total
Balance as of December 31, 2010 454,425 - 454,425
Repurchase of shares by exercise of options (a) - 3,269,800 3,269,800
Balance as of December 31, 2011 454,425 3,269,800 3,724,225
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(@) Shares acquired through the repurchase prograniateel6.

e) _Sharéased payments

As of December 31, 2011, the balance of share-baaptents reserve was R$68,602. The Company retardbardsased payment expel
amounting to R$24,875 during the period ended Déeen3l, 2011, with a balancing item in the incoregesnent as personnel cc
(R$24.743 as of December 31, 2010).

f) Other comprehensive income

The fair value measurement of shtatm investments classified as available for satfinancial instruments designated as cash floggés
is recognized in line item Valuation AdjustmentsBguity, net of taxes, until maturity of the comtiss The balance as of December 31, !
corresponds to a loss of R$79,268 (gain of R$11a378f December 31, 2010).

23. Sales Revenue

a) The net sales revenue for the period has the fallpwomposition:

Consolidated

12/31/1: 12/31/1( 12/31/0¢
Passenger transportat 6,947 10 6.500.784 5.076.886
Cargo transportation and other reve 925,49 802,632 948,49¢
Gross revenus 7,872,68 7,303,416 6,297,92!
Related taxe (333,379 (323,969) (272,547)
7,539,30: 6,979,447 6,025,38;

Net revenue

The revenues are net of federal, state and muigipas, which are paid and transferred to the gpmte government entities.

b) Revenue by geographical segment is as follows:

12/31/1: % 12/31/1( % 12/31/0¢ %
Domestit 7,000,00. 92.¢ 6,548,06' 93.8 5,661,101 94.0%
Internatione 539,30’ 7.2 431,37¢ 6.2 364,281 6.0%
Net revenue 7,539,30: 10C 6,979,44 100, 6,025,382 100.0%
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24. Financial Revenue

Consolidatec

Financial income 12/31/201 12/31/201
Income from derivatives 264,14: 41,51
Income from short-term investments and Investmemd$ 147,50¢ 103,90t
Monetary variation 15,91¢ 5,931
Discounts obtained 3,53( 3,911
Interest on prepayments for aircraft acquisition - 9,90z
Other 46,42« 18,74«
477,52 183,90°
Financial expense
Loss from derivative (316,568 (158,535
Interest on short and long term ¢ (414,430 (297,256
Bank interest and expen: (24,648 (21,818
Discounts grante - (38,033
Monetary variatio (8,687 (6,477
Othel (70,208 (19,636
(834,541 (541,755
Foreign exchange changes, r (398,897 46,54¢
TOTAL (755,914 (311,299

25. Commitments

As of December 31, 2011 the Company had with Bo8ihdirm orders, 10 purchase rights and 40 purcloasiens granted on noorerou
basis, for aircraft acquisition. The commitmentsgorchase aircraft include estimates for contr@gtuice increases during the construc
phase. The approximate amount of firm orders, nouding contractual discount is R$15,780,007 @sponding tdJS$8,412,414) and ¢
segregated according to the following periods:

12/31/1:
201z 896,08
201: 2,938,78
201¢ 4,341,87
201t 3,740,13
201¢ 3,207,56
After 201¢ 655,55!

15,780,00
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As of December 31, 2011, in addition to the comraitts mentioned above, the Company will be requinguhy the amount of R$1,991,402
as advances for aircraft acquisition, as follows:

12/31/1:
201z 443,90¢
201¢ 537,13
201¢ 501,97!
201t 407,11!
201¢ 94,63¢
After 201¢ 6,632

1,991,40:

The installment financed by Long-term debt, colaliged by the aircraft by the U.S. Ex-Im Bank (fEX) corresponds approximately to 8
of total cost of the aircraft. Other agents finatioe acquisitions with percentages equal or abbigeptercentage, reaching up to the lim
100%.

The Company is making payments related to the attgni of aircraft using its own funds, short amhd term debt, cash provided
operating activities, short- and medium-term créattlities, and supplier financing.

The Company leases its entire aircraft fleet usingpmbination of finance and operating leases, pixioe 6 aircrafts owned by its indire
subsidiary Webjet. As of December 31, 2011, thal teased fleet was comprised of 144 aircidf24 from VRG and 20 from Webjet), wh
99 were operating leases and 45 were recordetiasck leases. The Company has 39 financial ainitiftpurchase option. During the th
months ended December 31, 2011, the Company ret8iedrcraft based on lease contracts, being hdiahand 2 operational and there
a return of 1 737200 aircraft. During the year ended December 31,12¢he Company received 11 aircraft based on leasgacts, being
financial and 5 operational, and returns 8 aitcra€luding: (i) 4 aircraft 737-300, (ii ) 3 aiaft 767-300, and (iii) 1 aircraft 737-700.

a) Operating leases

Future payments of non-cancelable operating lem&edenominated in U.S. dollars, and are as follows

12/31/201. 12/31/2011
2011 - 504,784
201z 594,97t 481,109
201: 517,32t 414,202
201 341,48t 261,098
201¢ 205,63: 149,637
201¢ 157,23: 107,221
After 201¢ 452,83 252,912
Total minimum leasing paymel 2,269,481 2,170,963
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b) Saleleaseback transactions

As of December 31, 2011, the Company recognized,3887and R$15,931, as ‘Other payables’ in currerd moneurrent liabilities
respectively (R$7,564 and R$23,495 as of Decemhe2B10), related to gains on sédaseback transactions performed by its subsi
GAC Inc. in 2006, related to eight 7800 Next Generation aircraft. This gain is beinéeded proportionally to the monthly payments o
related lease agreements over the contractualdeir®4 months.

On the same date, the Company recorded R$9,373R&44,828, in ‘Prepaid expenses’, in current and-cuwment assets, respectiv
(R$9,373 and R$54,201 as of December 31, 201@Yectto losses on sdleaseback transactions performed by its subsidi#¢ Inc. during
the years of 2007, 2008 and 2009, related to nireaft. These losses are being deferred and amedrtproportionally to the montt
payments of the operational lease agreements bgeamntractual term of 120 months.

Additionally, in the period ended December 31, 2Gh& Company recorded a gain of R$21,738, recednirectly in profit or loss (gains
R$17,765 and losses of R$3,155 as of December @) Xince gains and losses on dadseback transactions were not offset over
terms.

26. Financial instruments

The Company and its subsidiaries have financiaétaaad financial liability transactions, which ctmtspartially of derivative financi
instruments.

The financial derivative instruments are used tdgeeagainst the inherent risks relating to the atpmm. The Company and its subsidia
consider as most relevant risks: fuel price, exgeamate and interest rate. These risks are mitigayeusing exchange swap derivatives,
dollar futures and options contracts in the oil kedrU.S. dollar and interest.

Management follows a documented guideline when giagaits financial instruments, set out in its Rislkanagement Policy, which
periodically revised by the Financial Policy angiRCommittee, after approved by the Board of DoectThe Committee sets the guidel
and limits, monitors controls, including the mattagital models adopted for a continuous monitorifigexposures and possible finan
effects and also prevents the execution of specalfihancial instruments transactions.

The gains on these transactions and the applicafioisk management controls are part of the Comes® monitoring and are satisfacton
the objectives proposed.

The fair values of financial assets and liabilittdshe Company and its subsidiaries are estaldiifi®ugh information available on the ma
and according to valuation methodologies.

Most of the derivative financial instruments hingidh the purpose of hedging against fuel and exghaates risks provide scenarios with
probability of occurrence, and thus have lower €azimpared to other instruments with higher prdighof occurrence. Consequen
despite the high correlation between the hedged #@ad the derivative financial instruments hiredignificant portion of the transactic
presents ineffective results upon settlement, whrehpresented in the tables below.

The description of the consolidated account balsacel the categories of financial instruments ihetliin the balance sheet as of Decel
31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 is as follows:
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Measured at fair value but not

Measured at fair value through profit through profit and loss (Assets
and loss Measured at amortized cost (¢ available for sale)

12/31/1: 12/31/1( 12/31/1: 12/31/1( 12/31/1: 12/31/1(
Asset:
Cash and cash equivale 1,230,28 1,955,85! - - -
Shor-term investmen 1,009,06: (c) - - - - 22,60¢
Restricted cas 109,09¢ 34,50( - - -
Derivatives operation ass 4,21 10,42( - - -
Accounts receivab - - 354,13« 303,05« -
Deposit: - - 455,12 127,96! -
Other credit - - 57,75¢ 57,24¢ -
Hedge premiut 11,57: 23,33¢ - - -
Liabilities
Loans and financir - - 4,991,44: 3,741,08: -
Supplier: - - 414,56: 215,79. -
Derivatives Obligatio 115,432 (b) 1,64¢

(&) The Company understands that their fair valuesppeoximate their book values, except by the anwmraiated to Perpetual Bonds and Senior Notedisakser
on Note 16.

(b) The Company records as of December 31, 2011 theiginad R$79,268 in shareholdemsquity as valuation adjustment to equity as a lzatgnitem of thi:
liability.

(c) The Company manages its investment as a part c&sis to supply its operational expenses.

Risks

The operating activities subject the Company asdiibsidiaries to the following financial risks: ikt (including currency risk, interest r
risk, and fuel price risk), credit and liquidityskis.

The Companys risk management policy aims at mitigating pot#ntdverse effects from transactions that coulecaffits financie
performance.

The Company’s and its subsidiariefecisions on the exposure portion to be hedgedhsigfinancial risk, both for fuel consumption
currency and interest rate exposures, consideigke and hedge costs.

The Company and its subsidiaries do not usuallfrachhedging instruments for its total exposure] thus they are subject to the portio
risks resulting from market fluctuations. The pomtiof exposure to be hedged is determined andweda@at least quarterly in compliance v
the strategies determined in the Risk Policies Citaes.

The relevant information on the main risks affegtine Company’s and its subsidiaries’ operatiorasifllows:

a) Fuel price risk

As of December 31, 2011, fuel expenses accounted(® of the costs and operating expenses of thap@ay and its subsidiaries. 1
aircraft fuel price fluctuates both in the shortiam the long terms, in line with crude oil and lylproduct price fluctuations.

In order to mitigate the fuel price risk, the Compaand its subsidiaries contract derivatives linkedinly to crude oil and possibly
byproducts. As of December 31, 2011, the Compagry ogtions, collar and swap agreements.
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Fuel hedge transactions, classified as cash flalgém® are contracted by the counterparties ratedastment grade, or are performed on the
NYMEX.

b) Exchange rate risk

The exchange rate risk derives from the possibiftunfavorable fluctuation of foreign currenciesvthich the Company' liabilities or cas
flows are exposed. The exposure of the Companydsitarsubsidiariesassets and liabilities to the foreign currency niskinly derives fror
foreign currency-denominated leases and financing.

The Company’s and its subsidiariesvenues are mainly denominated in Reais, exce@ fmall portion in U.S. dollars, Argentinean pg
Bolivian bolivianos, Chilean peso, Colombian peRaraguay guarani, Uruguayan peso, Venezuela bpétar

In order to mitigate the currency risk, the Companwtracts the following currency derivatives: Udsllar futures and options settled on

BM&F-BOVESPA. These transactions may be perform&dgiexclusive investment funds, as describedenGbmpanys Risk Manageme
Policy.

The Company’s foreign exchange exposure as of DieeeB1, 2011 and December 31, 2010 is as follows:

Consolidatec

12/31/2011 12/31/201C
Asset:
Cash and short-term investments 237,66t 218,90¢
Deposits 455,12 127,963
Hedge premium 11,57: -
Prepaid Expenses with leases 30,38: 33,322
Related parties transaction - -
Others 6,58¢ 14,679
Total asset: 741,33 394,87:
Liabilities
Foreign suppliers 32,27( 27,83:
Short- and long-term debt 1,455,33 1,371,323
Finance leases payable 1,996,75: 1,639,98
Other leases payable 59,55: 37,407
Provision for aircraft return 181,04« -
Related Parties - -
Other U.S. dollar-denominated liabilities 7,61¢ 46,43¢
Total liabilities 3,732,57 3,122,977
Exchange exposure in R$ 2,991,23 2,728,10.
Obligations not recognized in balance sheet
Future obligations resulting from operating leases 1,991,40: 1,943,880
Future obligations resulting from firm aircraft erd 15,780,00 16,427,82
Total 17,771,40 18,371,704
Total exchange exposure R$ 20,762,64 21,099,80
Total exchange exposure US$ 11,068,68 12,663,43
Exchange Rate (R$/U¢ 1,875¢ 1,666:

c) Interest rate risk

The Company and its subsidiaries are exposed tufitions in domestic and foreign interest ratedystantially the CDI and Libc
respectively. The highest exposure is in leasestretions, indexed to the Libor, and local debt.
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In the period ended December 31, 2011, for intest hedges, the Company and its subsidiariesdvedgh transactions with counterpar
rated as investment grade.

d) Credit risk

The credit risk is inherent in the Company’s argsitibsidiariesbperating and financing activities, mainly repraednby trade receivable
cash and cash equivalents, including bank deposits.

The trade receivable credit risk consists of am®€eiting due of the largest credit card companigt) credit risk better than or equal to th
of the Company and its subsidiaries, and receigalilem travel agencies, installment sales, and igowent sales, with a small port
exposed to risks from individuals or other entities

As defined in the Risk Management Policy, the Comypand its subsidiaries are required to evaluateciunterparty risks in financ
instruments and diversify the exposure. Financisfruments are performed with counterparties ratddast as investment grade by S&P
Moody’s, or they are mostly contracted on commoditiesfahaes exchanges (BM&FBOVESPA and NYMEX), whialbstantially mitigate
the credit risk. The Company’s and its subsidiafiisk Management Policy establishes a maximumtlwhi20% per counterparty for short-
term investments.

e) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk takes on two distinct forms: markejuidity risk and cash flow liquidity risk. Ther8t is related to current market prices
varies in accordance with the types of assets lamdntarkets where they are traded. Cash flow lityidsk, however, is related to difficulti
in meeting the contracted operating obligationhatagreed dates.

As a way of managing the liquidity risk, the Compamd its subsidiaries invest its funds in liqubets (governmental bonds, CDBs,
investment funds with daily liquidity), and the @adanagement Policy establishes that the Compaamdsits subsidiariesieighted averag
debt maturity should be higher than the weighteztaye maturity of the investment portfolio. As cdd@mber 31, 2011, the weighted ave
maturity of the Company’s and its subsidiariesaficial assets was 22 days and of their finanahllities was 5 years.

As shown in Note 26, in order to hedge future commaits, the Company and its subsidiaries use dem@véinancial instruments contrac
with prime banks for cash management purposes.

f) Capital management

The table below shows the financial leverage ratefdecember 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010:

Consolidated

12/31/1: 12/31/1(
Shareholde's equity 2,227,753 2,929,16!
Cash and cash equivale (1,230,287) (1,955,858)
Restricted cas (109,095) (34,500)
Shor-term investmen (1,009,068) (22,606)
Shor- and lon¢term debt 4,991,448 3,741,08:
Net debt (¢ 2,642,998 1,728,12.
Total capital (b 4,870,751 4,657,29.
Leverage ratio (a) / (b 54% 37%
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The increase in leverage ratio occurred mainly tdue reduction in equity resulting from accumethtosses accrued in the year 2011
additionally by the increase in total gross debthipartially offset by an increase in total caskifion.

Additionally, the Company and its subsidiaries sti# committed to keep the amount of cash and eaghivalent close to 25% of the
revenue for the last twelve months.

Derivative financial instrument

The derivative financial instruments were recogdiirethe following balance sheet line items:

Description Balance sheet accoul 12/31/1: 12/31/1(

Gain on derivatives operati (assets Other receivable 4,21z 10,42(
Loss on derivatives operati (liabilities) Loss on derivatives operati 115,43: 1,64¢€
Premiums of options contracts (ass Prepaid expens 11,57: 23,33¢

The Company and its subsidiaries adopt hedge atioguemd in December 31, 2011, the derivative @mtéd to hedge currency risks, inte
rate risk and fuel price risk as "cash flow hedgetording to the parameters described in intaynatistandard I1AS 39.

Classification of derivatives financial instruments

i) Cash flow hedges

The Company and its subsidiaries use cash flow dwtly hedge against future revenue or expenseiditichs resulting from changes in
exchange rates, interest rates or fuel price, ambumts for actual fluctuations of the fair valuk derivative financial instruments
shareholders’ equity until the hedged revenue peege is recognized.

The Company and its subsidiaries estimates thetefémess based on statistical correlation mettaodisthe ratio between gains and losse
the financial instruments used as hedge, and thtearm expense fluctuation of the hedged items.

The instruments are considered as effective wherfltictuation in the value of derivatives offsettveeen 80 % to 125% the impact of
price fluctuation on the cost or expense of thegeddtem.

The balance of the actual fluctuations in the failues of the derivatives designated as cash fledgées is transferred from shareholder:
equity to profit or loss for the period in whichethedged costs or expenses impacts profit or @aisis or losses on effective cash flow he
are recorded in balancing accounts of the hedgpdreses, by reducing or increasing the operating aod the ineffective gains or losses
recognized as financial income or financial experise the year.

ii) Derivative financial instruments not designateslhedges

The Company and its subsidiaries contracts deviedthancial instruments that are not formally desited for hedge accounting. This oc
when transactions are in the short term and thé&@oand disclosure complexity make them unfeasibtewhen the change in a derivatise’
fair value must be recognized in profit or losstfoe same period of the effects of the hedged risk.
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Designation of hedged item

a) Fuel hedge

Due to the low liquidity of jet fuel derivativesamted in commodities exchanges, the Company andultsidiaries contracts crude
derivatives and its byproducts—West Texas Interated{WTI), Brent and Heating Oilte- hedge against fluctuations in jet fuel pric

Historically, oil prices are highly correlated witst fuel prices.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company and its sigsgd have derivative contracts designated as ftasthedge fuel, traded in Nymex a

OTC markets.

Oil derivative contracts, designated as fuel heddfeése Company and its subsidiaries, are sumntatieéow:

Closing balance a:
Fair value at end of period (R$)

Average term (months)
Volume hedged for future periods (thousand barrels)

Gains (losses) with hedge effectiveness recogrniizetiareholders’ equity, net of taxes (R$)

Period ended

Gains on hedge effectiveness recognized in opgratists (R

Gains (losses) on hedge ineffectiveness recogmiztidancial income (expenst
Gains (losses) on hedge ineffectiveness recogrizédancial income (expenses) for

future period (R$)

Total gains (losses) on hedge ineffectiveness m@zed in financial income (expens

(R$)

Exposure percentage hedged during the

12/31/1 12/31/4¢

(9,217 33,205

2 4

3,631 2,109

(20,898 10,586

2011 201¢

- 21F
24,36( (7,666
(23,583 (43,762
777 (51,428
43% 45%

The table below shows the notional amount of dériea designated as hedges contracted by the Congrathits subsidiaries to hedge ful
fuel expenses, the average rate contracted fodeheatives, and the percentage of fuel exposudgénd by reporting period as of Decen

31, 2011:

Market risk factor: Fuel price
Over-the-counter market

1T12 2T12 3T12 4T12 Total 12M
Percentage of fuel exposure hedged 48% A1% 27% 20% 34%
Notional amount in barrels (thousands) 1,98¢ 1,687 1,16 861 5,69¢
Future rate agreed per barrel (US$) * 124.7: 122.2( 113.1¢ 101.6( 118.1:
Total in reais ** 464,10¢ 386,69¢ 246,65. 164,08t 1,261,54!

* Weighted average between call strikes,
** The exchange rate as of 12/31/11 was R$1.875&108®).
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b) Foreign Exchange Hedge

The Company and its subsidiaries uses derivativeéracts as U.S. dollar hedges conducted with BM&WBESPA, using an exclusi
investments fund as vehicle for contracting riskezage.

In September 2011, Management, faced with a fieaomomic scenario, decided to suspend temporaelgtirrency hedge of the Company’
cash flows.

As of December 31, 2011, the Company and its sigsgd do not have financial assets or bank gueedintked to margin deposits.
As of December 31, 2011, the Company and its sigs&d do not have foreign exchange derivative remts designated as U.S. dollar ¢

flow hedges. Losses from hedge ineffectivenessgmized during the twelveronth period ended December 31, 2011 and of 20&
presented below:

Closing balance at: 12/31/2011 12/31/2010
Fair value at end of period (R$) - 109
Longer remaining term (months) - 4
Hedged volume for future periods (US$) - 65,000
Period ended 2011 201( 200¢
Hedge effectiveness losses recognized in operatists and expenses (R$) - - (11,833
Hedge ineffective gains (losses) recognized inrfoi@ income (expense
(R9) 82: (22,464 39,20°
Hedge ineffective gains (losses) recognized inrfoi@ income (expenses) ‘
future competences (F (530 (28,269 (1,171
Total hedge ineffective gains (losses) recognized financial incom .
(expenses) (R‘ 29z (50,733 38,03(
Percentage exposure hedged during the period 4,2% 21% 18%

As of December 31, 2011, the Company and its sigs&d have no foreign currency derivative consatgsignated as U.S. dollar fair ve
hedge. The hedge effective losses recognized andiml expenses for the Twelwmesnth period ended December 31, 2011 are summ
below:

Closing balance at 12/31/1: 12/31/1(
Fair value at end of period (R$) - (6,645)
Finance leasing (US$) - 984,26:
Volume hedged (US$) - 388,75(
Actual percentage of hedged exposure - 39%
Period ended 2011 201C
Hedge effectiveness losses recognized in finaesipénses (R$) (34,130 (15,819
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As of December 31, 2011, the Company and its sidrvid have the following derivatives instrumemthedge against U.S. dollar fluctuati
not designated for hedge accounting: currency swBi®D x CDI) to hedge a credit facility (workingpital). The table below shows
amounts recognized in financial income (expensdajed to these transactions:

Period endec: 2011 201(
Gains (losses) recognized in financial income (esps) 2,61¢ (7,709)

c) Interest rate hedges

As of December 31, 2011, the Company and its sidr@@d have swap derivatives designated as cash Hexige for Libor hedge, in t
notional amount of US$505 million. The followingassummary of Company and its subsidiaries intaegstderivative contracts designe
as Libor cash flow hedges:

Closing balance at 12/31/1: 12/31/1(
Fair value at end of period (R$) (88,440
Face value at end of period (US$) 505,18:
Face value at end of period (R$) 947,61t
Hedge losses recognized in shareholders’ equityofrtaxes (R$) (58,370
Period ended 2011 201C
Hedge effectiveness gains (losses) recognizedaméial income (expenses) (R$) (279

As of December 31, 2011 the Company and its sulrgdi held positions in Libor interest derivativentracts not designated for he
accounting, in the notional amount of US$31 millibime table below shows the amounts recognizechamfiial income and expenses rel
to these transactions:

Period endec 2011 201(
Gains (losses) recognized in financial income (e@ges) (21,704 (5,754)

Sensitivity analysis of derivative financial instrunents

IFRS

Besides the sensitivity analysis based on the abem#ioned standards, the Company and its subsidialso analyze the impact of
financial instrument quotation fluctuation on t®mpany’s and its subsidiaries’ profit or loss ahdreholders’ equity considering:

. Increase and decrease by 10 percentage pointslipriges, by keeping constant all the other véesb
. Increase and decrease by 10 percentage pointdlam eochange rate, by keeping constant all therotlriables;
. Increase and decrease by 10 percentage pointban lnterest rate, by keeping constant all therotheiables;

The sensitivity analysis includes only relevant etany items that are material for the risks aboeamtioned. A positive number indicates
increase in income and equity when the risk apptesiby 10%.
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The table below shows the sensitivity analysis magdéhe Companyg management, at December 31, 2011 and 2010, baskw scenaric
described above:

al
c
©

Position as of December 31, 2011 Position as of December 31, 2010
Increase/(decrease) in fuel prices Effect on income before tax (R¢ . - Effect on income before tax (RS B -
(percentage) million) Effect on equity (R$ million) million) Effect on equity (R$ million)
1C (294.6 (186.0 (225.8 (121.8
(10) 294.¢ 180.€ 225.¢ 139.¢
Foreign exchange USD:
Position as of December 31, 2011 Position as of December 31, 2010

Appreciation/(depreciation) of

Effect on income before tax (R¢ Effect on income before tax (R$

USD/R$ million) Effect on equity (R$ million) million) Effect on equity (R$ million)
(percentage)
1C (385.7 (254.5 (237.0 (156.4
(10) 385.1 254.t 237.( 156.4
Interest rate - Libor:
Position as of December 31, 20 Position as of December 31, 20
Increas?égi(;;tatgztz))ln Liboi Effect on |n$noir|’|r;gnt)1efore tax (R¢ Effect on equity (R$ million) Effect on |n(r:1$ir|1|?gnl;efore tax (R$ Effect on equity (R$ million)
1C (0.5 8.7 0.1) (0.0)
(10) 0.5 9.4 0.1 0.C

The Company and its subsidiaries sensitivity td fuiee increased during the current period whempgared with the previous period, is du
the growth in fuel consumption.

The sensitivity to the US dollar increased comparedhe effect on income and on equity, due toitteeease in US dolladenominate
expenses.

As regards the Libor rate, the sensitivity increbsempared to the effect on equity, due to theeiase in notional amount of hedges.

Measurement of the fair value of financial instrunents

In order to comply with the disclosure requiremehtsfinancial instruments measured at fair vathe, Company and its subsidiaries mus
the grouping of its instruments in Levels 1 to &éd on observable fair value grades:

a) Level 1:Fair value measurements are calculated based dadjpdces (without adjustment) in active markeidentical liabilities;

b) Level 2: Fair value measurements are calculated based ter wtriables besides quoted prices included ineLdy that ar
observable for the asset or liability directly (sws prices) or indirectly (derived from prices)da

c) Level 3:Fair value measurements are calculated based oatial methods that include the asset or liabiity that are not based
observable market variables (unobservable inputs).
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The following table states a summary of the Comjsmand its subsidiariedinancial instruments measured at fair value, idiig their relate
classifications of the valuation method, as of Delser 31, 2011:

Other Significant

Financial Instrument Carrying amount Olt;i‘irt\é?sle
(Level 2

Cash equivalents 1,230,28 1,230,28
Short-term investments 1,009,06: 1,009,06!
Restricted cash 109,09! 109,09!
Obligation with derivatives operation (liabilities) 115,43: 115,43.
Derivatives operation assets 4,21°% 4,21¢
Hedge Awards 11,57: 11,57:

27. Non-cash transactions

In the year ended December 31, 2011, the Compathytausubsidiaries increased their property, ptard equipment under finance lease
the amount of R$371,262 (R$292,892 as of DecembgeP@10) and bought shares back through finanénthe amount of R$40,676; tht
transactions did not affect their cash for the y@&e Company increased its intangible asset bitategation of the renewal software licel
use of the Company'’s integrated system in the ain@fuR$41,994, net.

On October 3, 2011, with the Webjet acquisitiors @ompany acquired the net assets of R$131,87arasfits additions in the year that
not affect cash.

28. Insurance coverage

As of December 31, 2011, the insurance coverageahbyre, considering the aircraft fleet, and reldtethe maximum reimbursable amot
indicated in U.S. Dollars, is as follows:

Aeronautical type Reais Dollar

Guarantee — Hull/war 8,263,65! 4,405,40:
Civil liability per event/aircraft 4,689,50! 2,500,001
Inventories (base and transit) 281,37( 150,00(
Franchising 6,09¢ 3,25(
Total loss 9,37¢ 5,00(

Pursuant to Law 10744, of October 9, 2003, the iBamzgovernment assumed the commitment to comphtraay civil liability expense
related to third parties caused by war or terraistnts, in Brazil or abroad, which VRG may be megfito pay, for amounts exceeding
limit of the insurance policies effective beginni8gptember 10, 2001, limited to the amount in BieaziReais equivalent to one billion U
Dollars.

29. Subsequent Events

On March 16, 2012, the Board of Directors, approaetew model for the Stock Option Plan of the Comyp®n fiscal year of 2011, due t
revision of the current plan, the grant was not enadDecember, and was transferred to the 1stylealf of 2012 which is being prepared.
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On March 15, 2012, the Company obtained a waiveardfcipated maturity and/or application of any agn on noncompliance of
covenants clauses. This was deliberated during i@ehteeting of Debenture Holders of the fourth difith issues of debentures. As a re
of this waiver, on March 26, 2012 (the balance répg date), the Company is complying its obligatan relation to the debentures.

On February 3, 2012 the Company informed its shaddeins and the market that ended on January 2& £ period for exercising t
preemptive right to subscribe for shares to beeidsiue to increased capital of the Company apprbyets Board of Directors meeting h
on December 21, 2011. From this operation, 5,120@&ferred shares (five million, one hundred twehbusand, nine hundred seventy fi
remained unsubscribed ("Surplus") out of 6,825,449 million, eight hundred twentfive thousand, four hundred seventy) common sl
and 6,619,765 (six million, six hundred and ninatéeousand, seven hundred and siikg) preferred shares issued. To the shareho
including holders of ADRs and the assignees ofstifescription rights of the shares, that have esgeesheir interest in reserving the Sur

in their respective application forms, had a pebdive (5) working days from 06 February 2012lirgive, being his final term on Febru
10, 2012, inclusive ("Subscription Period of Sugdjuo subscribe the Surplus. The subscriptionepatthe Surplus will be R$22.00 (twenty-
two reais) per share, payable in cash in locaktay, at the time of subscription.

On January 9, 2012 the Company filed, with thediady, the withdrawal of the legal proceedings iniath questions to the PIS and COFI
as mentioned in note 20. The withdrawal and authtion of the conversion of escrow deposits in fagb public finance are und
consideration by Judicial Court.

30. Condensed consolidating financial information foguarantors subsidiaries
The following condensed consolidating financialoimhation, prepared in accordance with IFRS, is et in lieu of providing separ.
audited financial statements for the guarantoriglidey VRG in connection with its unconditional gaatee, on a joint and several basis, o

obligation to pay principal and interest under 81&5% perpetual notes, 7.50% (senior notes 1) aB8% (senior bonds Il) issued
Company’s wholly owned subsidiary Finance.
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Assets

Current asset
Cash and cash equivale|
Shor-term investmen
Trade and other receivab
Inventories of parts and suppl
Other current asse

Non-current assel

Other nor-current assel
Credits with related parti
Other nor-current asset

Total other no-current asset

Investment

Property, plant and equipm:

Intangible asset

Total asse’

GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEENTS

(In thousands of Brazilian Reais, except when inditatherwise
Condensed consolidating statement of financial jposis of December 31, 2C
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Parent Issuer Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating
Company Subsidiary Guarantor Non guarantor Adjustments Consolidated
219,55t 2,45¢ 997,90: 10,37¢ 1,230,28
69,885 - 1,008,036 - (68,853) 1,009,068
- - 354,13: - 354,13:
- - 151,023 - - 151,023
(32,939 5,101 344,32. 67,95¢ 9,352 393,79:
256,502 7,556 2,855,417 78,329 (59,501) 3,138,303
342,204 1,308,276 222,725 (1,056,663) (816,542) -
12,374 - 1,740,381 44,828 44,828 1,842,411
354,57t 1,308,27 1,963,10 (1,011,835 (771,714 1,842,41
2,103,325 - - - (2,103,325) -
- - 3,113,79: 776,67¢ 3,890,47!
89 - 1,783,868 - - 1,783,957
2,457,992 1,308,276 6,860,766 (235,157) (2,875,039) 7,516,838
2,714,494 1,315,832 9,716,183 (156,828) (2,934,539) 10,655,141
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Current liabilities
Shor-term dek
Accounts payab
Advance ticket sale
Dividends payabl
Provision:

Other current liabilitie

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilitie:
Long-term dek
Deferred taxe
Debt with related partit
Other nor-current liabilitie:
Total nor-current liabilitie:

Total shareholders' equi

Total shareholders' equity and liabilit

GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMETS
(In thousands of Brazilian Reais, except when inditatherwise
Condensed consolidating statement of financial jposés of December 31, 2C
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Parent Issuer Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating
Company Subsidiary Guarantor Non guarantor Adjustments Consolidated
40,67¢ 38,79¢ 1,474,28 - (1,324 1,552,441
6,353 - 408,210 - - 414,563
- - 744,74: - - 744,74:
584 - - - - 584
- - 75,56¢ - - 75,56¢
(4,306) - 796,945 7,564 7,564 807,767
43,307 38,799 3,499,755 7,564 6,240 3,595,665
- 1,347,301 2,159,23 - (67,529 3,439,00:
- - 763,706 - - 763,706
222,72 - 593,81 - (816,542 -
(8,039) - 627,028 15,931 15,931 650,851
214,68t 1,347,301 4,143,78: 15,93: (868,140 4,853,56!
2,456,50: (70,268 2,072,641 (180,323 (2,072,640 2,205,91.
2,714,49. 1,315,83. 9,716,18: (156,828 (2,934,540 10,655,14
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Total operating revenu

Operating expens¢
Salaries
Aircraft fuel
Aircraft rent
Aircraft insurance
Sales and marketir
Landing fees
Aircraft and traffic servicing
Maintenance materials and repe
Depreciatiol
Gain on bargain purcha
Other operating expens
Total operating expens

Income (loss) before finance income and expe

Total finance costs and other income (expe

Equity in income (loss) of subsidit

Income (loss) before income ta»

Income taxe:

Net income (loss) for the ye

GOL LINHAS AEREAS INTELIGENTES S.A.
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMETS
(In thousands of Brazilian Reais, except when inditatherwise
Condensed consolidating statement of operationthéoyear ended December 31, 2

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Parent Issuer Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating
Company Subsidiary Guarantor Non guarantor Adjustments Consolidated
- - 7,539,308 8 8) 7,539,308
(27,137) - (1,533,299) - - (1,560,436)
- - (3,060,665 - - (3,060,665
(1,808) - (505,058) (1,808) 3,617 (505,058)
- - (31,921 - - (31,921
(590) - (402,568) - 589 (402,568)
- - (395,249 - - (395,249
(7,217) - (476,834) (1,614) 1,023 (484,642)
- - (434,181 - - (434,181
(89) - (388,544) - (7,174) (395,807)
- - 88,42¢ - - 88,42¢
19,61¢ - (626,698 21,42¢ (16,058 (601,713
(17,222 - (7,766,59C 18,00: (18,003 (7,783,812
(17,222 - (227,282 18,00¢ (18,011 (244,504
(236,609 (31,909 (519,305 (97,771 129,68( (755,914
(518,274 - - - 518,27: -
(772,105) (31,909) (746,587) (79,762) 629,943 (1,000,418)
20,56 - 228,31: - - 248,88(
(751,538 (31,909 (518,274 (79,762 629,94: (751,538
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Condensed consolidating statement of cash flowthfoyear ended December 31, 2

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitie

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment,
Intangible:
Net investments in restricted ci
Net investments in financial ass
Othel
Net cash used (used in) investing activitie

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from lor-term debi
Credit with related parti
Addition of treasury shar
Other:

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitie

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balancasbf held in foreign currenc

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivale

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the ye

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Parent Issuer Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating
Company Subsidiary Guarantor Non guarantor Adjustments Consolidated
(39,925 (158,006 56,78 (409,246 (52,127 (602,520
- (110,427 (221,526 52,12 (279,826
- (80,863) - (80,863)
- (74,594 - (74,594
- (33,885 - (33,885)
- - (110,427 (410,868 52,127 (469,168
- - - 237,13 237,133
36,27: 135,47: (34,636 (137,109 -
97,62¢ - 19,79( - 117,41
133,89¢ 135,47: (14,846 100,02: - 354,54
_ - - (8,430 - (8,430
93,97( (22,533 (68,488 (728,520 - (725,571
125,586 24,988 78,862 1,726,422 - 1,955,858
219,55t 2,45¢ 10,37« 997,90: - 1,230,28
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Parent Issuer Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating
Company Subsidiary Guarantor Non guarantor Adjustments Consolidated
Assets
Current assetl
Cash and cash equivalel 229,43t 24,98¢ 1,726,42; 78,86: (103,850 1,955,85!
Shor-term investmen 19,79( - 63,97¢ 19,79( (80,949 22,60¢
Trade and other receivab - - 303,05 - - 303,05
Inventorie:! - - 170,99( - - 170,99(
Other current asse 42,92¢ - 200,04 9,37 - 252,34«
292,15( 24,98¢ 2,464,48! 108,02! (184,799 2,704,85:
Non-current assel
Other not-current assel
Credits with related parti 483,23( 1,167,36. - 118,90 (1,769,497 -
Other nor-current assel 28,26¢ - 1,548,38! 54,20: - 1,630,85!
Total other no-current assel 511,49¢ 1,167,36. 1,548,38I 173,10! (1,769,497 1,630,85!
Investment 2,750,72: - - - (2,750,723 -
Property, plant and equipm: 666,25 - 2,794,71 666,25: (66,251 3,460,96:
Intangible asset 177 - 1,267,001 - - 1,267,17
3,928,65! 1,167,36: 5,610,09 839,35t (5,186,471 6,358,99!
Total asse 4,220,801 1,192,35 8,074,58! 947,38. (5,371,27C 9,063,84!
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Parent Issuer Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating
Company Subsidiary Guarantor Non guarantor Adjustments Consolidated

Current liabilities

Shor-term dek 34,22¢ 34,22¢ 312,95: - (35,404 346,00¢

Accounts payab 2,21( - 213,58: 2,15¢ (2,158 215,79:

Advance ticket sale - - 517,00t - - 517,00t

Dividends payabl 51,45( - - - - 51,45(

Provision: - - 55,96 - - 55,967

Other current liabilitie 74% - 465,33: 7,56¢ - 473,64
Total current liabilities 88,63. 34,22¢ 1,564,84. 9,72: (37,562 1,659,86
Non-current liabilitie:

Long-term dek 1,193,31 1,193,31 2,261,74 - (1,253,300 3,395,08I

Deferred taxe - - 642,18! - - 642,18!

Debt with related partit - - 483,23( 950,85¢ (1,434,089 -

Other nor-current liabilitie: 9,68: - 404,37 23,49t - 437,544
Total nor-current liabilitie! 1,202,99' 1,193,31 3,791,53 974,35: (2,687,389 4,474,81.
Total shareholders' equi 2,929,16! (35,194 2,718,20: (36,694 (2,646,320 2,929,16!
Total shareholders' equity and liabilit 4,220,801 1,192,35 8,074,58 947,38. (5,371,271 9,063,84
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Parent Issuer Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating
Company Subsidiary Guarantor Non guarantor Adjustments Consolidated
Total operating revenu - - 6,979,44 - - 6,979,44
Operating expens¢
Salaries (26,373 - (1,226,02¢ - - (1,252,402
Aircraft fuel - - (2,287,41C - - (2,287,410
Aircraft rent 3,607 - (552,038 (3,607 - (555,645
Sales and marketir (246, - (367,511 - - (367,757
Landing fees - - (331,883 - - (331,883
Aircraft and traffic servicing (6,414 - (418,640 (2,799 - (427,853
Maintenance materials and repe - - (422,950 - - (422,950
Depreciation and amortizati (89) - (281,515 - - (281,604
Other operating expens 11,13¢ - (375,295 17,76¢ (11,359 (354,148
Total operating expens (18,381 - (6,263,271 11,35¢ (11,359 (6,281,652
Income (loss) before finance income and expe (18,381 - 716,17t 11,35¢ (11,359 697,79!
Total finance income (expens (70,464 (23,390 (240,835 (66,673 90,06 (311,299
Equity in income of subsidia 292,46! - - - (292,463 -
Income (loss) before income tay 203,61t (23,390 475,34: (55,314 (213,759 386,49t
Income taxe: 10,57¢ - (182,878 - - (172,299
Net income (loss) for the ye 214,19 (23,390 292,46. (55,314 (213,759 214,19
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL STATEMETS

(In thousands of Brazilian Reais, except when inditatherwise

Condensed consolidating statement of cash flowthfoyear ended December 31, 2

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitie

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for property, plant and equipn
Investments in restricted cash,
Short term investmer
Othel
Net cash used (provided by) investing activitie

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceec
Credit with related parti
Dividends pai
Capital increas
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitie

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balancasbf held in foreign currenc

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivale

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the ye

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Parent Issuer Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating
Company Subsidiary Guarantor Non guarantor Adjustments Consolidated
7,66 (434,589 739,84t 55,26 355,71: 723,89
138,38( - (368,849 - - (230,469
3,18( - (11,596 - - (8,416
5,44: - 12,49¢ - - 17,93¢
- - (58,512 - - (58,512
147,00: - (426,461 - - (279,459
219,99¢ 459,56: (15,118 - (459,561 204,87t
(283,622 - 283,62: - - -
(185,839 - - - - (185,839
120,86: - - - - 120,86:
(128,604 459,56 268,50¢ - (459,561 139,90(
- - (10,888 - - (10,888
26,06( 24,97. 571,00: 55,26 (103,850 573,45(
203,37t 1€ 1,155,42 23,59t - 1,382,40:i
229,43t 24,98¢ 1,726,42. 78,862 (103,850 1,955,85!
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Parent Issuer Subsidiary Subsidiary
Company Subsidiary Guarantor Non guarantor

Consolidating

Adjustments Consolidated

Total operating revenu 17¢ - 6,025,20 - - 6,025,38:
Operating expens¢
Salaries (7,746 - (1,093,207 - - (1,100,953
Aircraft fuel - - (1,813,104 - - (1,813,104
Aircraft rent - - (648,568 (2,115 - (650,683
Aircraft insurance - - (56,324 - - (56,324
Sales and marketir (200; - (364,351 - - (364,551
Landing fees - - (312,637 - - (312,637
Aircraft and traffic servicing (4,038 - (373,585 (4,098 - (381,721
Maintenance materials and repe - - (417,212 - - (417,212
Depreciation and amortizati (89) - (142,764 - - (142,853
Other operating expens (3,716 - (380,974 12,63¢ - (372,052
Total operating expens (15,789 - (5,602,72€ 6,42¢ - (5,612,090
Income (loss) before finance income and expe (15,611 - 422,47 6,42¢ - 413,29.
Total finance income (expens 246,70° (3,280 169,13! (69,718 - 342,84
Equity in income (loss) of subsidit 634,42: - - - (634,424 -
Income (loss) before income ta» 865,52( (3,280 591,61: (63,293 (634,424 756,13t
Income taxe: 3,73: - 123,27t 7,68¢ - 134,69t
Net income (loss) for the ye 869,25. (3,280 714,89: (55,607 (634,424 890,83.
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Condensed consolidating statement of cash flowthéoyear ended December 31, 2

Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitie

Cash flows from investing activities
Payment for property, plant and equipn
Investments in restricted cash,

Short term investmer
Othel

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activitie

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from lo-term debi
Credit with related parti
Addition of treasury shar
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activitie

Effects of exchange rate changes on the balancasbf held in foreign currenc

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivale

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the ye

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Parent Issuer Subsidiary Subsidiary Consolidating
Company Subsidiary Guarantor Non guarantor Adjustments Consolidated
62,81: (3,280 346,35! (7,522 58,89¢ 457,25¢
(44,163 - (86,312 - - (130,475
(75,152 - 37,34( - - (37,812
27,03: - 198,32t - (20,220 205,14(
(270,591 - (31,077 - 270,23 (31,431
(362,874 - 118,27¢ - 250,01 5,42;
(308,635 3,27¢ 273,58: 28,03¢ (38,676 (42,416
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